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WHERE IDEAS MEET INDUSTRY




Expanding world economies have great needs. So, SPX is
focused on providing innovative product and service offerings
for dynamic and strategic growth markets, including global
infrastructure, process equipment and diagnostic tools. Meeting
the increasing demands of global growth requires fresh
thinking and ingenious solutions. Which is why you will find

SPX at the forefront of where ideas meet industry.
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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS: e

Driving this success was continued execution toward our strategic
roadmap: investing in key growth areas; introducing innovative
product and service offerings; pursuing new markets; and enhancing

our organizational structure and operational efficiencies.
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SPX HAS SIGNSFICANTLY QUTPERFORMED TWO MAJOR STOCK INDICES, PROVIDING TOTAL RETURNS

OF 70% VS. 6% FOR THE DOW JONES INDUSTRIAL AVERAGE AND 5% FOR THE S&P 500.

During the past year, we further aligned the company around our three dynamic and strategic global growth
markets: global infrastructure, process equipment and diagnostic tools, We also made solid progress in better
leveraging our global distribution channels, increasing our new product development efforts, introducing a broader
array of environmentally friendly solutions for our customers, and identifying strategic acquisitions to build on our

core businesses.

A Year of Profitable Growth

SPX’s total revenues for 2007 were $4.8 billion, a 16% increase over 2006. Organic revenue growth was 10%,
driven by continued strong demand in our infrastructure and energy markets. Segment income in 2007 rose 24% to
$622 million and segment margins expanded by B0 points to 12.9%. Reported earnings per share were $5.33, a
43% increase over 2006. The strong momentum in our business during 2007 helped SPX outperform the S&P 500
and the Dow Jones Industrial Average and deliver a total return of 70.15%, the greatest stock price increase of any
Carolinas large, publicly traded company. Reflecting this solid performance, our share price eclipsed the $100

mark and rose {o an all-time high.

Rising Demand for Power and Energy

Another key contributor to SPX's strong performance over the past three years has been the rising demand for global
infrastructure to deliver power and energy. According to the International Energy Association, $22 trillion is expected
to be spent globally on energy infrastruciure between 2006 and 2030, with more than 60% of this investment
coming from developing and transitioning economies. This upward growth trend has driven a steady increase in orders
for our cooling systems, thermal equipment, power transformers and process equipment used in power generation

and oil and gas exploration, particularly in emerging markets such as China, the Middle East and South Africa.




The positive momentum in our power and energy business during 2007 was punctuated by several exciting, and in

some cases record, contract wins. Westinghouse engaged us to design and engineer a new squib valve technology
for use in nuclear power plants, and China’s State Nuclear Power Technology Corporation hired us to provide
training and technical expertise on how to operate these valves. We also were awarded a four-year, $235 million
contract from Hitachi to provide critical components to the boiler side of a new power plant being constructed
by South Africa's government-owned utility company, Eskom. This is by far the largest contract SPX has ever won.
Additionally, we secured a $50 million contract from the Shaw Group to provide a dry cooling system for a new

clean-coal power plant. This is one of the largest U.S. contracts ever awarded to our dry cooling business.

With infrastructure-related business generating almost 60% of our total sales in 2007, we are confident strong global

demand for our products and services will continue, providing significant opportunities for SPX in the years ahead.

Expanding Our Global Industrial Footprint
Strategic acquisitions, combined with organic growth initiatives in emerging markets, served to significantly
enhance SPX's international profile last year. As a result, 42% of SPX's total 2007 revenue was generated outside

North America, and we anticipate that future revenue from international sales will continue to increase.

To expand our global footprint, we completed three select acquisitions in 2007. The most notable was the purchase
of APV, a well-known global manufacturer of process equipment and engineered solutions, primarily for the sanitary
market. APV manufactures pumps, valves, homogenizers and heat exchangers and offers strategic inroads to the
food and beverage, dairy, healthcare and pharmaceutical industries. Having generated about $875 million in revenue
in 2007, APV is a natural fit for our flow business and, in combination with our existing businesses, immediately

establishes SPX as a global leader in the sanitary market.

12/31/07

12/31/04 -

$3007
$250
%200

$1504

CUMULATIVE SHAREHOLDER RETURN DEC. 31, 2004 THRU DEC. 31, 2007

~? SPX ~~ D] INDUSTRIAL AVERAGE “~~ S &P 500

$100

$50

170%

28%

P e i Py T

JANR 05 DEC 05 | DEC 06 l DEC 07

$100 INVESTED ON DECEMBER 31, 2004 WOULD BE VALUED AT $270 ON DECEMBER 31, 2007.




TOTAL REVENUE ORGANIC REVENUE GROWTH

$ IN BILLIONS PERCENTAGES

$4.2 $4.8 9.7% 2.5%

2006 2007 2006 2007

To spur global growth in our diagnostic tools business and further enhance our positions serving global original
equipment manufacturers (OEMs), we acquired the German essential service tool distributor Matra-Werke
GmbH and the European Diagnostics Division of Johnson Controls. We believe that these additions to our
portfolio will enable us to further enhance our commercial relationships with key gtobal, European-based, vehicle
OEMs while expanding our strengths in diagnostic engineering and global tool manufacture and distribution. We
believe that the increased operating efficiencies and combined research and development efforts resulting from

these purchases will help accelerate overall growth in our diagnostic tools business.

Disciplined, Focused Approach

In keeping with our successful realignment strategy, we conlinued to divest non-core assets and reinvest in the
company. During the year, we completed the sale of Contech, our last significant auto components business, and
used the roughly $134 million in proceeds to repurchase shares of SPX comman stock, In total, we purchased nine
million shares in 2007 at an average price of just under $80 a share. We also completely refinanced our five-year
credit facilities and issued a new seven-year bond to provide us with increased liquidity and financial flexibility to

support our global growth strategy.

Where Ideas Meet Industry

SPX's new tagline, “Where Ideas Meet Industry,” underscores our commitment to innovation and reflects how we
continue to help tackle our customers’ most pressing business challenges head-on. Our new product pipeline is
delivering cutting-edge solutions to customers, helping them compete more effectively in the global marketplace
and comply with the evolving requirements of regulatory agencies. These new products are winning accolades

from customers as well as regulators.




For example, our technologies are enabling new and existing power plants to produce energy more efficiently,
while also reducing maintenance and fuel costs, water consumption and particle emissions. At the end of 2007,
we introduced a new hybrid technology called Air2Air™, which can reduce power plant water consumption by as
much as 20%, and our dry technology can nearly eliminate water consumption altogether. Earlier in the year, the
U.8. Environmental Protection Agency presented us with an award for our breakthrough Robinair brand refrigerant
recovery and recharging unit, which helps automotive service businesses meet rigorous environmental standards

by reducing refrigerant emissions into the atmosphere.

Well Positioned for the Future

| am extremely pleased with the solid progress we have made over the past 12 months, particularly in the areas of
emerging market growth, improved operational excellence, and disciplined capital allocation. | am equally proud
that these and other enhancements we have made to the business have helped SPX earn the distinction of being
named to FORTUNE magazine's America’s Most Admired Companies 2008 and Corporate Responsibility Officer
magazine's 100 Best Corporate Citizens of 2008. We will continue to build upon the strong momentum achieved
in 2007 as we work to improve SPX in 2008 and beyond. By continuing to leverage our core growth platforms
together with our centers of excellence, we are well positioned to make SPX an even more potent force in the

global markets we serve.

In closing, and on behalf of the entire senior management team, | would like to thank our customers around the
world for their trust and confidence in partnering with us to achieve their business goals. | atso want to extend
my gratitude to our valued shareholders, the Board of Directors and our more than 17,000 empioyees who have
collectively embraced and contributed to the positive direction of our company. The commitment to excellence
our employees demonstrate each day has been the foundation for the success of SPX. It is their hard work and

dedication that will continue to drive SPX in the years ahead.

Sincerely,

Christopher J. Kearney
CHAIRMAN, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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PART |
ITEM 1. Business
{All dollar and share amounts are in millions, except per share data)
Forward-Looking Information

Some of the statements in this document and any documents incorporated by reference constitute “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”}.
These statements relate to future events or our future financial perfformance and involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause our businesses’ or our industries’ actual results, levels of activity, performance or
achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by any forward-looking statements. Such statements
include statements about our plans, strategies, prospects, changes and trends in our business and the markets in which we
operate under the heading "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
(“MD&A™}. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “could,” “would,”
“should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “believe,” “estimate,” “'predict,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative
of those terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are only predictions. Actual events or results may differ
materially because of market conditions in our industries or other factors, and forward-looking statements should not be relied
upon as a prediction of actual results. In addition, management’s estimates of future operating results are based on our current
complement of businesses, which is subject to change. All the forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by
reference to the factors discussed in this document under the heading “'Risk Factors” and in any documents incorporated by
reference that describe risks and factors that could cause results to differ materially from those projected in these forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligation to update or publicly revise these forward-looking statements to reflect events
or circumstances that arise after the date of this document.

Business

We were incorporated in Muskegon, Michigan in 1912 as the Piston Ring Company and adopted our current name in 1988.
Since 1968, we have been incorporated under the laws of Delaware and we have been listed on the New York Stock Exchange
since 1972.

We are a global multi-industry manufacturing company with operations in over 35 countries and sales in over 150 countries
around the world. The majority of our revenues, approximately 59% in 2007, are driven by global infrastructure development.
Our infrastructure-related products and services include wet and dry cooling systems, thermal service and repair work, heat
exchangers and power transformers into the global power market. We also provide pumps, metering systems and valves into
the global oil and gas, chemical and petrochemical exploration, refinement and distribution markets. Qur infrastructure-related
products also include packaged cooling towers, boilers, heating and ventilation equipment and filters. We continue to focus on
developing and acquiring products and services to serve global infrastructure development, as we believe that future
investments in these end markets in both emerging and developed economies around the world provide significant
opportunities for growth.

The other major component of our revenues in 2007 was test and measurement products and services, representing
24.3% of our 2007 revenues. In this area, we provide, among other things, electronic diagnostic systems, specialty service
tools, service equipment and technical information services with a primary focus on the global transportation market. Our
strategy includes partnering with manufacturers of automobiles, agricultural and construction equipment and recreational
vehicles, among others, to provide solutions for maintaining and servicing these vehicles after sale. With the expanding global
population and demand for vehicles, we believe there are significant future growth opportunities in this market.

Our operating strategy is focused on an integrated leadership process that aligns performance measurement, decision
support, compensation and communication. This process includes:

» a demanding set of leadership standards to drive achievement of results with integrity;

» expanding our technological leadership and service offerings with a market focus on providing innovative, critical
solutions to our customers;

« growing through internal development and strategic, financially compelling acguisitions;

» increased globalization with a focus on emerging economies and markets;




* right-sizing our businesses to market and economic conditions to protect against economic downturns and take
advantage of strong economic cycles;

* focusing on continuous improvements to drive resulis and create shareholder value; and
* strategically analyzing our businesses to determine their long-term fit.

Unless otherwise indicated, amounts provided throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K relate to continuing operations
only.

Segments

Our strategy is to have a centralized approach to continuous improvement, including lean manufacturing, supply chain
management, organizational development and global expansion, with the intent of capturing synergies that exist within our
businesses and, ultimately, on driving revenue, profit margin and cash flow growth. We believe that our businesses are well
positioned for growth in these metrics based on our current continuous improvement initiatives, the potential within the current
markets they serve and the potential for expansion into additional markets.

We aggregate our operating segments into four reportable segments in accordance with the criteria defined in Statements
of Financial Accounting Standards ('SFAS™) No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information’.
The segments are Flow Technology, Test and Measurement, Thermal Equipment and Services and Industrial Products and
Services. The factors considered in determining our aggregated segments are the economic similarity of the businesses, the
nature -of products sold or services provided, production processes, types of customers and distribution methods. In
determining our segments, we apply the threshold criteria of SFAS No. 131 to operating income or loss of each segment befare
considering impairment and special charges, pensions and postretirement expense, stock-based compensation and other
indirect corporate expense. This is consistent with the way our chief operating decision maker evaluates the results of each
segment. For more information on the results of our segments, including revenues by geographic area, see Note 5 to our
consolidated financial statements.

Flow Technology

Our Flow Technology segment had revenues of $1,121.3, $865.7 and $775.8 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. APV, a
global manufacturer of process equipment and engineering solutions primarily for the sanitary market, had revenues of
approximately $876.0, $753.0 and $700.0 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, which have not been included in our results of
operations as we acquired APV on December 31, 2007. The Flow Technology segment designs, manufactures and markets
products and solutions that are used to process or transport fluids, as well as solutions and products that are used in heat
transfer applications. Our focus is on innovative, highly-engineered new product introductions and expansion from products to
systems and services in order to create total customer solutions. Qur primary products include high-integrity pumps, valves,
heat exchangers, fluid mixers, agitators, metering systems, filters and dehydration equipment. Qur primary global end markets,
in order of size, are sanitary food, beverage and pharmaceutical processing, general industrial, chemical processing, oil and
gas processing, power generation and mining. We sell to these end markets under the brand names of Waukesha Cherry-
Burrell, DeZurik, Lightnin, Copes-Vulcan, M&J Vaives, Bran & Luebbe, APV, APV Gaulin and APV Rannie. Competitors in these
fragmented markets include Alfa Laval, GEA, Fisher, Haywood, Chemineer, EKATO, Lewa, Fristam and Sudmo. The segment
continues to focus on initiatives such as a global enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) system implementation and lean
manufactuting improvements. The primary distribution channels for the Flow Technology segment are independent
manufacturing representatives and direct to customers.

Test and Measurement

Our Test and Measurement segment had revenues of $1,174.1, $1,137.5 and $1,059.68 in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. This segment engineers and manufactures branded, technologically advanced test and measurement products
used on a global basis across the transportation, defense, telecommunications and utility industries. Our technology supports
the introduction of new systems, expanded services and sophisticated testing and validation. Products for the segment include
specialty diagnostic service tools, fare-collection systems, portable cable and pipe locators and vibration testing equipment.
Qur diagnostic service tools product line includes diagnostic systems and service equipment as well as specialty tools. We sell
diagnostic systems and service equipment to the franchised vehicle dealers of original equipment manufacturers (‘OEMs),
aftermarket national accounts and independent repair facilities. We sell diagnostic systems under the OTC, Actron, AutoXray,
Tecnotest and Robinair brand names. These products compete with brands such as Snap-on and ESP. We intend to grow this
business by developing new service capabilities, strengthening alliances in diagnostic platforms and through acquisitions. We




ell our specialty tools.to franchised vehicle dealers, aftermarket national accounts and independent repair facilities. We are a
primary global provider of specialty tools for motor vehicle manufacturers’ dealership networks to General Motors, Ford,
Chrysler, BMW, Harley Davidson and John Deere, and a primary domestic provider to Toyota and Nissan. Sales of specialty
service tools essential to dealerships tend to vary with changes in vehicle systems design and the number of dealerships and
are not directly correlated with the volume of vehicles produced by the motor vehicle manufacturers. The segment sells
automated fare-collection systems to municipal bus and rail transit systems, as well as postal vending systems, primarily within
the North American market. Our portable cable and pipe locator line is composed of electronic testing, monitoring and
inspection equipment for locating and identifying metallic sheathed fiber optic cable, horizontal boring guidance systems and
inspection cameras. The segment sells this product line to a wide customer base, including utility and construction companies,
municipalities and telecommunication companies. We sell our vibration testing equipment primarily to the aerospace,
automotive and electronics industries, with our main competitors being IMV and Upholtz Dickie. The segment continues to
focus on initiatives such as lean manufacturing and expanding its commerciatization of the European and Chinese markets.
The primary distribution channels for the Test and Measurement segment are direct to OEMs and OEM dealers, aftermarket tool
and equipment providers and retailers.

Thermal Equipment and Services

Our Thermal Equipment and Services segment had revenues of $1,560.5, $1,327.7 and $1,178.4 in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. This segment engineers, manufactures and services cooling, heating and ventilation products for markets
throughout the world. Products for the segment include dry, wet and hybrid cooling systems for the power generation,
refrigeration, HVAC and industrial markets, as well as hydronic and heating and ventilation products for the commercial and
residential markets. This segment also provides thermal components for power and steam generation plants and engineered
services to maintain, refurbish, upgrade and modernize power stations. We sell our cooling products and services under the
brand names of Marley, Balcke-Duerr, Ceramic and Hamon Dry Cooling, with the major competitors to these product and
service lines being Baltimore Aircoil, Evapco and GEA. Our hydronic products include a complete line of gas and oil fired cast
iron boilers for space heating in residentiai and commercial applications, as well as ancillary equipment. The segment's
hydronic products compete mainly with Burnham and Buderus. Qur heating and ventilation product line includes i) baseboard,
wall unit and portable heaters, i) commercial cabinet and infrared heaters, iil) thermostats and controls, iv) air curtains and
v) circulating fans. The segment sells heating and ventilation products under the Berko, Qmark, Farenheat, Aztec, Patton and
Leading Edge brand names, with the principal competitors being TPI, Quellet, King, Cadet and Dimplex for heating products
and Lenexa, TP, Broan-NuTone and Air Master for ventilation products. The segment continues to focus on expanding its
global reach, including expanding its dry cooling, heating and manufacturing capacity in China, as well as increasing thermal
components and service offerings, particularly in China, Europe and South Africa. The primary distribution channels for the
Thermal Equipment and Services segment are direct to customers, independent manufacturing representatives, third party
distributors and retailers. '

Industrial Products and Services

Our Industrial Products and Services segment had revenues of $966.4, $836.7 and $716.0 in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Of the segment’'s 2007 revenue, approximately 44% was from the sale of power transformers into the US
transmission and distribution market. We are a leading provider of medium sized transformers (MVA between 10 and 60
mega-watts) in the United States. Our transformers are sold under the Waukesha Electric brand name. This brand is recognized
for quality and reliability by our customers. Typical customers for this product line are public and privately held utilities. Our key
competitors in this market include ABB, Kuhlman and GE Prolec.

Additionally, this segment includes operating units that design and manufacture industrial tools and hydraulic units,
- precision machine components for the aerospace industry, crystal growing machines for the solar power market, automatic
transmission filters and television and radio broadcast antenna systems. The primary distribution channels for the Industrial
Products and Services segment are direct to customers, independent manufacturing representatives and third party

- distributors. \

Acquisitions

We regularly review and negotiate potential acquisitions in the ordinary course of business, some of which are or may be
material. We will continue to pursue acquisitions and we may consider acquisitions of businesses with more than $1,000.0 in
annuai revenues.




In August 2007, we completed the acquisition of the European diagnostics division of Johnson Controls (“JCD”) within our
‘ Test and Measurement segment for a purchase price of $40.3. The acquired business had revenues of approximately $93.0 in
‘ the twelve months prior to acquisition.

In October 2007, we completed the acquisition of Matra-Werke GmbH (“Matra’”) within our Test and Measurement segment
| for a purchase price of $36.6. The acquired business had revenues of approximately $26.0 in the twelve months prior to
acquisition.

In December 2007, we completed the acquisition of APV within our Flow Technology segment for a purchase price of
$524.2. The acquired business had revenues of approximately $876.0 in the twelve months prior to acquisition.
Divestitures

As part of our operating strategy, we regularly réview and negotiate potential divestitures in the ordinary course of
business, some of which are or may be material. As a result of this continuous review, we determined that certain of our
businesses would be better strategic fits with other companies or investers. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” we report businesses or asset groups as discontinued operations when the
operations and cash flows of the business or asset group have been or are expected to be eliminated, when we do not expect to
have any continuing involvement with the business or asset group after the disposal transaction, and when we have met these
additional six criteria:

+ management has approved a plan to sell the business or asset group;

» the business or asset group is available for immediate sale;

* an active program to sell the business or asset group has been initiéted;

* the sale of the business or asset group is probable within one year,

» the marketed sales value of the business or asset group is reasonable in relation to its current fair value; and

* it is unlikely that the plan to divest the business or asset group will be significantly altered or withdrawn.

The following businesses, which have been sold, met the above requirements and therefore have been reported as
discontinued operations for all periods presented: : '
Business Disgggg::led Alggiglglggllgg
Balcke-Duerr Austria GmbH (“BD Austria™) .. ... . ... . . .. . Q4 2007 Q4 2007
Nema AirFin GmbH ("Nema') . . . ... . e Q4 2007 Q4 2007
Contech (CONMECh ) . .. . e e Q3 2006 Q2 2007
Dock Products {'Dock™) . . . . . o e e e Q2 2008 Q4 2006
Dielectric Tower (“TOWEI") . . . .« . . e e e s Q4 2005 Q1 2006
Security and protection business (“Vance™) . . . .. . ... .. e Q3 2005 Q1 2006
Muelier Steam, Fehco and Polyjet product lines . . . ... .. .. .. .. . . e Q3. 2005 " Q4 2005
Aftermarket automotive products business (“Carfel™) . . . . .......... ... . ... e Q1 2005 Q3 2005
Lab and life science business (“Kendro™ ... ... ... ... .. ... L. R R Q4 2004 Q2 2005
Brookstone telecommunication sefvicesbusiness . ... ... .. ... L Lo Q1 2005 Q1 2005
Fire detection and building life-safety systems business ("EST™) . . . .. ....... .. ... .. ... .. Q4 2004 Q1 2005
Specialty 100! DUSINESS . . . . . . ... e e Q4 2004 (@) 2005
Compaction equipment business (“Bomag™) . . .. ... .. e Q3 2004 Q1 2005

Puring the third guarter of 2007, we committed to a plan to divest our Air Filtration business within cur Flow Technology
segment. We are actively pursuing the sale of this business and anticipate that the sale will be completed in the first half of 2008.
Accordingly, we have reported, for all periods presented, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of this
business as a discontinued operation in our consolidated financial statements. As a result of this planned divestiture, we




recorded a net charge of $11.0 during 2007 to “‘Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax™ in order to
reduce the carrying value of the net assets to be sold to their estimated net realizable value.

Joint Venture

We have one significant joint venture, EGS Electrical Group, LLC and Subsidiaries (“EGS"), with Emerson Electric Co., in
which we hold a 44.5% interest. Emerson Electric Co. controls and operates the joint venture. EGS operates primarily in the
United States, Canada and France and is engaged in the manufacture of electrical fittings, hazardous location lighting and
power conditioning products. We account for our investment under the equity method of accounting, on a three-month lag
basis. We typically receive our share of this joint venture’s earnings in cash dividends.

See Note 9 to our consolidated financials statements for more information on EGS.

International Operations

We are a multinational corporation with operations in over 35 countries. Our international operations are subject to the risks
of possible currency devaluation and blockage, nationalization or restrictive legislation regulating foreign investments, as well
as other risks attendant to the countries in which they are located. Our export sales from the United States were $339.7 in 2007,
$335.2 in 2006 and $290.2 in 2005.

See Note 5 to our consoiidated financial statements for more information on our international operations.

Research and Development

We are actively engaged in research and development programs designed to improve existing products and
manufacturing methods and to develop new products to better serve our current and future customers. These efforts
encompass all our products with divisional engineering teams coordinating their resources. We place particular emphasis on
the development of new products that are compatible with, and build upon, our manufacturing and marketing capabilities.

We spent $70.3 on research activities relating to the devetopment and improvement of our products in 2007, $61.4 in 2006
and $56.3 in 2005. In addition, we expensed purchased in-process research and development of $0.9 related to the APV
acquisition as technological feasibility had not been established for the related projects.

Patents/Trademarks

We own over 700 domestic patents and 200 foreign patents, including approximately 50 patents that were issued in 2007,
covering a variety of our products and manufacturing methods. We atso own a number of registered trademarks. Although in
the aggregate our patents and trademarks are of considerable importance in the operation of our business, we do not consider
any single patent or trademark to be of such importance that its absence would adversely affect our ability to conduct business
as presently constituted to a significant extent. We are both a licensor and licensee of patents. For more information, please
refer to “Risk Factors.”

Outsourcing and Raw Materials

We manufacture many of the components used in our products; however, our strategy includes outsourcing some
components and sub-assemblies to other companies where strategically and economically feasible. In instances where we
depend on third-party suppliers for outsourced products or components, we are subject to the risk of customer dissatisfaction
with the quality or performance of the products we sell due to supplier failure. In addition, business difficulties experienced by a
third-party supplier can lead to the interruption of our ability to obtain the outsourced product and ultimately to our inability to
supply products to our customers. We believe that we generally will be able to continue to obtain adequate supplies of major
items or appropriate substitutes at reasonable costs.

In the last four years we have faced significant increases in the prices of many of our key raw materials, including
petroleum-based products, steel and copper. Over the past three years we have been able to generally offset increases in raw
material costs across our segments mainly through effective price increases.

Because of our diverse products and services, as well as the wide geographic dispersion of our production facilities, we
use numerous sources for the raw materials needed in our operations. We are not significantly dependent on any one or a
limited number of suppliers, and we have been able to obtain suitable quantities of necessary raw materials at competitive
prices.




Competition

Although our businesses are in highly compatitive markets, our competitive position cannot be determined accurately i
the aggregate or by segment since our competitors do not offer all of the same product lines or serve all of the same markets a
we do. In addition, specific reliable comparative figures are not avaitabie for many of our competitors. In most product groups
competition comes from numerous concerns, both large and small. The principal methods of competition are price, service
product performance and technical innovation. These methods vary with the type of product sold. We believe that we ca
compete effectively on the basis of each of these factors as they apply to the various products offered. See "Segments” abov
for a discussion of our competitors.

Environmental Matters

See “MD&A — Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates — Contingent Liabilities,” “‘Risk Factors” and Note 14 to
our consolidated financial statements for information regarding envirgnmental matters.

Employment

At December 31, 2007, we had approximately 17,800 employees associated with businesses that have been classified in
our consolidated financial statements as continuing operations. Additionally, we had approximately 700 employees associated
with a business that we intend to sell in 2008 and have classified in our consolidated financial statements as a discontinued
operation. Twelve domestic collective bargaining agreements cover approximately 1,275 employees, none of which relate to
the business classified in our consolidated financial statements as a discontinued operation. We also have various collective
labor arrangements covering certain non-U.S. employee groups. While we generally have experienced satisfactory labor
relations, we are subject to potential union campaigns, work stoppages, union negotiations and other potential labor disputes.

Executive Officers

See Part Ill, ltem 10 of this report for information about our executive officers.

Other Matters

No customer or group of customers that, to our knowladge, are under comman cantrol, accounted for mare than 10% of
our consolidated revenues for all periods presented.

- Our businesses maintain sufficient levels of working capital to support customer requirements, particularly inventory. We
believe that our businesses’ sales and payment terms are generally similar to those of our competitors.

Many of our businesses closely follow changes in the industries and end-markets that they serve. In addition, certain
businesses have seasonal fluctuations. Revenues for our Test and Measurement segment primarily follow custorer-specified
program launch timing for diagnostic systems and service equipment. Demand for products in our Thermal Equipment and
Services segment is correlated to contract timing on large construction contracts and is also driven by seasonal weather
patterns, both of which may cause significant fluctuations from period to period. Historically, our businesses generally tend to
be stronger in the second half of the year.

Our website address is www.spx.com. Information on our website is not incorporated by reference herein. We file reports
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), including our annual report on Farm 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports. Copies of these reports are available free of
charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we file the reports with the SEC. The SEC also maintains a
website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that fite electronically
with the SEC. The address of that website is http://www.sec.gov. Additionally, you may read and copy any materials that we file
with the SEC at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549, You may obtain information on
the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

(All amounts are in millions, except per share data)

You should consider the risks described below and elsewhere in our documents filed with the SEC before investing in any
of our sacurities. Though we undertake no cbligation to do so, we may amend, supplement or add to the risk factors described
below from time to time in future reports fited with the SEC.




ifficulties presented by international economic, political, legal, accounting and business factors could negatively
ffect our interests and business effort.

We are an increasingly global company, with a significant portion of our sales taking place outside the United States. In
007, approximately 42% of our revenues were generated outside the United States (“U.S.”), and we expect that over 50% of
ur revenues will be generated outside the U.S. in 2008. We have placed a particular emphasis on expanding our presence in
emerging and developing markets,

As part of our strategy, we manage businesses with manufacturing facilities worldwide, many of which are located outside
the United States.

Our reliance on non-U.S. revenues and non-U.S. manufacturing bases exposes us to a number of risks, including:

« distance, language and cultural differences may make it more difficult to manage the business and employees, and to
effectively market our products and services.

* we may encounter significant competition from local or long-time participants in non-U.S.: markets who may have
significantly greater market knowledge and substantially greater resources than we do.

« local customers may have a preference for locally-produced products. For example, we are facing increased
competition from local suppliers in the Chinese cooling tower market.

» regulatory or political systems or barriers may make it difficult or impossible to enter new markets. In addition, these
barriers may impact our businesses, including making it more difficult for them to grow, once established.

« domestic and foreign customs and tariffs may make it difficult or impossible for us to move our products across borders
in a cost-effective manner.

- adverse tax consequences, including imposition or increase of income and other taxes on remittances and earnings by
subsidiaries may impact our net income,

« transportation and shipping expenses add cost to our products, and may impact our profit margins or lead to lost
business.

= credit risk or financial condition of local customers and distributors.
* nationalization of private enterprises.

+ government embargos or foreign trade restrictions such as anti-dumping duties. Also, the imposition of trade sanctions
by the United States or the European Union against a class of products imported by us from, sold by us to, or the loss of
“normal trade relations” status with, countries in which we conduct business could significantly increase our cost of
products imported into the United States or Europe or reduce our sales and harm our business.

= environmental and other laws and regulations.

» our ability to obtain supplies from foreign vendors and ship products internationally may be impaired during times of
crisis or otherwise.

+ difficulties in protecting intellectual property.
* local, regional or worldwide hostilities.
+ potential impaosition of restrictions on investments.

» local political, economic and social conditions, including the possibility of hyperinflationary conditions and political
instability. .

As an increasing percentage of our products are manufactured in China, health conditions and other factors affecting
social and economic activity in China and affecting the movement of people and products into and from China to our major
markets, including North America and Europe, could have a significant negative effect on our operations. Because of the
importance of our international sales and sourcing of manufacturing, the occurrence of any risk described above could have a
material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. In addition, our Thermal Equipment and
Services segment recently obtained a multi-year contract in South Africa to supply filters, air preheaters and pressure parts for
boilers within a power generation facility.




In addition, sales and purchases in currencies other than the U.S. dollar expose us 1o fiuctuations in foreign currencies
relative to the U.S. dollar. Increased strength of the U.S. dollar will increase the effective price of our products sold in U.S. dollars
into other countries, which may have a material adverse effect on sales or require us to lower our prices, and also decrease our
reporied revenues or marging in respect of sales conducted in foreign currencies io the extent we are unable or determine not
to increase local currency prices. Likewise, decreased strength of the U.S. dollar could have a material adverse effect on the
cost of materials and products purchased overseas. In addition, our sales are translated into U.S. dollars for reporting
purpases. In particular, a revaluation of the Chinese Yuan could result in an increase in the cost of producing products in China,
or increases in labor costs. The strengthening or weakening of the U.S. dollar could result in unfavorable translation eftects as
the results of transactions in foreign countries are transtated into U.S. dollars.

We are subjfect to laws, regulations and potential liability relating to claims, complainis and proceedings, including
those relating to environmental and other matters.

We are subject to various laws, ordinances, regulations and other requirements of government authorities in the United
States and other nations. With respect to acquisitions, divestitures and continuing operations, we may acquire or retain
liabilities of which we are not aware, or of a different character or magnitude than expected. Additionally, changes in laws,
ordinances, regulations or other governmental policies may significantly increase our expenses and liabilities.

We face environmental exposures including, for example, those relating to discharges from and materials handled as part
of our operations, the remediation of soil and groundwater contaminated by petroleum products or hazardous substances or
wastes, and the health and safety of our employees. We may be liable for the costs of investigation, removal or remediation of
hazardous substances or petroleum products on, under, or in our current or formerly owned or leased property, or from a third-
party disposal facility which we may have used, without regard to whether we knew of, or caused, the presence of the
contaminants. The presence of, or failure to properly remediate, these substances may have adverse effects, including, for
example, substantial investigative or remedial obligations and limitations on the ability to sell or rent affected property or to
borrow funds using affected property as collateral. New or existing environmental matters or changes in environmental laws or
policies could lead to material costs for environmental compliance or cleanup. There can be no assurance that these liabilities
and costs will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. See Note 14 to our
consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

We face numerous claims, complaints and proceedings. Class actions, derivative lawsuits and contract, intellectual
property, competitive, personal injury, product hiability, workers’ compensation and other claims have been filed or are pending
against us and certain of our subsidiaries. In addition, we from time to time, face actions by governmental authorities, both in
and outside the United States. Additionally, we may become subject to significant claims of which we are currently unaware or
the claims of which we are aware may result in our incurring a significantly greater liability than we anticipate. Our insurance
may be insufficient or unavailable to protect us against potential loss exposures. In addition, we have increased our
self-insurance limits over the past several years, which has increased our uninsured exposure.

We devote significant time and expense to defense against the various claims, compléints and proceedings brought
against us, and we cannot assure you that the expenses or distractions from operating our businesses arising from these
defenses will not increase materially.

We cannot assure you that our accruals and right to indemnity and insurance will be sufficient, that recoveries from
insurance or indemnification claims will be available or that any of our current or future claims or other matters will not have a
material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. See “MD&A — Critical Accounting Policies
and Use of Estimates — Contingent Liabilities.”

The price of raw materials may adversely affect our results.

We are exposed to a variety of market risks, including inftation in the prices of raw materials. In the recent years, we have
faced significant increases in the prices of many of our key raw materials, including petroleum-based products, steel and
copper. Increases in the prices of raw materials may have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows, as we may not be able to pass cost increases on to our customers, or our sales may be reduced.




Our failure to successfully integrate acquisitions could have a negative effect on our operations; our acquisitions
could cause financial difficulties.

As part of our business strategy, we evaluate potential acquisitions in the ordinary course, some of which could be and
have been material. Our acquisitions involve a number of risks and present financial, managerial and operational challenges,
including:

« adverse effects on our reported operating results due to charges to earnings, including impairment charges associated
with goodwill and other intangibles;

+ diversion of management attention from running our businesses;
» integration of technology, operations, personnel and financial and other systems;
« increased expenses, including compensation expenses resulting from newly hired employees;

« increased foreign operations, often with unique issues relating to corporate culture, compliance with legal and
regulatary requirements and other challenges;

« assumption of known and unknown liabilities and exposure to litigation;
« increased levels of debt or dilution to existing shareholders; and
+ potential disputes with the sellers of acquired businesses, technology, services or products.

In addition, internal controls over financial reporting of acquired companies may not be up to required standards. Issues
may exist that could rise to the level of significant deficiencies or, in some cases, material weaknesses, particularly with respect
to foreign companies or non-public United States companies.

Our integration activities may place substantial demands on our management, operational resources and financial and
internal control systems. Customer dissatisfaction or performance problems with an acquired business, technology, service or
product could also have a material adverse effect on our reputation and business. In addition, any acquired business,
technology, service or product could under-perform relative to our expectations.

We may not achieve the expected cost savings and other benefits of our acquisitions.

We strive for and expect to achieve cost savings in connection with our acquisitions, including: (i} manufacturing process
and supply chain rationalization, including plant closings in some cases; {ii) streamlining redundant administrative overhead
and support activities; and (iii) restructuring and repositioning sales and marketing organizations to eliminate redundancies.
Cost savings expectations are inherently estimates that are difficutt to predict and are necessarily speculative in nature, and we
cannot assure you that we will achieve expected, or any, cost savings. In addition, we cannot assure you that unforeseen
factors will not offset the estimated cost savings or other benefits from our acquisitions. As a result, our actual cost savings, if
any, and other anticipated benefits could be delayed and could differ significantly from our estimates and the other information
contained in this report.

Our indebtedness may affect our business and may restrict our operating fiexibility.

At December 31, 2007, we had $1,575.1 in total indebtedness. On that same date, we had $363.4 of available borrowing
capacity under our revolving credit facilities after giving effect to borrowings under our domestic revolving loan facility of $115.0
and to $121.6 reserved for outstanding letters of credit. in addition, we had $470.0 of available issuance capacity under our
foreign trade facility after giving effect to $480.0 reserved for outstanding letters of credit. At December 31, 2007, our cash and
equivalents balance was $354.1. See “Management’s Discussion & Analysis” and Note 12 to our consolidated financial
statements for further discussion. We may incur additional indebtedness in the future, including indebtedness incurred to
finance, or which is assumed in connection with, acquisitions. We may in the future renegotiate or refinance our senior credit
tacilities, senior notes or other debt facilities, or enter into additional agreements that have different or more stringent terms. The
level of our indebtedness could:

» limit cash flow available for general corporate purposes, such as acquisitions and capital expenditures, due to the
ongoing cash flow requirements for debt service;

« limit our ability to obtain, or obtain on favorable terms, additional debt financing in the future for working capital, capital
expenditures or acquisitions;

« limit our flexibility in reacting to competitive and other changes in the industry and economic conditions;




* expose us-to a risk that a substantial decrease in net operating cash flows due to economic developments or adverse
developments in our business could make it difficult to meet debt service requirements; and

* expose us to risks inherent in interest rate fluctuations to the extent existing borrowings are, and any new borrowings
may he at variable rates of interest, which could result in higher interest expense in the event of increases in interest
rates.

Qur ability to make scheduled payments of principal, to pay interest on, or to refinance, our indebtedness and to satisfy our
other debt obligations will depend upon our future operating performance, which will be affected by general economic,
financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory, business and other factors beyond our control. In addition, we cannot assure you
that future borrowings or equity financing will be available for the payment or refinancing of our indebtedness. If we are unable
to service our indebtedness, whether in the ordinary course of business or upon acceleration of such indebtedness, we may
pursue one or more alternative strategies, such as restructuring or refinancing our indebtedness, selling assets, reducing or
delaying capital expenditures, revising implementation of or delaying strategic plans or seeking additional equity capital. Any of
these actions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and stock price. In
addition, we cannot assure you that we would be able to take any of these actions, that these actions would enable us to
cortinue to satisfy our capital requirements, or that these actions would be permittad under the terms of our various debt
agreements.

We operate in highly compefitive industries. Qur failure to compete effectively could harm our business.

We operate in a highly competitive environment, competing on the basis of product offerings, technical capabilities,
quality, service and pricing. We have a number of competitors, some of which are large, with substantial technological and
financial resources, brand recognition and established relationships ‘with global service providers. Some of our competitors
have low cost structures, support from governments in their home countries, or both. In addition, new competitors may enter
the industry. We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against existing or.future competitors.
Competitors may be able to offer lower prices, additional products or services ar a more attractive mix of products or services,
or services or other incentives that we cannot or will not match. These competitors may be in a stronger position to respond
quickly to new or emerging technologies and may be able to undertake more extensive marketing campaigns, and make more
attractive offers to potential customers, employees and strategic partners than can we.

Our strategy to outsource various elements of the products we sell subjects us to the business risks of our
suppliers, which could have a material adverse impact on our operations.

In areas where we depend on third-party suppliers for outsourced products or components, we are subject to the risk of
customer dissatisfaction with the quality or performance of the products we sell due to supplier faillure. In addition, business
difficulties experienced by a third-party supplier can lead to the interruption of our ability to obtain the outsourced product and
ultimately our inability to supply products to our customers. Third-party supplier business interruptions can include, but are not
limited to, work stoppages, union negotiations and other labor disputes, as well as financial and credit difficulties.

A portion of our revenues is generated through long-term fixed-price contracts, which could expose us to various
risks including the risks of cost overruns, inflation and credit and other counterparty risks.

A portion of our revenues and earnings is generated through iong-term fixed-price contracts. We recognize revenues from
certain of these contracts using the percentage-of-completion method of accounting whereby revenues and expenses, and
thereby profit, in a given period are determined based on our estimates as to the project status and the costs remaining to
complete a particular project. Estimates of total revenues and cost at completion are subject to many variables, including the
length of time to complete a contract. To the extent that we under-estimate the remaining cost to complete a project, we may
overstate the revenues and profit in a particular petiod. Further, certain of these contracts provide for penalties for failure to
timety perform our obligations under the contract, or require that we, at our expense, correct and remedy to the satisfaction of
the other party certain defects. Because some of our long-term contracts are at a fixed price, we face the risk that cost overruns
or inflation may exceed, erode or eliminate our expected profit margin, or cause us to take a loss on our projects. Additionally,
even though we perform credit checks and conduct other due diligence on those with whom we do business, customers of our
long-term contracts may suffer financial difficulties that make them unable to pay for a project when completed or they may
decide, either as a matter of corporate decision-making or in response to changes in local laws and regulations, not to pay us.
We cannot assure you that expenses or losses for uncollectible billings relating to our long-term fixed-price contracts will not
have a material adverse effect on our revenues and earnings.
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Changes in both the funding of and accounting for pension and postretirement benefit plans may affect our results
of operations and cash flows.

As of December 31, 2007, our defined benefit pension and postretirement plans, including both qualified and non-qualified
plans, were underfunded by $309.6. Of this amount, $6.5 related to our domestic qualified defined benefit pension plans.
During 2006, the United States government passed into law the Pension Protection Act of 2006 ("PPA”). Among other things,
the PPA requires plan sponsors to fund toward 100% of the underfunded status of domestic qualified defined benefit pension
plans (with contributions phased in through 2011) and increased the annual premiums we pay to the Pension Benefit Guaranty
Corporation. Additionally, during 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 158, "Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106
and 132(R)". This statement required us to recognize the underfunded status of our defined benefit pension and postretirement
plans in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006. SFAS No. 158 represents the culmination of phase one ofthe
FASB's project to re-address the accounting for defined benefit pension and postretirement plans, with the second phase ofthe
project focused on the recognition of expense inthe financial statements. As the specific annual funding requirements resulting
from the PPA are not yet known, and the FASB's project is ongoing, we are currently unable to accurately predict their impact on
our future results of operations or cash flows. See “MD&A — Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates” for the impact
that changes in certain assumptions used inthe calculation of our costs and obligations associated with these plans could have
on our results of operations and financial position. Furthermore, future changes in the funding of or accounting for these plans,
or other regulatory changes could have adverse impacts on our results of operations and cash flows.

Our failure to successfully complete acquisitions could negatively affect us.

We may not be able to consummate desired acquisitions, which could materially impact our growth rate, results of
operations, future cash flows and stock price. Our ability to achieve our goals depends upon, among other things, our ability to
identify and successfully acquire companies, businesses and product lines, 1o effectively integrate them and to achieve cost
effectiveness. We may also be unable to raise any additional funds necessary 10 consummate these acquisitions. In addition,
changes in our stock price may adversely affect our ability to consummate acquisitions. Competition for acquisitions in our
business areas has been significant, and has in many cases resulted in higher prices for businesses, including businesses that
we may target, which may also affect our acquisition rate or benefits achieved from our acquisitions.

Dispositions or our failure to successfully complete dispositions could negatively affect us.

' We continually review each of our businesses in order to determine their long term strategic fit. As part of this strategy, we
dispose of certain of our businesses in the ordinary course, some of which dispositions could be and have been material. Our
dispositions involve a number of risks and present financial, managerial and operational challenges, including diversion of
management attention from running our core businesses, increased expense associated with the dispositions, potential
disputes with the acquirers of the dispbsed assets or businesses and a potential dilutive effect on our earnings per share. it
dispositions are not completed in a timely manner there may be a negative effect on our cash flows and/or our ability to execute
our strategy. See ltem 1. Business and Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements for the status of our divestitures.

Increases in the number of shares of our outstanding common stock could adversely affect our common stock
price or dilute our earnings per share.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of common stock into the public market, or the perception that these sales could
oceur, could have a material adverse effect on our stock price. As of December 31, 2007, approximately 2.4 shares of our
common stock were issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options by employees and non-employee directors and we
had the ability to issue up to an additional 6.2 shares as restricted stock, restricted stock units, or stock options under our 2002
Stock Compensation Plan. Additionally, we may issue a significant number of additional shares, in connection with acquisitions
or otherwise. We also have a shelf registration statement for 8.3 shares of common stock that may be issued in connection with
acquisitions, and we have a shelf registration statement for a total of $1,000.0, which may be used in connection with an offering
of debt securities, preferred securities and/or common stock for general corporate purposes. Additional shares issued will have
a dilutive effect on our earnings per share.

We may not be able to finance future needs or adapt our business plan to react to changes in economic or
business conditions because of restrictions placed on us by our senior credit facilities and any existing or future
instruments governing our other indebtedness.

Our senior credit facilities and agreements governing our other indebtedness contain, or may contain, a number of
restrictions and covenants that limit our ability to make distributions or other payments to our investors and creditors unless
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certain financial tests or other criteria are satisfied. We also must comply with certain specified financial ratios and tests. Our
subsidiaries may also be subject to restrictions on their ability to make distributions to us. In addition, our senicr credit facilities
and any other agreements contain or may contain additional affirmative and negative covenants. Existing restrictions are
described more fully under “Management’s Discussion & Analysis”. Each of these restrictions could affect our ability to operate
our business and may limit our ability to take advantage of potential business opportunities, such as acquisitions.

if we do not comply with the covenants and restrictions contained in our senior credit facilities and agreements governing
our other indebtedness, we could be in default under those agreements, and the debt, together with accrued interest, could
then be declared immediately due and payable. if we default under our senior credit facilities, the lenders could cause all our
outstanding debt obligations under our senior credit facilities to become due and payable or require us to apply ali of our cash
to repay the indebtedness we owe. If our debt is accelerated, we may not be able to repay or refinance our debt. Even if we are
able to obtain new financing, we may not be able to repay our debt or borrow sufficient funds to refinance it. In addition, any
default under our senior credit facilities or agreements governing our other indebtedness could lead to an acceleration of debt
under other debt instruments that contain cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions. If the indebtedness under our senior
credit facilities is accelerated, we may not have sufficient assets to repay amounts due under our senior credit facilities, senior
notes or other debt securities then cutstanding. Our ability to comply with these provisions of our senior credit facilities and
agreements governing our other indebtedness will be affected by changes in the economic or business conditions or other
events beyond our control. Complying with our covenants may also cause us to take actions that are not favorable to us and
may make it more difficult for us to successfully execute our business strategy and compete, including against companies that
are not subject to such restrictions.

The loss of key personnel and any inability to attract and retain qualified employees could have a material adverse
effect on our operations.

We are dependent on the continued services of our leadership team. The loss of these persennel without adequate
replacement could have a material adverse effect on our operations. Additionally, we need qualified managers and skilled
employees with technical and manufacturing industry experience in order to operate our business successfully. From time to
time, there may be a shortage of skilled labor, which may make it more difficult and expensive for us to attract and retain
qualified employees. If we were unable to attract and retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals or our costs to do so were
to increase significantly, our operations could be materially adversely affected.

Many of the industries in which we operate are cyclical, and our results will be and have been affected as a resull.

Many of the business areas in which we operate are subject to specific industry and general economic cycles. Certain
businesses are subject to industry cycles, including, but not limited to:

* The electric power and infrastructure markets, which influence our Therma! Equipment and Services and Industrial
Products and Services segments.

» The U.S. auto manutacturers and franchise dealers are facing significant competitive and ather challenges, and we face
pressure on revenues and margins in our Test and Measurement segment as a result.

* Demand for cooling systems and towers within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment is correlated to contract
timing on large construction contracts, which have caused significant fluctuations in revenues and profits from period to
period. Accordingly, any downturn or competitive pricing pressures in those or other markets in which we participate
could adversely affect us.

» The oil and gas, chemical and petrochemical markets, which influence our Flow Technology segment.

Cyclical changes could also affect sales of products in cur other businesses. The downturns in the business cycles of our
different operations may occur at the same time, which could exacerbate any material adverse effects to our business. See
“Management’s Discussion & Analysis — Segment Results of Operations.” In addition, certain of our businesses have
seasonal fluctuations. Historically, our businesses generally tend te be stronger in the second half of the year.

Our business is subject fo changes in the economy.

Our businesses have heen affected in various years by difficult economic canditions. There can be no assurance that the
economy will not worsen or that we will be able to sustain existing cost structures or create additional cost reductions to offset
economic conditions, or that the unpredictability and changes in the markets in which we participate will not adversely impact
our results, Costreduction actions often result in charges against earnings. We expect to take charges against earnings in 2008
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in connection with implementing additional cost reduction actions at certain of our businesses. These charges can vary
significantly from period to period and, as a result, we may experience fluctuations in our reported net income and earnings per
share due to the timing of restructuring actions, which in turn can have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results
of operations or cash flows.

If the fair value of any of our reporting units is insufficient to recover the carrying value of the goodwill and other
intangibles of the respective reporting unit, a material non-cash charge to earnings could resuit.

At December 31, 2007, we had goodwill and other intangible assets, net of $2,706.5. We account for goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangibles in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets™. SFAS No. 142 states that
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but are instead reviewed for impairment annually (or more
frequently if impairment indicators arise). We conduct annual impairment testing to determine if we will be able to recover all or
a portion of the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles. In addition, we review goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets for impairment more frequently if impairment indicators arise. If the fair value is insufficient to recover the
carrying value of our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles, we may be required to record a material non-cash charge to
earnings.

Consistent with the requirements of SFAS No. 142, the fair values of our reporting units generally are based on discounted
cash flow projections that are believed to be reasonable under current and forecasted circumstances, the results of which form
the basis for making judgments about carrying values of the reported net assets of our reporting units. Other considerations are
also incorporated, including comparable industry price multiples. Many of our businesses closely follow changes in the
industries and end-markets that they serve. Accordingly, we consider estimates and judgments that affect the future cash flow
projections, including principal methods of competition such as volume, price, service, product performance and technical
innovations and estimates associated with cost improvement initiatives, capacity utilization, and assumptions for inflation and
foreign currency changes. We monitor impairment indicators across all of our businesses. Any significant change in market
conditions and estimates or judgments used to determine expected future cash flows that indicate a reduction in carrying value
may give rise to impairment in the period that the change becomes known.

We are subject to work stoppages, union negotlations, labor disputes and other matters associated with our labor
force, which may adversely impact our operations and cause us to incur incremental costs.

At December 31, 2007, we had approximately 17,800 employees associated with businesses that have been classified in
our consolidated financial statements as continuing operations. Additionally, we had approximately 700 employees associated
with a business that we intend to sell in 2008 and have classified in our consolidated financial statements as a discontinued
operation. Twelve domestic collective bargaining agreements cover approximately 1,275 employees, noneg of which relate to
the business classified in our consolidated financial statements as a discontinued operation. We also have various collective
labor arrangements covering certain non-U.S. employee groups. We are subject to potential union campaigns, work
stoppages, union negotiations and other potential labor disputes. Further, we may be subject to work stoppages, which are
beyond our control, at our suppliers or customers.

Our technology is important to our success, and failure to develop new products may result In a significant
competitive disadvantage.

Because many of our products rely on proprietary technology, we believe that the development and protection of our
intellectual property rights is critical to the success of our business. In order to maintain our market positions and margins, we
need to continually develop and introduce high quality, technologically advanced and cost effective products on a timely basis.
The failure to do so could result in a significant competitive disadvantage.

Additionally, despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties or competitors may copy or
otherwise obtain and use our products or technology. The steps we have taken may not prevent unauthorized use of our
technology, particularly in foreign countries where the iaws may not protect our proprietary rights as fully as in the United
States. Expenses in connection with defending our rights may be material.

if we are unable to protect our information systems against data corruption, cyber-based attacks or network
security breaches, our operations could be disrupted.

We are increasingly dependent on information technology networks and systems, including the internet, to process,
transmit and store electronic information. In particular, we depend on our information technology infrastructure for electronic
communications among our locations around the world and between our personnel and suppliers and customers. Security
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breaches of this infrastructure can create system disruptions, shutdowns or unauthorized disclosure of confidential information.
If we are unable to prevent such breaches, our operations could be disrupted or we may suffer financial damage or loss
because of lost or misappropriated information,

Our current and planned products may contain defects or errors that are detected only after delivery to customers.
if that occurs, our reputation may be harmed and we may face additional costs.

We cannot assure you that our product development, manufacturing and integration testing will be adequate to detect all
defects, errors, failures and quality issues that could impact customer satisfaction or result in claims against us with regard to
our products. As a result, we may have to replace certain components and/or provide remediation in response to the discovery
of defects in products that are shipped. The occurrence of any defects, errors, failures or quality issues could result in
cancellation of orders, product returns, diversion of our resources, legal actions by our customers or our customers' end users
and other losses to us or to our customers or end users, and could also result in the loss of or delay in market acceptance of our
products and loss of sales, which would harm our business and adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

Provisions in our corporate documents and Delaware law may delay or prevent a change in control of our
company, and, accordingly, we may not consummate a transaction that our shareholders consider favorable.

Provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws may inhibit changes in control of our company not approved by
our Board. These provisions include, for example: a staggered board of directors; a prohibition on sharehoider action by written
consent; a requirement that special shareholder meetings be called only by our Chairman, President or our Board; advance
notice requirements for shareholder proposals and nominations; limitations on shareholders’ ability to amend, alter or repeal
the By-laws; enhanced voting requirements for certain business combinations involving substantial shareholders; the authority
of our Board to issue, without shareholder approval, preferred stock with terms determined in its discretion; and iimitations on
shareholders ability to remove directors. In addition, we are afforded the protections of Section 203 of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which could have similar effects. In general, Section 203 prohibits us from engaging in a “business
combination” with an “interested shareholder” (each as defined in Section 203} for at least three years after the time the person
became an interested shareholder unless certain conditions are met. These protective provisions could result in our not
consummating a transaction that our shareholders consider favorable or discourage entities from attempting to acquire us,
potentiaily at a significant premium to our then-existing stock price.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Statf Comments
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. Properties
The following is a summary of our principal properties, as of December 31, 2007, classified by segment;

Approximate
No. of Square Footage

Location Facilites Owned Leased
{in millions)
Flow Technology . ........... ..., P 8 states and
22 foreign countries 56 2.4 2.0
Testand Measurement . . ... ..... ... ... .. .. .. .. .. 7 states and ,
8 foreign countries 32 0.6 1.3
Thermal Equipment and Services. . ................ .. ....... 9 states and
. 8 foreign countries 31 4.1 3.9
Industrial Products and Services ... .............. .. .. .. ... 14 states and
5 foreign countries 25 1.3 0.5
Total . . e e 144 84 7.7

In addition to manufacturing plants, we lease our corporate office in Charlotte, NC, our informaticn technology data center
in Horsham, PA, our Asia-Pacific center in Shanghai, China, and varicus sales and service locations throughout the world. We
consider these properties, as well as the related machinery and equipment, to be well maintained and suitable and adequate for
their intended purposes.
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ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

{All amounts are in millions)

In October of 2004, one of our ltalian subsidiaries, SPX Cooling Technologies ltalia, S.p.A., formerly Balcke Martey
ltalia, S.p.A., was notified that it was the subject of an investigation by the Milan Public Prosecutor's Office. The investigation
related to the business practices of several individuals and different companies in securing contracts from an [talian power
generation company. On August 24, 2006, the Public Prosecutor served on SPX Cooling Technologies Italia, S.p.A., a Notice of
End of the Preliminary Investigations. This Notice, which also identified numerous other individual and corporate defendants,
sets forth an allegation that SPX Cooling Technologies !talia, S.p.A. is responsible under Italian Legislative Decree No. 231 for
failing to adopt and effectively implement a proper organization and management model suitable for the prevention of alleged
acts of bribery by the former general manager of Hamon-Research Cottrell Itafia, S.p.A. and the former director of Marley
Cooling Tower Europe, S.p.A. Our subsidiary has previously taken actions to address ltalian Legislative Decree No. 231,
including the appointment of a compliance program supervisor at the cooling equipment business, and is evaluating these
charges and potential defenses in advance of a preliminary hearing. Following the assertion of preliminary defenses by SPX
Cooling Technologies ltalia S.p.A., the Public Prosecutor discharged our subsidiary from any responsibilities under such ltalian
Legislative Decree for several alleged acts of bribery. Such discharge by the Public Prosecutor is subject to challenge by third
parties having a lawful interest therein within six months after the filing of the discharge. In addition, following discussions
between our subsidiary and the Public Prosecutor regarding a potential plea-agreement with respect to the remaining alleged
acts of bribery, our subsidiary submitted a request for a plea-agreement to which the Public Prosecutor consented. The Judge
responsible for this matter conducted a hearing to consider the proposed plea-agreement on February 26, 2008 and has
scheduled a further hearing to issue a decision on March 28, 2008. We do not believe that the outcome of these proceedings
will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

We are subject to other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the normal course of business. In our opinion, these
matters are either without merit or of a kind that should not have a material adverse effect individually or in the aggregate on our
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. However, we cannot assure you that these proceedings or claims will not
have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

See “Contingent Liabilities,” “Risk Factors” and Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion of
legal proceedings.
ITEM 4. Submission Of Matters To A Vote Of Security Holders
Not applicabie.

ITEM 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SPW.”

Set forth below are the high and low sales prices for our common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange
composite transaction reporting system for each quarterly period during the years 2007 and 2006, together with dividend
information.

Dividends
High Low per Share
2007
A AN T . . . . . s e e e e e e e e e $1090.88 $90.72 $0.25
B QUARET . o v ot e e e e e e e e e 9470 79.81 0.25
bt TR -2 = (R 89.39 69.11 0.25
TR URREE . . . o e e et e e e e e s 7186 6098 0.25
Dlvidends
High Low per Share
2006
A QUBIET .« . o e e e e e e $ 6237 $54.08 $0.25
A QUANBE . . . . i e e e e e 56.25 50.58 0.25
oL 1T 7= T ) (P 57.16 51.23 0.25
P QUAI O . . . vt et e e e e e e e e e e 5400 45M 0.25
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The actual amount of each quarterly dividend, as well as each declaration date, record date and payment date is subject to
the discretion of the Board of Directors, and the target dividend level may be adjusted during the year at the discretion of the
Board of Directors. The factors the Board of Directors consider in determining the actual amount of each quarterly dividend
includes our financial performance and on-going capital needs, our ability to declare and pay dividends under the terms of our
credit facilities and any other debt instruments, and other factors deemed relevant.

There were no repurchases of common stock during the three months ended December 31, 2007. The approximate
number of shareholders of record of our common stock as of February 22, 2008 was 4,521,
Company Performance

This graph shows a five year comparison of cumulative total returns for SPX, the S&P Composite Index and the S&P Capital
Goods Index. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 on December 31, 2002 and the reinvestment of dividends.

$300

§250 - -mme oo

§200 b-mm e '_1,-.-'_'_'____

S]SO el g "-__-,':r""-.::.';;:_-_;;,“.---'-r--—"-f-. ------------- ST

u“ggf
§100 ¥& . e
$50 . . . .
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
2002 | 2003 | 2004 | 2005 | 2006 | 2007

SPX Corporation $100.00 | $157.04 |$109.66 |$128.07 [3174.31 |$296.59

= === S&P 500 100.00 | 128.68 | 142.69 | 149.68 | 173.32 | 182.84

-------- S&P Capital Goods 100.00 | 134.68 | 160.13 | 163.71 | 188.03 | 217.32
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

Summary of Operations

As of and for the year ended December 31,

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

{In mitlions, except per share amounts)

RevenuesN@® L e $4,8223 $4,167.6 $3,729.8 $3,5089 83,1314
Operating income®® . . . . 4256 3209 263.9 49.6 304.9
Other (expense) income, net® . ... ... ... ... oL (4.6) (28.0) (17.2) (8.7) 47.4
Interest expense, net®® L {71.1) (50.2) (164.1)  (154.1) (187.7)
Equity earnings injointventures . . .. ... ... .. e 39.9 40.8 23.5 259 34.3
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes . . . 389.8 2835 106.1 (87.3) 198.9
(Provision) benefit for income taxes™ .. ........ ... .. ... .. {89.5) {57.8) (71.4) 26.5 (84.8)
Income (loss) from continuing operations . .. .............. 300.3 225.7 34.7 {60.8) 1141
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax® . ... ... (6.1} (55.0) 1,055.3 43.7 121.9
Net income (I0S5) . . . v v v et it $ 2042 $ 1707 $1,0000 ¢ (17.1) & 236.0
Basic earnings {loss) per share of common stock:
income (loss) from continuing operations . . .. ............ $ 547 $ 387 $ 049 $ (082 $ 148
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .. ............ {0.11} (0.94} 14.84 0.59 1.59
Net income (loss) pershare . .......... ... .. ... & 536 $ 293 $ 1533 $ (023) & 3.07
Diluted earnings (loss) per share of common stock:
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . .. ............ $ 533 $ 374 $ 048 $ (082 $ 146
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .. ............ (0.11) {0.91) 14.62 0.59 1.38
Net income (loss) pershare ......... ... .. oo $ 522 $§ 283 $ 1510 $ (023) $ 284
Dividends declared pershare . ............ .. ... ..., $ 100 $ 100 $& 100 $ 1.00 —
Other financial data:
Total ASSEES . . .t i e e $6,237.4 $5437.1 $5306.4 $7,5885 $7,624.3
Totaldebt . ... ... ... . ... e e 1,575.1 963.8 780.7 2,5261 2,619.9
Other long-term obligations . . . ... ... ... e 823.3 838.1 g90.5 1,2116 1,35635
Shareholders’ equity . . . . . . .. .. e 2,006.0 21094 2,111.2 2127.8 2,067.2
Capital expenditures . . . .. ... .ot 90.9 55.7 41.3 31.8 254
Depreciation and amortization . .. .. ........ ... 79.0 72.1 65.9 69.8 68.8

4
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During 2005, revenues for our Test and Measurement segment were reduced for program incentives and rebates earned
by certain customers throughout the year. Prior to 2005, these incentives and rebates were classified as cost of products
sold and selling, general and administrative expense. Had these amounts been classified as a reduction to revenues prior
to 2005, revenues for 2004 and 2003 would have been lower by $14.6 and $13.3, respectively.

An internal audit of an operation in Japan uncovered employee misconduct and improper accounting entries. Correction of
these matters resulted in a charge of $7.4 during the third quarter of 2007, with a reduction of $2.3 to revenues, $4.5
recorded to cost of products sold and $0.6 recorded to selling, general and administrative expense. See Note 1 to our
consolidated financial statements for further information.

During 2007, we recorded charges related to the settlement of a legacy product liability matter within our Industrial
Products and Services segment of $8.5. We also recorded a benefit of $5.0 during 2007 within our Thermal Equipment and
Services segment as a result of cost improvements associated with a state-approved environmental remediation plan ata
site in California.

In 2007, 2006 and 2005, we incurred net special charges of $7.6, $3.9 and $8.6, respectively, associated with restructuring
initiatives to consolidate manufacturing and other facilities, as well as asset impairments. In 2005, these charges were net
of a credit of $7.9 relating to a gain on the sate of land in Milpitas, CA, resulting in the finalization of a previously initiated
restructuring action. See Note 6 to our consolidated financial statements for further details.

In 2007, we recorded charges of $5.0 within corporate expense related to legacy legal matters.

In 2007, we recorded an impairment charge of $4.0 associated with other intangible assets held by a business within our
Thermal Equipment and Services segment. See Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion.
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In 2004, we recorded charges of $175.3 related to the impairment.of goodwill and other intangible assets for our Fluid
Power, Radiodetection and TPS businesses. In addition, we incurred net special charges of $37.8 related to other asset
impairments and cash costs associated with work force reductions, initiatives to divest or consolidate manufacturing
facilities, asset divestures and the exit of certain operations. Approximately $8.8 of these net special charges related to
non-disposal asset impairments at our Fluid Power business that were recorded in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 144, ' '

in 2003, we recorded $34.3 of net special charges associated primarily with the restructuring initiatives fo consolidate
manufacturing facilities and rationalize certain product lines, along with any related asset impairments.

#  |n 2006, we recorded a charge of $20.0 relating to the settlement of a lawsuit with VS| Holdings, Inc. {“VSI").

In 2003, we recorded a $41.9 net gain on the favorable settlement of a patent infringement suit against Microsoft -
Corporation.

®  Interest expense, netincluded losses on early extinguishment of debt of $3.3 in 2007, $113.6 in 2005, $2.6 in 2004 and $2.2
in 2003 related to the write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees, premiumsfiees paid to redeem senior notes and
other costs associated with the extinguishment of the term loans and revolving credit loan.

® Income from discontinued operations included an allocation of interest expense of $10.2 in each 2004 and 2003
associated with the pravision under our credit agreement then in effect that required that the first $150.0 of proceeds from
business dispositions be applied to outstanding balances under the credit agreement, including the term loans. No other
corporate costs have been allocated to discontinued operations.

@ During 2007, in connection with the resolution of certain matters related to our Federal income tax returns for the years
1985 through 2002, we recorded an income tax benefit of $16.8. In addition, during 2007, we recorded an income tax
benefit of $11.5 associated with a reduction in the statutory tax rates in Germany and the United Kingdom. Lastly, during
2007, we recorded an aggregate income tax benefit of $15.9 associated with the settlement of various state matters and
certain matters in the United Kingdom, an expected refund in China related to an earnings reinvestment plan, and the
reversal of income taxes that were provided prior to 2007.

During 2006 we recorded an income tax benefit of $34.7 principally associated with the settlement of certain matters
refating to our 1998 to 2002 Federal income tax returns.

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations

{All dollar and share amounts are in millions)

The following should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes. All dollar and
share amounts are in millions.

Executive Overview'

Qverall, 2007 was a successful year for SPX as we experienced our third consecutive year of improvement in revenues and
operating income. Specifically, revenues and operating income for 2007 were higher than 2006 by 15.7% and 32.6%,
respectively. In addition, net operating cash flows from continuing operations were $404.2 in 2007 compared to $48.6 in 2006.
We also continued our progress on our six key operating initiatives (emerging markets, new product development, lean
processes, supply chain management, information technology centralization and organizational development). A- brief
summary of our efforts to date on our operating initiatives is as follows:

* Emerging Markets — Our primary emerging markets’ efforts have been on China.-During 2007, revenues from sales into
China totaled approximately $344.0, including approximately $244.0 refating to our Thermal Equipment and Services
segment, with the primary driver being cooling systems in support of power plant construction. The developing
infrastructure in China also provides epporunities for a number of our other businesses. For example, the number of
vehicles throughout China continues to increase, which we expect to drive demand for our Test and Measurement
segment’s electronic diagnostic equipment, specialty tools and dealer services. In addition, our Flow Technology
segment is expanding its presence in China, as it was recently awarded two contracts valued at $13.0 to design and
provide squib valves to various nuclear power plants in China and to provide training and technical expertise for these
plants, and we expect additional orders in the near-term. As part of cur expansion into China, we recently rolled out plans
for a shared service center in Shanghai, which will initially focus on finance and will eventually service all of our
businesses in Asia Pacific. Our Shanghai service center will likely serve as a blueprint for other shared service centers
around the globe, with the next likely candidate being our businesses in Europe. The expected benefits from this shared
service approach are {i) our ability to capitalize on scale and synergies, (i) an intensified market and customer focus,
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and (iii) an improved internal control environment. Our global expansion has not been limited to China, as other parts of
the world, including Africa, the Middle East and Russia, are contributing to our organic revenue growth. In particular, our
Thermal Equipment and Services segment recently obtained a $235.0 multi-year contract in South Africa to supply
filters, air preheaters and pressure parts for boilers within a power generation facility. The acquisition of APV also
expands our reach into emerging markets, as approximately 37% of APV's annual revenues are asscciated with sales
into Asia Pacific, Africa and South America. In 2008, over 50% of our consolidated revenues are expected to be from
sales outside of the U.S., with over 20% outside of North America and Western Europe.

+ New Product Development — We are committed to developing new, innovative solutions 1o meet our customers’ needs
and, in some cases, regulatory standards. Within our Test and Measurement segment, new product development is
critical to keeping pace with increasing vehicle complexity and new madel launches. During 2007, the segment
launched a new air conditioner servicing unit that has received two awards from the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency for its ability to protect the climate and ozone. The segment also recently launched the DT-500, a diagnostic tool
that operates in Mandarin and is currently being sold in the Chinese aftermarket. Within our Thermal Equipment and
Services segment, we have aver 250 patents relating to our cooling systems. The segment recently introduced a new
hybrid cooling application called Air-2-Air. This technology can reduce water consumption within a power plant by up to
20%. As noted above, our Flow Technology segment has developed a new squib valve technology for use in nuclear
power plants, '

« Lean Processes — Our businesses are implementing lean principles throughout all their functions, with an ultimate
objective of achieving operational excellence. Our lean efforts focus on making each task more efficient through, among
other things, the elimination of waste and bottlenecks. Businesses within our Flow Technology segment as well as our
power transformer business have experienced significant improvements in their manufacturing processes as a result of
implementing lean principles, resulting in increased capacity and through-put and ultimately in improved profitability.
Many of our other businesses are beginning to experience similar progress with their lean efforts, which should have a

" favorable impact on future operating results.

« Supply Chain Management — Our supply chain initiative is focused on driving cost reductions and working capital
improverment, along with quality and on-time delivery through partnering with a strategic global supply base. Across all
our businesses, we are effectively managing challenging material markets (e.g., steel and copper) by (i} making
strategic material purchases, (i) consolidating our vendor base, and (iii) implementing hedging strategies where market
opportunities exist.

» Information Technology (“IT") Centralization — We continue to invest in and make progress on the IT front, including the
planned global expansion of SAR, with an initial focus'in our Flow Technology and Thermal Equipment and Services
segments. During 2007, 15 business locations implemented SAP and another 10 are scheduled for 2008. The success of
many of our other key operating initiatives is highly dependent upon continued investment in a global IT structure.

» Organizational Development — Our employees are the backbone of the company. We are providing leadership and
managerial training to further develop the skills of our employees. We have development programs for engineering,
finance and human resources that are focused on recruiting and developing high-talent individuals. In addition, we
recently implemented a business leadership development program for a select group of high potential managers. The
program focuses on further developing leadership and problem solving skills, with the problem solving activities
generally focused on our own key operating initiatives.

During 2007, our focus on these initiatives contributed to improvement in revenues and operating income and margins as
described in “Results of Continuing Operations” and “Segments Results of Operations.” In 2008, we will continue to focus on
and anticipate continued progress across all these key initiatives, which we expect will resuit in additional improvement in
revenue and operating income and margins. In addition, during 2008 we also will be locking to expand our low-cost country
engineering and manufacturing presence. APV, which we acquired on December 31, 2007, already maintains a 32,000 square
foot manufacturing facility in Bydgoszcz, Poland and is constructing an additional 113,000 square foot facility at the same
location. We will to look to leverage what is atready in place for APV and will consider other alternatives where there is an
available skilled workforce, possible tax incentives and a modernized infrastructure. We believe that expanding our low-cost
country engineering and manufacturing presence can favorably impact our cost structure as we!l as our ability to expand our
customer base.
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Other Significant 2007 items

There were a number of other significant items that impacted ‘our 2007 operating resuits, including:

Capital Structure:

« We entered intc new senior credit facilities, with total capacity of $2,300.0, which replaced our then-existing senior credit
facilities.

* We issued, in a private placement, $500.0 aggregate principal amount of 7.625% senicr unsecured notes due in 2014.

Acquisitions:

« In August 2007, we completed the acquisition of JCD within our Test and Measurement segment for a purchase price of
$40.3. ' .

* In October 2007, we completed the acquisition of Matra within our Test and Measurement segment for a purchase price
of $36.6, including cash acquired of $2.9,

« On December 31, 2007 we completed the acquisiticn of APV within our Flow Technology segment for a purchase price of
$524.2, including cash acquired of $41.7.
Dispositions and Discontinued Operations:

« In April 2007, we sold Contech, our automotive components business, for net cash proceeds of $134.3. We recorded a
net loss on the sale of $13.6 to “Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax.”

+ During the third guarter of 2007, we committed to a plan to divest our Air Filtration business within the Flow Technology
segment. As a result of the planned divestiture, we recorded a net charge of $11.0 during 2007 to “Gain (loss) on
disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax.”

» During the third quarter of 2007, we recognized an income tax benefit of $13.5 to “Gain (loss) on disposition of
* discantinued operations, net of tax” relating to the revarsal of certain deferred tax liabilities associated with businesses
previously disposed of and reported as discontinued operations, primarily in 2005.

« In December 2007, we sold BD Austria for cash proceeds of $11.8, exclusive of cash balances assumed by the buyer of
$30.0. We recorded a gain on sale of $17.2 to “Gain (loss} ¢n disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax.”

+ in December 2007, we sold Nema for cash proceeds of $6.8, net of cash assumed by the buyer of $0.4. We recorded a
net loss on the sale of $2.3 to “Gain {loss) on disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax.”

Common Stock Repurchases — We repurchased 9.0 shares of our common stock for total cash consideration of $715.9.

Income Taxes:

» As aresult of our adoption of FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation
of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48"}, we reduced our income tax liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits by $52.5,
with a corresponding increase to retained earnings.

We reached an agreement with the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) regarding certain matters related to our Federal
income tax returns for the years 1995 through 2002 after the agreement was approved by the Joint Committee on
Taxation of the U.S. Congress. In connection with the resclution of these matters, we reduced our income tax liabilities by
$35.6, which resulted in a continuing operations tax benefit of $16.8 and a decrease in goodwill of $18.8,

We recorded an income tax benefit of $11.5 associated with a reduction in the statutory tax rates in Germany and the
United Kingdom.

We recorded an aggregate income tax benefit of $15.9 associated with the settlement of various state matters and
certain matters in the United Kingdom, an expected refund in China related to an earnings reinvestment plan, and the
reversal of income taxes that were provided prior 1o 2007.

Other:

= Aninternal audit of an operation in Japan uncovered employee misconduct and improper accounting entries. Correction
of these matters resulted in a charge of $7.4 during the third quarter of 2007, which included $2.4 of inventory write-
downs, $2.0 of accounts receivable write-offs and $3.0 of other adjustments. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial
statements for further information.
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« We recorded a benefit of $5.0 within our Therma! Equipment and Services segment as a result of cost improvements
associated with a state-approved environmental remediation plan at a site in California during the second quarter of
2007.

+ We recorded net charges of $8.5 related to the settlement of a legacy product liability matter within our Industrial
Products and Services segment during the first, second and fourth quarters of 2007.

« We recorded charges of $5.0 related to legacy legal matters, with $4.8 recorded during the fourth quarter of 2007.

Results of Continuing Operations

Seasonality and Competition — Many of our businesses follow changes in the industries and end markets that they serve.
In addition, certain businesses have seasonal fluctuations. Our heating and ventitation products businesses tend to be stronger
during the third and fourth quarters, as customer-buying habits are driven largely by seasonal weather patterns. Demand for
cooling towers and related services is highly correlated to contract timing on large construction contracts, which may cause
significant fluctuations from period to period. Revenues for our Service Solutions business typicaily follow program Jaunch
timing for diagnostic systems and service equipment. in aggregate, our businesses generally tend to be stronger in the second
half of the year.

Although our businesses operate in highly competitive markets, our competitive position cannot be determined accurately
in the aggregate or by segment since our competitors do not offer all the same product lines or serve all the same markets. In
addition, specific reliable comparative figures are not available for many of our competitors. In most product groups,
competition comes from numerous concems, both large and small. The principal methods of competition are price, service,
product performance and technical innovations. These methods vary with the type of product sold. We believe we can compete
effectively on the basis of each of these factors as they apply to the various products we offer. See “Segments” for a discussion
of our competitors.

Non-GAAP Measures — Organic revenue growth (decline) presented herein is defined as revenue growth (decline)
excluding the effects of foreign currency fluctuations and acquisitions and divestitures. We belisve that this metric is a useful
financial measure for investors in evaluating our operating performance for the periods presented, as when read in conjunction
with our revenues, it presents a useful tool to evaluate our ongoing operations and provides investors with a tool they canuse to
evaluate our management of assets held from period to period. In addition, organic revenue growth (decline) is one of the
factors we use in internal evaluations of the overall performance of our business. This metric, however, is not a measure of
financial performance under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP™) and should not be
considered a substitute for revenue growth (decline) as determined in accordance with GAAP and may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

The following table provides selected financial information for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,

including the reconciliation of organic revenue growth to net revenue growth, as defined herein:
2007 vs. 2006 vs.

2007 2006 2005 2006% 2005%
REVENUES . . ottt v ettt a et e e $4,822.3 $4,167.6 $3,729.8 15.7 1.7
Gross Profit . ... .. s 1,383.1 1,169.4 1,027.6 19.1 13.8
% Of FEVENLIES . . . . . it it e i e s 28.9% 28.1% 27.6%
Selling, general and administrative expense . . ............... 837.5 830.5 742.3 129 11.9
% Of FEVENUEBS . . . . it 19.4% 19.9% 19.9%
intangible amortization ... ....... ... .o i 18.4 14.1 12.8 30.5 10.2
Impairment of intangible assets . . .......... ... ..o 0 4.0 — — * —
Special charges, net . . . .. ... ... 7.6 3.9 8.6 94.9 (54.7)
Other expense, Net. . .. ... ..ot i {4.6) (28.0) (17.2) (B83.6) 62.8
Interest eXpense, MBt . .. .. ... vt v i (67.8) (50.2} {50.5)  35.1 (0.6)
Loss on early extinguishmentofdebt . . .................... (3.3) — (113.6) * *
Equity earnings in joint ventures . ......... ... 39.9 40.8 235 22y ' 736
Income from continuing operations before income taxes. . ....... 389.8 2835 106.1 37.5 167.2
Income tax Provision . .. ... .. ..o (89.5) {57.8) (71.4) 548 (19.0)
income from continuing operations .. ........ ... ... o0 300.3 225.7 347 33.1 550.4
Components of consclidated revenue growth:
Organic growth . . ...t 9.8 9.7
FOr@igNn CUMTENCY . . o vt e et e e i e 2.7 0.6
Acquisitions, net .. ... . oo 3.2 1.4
Netrevenue growth . . . . ... .. ... .o es 15.7 11.7

* Not meaningful for comparison purposes.
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Revenues — For 2007, the increase in revenues was driven primarily by organic revenue growth. We continued to
experience strong demand in the power, chemical, mining, oil and gas, sanitary and dehydration markets serviced by
businesses in our Flow Technology segment, as well as for cooling systems and products and thermal services within our
Thermal Equipment and Services segment. Growth in.our Industrial Products and Services segment has been led by strong
demand for power transformers. Revenues for 2007 also benefited from the fourth quarter 2006 acquisition of Aktiebolaget
Custos (“Custos") within our Flow Technology segment, the 2007 acquisitions of JCD and Matra within our Test and
Measurement segment, and the favorable impact of foreign currencies (i.e., weakening of the U.S. dollar against most other
currencies).

For 2008, the increase in revenues was driven primarily by organic revenue growth. We experienced strong demand for
thermal services and repairs in Europe and dry cooling products in China within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment,
as well as within the power, chemical, mining and oil and gas markets serviced by businesses in our Flow Technology segment.
Growth in our Industrial Products and Services segment was led by strong demand for power transformers, crystal growing and
laboratory equipment, machined components for aircrafts, and industrial and hydraulic tools. Revenues also benefited from the
fourth quarter 2005 acquisition of Carfool GmbH (“CarTool"} in our Test and Measurement segment.

Gross profit — The increase in gross profit in 2007 was due primarily to the revenue performance described above. The
following items favorably impacted gross profit as a percentage of revenues in 2007 when compared to 2006:

* Improved pricing, favorable product mix and productivity associated with the power transformer business within our
Industrial Products and Services segment.

* Improved pricing and lean manufacturing initiatives within the Flow Technology segment.
* Improved execution and favorable project mix within our cooling systems and products business.
The following items partially offset the 2007 increases in gross profit described above:

* A significant decline in OEM program launches due to difficult conditions within the domestic automotive market led to
reduced revenues and margins in our Test and Measurement segment,

* Aninternal audit of an operation in Japan uncovered employee misconduct and improper accounting entries. Correction
of these matters resulted in a total charge of $7.4 during third quarter of 2007, with a reduction of $2.3 of revenues, $4.5
recorded to cost of products sold and $0.6 recorded to selling, general and administrative expense. See Note 1 to our
consolidated financial statements for further information.

+ Charges of $8.5 within our Industrial Products and Services segment refated to the settiement of a legacy product liability
matter.

The increase in gross profit in 2006, when compared to 2005, was due primarily to the revenue performance described
above. The following items favorably impacted gross profit as a percentage of revenues in 2006 when compared to 2005:

| * Improved pricing and lean manufacturing initiatives within the Flow Technology segment.

* New product introductions, improved pricing and favorable product mix associated with the specialty tools and portable
cable and pipe locator product lines of our Test and Measurement segment.

* Improved pricing, favorable product mix and productivity associated with the power transformer and industrial and
hydraulic tools businesses within our Industrial Products and Services segment.

The following items partially offset the 2006 increases in gross profit described above:
+ Higher pension and postretirement costs, relating primarily to our domestic pension plans.

* Lower profit margins for our boiler products business within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment as a result of
lower overall demand in the domestic heating markets, unfavorable product mix and higher manufacturing costs in
2006.

Selling, general and administrative ("SG&A™) expense — For 2007, the increase in SG&A expense of $107.0 was due
primarily to incrernental costs assaciated with the acquisitions of Custos, JCD and Matra, as well as increases in headcount and
assoclated costs to support the organic revenue growth within our segments, Additionally, 2007 SG&A expense was higher due
to the following:

* Higher salaries and incentive compensation relating to the impact of headcount increases in support of certain key
operating initiatives.

* Higher stock-based compensation expense of $3.8 primarily as a result of an increase in the fair value of our 2007
restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards due to an increase in the market value of our common stock.
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In addition, SG&A for 2007 included charges of $5.0 refating to legacy legal matters and a benefit of $5.0 within our Thermal
Equipment and Services segment as a result of cost improvements associated with a state approved environmental
remediation plan at a site in California.

For 2006, the increase in SG&A expense of $88.2 was due primarily to increases in headcount and associated costs to
support the organic revenue growth within our segments. Additionally, 2006 SG&A expense was higher due to the following:

» Higher pension and postretirement costs, relating primarily to our domestic pension plans.

« Higher stock-based compensation expense of $9.3, resulting primarily from 2006 being the third year of our restricted
stock/restricted stock unit awards (i.e., three years of awards being amortized to earnings in 2006 compared to two
years of awards in 2005).

s Charges of $4.1 in 2006 relating to the agreement in principle to setile both the Securities Class Action and the tag-along
ERISA action. See Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements for the details associated with this matter.

« Net charges of $6.7 relating to legal matters.
» Higher incentive compensation costs as a result of improved operating results in 2006.
 Incremental costs associated with the CarTool and Custos acquisitions.

intangible Amortization — The increase in intangible amortization in 2007, as compared to 2006, was due primarily to the
impact of amortization of intangibles associated with the acquisitions of Custos, JCD and Matra. The increase in intangible
amortization in 2006, as compared to 2005, was due primarily to the impact of amortization of intangibles associated with the
acquisitions of CarToo! and Custos. :

Impairment of Intangible Assets — In connection with our annual impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangibles under
SFAS 142, we determined that other intangible assets held by a business within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment
were impaired. Accordingly, we recorded an impairment charge of $4.0 in the fourth quarter of 2007 related to this matter. See
Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements for further discussion.

Special charges, net — Special charges related primarily to restructuring initiatives to consolidate manufacturing, sales
and administrative facilities, reduce workforce and rationalize certain product lines. See Note 6 to our consolidated financial
statements for the details of actions taken in 2007, 2006 and 2005. The components of special charges, net, follow:

2007 2006 2005
Employee termination COStS . .. . . ... i e $50 $ 13 §$ 59
Facility consolidation COSIS . . .. .. .. o 0 03 1.1 7.7
OB CaSH COSIS . . o v ittt e i e e s 1.5 0.4 1.4
Non-Gash asset Whte-doWNS . . . . . ... e e 0.8 1.3 1.5
Gain on sale Of @556L5 . . . . . . it e — (0.2 (7.9)
Total special charges, Net. . ... .. .. . e $76 $ 39 $ 86

Other expense, net — For 2007, other expense, net, was composed primarily of foreign currency transaction losses of$3.0
and minority interest charges of $2.0, partially offset by $1.1 of life insurance death benefits that were received during 2007,
while 2006 other expense, net, was composed primarily of $20.0 in costs to settle the litigation with VSI (see Note 14 to our
consolidated financial statements) and $7.1 of foreign currency transaction losses.

For 2005, other expense, net, was composed primarily of foreign currency transaction losses of $15.6 and legal charges of
$6.7, partially offset by a $2.8 gain associated with a reduction of liabilities related to an environmental remediaticn site and
gains of $1.7 associated with the sale of assets.

Interest expense, net — The increase in interest expense, net during 2007, as compared to 2006, was the result of higher
average debt balances during 2007 due to additional borrowings on our trade receivables financing arrangement and our
domestic revolving loan facility to facilitate the repurchase of our common stock. In addition, in December 2007 we issued
$500.0 of 7.625% senior notes. -

During 2008, interest expense, net was impacted negatively by the fact that during the first half of 2006 we redeemed the
Liquid Yietd Option Notes (“LYONs"), which carried an interest rate of 2.75%, and simultaneously became a borrower under our
delayed draw term facility, which carried a higher interest rate than the LYONSs. In addition, interest income for 2006 was $4.5
lower as a result of lower average cash balances during the year. These increases to interest expense, net in 2006 were more
than offset by the impact of the debt retirernent activity in 2005. See “Liquidity and Financial Condition™ and Note 12 to our
consolidated financial statements for details pertaining to our 2005 debt retirement activity.
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Loss on early extinguishment of debt — During 2007, we incurred $3.3 of costs in connection with the termination of our
then-existing senior credit facilities (see Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements), including $2.3 for the write-off of
deferred financing costs, $0.2 for an early termination fee and $0.8 for costs associated with the early termination of our
then-existing interest rate protection agreements (see Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements}.

. During 2005, we incurred $85.4 of charges associated with the redemption of 93% of the outstanding 6.25% and 7.50%
seniar notes, with such charges related to premiums and fees paid to redeem the notes and the write-off of deferred financing
costs related to the notes. In addition, we incurred charges of $28.2 associated with the repayment of $1,073.4 on the term
loans of our then-existing senior credit facilities, with such charges related to the write-off of deferred financing costs and the
termination of the remaining interest rate protection agreements related to the term loans.

Equity earnings in joint ventures — Our equity earnings in joint ventures are attributable primarily to our investment in EGS,
as earnings from this investment totaled $39.3, $40.2 and $22.4 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. For 2008, the equity
earnings associated with EGS included a benefit of $2.2 representing our portion of the income recorded by EGS in connection
with the change in fair value of their commaodity contracts. Additionally, in 2005, we recognized a charge of $7.5 representing
our portion of the estimated costs of a legal settlement at EGS.

Income taxes — For 2007, we recorded an income tax pravision of $89.5 on $389.8 of pre-tax income, resulting in an
effective tax rate of 23.0%. The effective tax rate for 2007 was favorably impacted by: 1) a decrease in the interest charge
associated with the liability for unrecognized tax benefits; 2) income tax benefits of $16.8 and 3.8, respectively, associated with
the settlement of certain matters related to our a} 1995 to 2002 Federal income tax returns and b) various state income tax
matters; 3} an income tax benefit of $11.5 associated with a reduction in the statutary tax rates in Germany and the United
Kingdom; 4} a decrease in our state income tax provision due to a reduction in the valuation allowance for certain states
resulting from current and projected taxable income for such states; 5) an income tax benefit of $3.5 associated with the
settlement of certain matters relating to income tax returns in the United Kingdom; 6) an expected refund of $3.7 associated
with an earnings reinvestment plan in China; and 7) an income tax benefit of $4.9 associated with the reversal of income taxes
that were provided prior to 2007. The lower interest charge was the result of the reduction of our fiability for unrecognized tax
benefits associated with the adoption of FIN 48 in the amount of $52.5 and payments made against this liability of $66.6 and
$37.5 in December 2006 and January 2007, respectively.

For 2006, we recorded an income tax provision of $57.8 on $283.5 of pre-tax income, resulting in an effective tax rate of
20.4%. The effective tax rate for 2006 was impacted favorably by income tax benefits of $34.7 and $8.3, associated principally
with the settlement of certain matters refating to our 1998 to 2002 Federal income tax returns and various state income tax
returns, respectively.

For 2005, we recorded an income tax provision of $71.4 on $106.1 of pre-tax income, resulting in an effective tax rate of
67.3%. The high effective tax rate in 2005 was primarily the result of approximately $44.5 in income taxes that had been
provided for the repatriation of foreign earnings. This increase in the 2005 income tax provision was offset partially by the
closure of ceriain domestic and international tax matters, resulting in a reduction 1o the 2005 tax provision of $15.1.

Resuits of Discontinued Operations

For 2007, 2006 and 2005, income (loss) from discontinued operations and the related income taxes are shown below:

Year ended December 31,

, 2007 2006 2005
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . . .. ... .. ... .. ... ... $(37.5) $(105.0) $1,512.8
income tax (provision) benefit . . . . ... ... .. 314 50.0 {457.5)

Income {loss) from discontinued operations, net . . .. .. ... L L L $ 61 % (65.0) $1,0553

For 2007, 2006 and 2005, results of operations from our businesses reported as discontinued operations were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
REVENUES . . o o ot e e e e e e e e e $205.8 $555.4 $1,057.0
Pretax income (loSS) . . . . . . . o e e e e {0.9) 43 (41.7)

We report discontinued operations in accordance with the guidance of SFAS No. 144. Accordingly, we report businesses
or asset groups as discontinued operations when, among other things, we commit to a plan to divest the business or asset
group, actively begin marketing the business or asset group, and when the sale of the business or asset group is deemed
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probable within the next 12 months. The following businesses, which have been sold, met these requirements and therefore
have been reported as discontinued operations for the periods presented.

Quarter Actual Closing
Buslness : Discontinued Date of Sale
BD AUSITIB .« o o o e ot e et e e e e e e e e e Q4 2007 Q4 2007
[N 1= a2 - S Q4 2007 Q4 2007
COMEBON & . o v s e e e e e e e e e e e e e Q3 2006 Q2 2007
DOCK &+ v o e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e Q2 2006 Q4 2006
TOWET . « o o e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e Q4 2005 Q1 2006
Vance ... ... e i Q3 2005 Q1 2006
Muelier Steam, Febco and Polyjet product lines . . . ... ... .. .. .. . o oo o Q3 2005 Q4 2005
CaME) . . o o e e e e e e e e e Q1 2005 Q3 2005
KB D .« . v e o et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e Q4 2004 Q2 2005
Brookstone telecommunication Services bUSINESS . . . . . . . . . it i i e Q1 2005 Q1 2005
=t Z5 e Q4 2004 1 2005
Specialty tool DUSINESS . . .. ... o Q4 2004 Q1 2005
2T 1 Vo T Q3 2004 Q1 2005

BD Austria — Sold for cash proceeds of $11.6, exclusive of cash baiances assumed by the buyer of $30.0, resulting in a
gain, net of taxes, of $17.2. :

Nema — Sold for $6.8 in cash, net of cash balances assumed by the buyer of $0.4, for a loss, net of taxes, of $2.3.

Contech — Sold to Marathon Automotive Group, LLC. for net cash proceeds of $134.3. During 2007, we recorded a net
loss on the sale of $13.6, including $7.0 of expenses that were contingent upon the consummation of the sale, which included
$1.1 due to the modification of the vesting period of restricted stock units that had been issued to Contech empioyees (see
Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements for further information), and a $6.6 charge, recorded during the first quarter of
2007, to reduce the carrying value of the net assets sold to the net proceeds received from the sale. In addition, in 2007, we
settled a capital lease obligation for $5.3 relating to equipment that was transferred to the buyer of Contech. During 20086, we
recorded a charge of $102.7 to “Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax” in order to reduce the carrying
value of the net assets to be sold to their estimated net realizable value.

Dock — Sold for $43.5 in cash during 2006 resulting in a net gain on the sale of $29.0. This gain related primarily to a tax
benefit of $33.2, partially offset by expenses that were contingent primarily upon the consummation of the sale, which included
$0.3 due to the modification of the vesting period of restricted stock units that had been issued to Dock employees (see Note 15
to our consolidated financial statements for further information).

Tower — Sold for $6.9 in cash during 20086, including additional cash proceeds of $4.4 that related to the settlement of the
working capital associated with the transaction. In 2005, we recorded a charge, net of taxes, of $11.3 in order to reduce the
carrying value of the net assets to be sold to their estimated net realized value. During 2008, we reduced the net loss by $0.9
primarily as a result of the working capital settlement noted above.

Vance — Sold for $70.6 in cash during 2006. In 2005, we recorded a loss, net of taxes, of $26.8 in order to reduce the
carrying value of the net assets to be sold to their estimated net realizable value. During 2006, we increased the net loss by $3.1,
primarily for expenses that were contingent upon the consummation of the sale, which included $1.6 due to the modification of
the vesting period of restricted stock units that had been issued to Vance employees {see Note 15 to our consdlidated financial
statements for further information).

Mueller Steam, Febco and Polyjet — Sold for $44.7 in cash during 2005, which resulted in a gain on the sale of $50.7,
including a tax benefit of $71.8.

Carfef — Sold for $12.0 in cash during 2005, which resulted in a loss on the sale, net of taxes and transaction fees, of $21.9.

Kendro — Sold to Thermo Electron Corporation for $828.8 in cash during 2005, which resulted in a gain on the sale, net of
taxes and transaction fees, of $326.5.

Brookstone telecommunication services business — Sold for $0.9 in cash during 2005, which resulted in a loss on the sale,
net of taxes and transaction fees, of $12.1.

EST — Sold to General Electric Company {"GE”) during 2005 for $1,393.2 in cash, net of cash balances assumed by GE of
$1.5. In 2005, we recorded a gain on the sale, net of taxes and transaction fees, of $662.5.
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Specialty Tool Business — Sold for $24.2 in cash during 2005, with $21.8 received at the closing and $2.4 deposited in an
escrow account. In 2005, we recorded a loss on the sale, net of taxes, of $3.7. We received $1.7 of the escrow armount in 2006
and the remaining $0.7 in 2007.

Bomag — Sold to Fayat SA (“Fayat") for $447.3 in cash during 2005, net of cash balances assumed by Fayat of $2.7. In
2005, we recorded a gain on the sale, net of taxes and transaction fees, of $137.4.

During the third quarter of 2007, we committed to a plan to divest our Air Filtration business within our Flow Technology
segment. We are actively pursuing the sale of this business and anticipate that the sale will be completed in the first half of 2008.
Accordingly, we have reported, for all periods presented, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of this
business as a discontinued operation in our consolidated financial statements. As a result of this planned divestiture, we
recorded a net charge of $11.0 during 2007 to “Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax” in order to
reduce the carrying value of the net assets to be sold to their estimated net realizable value. We believe that the carrying value of
the net assets approximates fair value at December 31, 2007; however, such value is subject to adjustment based upon the
future terms of a definitive agreement.

In addition to the gains/losses recorded in 2007 relating to the BD Austria, Nema, Contech and Air Filtration businesses
discussed above, we recognized a net loss in 2007 of $7.3 resulting from adjustments to gains/losses on sales of businesses
that were previously discontinued. Along with the gains/losses recorded in 2006 relating to the Dock, Tower, Vance and
Contech businesses discussed above, we recognized a net gain in 2006 of $20.1 resulting from adjustments to the gains/losses
on sales of businesses that were previously discontinued, with such adjustments related primarily to a reduction in income tax
liabilities. Lastly, in 2005, we recorded an additional loss of $1.6 associated with the 2004 disposition of our Axial fan business,
with the loss relating to the final purchase price settlement. In 2005, we also received $2.5 related to the final payment on the
promissory note associated with the sale of the Axial fan business.

The final purchase price for certain of the divested businesses is subject to adjustment based on working capital existing at
the respective closing dates. The working capital figures are subject to agreement with the buyers or if we cannot come to
agreement with the buyers, an arbitration process. Final agreement of the working capital figures with the buyers for some of
these transactions has yet to occur. In addition, changes in estimates associated with liabilities retained in connection with a
business divestiture (e.g., income taxes) may occur. ltis possible that the purchase price and resulting gains/(losses) on these
and other previous divestitures may be materially adjusted in subsequent periods. Refer to Note 11 for the tax implications
associated with our dispositions.

During the third quarter of 2007, we recognized an income tax benefit of $13.5 to “Gain (loss) on disposition of
discontinued operations, net of tax” relating to the reversal of certain deferred tax liabilities associated with businesses
previously disposed of and reported as discontinued operations, primarily in 2005. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial
statements for further details.

Segment Results of Operations

The following information should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes. The
segment results exclude the operating results of discontinued operations for all periods presented. See Note 5 to our
consolidated financial statements for a description of each of our reportable segments.

Non-GAAP Measures — Throughout the following discussion of segment results, we use “organic revenue” growth
(decline) to facilitate explanation of the operating performance of our segments. Organic revenue growth is a non-GAAP
financial measure, and is not a substitute for revenue growth (dectine). Refer to the explanation of this measure and purpose of
use by management under Results of Continuing Operations.
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Flow Technology

2007 vs. 2006 vs.
2007 2006 2005 2006% 2005%

=Y 1 - $1,121.3 $865.7 §775.8 29.5 11.6

SEgmMEnt INCOME . . .. . e e e 177.2 133.2 102.2 33.0 30.3
% OfFBVENUEBS . . . . e e e e 15.8 15.4 13.2

Components of segment revenue growth:

Organicgrowth . ... ... . . . e 14.0 9.8

Foreign currency ... ................... e 2.4 0.9

Acquisitions, net ................. e e 13.1 09
Net segmentrevenue growth . ............... ... ... ... ... 29.5 11.6

Revenues — For 2007, the increase in revenues was due primarily to organic revenue growth resulting from strong
demand within the power, chemical, mining, oil and gas, sanitary and dehydration markets. Additionally, revenues were
favorably impacted by the fourth quarter 2006 acquisition of Custos, which contributed revenues of $119.0 during 2007, as well
as the impact of foreign currencies.

For 20086, the increase in revenues was due primarily to organic revenue growth resulting from strong demand within the
markets mentloned above, pricing improvements and new product introductions.

Segment lncome — For 2007, segment income and margin were favorably impacted by the items noted above, as well as
lean manufacturing and supply chain initiatives and lower operating expenses resulting from previous restructuring initiatives.

For 2006, segment income and margin were impacted favorably by improved operating leverage on organic revenue
growth, lean manufacturing initiatives and a reduction in operating expenses in 2006 as a result of the favorable impact of 2005
restructuring initiatives. ln addition, during 2005, charges of $4.0 were incurred in connection with operating inefficiencies at a
Canadian operation.

Test and Measurement

2007 vs. 2006 vs.

. . 2007 2006 2005 2006% 2005%
ReVeNUES. . . .o vttt et e e s e ... $1,4741 $1,1375 $1.0596 3.2 7.4
SegmentiNCOME . . . . . ottt et e e e s 1264 | 1591 129.9 (20.6) 225

% Of TBVENUBS . . . . . . . e 10.8 14.0 12.3
Components of segment revenue growth:
Organic growth (decline) . .. .. ... ... ... . .. .. . . : : (1.6) 25
Foreign Cummency . . . .. ... . i e e e 2.9 05
Acquisitions, net . . . . . ... e 1.9 4.4
Net segmentrevenue growth . . . . ... ... ... .. ... ... . 0, 3.2 7.4

Revenues — For 2007, the increase in revenues was due primarily 1o the impact of foreign currencies and the acquisitions
of JCD in the third quarter of 2007 and Matra in the fourth quarter of 2007, which contributed $37.5 of combined revenues to the
segment. These increases were partially offset by a decfine in organic revenue resulting from lower domestic OEM and dealer
equipment revenues associated with the difficult conditions within the domestic automotive market.

For 2008, the increase in revenues was due primarily to the impact of the fourth quarter 2005 acquisition of CarTool, as well
as organic revenue growth associated with increased European OEM volumes.

Segment Income — For 2007, segment income and margin decreased primarily as the result of lower revenues and
margins associated with difficult conditions within the domestic automotive market, lower absorption of fixed manufacturing
costs resulting from the aforementioned decline in revenues, additional costs associated with investments in Asia Pacific and
increased research and development costs in support of new products. tn addition, during 2007, we recorded a charge of $7.4
at an operation in Japan relating to improper accounting -entries, which included $2.4 of inventory write-downs, $2.0 of
accounts receivable write-offs and $3.0 of other adjustments (see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for further
information). These declines in segment income and margin were offset partially by improved profitability within the segment’s
portable cable and pipe locator product lines assomated with new product introductions and operating profits associated with
the acquisitions of JCD-and Matra.
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For 2006, segment income and margin increased due primarily to the organic revenue growth noted above, as well as the
result of new product introductions, improved pricing, favorable product mix and lean manufacturing initiatives, primarily within
the segment's portable cable and pipe locator product lines. Additionally, the acquisition of CarTool contributed to the increase
in segment income. These increases were partially offset by a 2005 benefit of $2.6 relating to the reimbursement of excess
charges by a freight company.

Thermal Equipment and Services

2007 vs. 2006 vs.

2007 2006 2005 2006%  2005%
REVEBNUBS . ... it i e e e $1,560.5 $1,327.7 $1,178.4 17.5 2.7
SegmentiNnCome . . ... ... e 162.7 1114 117.5  46.1 (5.2)
T of revenues . ... .. ... e 10.4% 8.4% 10.0%
Components of segment revenue growth:
Organicgrowth .. ... ... ... ... . . . . 135 11.7
Foreign cumrency .. ... ..o e 4.0 1.0
Acquisitions, net. . . . . ... e e —_ —
Net segment revenue growth . . . ... ... ... ... ..., ..... ‘ 17.5 2.7

Revenues — For 2007, the increase in revenues was due primarily to organic revenue growth associated with the strong
global power market demand for cooling systems and products and thermal services and equipment, as well as the impact of
foreign currencies.

For 2008, the increase in revenues was due primarily to organic revenue growth derived from the strong demand for
thermal services and repairs in Europe and dry cooling products in China, offset partially by softness in the domestic heating
market.

Segment Income — For 2007, segment income and margin increased as a result of the organic revenue growth noted
above and improved execution within the cooling products and services business. In addition, segment income for 2007
included a benefit of $5.0 as a result of cost improvements associated with a state-approved environmental remediation plan at
a site in California.

For 2008, segment income declined despite the increase in organic revenue. The favorable impact of organic revenue
growth on segment income was more than offset by a decline in profitability at the segment’s boiler products business due
primarily to softness in the domestic heating market, unfaverable product mix and higher manufacturing costs. The following
items also impacted comparability of segment income:

* A $2.8 write-down of accounts receivable in 2006 relating to an ongoing customer issue.

» Charges of $3.3 during 2005 associated with an operation in France.

Industrial Products and Services

' 2007 vs. 2006 vs.
2007 2006 2005  2006%  2005%

Revenues . . ... . .. . e $966.4 $836.7 $716.0 15.5 16.9

SEgmMENt NCOME L . .t i e e e e e e e 156.1 99.0 875 57.7 46.7
%o Of FBVENUES . . . . . . . e e 16.2 11.8 9.4

Components of segment revenue growth:

Organicgrowth .. ... ... .. .. .. e 14.8 16.7

Foreigncurrency . .. ... . o e e 0.7 0.2

Acquisitions, net .. ................... e L. ' — —

Netsegmentrevenuegrowth . . ... ... ... ... ... ... ....... 15.5 16.9

Revenues — For 2007, the increase in revénues was due to organic revenue growth driven primarily by strong demand for
power transformers.

For 2008, the increase in revenues was due to organic revenue growth driven by strong demand for. power transformers,
crystal growing and laboratory equipment, machined components for aircraft and industrial and hydraulic tools.
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Segment Income — For 2007, the increase in segment income and margin was due to the organic revenue growth
described above. In addition, segment income for 2007 mcluded charges of $8.5 related to the settlement of a legacy product
liability matter. :

For 2006, the increase in segment income and margin was due primarily to the organic'revenue growth described above
and improved pricing and favorable mix associated with the power transformer and industrial and hydraulic tools businesses
and efficiencies achieved from lean manufacturing initiatives.

Corporate Expense and Other Expense

2007 vs. 2006 vs.
2007 2006 2005 2006% 2005%
Total consolidatedrevenues . .................. $4,822.3 9$4,167.6 $3,729.8 15.7 11.7
Corporate exXpense . ... ... .. .. ... e 100.3 96.1 87.6 4.4 9.7
%ofrevenues . ... .. .. 2.1 2.3 2.3
Stock-based compensation expense .. ........... 414 3786 28.3 101 32.9
Pension and postretirement expense . ... ......... 43.5 442 287 (1.6) 54.0

Corporate Expense — Corporate expense generally relates to the cost of our Charlotte, NC corporate headquarters, our
Horsham, PA information technology data center, and our Asia-Pacific center in Shanghai, China. The increase in 2007
corporate expense was due primarily to higher salaries and incentive compensation relating to the impact of headcount
increases in support of certain key operating initiatives, including expansion of our Asia-Pacific center. In addition, 2007
corporate expense included charges of $5.0 relating to legacy legal matters.

For 2008, the increase in corporate expense was due primarily to charges of $4.1 associated with the agreement in
principle to settle both a Securities Class Action and the tag-along ERISA action, net charges of $6.7 relating to other legal
matters, and additional incentive compensation resulting from higher consolidated operating profits in 2006, These increases
were partially mitigated by one-time relocation and other costs in 2005 associated with moving certain corporate functions to
our Charlotte, NC headquarters as well as higher professional fees in 2005 associated prlmanly with the continued
implementation of the regulatory requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Stock-based Compensation Expense — The 2007 increase in stock-based compensation expense was due primarily to an
increase in the fair value of our 2007 rastricted stock and restricted stock unit awards. The grant date fair value of our stock-
based compensation awards is directly correlated to changes in the market value of our common stock (see Note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements for a discussion of our valuation technique). The weighted average fair value of our 2007
restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards was approximately 35% higher than the weighted average fair value of the
comparable 2006 awards.

The 2006 increase in stock-based compensation expense was primarily the result of 2006 being the third year of our
restricted stock/restricted stock unit awards {i.e., three years of awards being amortized to earnings in 2006 compared to two
years in 2005), partialtly offset by the effect of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) in the first quarter of 2006. Had our stock-based
compensation been calculated on the same basis as in 2005, our expense for 2006 would have been $14.2 higher (see Note 15
to our consolidated financial statements for details regarding our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)).

Pension and Postretirement Expense — Pension and postretirement expense represents our consclidated expense, which
we do not allocate for segment reporting purposes. The decrease in pension and postratirement expense for 2007 versus 2006
was due primarily to a reduction in the amortization of unrecognized losses associated primarily with lower interest rates.

The increase in pension and postretirerﬁent benefit expense for 2006 versus 2005 was due primarily to the amortization of
deferred losses within our domestic pension plans associated wnth lower than projected returns on plan assets and lower
interest rates.
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Outlook

The following table highlights our segment expectations for 2008 based on information available at the time of this report.
We define forecasted trends as follows: “Growth” — Future performance is expected to be above the prior year; “Flat” —
Future performance is expected to be flat compared to the prior year; “Decllne — Future performance is expected to be below
the prior year.

2008 Annual
Segment Forecasted Trend Comments

Flow Technology .. .. Growth We are projecting strong revenue and profit growth as a result of the APY
acquisition and continued organic growth that is expected within the end markets
served by the segment. However, we are projecting lower operating margins in
2008 as APV historically has generated operating margins below those
experienced by the rest of the segment’s product lines. We expect significant, but
gradual, improvements in APV's operating margins as a result of the synergies that
should result from our integration efforts. The segment had backlog of
approximately $730.7 (including $363.5 related to APV) and $314.7 as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Test and Measurement . Growth We are projecting moderate revenue and profit growth for 2008, with most of the
revenue and profit growth associated with the JCD and Matra acquisitions, as
these businesses are not impacted by the difficult trends within the North American
OEM tool market. Backlog for the segment is not material as the related
businesses are short-cycle in nature.

Thermal Equipment

and Services. . . . .. Growth We are projecting revenue and profit growth for the segment in 2008, as the global
energy and power markets continue to be quite strong. However, we expect the
pace of revenue growth to be less than the double-digit growth that has been
experienced by the segment over the past two years, due in part to a significantly
higher revenue base. We had a backlog of approximately $1,254.2 and $1,080.2 as
of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, across the segment, with the
majority in our cooling systems and products business.

Industrial Products and _
Services . . . ...... Growth We expect organic revenue and profit growth across the majority of the segment’s
businesses, with the most notable growth in our power transformer business.
Backlog for the segment totaled approximately $640.3 and $538.4 as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Liquidity and Financial Condition

Listed below are the cash flows from (used in) operating, investing and financing activities, and discontinued operations,
and the net change in cash and equivalents for the years ended December:31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

_ 2007 2006 2005
Continuing operations: .
Cash flows from operating activities . .. ............... IR e $4042 $ 4868 $ 2683
Cash flows used in investing activities . . . ... ... . ... . . . .. . e (654.8) (205.7) {50.3)
Cash flows used in financing activities . .. ... .. ... ... ... . . . . e {(41.0) (62.0) (2,500.5)
Cash flows from discontinued operations . .. . ... .. . i i e e 155.7 111.3 2,300.2
Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents due to changes in forelgn currency
BXCNANG Pl . . . . . . e e e e 12.8 4.8 (23.9)
Netchange incash and equivalents . . ... . ... ... .. .. . ... i uirinrnnnin. ${123.1) $(103.0) $ (6.2

2007 Compared to 2006:

Operating Activities — The primary factors contributing to the increase in cash flows from operating activities during 2007
as compared to 2006 were as follows:

*» Accreted interest (since issuance) of $84.3 paid in connection with the 2006 LYONSs redemption. Unlike the zero coupon
LYONSs, our current long term debt arrangements have interest paid quarterly or semi-annually.
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income tax payments of $80.9 during 2006 resulting from the tax recapture associated with the 2006 LYONs redemption
and payments to the IRS of $66.6 relating to adjustments resulting from audits of our 1895 to 2002 Federal tax returns.
See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for additional details.

* Higher operating earnings in 2007.
* Payment of $20.0 during 2006 related. to the settlement of a lawsuit with VSI.

» An improvement in working capital during 2007 due primarily to increases in customer deposits, particularly for our
power transformer business.

Investing Activities — The primary factors contributing to the increase in cash flows used in investing activities during 2007
as compared to 2006 were as follows:

+ Anincrease in business acquisitions and investments ($567.2 in 2007 compared to $169.4 in 2006), relating primarily to
the acquisitions of APV, JCD and Matra.

* A decrease in proceeds from asset sales ($3.3 in 2007 versus $19.4 in 2006).

* Anincrease in capital expenditures relating primarily to the implementation of new ERP software systems in connection
with our ERP rationalization initiative ($90.9 in 2007 compared to $55.7 in 2006).

Financing Activities — The primary factors contributing to the decrease in cash used in financing activities during 2007 as
compared to 2006 were as follows:

« Borrowings of $500.0 resulting from the issuance of our 7.625% senior notes,

* An increase in borrowings of $69.0 under our trade receivables financing arrangement during 2007 compared to 2006.
The above increases were partially offset by the following:

* Repurchases of our common stock totaling $715.9 during 2007 compared to $436.3 in 2008.

» Decrease in net borrowings on the senior credit and other debt facilities of $21'4.0 in 2007.

* Proceeds from the exercise of stock options totaling $153.7 in 2007 compared to $196.8 in 2006.

Discontinued Operations — The increase in cash flows from discontinued operations during 2007 as compared to 2006
was due primarily to an income tax refund of $45.4 associated with capital losses generated from the sale of discontinued
operations.

2006 Compared to 2005:

Operating Activities — The primary factors contributing to the decrease in cash flows from operating activities during 2006
as compared to 2005 were as follows:

» Accreted interest (since issuance) of $84.3 paid in connection with the 2006 LYONs redemption.

* Income tax payments of $90.9 resulting from the tax recapture associated with the 2006 LYONs redemption and
payments to the IRS of $66.6 relating to adjustments resulting from audits of our 1995 to 2002 Federal tax returns. See
Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for additional details.

= Additional investments in accounts receivable and inventories associated with the organic revenue growth experienced
in 2006.

» Payment of $20.0 related to the sefttement of a lawsuit with VSI.

The above decreases in operating cash flows were partially offset by the cash flow impact of higher operating earnings in
2008 and an increase in customer deposits, particularly for our power transformer business, during the year.

Investing Activities — The primary factors contributing to the increase in cash flows used in investing activities during 2006
as compared to 2005 were as follows:

+ An increase in business acquisitions and investments ($169.4 in 2006 compared to $50.4 in 2005).

» A decrease in proceeds from asset sales {$19.4 in 2006 versus $41.4 in 2005).

31



* An increase in capital expenditures relating primarily to the implementation of new ERP software systems across the
company in connection with our ERP rationalization initiative {($55.7 in 2006 compared to $41.3 in 2005).

Financing Activities — The primary factors contributing to the decrease in cash used in financing activities during 2006 as
compared to 2005 were as follows:

* Repayments of $1,073.4 on our Tranche A and B term loans and repurchases of our senior notes, including premiums of
$72.9, totaling $744.5 in 2005.

* Borrowings of $750.0 under the delayed draw term loan of our senior credit facilities as a means of financing the
redemption of the LYONs noted below in 2006.

* Repurchases of our common stock totaling $436.3 during 2006 compared to $624.7 in 2005,

* Borrowings of $83.2 under our global revolving loan facility as a means of financing a portion of the cash purchase price
associated with acquisition of Custos in December 2006.

* Proceeds from the exercise of stock options totaling $196.8 in 2006 compared to $38.3 in 2005.

* Dividends paid totaling $59.9 during 2006 as compared to $73.3 in 2005 due to a decrease in the number of shares
outstanding.

The above decreases were partially offset by the foflowing:
« Principal payments in 2006 of $576.0 in connection with the LYONs redemption.
* Principal payments in 2006 of $15.0 on the delayed draw term loan.

Discontinued Operations — The decrease in cash flows from discontinued operations during 2006 as compared to 2005
was due primarily to lower proceeds from the sale of businesses ($123.0 in 2006 versus $2,751.2 in 2005), with the 2005
proceeds relating primarily to the sales of Bomag, EST and Kendro. This decrease was offset partially by the following:

+ Cash flows for 2005 included tax payments of $406.4 associated with the sales of Kendro, Bomag and EST.
* Cash flows for 2005 included repayments by Bomag of $15.3 under its accounts payable financing program and fees
paid in connection with the disposition of certain businesses during 2005 and 2004.
Borrowings

The following summarizes our outstanding debt and debt activity as of, and for the year ended, December 31, 2007. See
Note 12 to our consolidated financial statements for the details regarding our 2007 debt activity.

December 31, December 31,
2006 Borrowings Repayments  OQther®® 2007

Termloan™ . ... ... ... ... $735.0 $ 750.0 $ (73500 §$ — $ 750.0
Domestic revolving loan facility™ . . .. .............. — 757.0 {642.0) — 115.0
Global revolving loan facilit!™ . .. .. ... ... ........ 82.8 99.3 {(183.6) 1.5 —
7625% seniornotes . ... ... ... L. — 500.0 — — 500.0
750%seniornotes . . ... ... ... ... L . 28.2 — — — 28.2
625% seniornotes . . ...... ... ... oL 21.3 — — — 213
Trade receivables financing arrangement®® _ .. .. ... | 1.0 586.0 {517.0) — 70.0
Other indebtedness® . .. ... ... ...... ... ...... 95.5 — (21.9) 17.0 90.6

Totaldebt. .. ... ... .. .. . ... .. .. . . . ... 963.8 $2,602.3 ${2,099.5) $18.5 1,575.1
Less:shorttermdebt . ...... ... ... ... ... . ... ... 168.0 255.4
Less: current maturities of long-term debt. .. .. .. .. ... 423 79.0

Total longtermdebt . . .. ... ... ... .. ... . ... .. $753.5 $1,240.7

M The borrowings and repayments that occurred on September 21, 2007 as a result of our entering into new senior credit
facilities and simultaneously terminating our then-existing senior credit facilities were as follows:
* Term loan (borrowings — $750.0 and repayments — $716.2)
* Domestic revolving loan facility (borrowings — $180.0 and repayments — $210.0)
* Global revolving loan facility (borrowings — $99.3 and repayments — $49.0)
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@  Under this arrangement, we can borrow, on a continuous basis, up to $130.0.

® Includes aggregate balances under extended accounts payable programs and a purchase card program of $58.2 and
$60.0 at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008, respectively.

@ “Other” includes debt assumed and foreign currency translation on any debt instruments denominated in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar.

Credit Facilities

On September 21, 2007, we entered into new senior credit facilities with a syndicate of lenders that rep]aced our
then-existing senior credit facilities, which were simultaneously terminated. The new senior credit facilities provide for
committed senior secured financing of $2,300.0, consisting of the following:

* A term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $750.0 with a final maturity of September 2012;

* A domestic revolving credit facility, available for loans and letters of credit, in an aggregate principal amount of up to
$400.0 with a final maturity of September 2012;

* A global revolving credit facility, available for loans in Euros, British Pounds and other currencies in an aggregate
principal amount up to the equivalent of $200.0 with a final maturity of September 2012; and

« A foreign credit instrument facility, available for performance letters of credit and guarantees, in an aggregate principal
amount in various currencies up to the equivalent of $950.0 with a final maturity of September 2012.

In connection with the termination of our then-existing senior credit facilities, we incurred $3.3 of costs, including $2.3 for
the write-off of deferred financing costs, $0.2 for an early termination fee and $0.8 for costs associated with the early termination
of our then-existing interest rate protection agreements (see Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements).

The weighted average interest rate of our outstanding borrowings under the new senior credit facilities was 6.5% at
December 31, 2007. ‘

We also may seek additional commitments for incremental term toan facilities or increases in commitments in respect of
the domestic revolving credit facility, the global revolving credit facility and/or the foreign credit instrument facility by up to an
aggregate principal amount of $400.0 without the need for consent from the existing lenders.

We are the borrower under the term and revolving loan facilities, and certain of our foreign subsidiaries are (and others may
in the future become) borrowers under the global revolving credit facility and the foreign credit instrument facility.

All borrowings and other extensions of credit under our new senior credit facilities are subject to the satisfaction of
customary conditions, including absence of defaults and accuracy in material respects of representations and warranties.

The letters of credit under the domestic revolving credit facility are stand-by letters of credit requested by any borrower on
behalf of itself or any of its subsidiaries. The foreign credit instrument facility is used to issue foreign credit instruments,
including bank undertakings to support our foreign operations.

The interest rates applicable to loans under our new senior credit facilities are, at our option, equal to either an alternate
base rate (the higher of (a) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5% and (b) the prime rate of Bank of America) or a reserve
adjusted LIBOR rate for dollars (Eurodollar) plus, in each case, an applicable margin percentage, which varies based on our
Consolidated Leverage Ratio {as defined in the credit agreement generally as the ratio of consolidated total debt (net of cash
equivalents in excess of $50.0) at the date of determination to consolidated adjusted EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters ended
on such date). We may elect interest periods of one, two, three or six months for Eurodollar borrowings. The fees charged and
the interest rate margins applicable to Eurodollar and base rate loans are (all on a per annum basis) as follows:

Domestic Global Foreign Forelgn
Revolving Revolving Letter of Credit Credit
Commitment Commitment Credit Commitment Instrument LIBOR Rate

Consolidated Leverage Ratlo Fee Fee Feo . Fee Fee Loans ABR Loans
Greater than or equal toc 3.00t0 1.0. ... .. 0.35% 0.35% 1.75% 0.35% 1.3125% 1.75% 0.75%
Between 2.00t0 1.0 and 3.00to 1.0 .. ... 0.30% 0.30% 1.50% 0.30% 1.125% 1.50% 0.50%
Between 1.50to 1.0 and 200t0 1.0 ... .. 0.256% 0.25% 1.25% 0.25% 0.9375% 1.25% 0.25%
Between 1.00to 1.0and 1.50t0o 1.0 ... .. 0.20% 0.20% 1.00% 0.20% .0.75% 1.00% 0.00%
Lessthan 1.00t01.0 ............... 0.175% 0.175% 0.875% 0.175%  (.65625% 0.875% 0.00%
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The term loan is repayable in quarterly installments of $18.75 for each quarter ending March 31, 2008 through
September 30, 2011, and $112.5 for the quarters ending December 31, 2011 through June 30, 2012, with the balance due in
September 2012,

Our new senior credit facilities require mandatory prepayments in amounts equal to the net proceeds from the sale or other
disposition of, including from any casualty te, or governmental taking of property in excess of specified values (other than in the
ordinary course of business and subject to other exceptions) by us or our subsidiaries. Mandatory prepayments will be applied
first to prepay the term loan and then to repay amounts (or cash collateralize letters of credit} outstanding under the global
revolving credit facility or the domestic revolving credit facility (without reducing the commitments thereunder). No prepayment
is required to the extent the net proceeds are reinvested in permitted acquisitions, permitted investments or assets to be used in
our business within 360 days. of the receipt of such proceeds.

We may voluntarily prepay loans under our new senior credit facilities, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty. Any
voluntary prepayment of loans will be subject to reimbursement of the lenders’ breakage costs in the case of a prepayment of
Eurodollar rate borrowings other than on the last day of the relevant interest petiod.

Indebtedness under our new senior credit facilities is guaranteed by:
« each existing and subsequently acquired or organized domestic material subsidiary with specified exceptions; and

* us with respect to the obligations of our foreign borrower subsidiaries under the global revolving credit facility and the
foreign credit instrument facility.

Indebtedness under our new senior credit facilities is secured by a first priority pledge and security interest in 100% of the
capital stock of our domestic subsidiaries (with certain exceptions) and 65% of the capital stock of our material first tier foreign
subsidiaries. If our corporate credit rating is “Ba2” or less by Moody's and “8B” or less by S&P, then we and our domestic
subsidiary guarantors are required to grant security interests, mortgages and other liens on substantially all our and their
assets.

Our new senior credit facilities require that we maintain:

* a Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined in the credit agreement generally as the ratio of consolidated
adjusted EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters ended on such date to consolidated interest expense for such period) as of
the last day of any fiscal quarter of at least 3.50 to 1.00, and

* a Consolidated Leverage Ratio as of the tast day of any fiscal quarter of not more than 3.25 to 1.00.

Our new senior credit facilities also contain covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to incur additional
indebtedness, grant liens, make investments, loans, guarantees or advances, make restricted junior payments, including
dividends, redemptions of capital stock and voluntary prepayments or repurchase of certain other indebtedness, engage in
mergers, acquisitions or sales of assets, enter into sale and leaseback transactions or engage in certain transactions with
affiliates and otherwise restrict certain corporate activities. We do not expect these covenants to restrict our liquidity, financial
condition or access to capital resources in the foreseeable future. Lastly, our senior credit facilities contain customary
representations, warranties, affirmative covenants and events of default.

We are permitted under our senior credit facilities to repurchase our capital stock and pay cash dividends in an unlimited
amount if our gross Consolidated Leverage Ratio is less than 2.50 to 1.00. If our gross Consolidated Leverage Ratio is greater
than or equal to 2.50 to 1.00, the aggregate amount of such repurchases and dividend declarations cannot exceed (A) $100.0in
any fiscal year plus (B) an additional amount for all such repurchases and dividend declarations made after September 21,
2007 equal to the sum of (i) $300.0 and (ji) a positive amount equal to 50% of cumulative consolidated net income during the
period from July 1, 2007 to the end of the most recent fiscal quarter for which financial information is available preceding the
date of such repurchase or dividend declaration (or, in case such consolidated net income is a deficit, minus 100% of such
deficit).

During 2005, in connection with the repayment of $1,073.4 on the term loans of our then-existing senior credit facilities, we
recorded charges of $29.6 associated with the write-off of deferred financing costs and the termination of the remaining interest
rate protection agreements related to the term loans, with $28.2 recorded to *“Loss on early extinguishment of debt” and the
remainder to “Income (loss) from discontinued operations.”

At December 31, 2007, we were in compliance with all covenant provisions of our senior credit facilities, and the senior
credit facilities did notimpose any restrictions on our ability to repurchase shares or pay dividends, other than those inherent in
the credit agreement.
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Senior Notes

In December 2007, we issued in a private placement $500.0 aggregate principal amount of 7.625% senior unsecured notes
that mature in 2014. We used the net proceeds from the offering for general corporate purposes including the financing of our
acquisition of APV (see Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements}. The interest payment dates for these notes are June 15
and December 15 of each year, commencing on June 15, 2008. The notes are redeemable, in whole, or in part, at any time prior
to maturity at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus a premium, plus accrued and unpaid interest. In
addition, at any time prior to December 15, 2010 we may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes with
the net cash proceeds of certain equity offerings at a redemption price of 107.625%, plus accrued and unpaid interest. If we
experience certain types of change of control fransactions, we must offer to repurchase the notes at 101% of the aggregate
principal amount of the notes repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest. These notes are unsecured and rank equally with
all our existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness. The indenture governing these notes contains covenants that,
among other things, limit our ability to incur liens, enter into sale and leaseback transactions and consummate some mergers.
At December 31, 2007, we were in compliance with all covenant provisions of these senior notes. We have agreed to conduct a
registered exchange offer for the notes and will use commercially reasonable efforts to exchange the notes for a new issue of
identical debt securities and file under certain circumstances a shelf registration statement to cover resales of the notes and to
cause the registration statement to be declared effective by the SEC. If we fail to satisfy these obligations, within 150 days from
February 28, 2009 we have agreed to pay additional interest to holders of the notes under certain circumstances.

In June 2003, we issued $300.0 of non-callable 6.25% senior notes that mature on June 15, 2011, The interest payment
dates for these notes are June 15 and December 15 of each year. In December 2002, we issued $500.0 of callable 7.50% senior
notes that mature on January 1, 2013. The interest payment dates for these notes are January 1 and July 1 of each year. Both of
these note issuances are unsecured and rank equa!ly with all of our existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness, but are
effectively junior to our new senior credit facilities. '

During the first quarter of 2005, we completed cash tender offers for $668. 2. or 93%, of the then outstanding principal
amount of our 7.50% and 6.25% senior notes due January 1, 2013 and June 15, 2011, respectively. The amount of the senior
notes tendered exceeded the requisite consent thresholds for removing substantially all of the restrictive covenants and certain
of the default provisions contained in the indenture governing the senior notes. Additionally, during the second and third quarter
of 2005, we redeemed $3.4 of the senior notes. In connection with these redemptions, we recorded charges of $85.4 to “Loss
on early extmgmshment of debt” associated W|th premiums and fees pa:d to redeem the notes and the write-off of deferred
financing costs related to the notes.

Other Borrowings and Financing Activities

In February 2006, all but $0.2 of the then remaining LYONs were put to us and settled in cash for $660.2, their accreted
value on such date. We financed this redemption and the related tax recapture with amounts borrowed against our $750.0
delayed draw term loan under our then-existing senior credit facilities. In June 2006, we repurchased the remaining LYONS,

Some of our businesses participate in extended accounts payable programs through agreements with lending :nstntut:ons
Under the arrangements, our businesses are provided extended payment terms. As of December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2006, the participating businesses had $12.8 and $14.2, respectively, outstanding under these arrangements. Additionally,
certain of our businesses purchase goods and services under a purchasing card program allowing for payment beyond normal
payment terms. As of December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the participating businesses had $45.4 and $45.8,
respectively, outstanding under this arrangement. As these arrangements extend the payment of our businesses’ payables
beyond their normal payment terms through third-party lending institutions, we have classified these amounts as short-term
debt.

We are party to a trade receivables financing agreement, whareby we can borrow, on a continuous basis, up to' $130.0.
Availability of funds may fluctuate over time given changes in eligible receivable balances, but will not exceed the $130.0
program limit. The facility contains representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities customary for facilities of this type.
The facility does not contain any covenants that we view as materially constraining to the activities of our business. We had
$70.0 and $1.0 outstanding under this financing agreement at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Availability

At December 31, 2007, we had $363.4 of available borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facilities after giving effect
to borrowings under the domestic revolving loan facility of $115.0 and to $121.6 reserved for outstanding letters of credit. In
addition, at December 31, 2007, we had $470.0 of available issuance capacity under our foreign credit instrument facility after
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giving effect to $480.0 reserved for outstanding letters of credit. Lastly, at December 31, 2007, we had $21.0 of available
borrowing capacity under our trade receivables financing agreement, after giving effect to borrowings of $70.0.

We believe that cash and equivalents, which totaled $354.1 at December 31, 2007, and our availability under our senior
credit facilities and existing trade receivables financing agreement will be sufficient to fund working capital needs, planned
capital expenditures, on-going eqwty repurchases, dividend payments, other operational cash requirements and required debt
service.

Additionally, we have a shelf registration statement for 8.3 shares of common stock that may be issued for acquisitions. We
also have a $1,000.0 shelf registration that may be used in connection with an offering of certain debt and/or equity securities
for general corporate purposes or for the refinancing of existing debt. In addition, other financing instruments may be used from
time to time, including, but not limited to, private placement instruments, operating leases, capital leases and securitizations.
We expect that we will continue to access these markets as appropriate to maintain liquidity and to provide sources of funds for
general corporate purposes or to refinance existing debt.

Cash and Other Commitments

Balances, if any, under the revolvmg credit and foreign credit mstrument facilities of our senior credit facilities are payablein
full in September 2012, the maturity date of the facilities. The term loan is repayable in quarterly installments of $18.75 for each
quarter ending March 31, 2008 through September 30, 2011, and $112.5 for the quarters ending December 31, 2011 through
June 30, 2012, with the balance due in September 2012.

We use operating leases to finance certain equment and other purchases. At December 31, 2007, we had $163.7 of
future minimum rental payments under operating leases with remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year.

In 2003, our Board of Directors approved the implementation of a quarterly dividend program. The actual amount of each
quarterly dividend, as well as each declaration date, record date and payment date is subject to the discretion of the Board of
Directors, and the target dividend level may be adjusted during the year at the discretion of the Board of Directors. The factors
that the Board of Directors considers in determining the actual amount of each quarterly dividend include our financial
performance and on-going capital needs, our ability to declare and pay dividends under the terms of our credit facilities and any
other debt instruments, and other factors deemed relevant. During 2007, we declared and paid dividends of $55.0 and $56.5,
respectively, while in 2006 we declared and paid dividends of $58.5"and $59.9, respectively.

Capital expenditures for 2007 totaled $90.9, compared to $55.7 and $41.3 in 2006 and 2005, respectively. Capital
expenditures relate primarily to the implementation of new ERP software systems across our company in connection with our
ERP rationalization initiative as well as upgrades of manufacturing facilities and replacement of equipment. We expect 2008
capital expenditures to be in the range of $140.0 to $150.0, with the increase relating primarily to investments to support 1) the
growth and global expansion of certain of our businesses and 2) our key operating initiatives, including the continued
implementation of ERP systems in efforts to consolidate the numerous IT platforms within our businesses.

tn 2007, we made contributions and direct benefit payments of $43.1 to our defined benefit pension and postretirement
benefit plans, and we expect to make $71.2 of contributions and direct benefit payments in 2008. See Note 10 to our
consolidated financia! statements for further disclosure of expected future contributions and benefit payments.

On a net basis, both from continuing and discontinued operations, we paid $80.5, $241.3 and $433.5 in cash taxes for
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In 2007, we made payments of $139.6 associated with the actual and estimated tax liability
for federal, state and foreign tax obligations and received refunds of $59.1. We made an advance payment to the IRS of $37.5in
January 2007 related to tax and interest assessed for the 1995 through 2002 Federal income tax returns (see Note 11 to our
consolidated financial statements for additional details). The amount of income taxes that we pay annually is dependent on
various factors, including the timing of certain deductions. Deductions and the amount of income taxes can and do vary from
year to year.

As of December 31, 2007, except as discussed in Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements, we did not have any
material guarantees, off-balance sheet arrangements or purchase commitments other than the following: (1) $121.6 of certain
standby letters of credit outstanding, all of which reduce the available borrowing capacity on our revolving credit facility; and
(2) approximately $224.3 of surety bonds. In addition, $72.8 of our standby letters of credit relate to self-insurance matters and
originate from workers' compensation, auto, or general liability claims made against us. We account for each of these claims as
part of our self-insurance accruals.

Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that we indemnify our officers and directors to the fullest extent permitted by the
Delaware General Corporation Law for any personal liability in connection with their employment or service with us, subject to
limited exceptions. While we maintain insurance for this type of liability, the liability could exceed the amount of the insurance
coverage.
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We continually review each of our businesses in order to determine their long-term strategic fit. These reviews could result
n selected acquisitions to expand an existing business or result in the disposition of an existing business. Additionally, we have
tated that we may consider a larger acquisition, more than $1,000.0 in revenues, if certain criteria were met. In addition, you
hould read “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” “Segment Results of Operations” included in this MD&A, and “ltem 1. Business” for an
nderstanding of the risks, uncertainties and trends facing our businesses.

Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and temporary
investments, trade accounts receivable, interest rate swap agreements and foreign currency forward-and forward commaodity
contracts. These financial instruments, other than trade accounts receivable, are placed with high-quality financia! institutions
throughout the world. We periodically evaluate the credit standing of these financial institutions.

]

Concentrations of credit risk arising from trade accounts receivable are due to selling to a large number of customers in a
particular industry. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial conditions and obtain coliateral or other
security when appropriate. No customer or group of customers that, to our knowledge, are under common control accounted
for more than 10% of our consolidated revenues for all periods presented.

We are exposed to credit losses in the event of nonperformance by counter parties to our interest rate swap agreements
and foreign currency forward and forward commodity contracts, but have no other off-balance-sheet credit risk of accounting
loss. We anticipate, however, that counter parties will be able to fully satisfy their obligations under the contracts. We do not
obtain collateral or other security to support financial instruments subject to credit risk, but we do monitor the credit standing of
counter parties.

Contractual Obligations:

The following is a summary of our primary contractual obligations:

Due

within Due In Due In Due after

Total 1year 1-3years 3-5years 5 years

Shortterm debt obligations. .. .. ....... .. .. .. ... L $ 2554 $2554 $ — § — & —
Long-term debt obligations . . . .. ........ .. ... ... .. 0 i 1,319.7 79.0 157.5 552.3 530.9
Pension and postretirement benefit plan contributions and paymentst™ . . 357.3 71.2 92.5 65.9 127.7
Purchase and other contractual obligations® . . ... ............... 4201 3902 28.0 0.7 1.2
Future minimum lease payments® . . ... ... ... ... o oL 163.7 41.2 49.4 36.4 36.7
Interest payments®™ . . . .. .. 452.2 98.6 157.6 119.6 76.4
Total contractual cash obligations® . ... ... ... ... ... . ... . ... $2,968.4 $935.6  $485.0 $774.9 $772.9

" Estimated minimum required pension funding and pension and postretirement benefit payments are based on actuarial
estimates using current assumptions for, among other things, discount rates, expected fong term rates of return on plan assets
{where applicable), rate of compensation increases, and health care cost trend rates. The expected pension contributions in 2008
and later reflect the impact of the Pension Protection Act of 2006 that was signed into law on August 17, 2006. See Note 10 to our
consolidated financial statements for additional information on expected future contributions and benefit payments. In addition,
we are required to make a pension contribution in 2008 of approximately $31.0 associated with our former Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and President.

@  Represents contractual legally binding commitments to purchase goods and services at specified dates, and an amount payable
in 2008 to our former Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of approximately $8.0.

@  Represents rental payments under operating leases with remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year, including future
minimum lease payments for APV.

@ Includes interest payments at variable rates based on interest rates at December 31, 2007.

) Contingent obligations, such as environmental accruals and those relating to uncertain tax positions (i.e., FIN 48 obligations),
generally do not have specific payment dates and accordingly have been excluded from the above table. We believe that within
the next 12 months it is reasonably possible that we could pay approximately $13.0 relating to uncertain tax positions, which
includes an estimate for interest and penalties.

In addition, the above table does not include potential payments under our derivative financial instruments.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates an
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent asset
and liabilities. The accounting policies that we bslieve are most critical to the portrayal of our financial condition and results o
operations, and that require management's most difficult, subjective or complex judgments in estimating the effect of inheren
uncertainties are listed below. This section should be read in conjunction with Notes 1 and 2 to our consolidated financial
statements, which include a detailed discussion of these and other accounting policies.

Long-Term Contract Accounting

Certain of our businesses, primarily within the Test and Measurement and Thermal Equipment and Services segments,
recognize revenues and profits from long-term contracts under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. The
percentage-of-completion method requires estimates of future revenues and costs over the full term of product delivery. In
2007, 2006 and 2005, we recognized $1,071.5, $848.5 and $714.5 of revenues under the percentage-of-completion method,
respectively. .

Provisions for losses, if any, on uncompleted long-term contracts are made in the period in which such losses are
determined. In the case of customer change orders for uncompleted long-term contracts, estimated recoveries are included for
work performed in forecasting ultimate profitability on certain contracts. Due to uncertainties inherent in the estimation process,
it is reasonably possible that completion costs, including those arising from contract penalty provisions and final contract
seftlements, will be revised in the nearterm. Such revisions to costs and income are recognized in the period in which the
revisions are determined.

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts arise when revenues have been recorded but
the amounts have not been billed under the terms of the contracts. These amounts are recoverable from customers upon
various measures of performance, including achievement of certain milestones, completion of specified units or completion of
the contract.

Claims related to long-term contracts are recognized as revenue only after management has determined that collection is
probable and the amount can be reliably estimated. Claims made by us may involve negotiation and, in certain cases, litigation.
In the event we incur litigation costs in connection with claims, such litigation costs are expensed as incurred, although we may
seek to recover these costs. Claims against us are recognized when a loss is considered probable and amounts are reasonably
determinable.

Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but instead are subject to annual impairment testing. We
monitor the results of each of our reporting units as a means of identifying trends and/or matters that may impact their financial
results and, thus, be an indicator of a potential impairment under SFAS No. 142. The trends and/or matters that we specifically
monitor for each of our reporting units are as follows:

« Significant variances in financial performance (e.g., revenues, earnings and cash flows) in relation to expectations and
historical performance;

* Significant changes in end markets or other economic factors;
» Significant changes or planned changes in our use of a reporting unit's assets; and
+ Significant changes in customer relationships and competitive conditions.

The identification and measurement of goodwill impairment involves the estimation of the fair value of reporting units. We
consider a number of factors, including the input of an independent appraisal firm, in conducting the impairment testing of our
reporting units. We perform our impairment testing by comparing the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to the carrying
value of the reported net assets, with such testing occurring during the fourth quarter of each year (or more frequently if
impairment indicators arise). Fair value is generally based on the income approach using a calculation of discounted cash
flows, based on the most recent financial projections for the reporting units. The revenue growth rates included in the financial
projections are management's best estimates based on current and forecasted market conditions, and the profit margin
assumptions are projected by each reporting unit based on current cost structure and anticipated net cost reductions.
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The calculation of fair value for our reporting units incorporates many assumptions including future growth rates, profit
argin and discount factors. Changes in economic and operating conditions impacting these assumptions could result in
mpairment charges in future periods.

Our annual goodwill impairment testing during the fourth quarter of 2007 identified three reporting units {Filtran, our

utomatic transmission business; LDS, our vibration testing equipment business; and Weil-McLain, our boiter products

business) whose fair value exceeded their carrying value by less than 10%. The aggregate goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible asset balance for these three repomng units was $242.1 at December 31, 2007.

In connection with our annual impairment test[ng of indefinite-lived intangibles under SFAS 142, we determined that other
intangible assets held by a business within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment were impaired. Accordingly, we
recorded an impairment charge of $4.0 in the fourth quarter of 2007 related to this matter.

Employee Benefit Plans

We have defined benefit pension plans that cover a significant portion of our sataried and hourly paid employees, including
certain employees in foreign countries. Additionally, we have domestic postretirement plans that provide health and life
insurance benefits for certain retirees and their dependents. The costs and obligations associated with these plans are
calculated based on actuarial valuations. The critical assumptions used in determining these obligations and related expenses
are discount rates, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and healthcare cost projections. These critical
assumptions are determined based on company data and appropriate market indicators, and are evaluated at least annually by
management in consultation with outside actuaries and investment advisors. Other assumptions involving demographic
factors such as retirement patterns, mortality, turnover and the rate of compensation increases are evaluated periodically and
are updated to reflect our experience and expectations for the future. While management believes that the assumptions used
are appropriate, actual results may differ.

To determine the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets, we consider the current and expected asset
allocations, as well as historical and expected returns on various categories of plan assets. A lower expected rate of return on
plan assets will increase pension expense. Our domestic plans account for approximately 80% of our total pension obligations
at December 31, 2007. A 50 basis point change in the expected long-term rate of return for our domestic plans would impact our
estimated 2008 pension expense by approximately $4.8.

The discount rate enables us to state expected future cash flows at a present value on the measurement date. This rate is
the yield on high-quality fixed income investments at the measurement date. A lower discount rate increases the present value
of benefit obligations and increases pension expense. A 50 basis point change in the discount rate for our domestic plans
would impact our estimated 2008 pension expense by approximately $3.4.

The trend in healthcare costs is difficult to estimate, and it has an important effect on postretirement liabilities. The 2007
healthcare cost trend rate, which is the weighted-average annual projected rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered
benefits, was 10%. This rate is assumed to decrease to 5% by 2014 and then remain at-that level. A one-percentage point
increase in the healthcare cost trend rate would increase postretirement expense by $0.6.

See Note 10 to our consolidated financial statements for further information on our pension and postretirement benefit
plans.

Income Taxes

We record our income taxes based on the requirements of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which includes
an estimate of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities and assets for the future tax
consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and fiabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. We periodically assess the
realizability of deferred tax assets and the adequacy of deferred tax liabilities, including the results of local, state, federal or
foreign statutory tax audits or estimates and judgments used.

Realization of deferred tax assets associated with net operating loss and credit carryforwards is dependent upon
generating sufficient taxable income prior 1o their expiration by tax jurisdiction. We believe that it is more likely than not that
certain of these net operating loss and credit carryforwards may expire unused and, accordingly, have established a valuation
allowance against them. Although realization is not assured for the remaining deferred tax assets, we believe it is more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized through future taxable earnings or alternative tax strategies. However,
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deferred tax assets could be reduced in _the near term if our estimates of taxable income during the carryforward period ar
significantly reduced or alternative tax strategies are no fonger viable.

The amount of income tax that we pay annually is dependent on various factors, including the timing of certain deduction
and ongoing audits by federal, state and foreign tax authorities, which may result in proposed adjustments. We perform review:
of our income tax positions on a quarterly basis and accrue for potential contingencies in accordance with FIN 48. Accruals fo
these contingencies are recorded based on an expectation as to the timing of when the contingency will be resolved. As event
change or resolution occurs, these accruals are adjusted, such as in the case of audit settlements with taxing authorities. We|
believe we have adequately provided for any reascnably foreseeable outcome related to these matters.

Our future results may include faverable or unfavorable adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities due to closure of income
tax examinations, new regulatory or judicial pronouncements, changes in tax laws, changes in projected levels of taxable
income, future tax planning strategies, or other relevant events. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements for
additional details regarding our tax contingencies. ’

Product Warranty

In the normal course of business, we issue product warranties for specific product lines and provide for the estimated
future warranty cost in the period in which the sale is recorded. We provide for the estimate of warranty cost based on contract
terms and historical warranty loss experience. Because warranty estimates are forecasts that are based on the best available
information, claims costs may differ from amounts provided. In addition, due to the seasonal fluctuations at certain of our
businesses, the timing of warranty provisions and the usage of warranty accruals can vary period to period. We make
adjustments to warranty liabilities as changes in the obligations become reasonably estimable.

Contingent Liabilities

Numerous claims, complaints and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, including but not limited to
those relating to litigation matters (e.g., class actions, derivative lawsuits and contract, intellectual property, competitive claims,
etc.), environmental matters, and tisk management matters (e.g., product and general liability, automobile, workers’
compensation, etc.) have been filed or are pending against us and certain of our subsidiaries. Additionally, we may become
subject to significant claims of which we are unaware currently or the claims of which we are aware may result in our incurring a
significantly greater liability than we anticipate. This may also be true in connection with past or future acquisitions. While we
maintain property, cargo, auto, product, general liability, and directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and have acquired rights
under similar policies in connection with our acquisitions that we believe cover a portion of these claims, this insurance may be
insufficient or unavailable to protect us against potential loss exposures. In addition, we have increased our self-insurance limits
over the past several years. While we believe we are entitled to indemnification from third parties for some of these claims, these
rights may be insufficient or unavailable to protect us against potential loss exposures. However, we believe that our accruals
related to these items are sufficient and that these items and our rights to available insurance and indemnity will be resclved
without a material adverse effect, individually or in the aggregate, on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
These accruals totaled $359.1 (including $268.8 for risk management matters) and $367.8 (including $260.3 for risk
management matters) at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. "

It is our policy to comply fully with appiicable environmental requirements. We are currently involved in various
investigatory and remedial actions at our facilities and at third-party waste disposal sites. It is our policy to accrue for estimated
losses from legal actions or claims when events exist that make the realization of the losses or expenses probable and they can
be reasonably estimated. Qur environmental accruals cover anticipated costs, including investigation, remediation, and
operation and maintenance of clean-up sites. Accordingly, our estimates may change based on future developments, including
new or changes in existing environmental taws or policies, differences in casts required to complete anticipated actions from
estimates provided, future findings of investigation or remediation actions, or alteration to the expected remediation plans. We
expense costs incurred to investigate and remediate environmental issues unless they extend the economic useful life of
related assets. We record liabifities and report expenses when it is probable that an obligation has been incurred and the
amounts can be reascnably estimated. Our estimates are based primarily on investigations and remediation plans established
by independent consultants, regulatory agencies and potentially responsible third parties. It is our policy to realize a change in
estimates once it becomes probable and can be reasonably estimated. In determining our accruals we do not discount
environmental or other legal accruals and do not reduce them by anticipated insurance, litigation and other recoveries. We do
take into account third-party indemnification from financially viable parties in determining our accruals where there is no dispute
regarding the right to indemnification. '
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We are self-insured for certain of our workers' compensation, automobile, product and general liability, disability and health
osts, and we believe that we maintain adequate accruals to cover our retained liability. Our accruals for self-insurance liabilities
re determined by management, are based on claims filed and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet reported, and are not
discounted. Management considers a number of factors, including third-party actuarial valuations, when making these
determinations. We maintain third-party stop-loss insurance policies to cover certain liability costs in excess of predetermined
retained amounts: however, this insurance may be insufficient or unavailable to protect us against potential loss exposures. The
key assumptions considered in estimating the ultimate cost to settle reported claims and the estimated costs associated with
incurred but not yet reported claims includes, among other. things, our historical and industry claims experience, trends in
health care and administrative costs, our current and future risk management programs, and historical lag studies with regard
to the timing between when a claim is incurred versus when it is reported. We maintain third-party stop-loss insurance policies
to cover certain liability costs in excess of predetermined amounts.

New Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for a complete discussion of recent accounting pronouncements. The
following summarizes only those pronouncements that could have a material impact on our financial condition or results of
operations in future periods.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurement” which defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 focuses on creating
consistency and comparability in fair value measurements. With the exception of certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities,
SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. In
February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS 157-2 to defer SFAS No. 157's effective date for all
nonfinancial assets and liabilities, except those items recognized or disclosed at fair value on an annual or more frequently
recurring basis, until years beginning after Novenber 15, 2008. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements; however, the prospective application of the provisions of SFAS
No. 157 could materially impact our future consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 {revised 2007), “Business Combinations,” (“SFAS No. 141(R)"} which
replaces SFAS No. 141. SFAS No. 141(R) requires an acquiring entity to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in a transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions. in addition, SFAS No. 141(R) will require
acquisition costs to be expensed as incurred, acquired contingent liabilities will be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date
and subsequently measured at either the higher of such amount or the amount determined under existing guidance for
non-acquired contingencies, in-process research and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived
intangible asset at the acquisition date, restructuring costs associated with a business combination will be generally expensed
subsequent to the acquisition date and changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after
the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense. SFAS No. 141(R) also includes a substantial number of new
disclosure requirements. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We do not expect the
adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations; however, the
prospective application of the provisions of SFAS No. 141(R) could have a material impact on the fair values assigned to assets
and liabilities of future acquisitions.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

(ANl dollar amounts are in millions)

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity ra
material prices, and we selectively use financial instruments to manage these risks. We do not enter into financial instruments
for speculative or trading purposes; however, such instruments may become speculative if the future cash flows originally
hedged are no longer probable of occurring as anticipated. We have interest rate protection agreements with financial
institutions to limit exposure to interest rate volatility, Our currency exposures vary, but are primarily concentrated in the Euro,
British Pound and Chinese Yuan. We generally do not hedge translation exposures. Our exposures for commodity raw
materials vary, with the highest concentration relating to steel, copper and oil. See Note 13 to our consolidated financial
statements for further details.

The following table provides information, as of December 31, 2007, about our primary outstanding debt obligations and
presents principal cash flows by expected maturity dates, weighted average interest rates and fair values.

Expected Maturity Date
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 After, Total Fair Value

Long-term debt: -

7.625% SENIOTNOeS . . . ..o v et $ — % — $ — ¢ — $ — 95000 $500.0 $511.3
Average interestrate. . . .. .............. 7.625%
7.50% seniornotes . . . ... L .. — — — - — 28.2 28.2 28.8
Average interestrate . . ................. _ 7.50%

6.25% seniornotes . . . ... ... ... .. — — — 21.3 — — 21.3 20.8
Average interestrate. .. ................ 6.25%
Termloan ................ e 750 750 750 1688 3562 —~— 750.0 750.0
Average interestrate. . . . ............... 6.16%
Domestic revolving loan facility .. ... ...... 115.0 — — — — — 1150 115.0
Average interestrate . ., ... ... ... ... .. .. ‘ 7.25%

Trade receivables financing arrangement. . . . . 70.0 -— —_ — — — 70.0 © 700
Average interestrate . .. ... ... .......... 5.08%

We believe that current cash and equivalents, cash flows from operations, availability under revolving credit facilities and
availability under our trade receivables financing agreement will be sufficient to fund working capital needs, planned capital
expenditures, on-going equity repurchases, dividend payments, other operational cash requirements and required debt
service obligations for the foreseeable future. ,

We had foreign currency forward contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $81.3 outstanding as of December 31,
2007, with scheduled maturities of $73.2, $7.5 and $0.6 in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. The net fair value of our open
contracts was $0.1, which was recorded as a current liability as of December 31, 2007. The fair value of the associated
embedded derivatives was $0.8, which was recorded as a current liability as of December 31, 2007.

We also had interest rate protection agreements (“swaps”) with a notional amount of $600.0 outstanding at December 31,
2007. These are amortizing swaps,; therefore, the outstanding notional value is scheduled to deciine commensurate with the
maturities of our term loan. As of December 31, 2007, we recorded an unrealized loss, net of tax, of $9.1 to accumulated other
comprehensive income {loss) and a long-term liability of $14.8 to recognize the fair value of our swaps.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of SPX Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets of SPX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES (the
"Company”) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the retated Consolidated Statements of Operations, Shareholders’ Equity
and Comprehensive Income, and Cash Flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit the financial statements of EGS Electrical Group, LLC and
Subsidiaries (“EGS") for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company's investment in which is
accounted for by use of the equity method (see Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements). The Company's equity in
income of EGS for the years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $39.3 million, $40.2 million and $22.4 million,
respectively. The financial statements of EGS were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our
opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for such company, is based solely on the report of such auditors.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
and the report of the other auditors provide a reasonabile basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and the report of the other auditors, such consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of SPX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES at December 31, 2007 and
2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007,
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2006, the Company changed its method of
recognizing compensation expense for share-based awards. In addition, as discussed in Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for pension and post retirement benefits as of December 31, 20086,
Also, as discussed in Note 11, in 2007 the Company changed its method for measuring and recognizing tax benefits associated
with uncertain tax positions.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
and our report dated March 3, 2008 expressed an ungualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 3, 2008
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SPX Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations
($ and shares in millions, except per share amounts)

Year ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
REVEIUES & - o o s ot e e e e et e e e e et e e e s $4,822.3 $4,167.6 $3,729.8
Costs and expenses.
Cost of Products SOId . . . .. .. e 3,4292 29982 27022
Selling, general and administrative . . .. ... ... .. o i 937.5 830.5 742.3
Intangible amortization . .. .. ... ... 18.4 1414 12.8
Impairment of intangible assets . . . . ... ... ... o 4.0 — -—-
Special charges, NEt . . .. ... 7.6 3.9 8.6
Operating iNCOME . . . ...t o i e 425.6 3209 263.9
Other @XPense, N . . .. ..ottt i e (4.6) (28.0) (17.2)
INEErESt BXPENSE . - . o o it ittt e e e (76.9) (62.8) (67.6)
ISt HICOMIE &« v o v o o vt ettt et e et e e e s 9.1 12.6 171
Loss on early extinguishmentof debt ... ...... ... ... . i i (3.3) — (113.8)
Equity eamnings in joint ventures . . . ... ... ... e 39.9 40.8 23.5
Income from continuing operations before income taxes . .................... 389.8 283.5 106.1
INCOME taX PrOVISION . . . v ot it it e (89.5) {57.8) (71.4)
Income from continuing operations ... ... ... . i 300.3 2257 347
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, netof tax . . .......... ... ...t (2.6) 0.8 (44.4)
Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations, netoftax ................. {3.5) (55.8) 1,099.7
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . ... ....... .. i 6.1) (65.0) 1,055.3
NEL IMCOME . o o ot e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 2942 §$ 1707 $1,080.0
Basic income per share of common stock '
Income from continuing operations . ... ... .. . i $ 547 $ 387 $ 049
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . ... ...... ... .. . (0.11) {0.94) 14.84
Netincome perShare . .. ...... ..t $ 536 $ 293 § 1533
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding —basic . .. ............ 54,842 58.254 71.084
Income from continuing operations for diluted income per share . ................ $ 3003 $ 2268 $ 347
Net income for diluted income per share . . . .. .. .o o $ 2942 §$ 171.8 $1,090.0
Diluted income per share of common stock :
Income from continuing operations . .. ... ... .. i $ 533 $ 374 $ 048
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . ... ... ... e (0.11) (0.91) 14.62
Net inCOME PEr SRAE . . . . ..ottt oo $ 522 $ 283 $ 1510
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding — diluted . ... .......... 56.307 60.724 f2.192

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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SPX Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets
($ in milllons)

December 31, December 31,

. 2007 2006
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cashand equivalents . ... ... ... ..t e o e e $ 3541 $ 4769
Accounts receivable, Net . . . . .. L e 1,299.9 1,103.1
Inventones, Net . . .. e e e e 703.8 496.2
Other curment assets . . . . ... . e e e 117.6 87.0
Deferred INCOME taXeS. . . . . ..o e e e e 97.9 55.4
Assets of discontinued operations . . . . ... .. ... . L e e 56.1 299.0
Totalcurrentassets ... ....... ... ... . e e 2,629.4 25176
Property, plant and equipment:
AN . e e e e e 43.0 29.4
Buildings and leasehold improvements . ... ......... . ... . . o e 236.7 194.7
Machinery and equipment . . . .. ... L e e 628.5 518.3
. 908.2 742.4
Accumulated depreciation . .. ... ... .. .. e {416.0) {383.3)
' 4922 359.1
GoodWIll | . . e e e e e 1,979.1 1,727.0
Itangibles, Met . . . . e e e e e e e e 727.4 480.1
Other ASSBES . . . . .. e e e e e e 409.3 353.3
TOTAL ASSET S . . . o e e $6,237.4 $5,437.1
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS® EQUITY
Current liabilities:
ACCOUNES PAYADIE . . . . e e e e $ 7338 $ 494.1
ACCIUB EXPBNSES . . . o . ot ittt et e e e 1,050.2 : 812.0
Income taxes payable . .. ... ... .. .. . e 7.5 79.3
Short-term debt . .. ... e e e e e e e e e e 255.4 168.0
Current maturities of longtermdebt . . ... ... .. ... .. ... . e 79.0 42.3
Liabilities of discontinued operations . .. . .. ... ... .. 31.1 136.9
Total current liabilities . . . . . ... .. .. . . e e 2,157.0 1,732.8
Long-term debt . . ... e e e e e 1,240.7 753.5
Deferred and other income taxes . . . . ... . i i e e e 246.6 188.8
Other longterm fiabilities ... .. ... . .. ... i e e e 576.7 649.3
Total long-term liabilittes . . . .. .. ... .. . . 2,064.0 1,591.6
MOty IErESt . o o . it e e 104 35
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stoCK . . ... . e e e e 963.5 937.4
Paid-in capital. . . .. ... e e e e e 1,296.0 1,134.5
Retained Barmings . . ... . e et 2,045.9 1,754.2
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . . ......... ... .. o oo 38.1 (86.6)
Common stock iNtred@sury . . .. . ... . o e e (2,337.5) (1,630.1)
Total shareholders’ equity . . ... .. .. 2,006.0 2,109.4
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY . ... ... ... . i, $6,237.4 $5,437.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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SPX Corporation and Subsidiarles
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
($ in miilions, except per share amounts)

Balance at December 31,2004 . ... ........
Netincome . ... .. ... ... .. v
Net unrealized gain on qualifying cash flow
hedges, netoftaxof $9.9 . ...........
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of
tax, of $141.1 .. ... oo
Foreign currency translation adjustments,
including $221.2 of translation gains
recognized upon sale of discontinued
operations .................. ...

Total comprehensive income . . ..........
Dividends declared ($1.00 per share) . ... ..
Exercise of stock options and cther incentive
plan activity, including related tax benefit of
P12 . . e
Restricted stock and restricted stock unit
Qramts . ... e
Activity for cash awards provided in 2005 {see
Note 18). .. ..o
Amortization of restricted stock and restricted
stock unit grants {includes $1.8 recorded to
discontinued operations) . . ...........
Restricted stock and restricted stock unit
vesting, net of tax withholdings . . .. ... ..
Restricted stock and restricted stock unit
forfeitures . . ... .. .. .. oL
Treasury stock repurchased . . . . .........

Balance at December 31,2005 .. . ... .... ..
Netincome . .......... ... 0oy
Net unrealized gain on qualifying cash flow
hedges, netoftaxof $1.2 ... ... . .....
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of
tax of $135.7 . . ... .
Foreign currency translation adjustments,
including $1.6 of translation gains
recognized upon sale of discontinued
operations . .......... ...

Common Paid-in Retained

Unearned

Accumulated

Other

Comprehensive Common Stock

Stock CapHal Earnings Compensation Income (Loss)  In Treasury Total
$8388 $ 969.1 § 6226 $(33.2) $ 3275 $ (647.0) $2,127.8
— — 1,090.0 — — — 1,090.0
— — — — 15.6 — 15.6
— — — — (225.7) — (225.7)
_ _ —_ — (291.2) - (291.2)
588.7
— - (70.6) — — — (70.6}
12.6 50.0 — — - 6.2 68.8
4.4 55.7 — (60.1) — — —
— — — (@.1) —~ — @1
— — — 3041 — - 30.1
1.8 (6.4) — — — (1.2 (5.8)
— (7.2 — 11.0 — (3.8) —_
— —_ —_ — —_ (624.7) (624.7)
907.6 1,061.2 1,642.0 (55.3) (173.8) (1,270.5) 2,111.2
— - 170.7 — — — 170.7
— — — — 19 — 1.9
— — — — 224.5 — 2245
—_ — — — 70.2 —_— 70.2

47



SPX Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income
($ in millions, except per share amounts) (Continued)

Accumulated
Other
Common Paid-In Retalned Unearned Comprehensive Common Stock
Stock  Capltal Earnings Compensation Income (Loss) In Treasury Total

Total comprehensive income . .. ... ...... 467.3
Dividends declared ($1.00 per share) . ..... — - {58.5) — — — (58.5)
Exercise of stock options and other incentive

plan activity, including related tax benefit of

$11.3..... e, 26.4 981 — — —_ 797 204.2
Cumulative effect adjustment due to the

adoption of SFAS 158, net of tax of $131.2 . - _— - (209.4) — (209.4)
Reclassification upon adoption of SFAS 123(R) . — (52.4) — 55.3 — — 29
Amortization of restricted stock and restricted

stock unit grants (includes $3.0 recorded to

discontinued operations) . ............ - 40.0 — - — — 40.0
Restricted stock and restricted stock unit

vasting, net of tax withhaldings . . . . . .. .. 34 (12.4) — — — (3.0) (12.0}
Treasury stock repurchased. . . ..., ...... — — - —_— — _ (436.3) (436.3)

Balance at December 31,2006 . . . ......... 9374 1,1345 1,7542° — (86.6) (1,630.1) 2,109.4

Netincome ....................... 2042 2942
Nst unrealized loss on qualifying cash flow

hedges, netoftaxof §74 ... ... ... ... — — — — (11.9) -— (11.9)
Pension liability adjustment, net of tax of $35.5 . — — —_ — 461 — - 4641

Foreign currency translation adjustments,
including $0.1 of translation gains '
recognized upon sale of discontinued

operations . ........... ... ... ... — — — — 90.5 — 80.5
Total comprehensive income . .. ......... 418.9
Dividends declared ($1.00 per share) ... ... — — . (55.0) — — - (55.0)

- Cumulative effect adjustment due to the
| adoption of FIN48 . . ............... — - 52.5 - — — 52,5

| Exercise of stock options and other incentive

- plan activity, including related tax benefit of
| $322 . ... 213 1378 — - - 15.5 174.6

Amortization of restricted stock and restricted

stock unit grants (includes $2.2 recorded to

' discontinued operations) . ............ — 423 — — — — 423
Restricted stock and restricted stock unit

vesting, net of tax withholdings . . .. ... .. 4.8 (18.6) — — — (7.0) (20.8)

Treasury stock repurchased . . . .. ... ..., B — — — — — {715.9) {715.9)

Balance at December 31,2007 .. ... ....... $963.5 $1,296.0 $2,045.9 58 — $ 381 ${2,337.5) $2,006.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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SPX Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
($ in millions)

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities:
NEtINCOME . . . . ittt e e et e e e e e e $ 2942 $170.7 $1,090.0
tncome (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax . . .. ... .. e 6.1) (55.0) 1,055.3
Income from continuing Operations . . . . . . . . ... e e e e e 300.3 2257 34.7
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash from {used in} operating activities
Special Charges, Net . . . . . ... ..o 76 39 8.6
Impairment on iNangible @S5618 . . . . . . . ... oL 4.0 — —
Loss on early extinguishment of debt . .. ... ... ... e 33 — 113.6
Deferred and Other INCOME TAXES . . . . . o o v v v e i e s s e e ettt bt i r e e e st a e e (9.5) 5.4 471
Depreciation and amortization of intangibles and otherassets . . . .. ... ... e 79.0 721 65.9
ACCrEtion Of LYONS . . . .t o e e e e e e —_ 1.7 18.0
Pension and otheremployee benefits . . . . ... ... . o 58.0 62.3 53.6
Stock-based COMPENSAtioN . . . . .. .. oo i i e 41.4 376 283
(0 L A T I BRI I 6.6 {8.0) 175
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and divestitures
Accounts receivable and OtHEr . . .. . . . e e e s 15.9 {206.7) (89.2)
IVBIOFIES . . . o e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e (42.5) (42.1} 1.4
Accounts payable, accrued expenses andother ... ... ... L i {54.6) 81.0 57.7
Taxes paid on repatriated foreign @AMINGs . . . . ... oo — — (47.5)
Payments to terminate interest rate swap agreements . . .. ... .. .o (0.4) — (13.3)
Payment of LYONS fax réCaplure . . .. ... ... ot oo e e —. (90.9) —
Accreted interest paid on LYONs repurchase (accreted since issuance date) . . .. .. ........... .. — (84.3) (1.9)
Cash spending on restructuring actions . . . .. ... .. ... i (4.9 @.1) {26.2)
Net cash from continuing OPerations . . . . . . . . .ot e e 404.2 48.6 268.3
Net cash from (used in) discontinued operations . . . . . ... ... ... . i e 35.4 114 (401.8)
Net cash from (used in) operating activities . . . ... .. .. .. i e PR 439.6 60.0 {133.5)
Cash flows from {used In) investing activities:
Proceeds from asset SaAlES . . . . . . o i e e e e e et ey 33 19.4 41.4
Business acquisitions, netof cash acquired . . ... ... ... o o i (567.2)  (169.4) (50.4)
Capital 8xpenditUNBS . . . . . .. . o e (90.9) (55.7) {41.3)
Net cash used in continuing OPErationNs . . . . . . . ot e e e e (654.8)  (205.7) (50.3)
Net cash from discontinued operations {includes net cash proceeds from dispasitions of $129.2, $123.0 and
$2.751.2 in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively) . . . . .. . o 126.1 101.4 2,719.1
Net cash from (used in) investing activities . . . ... .. ... ... .o (528.7) (104.3) 2,668.8
Cash flows from (used in) financing activities:
Borrowings under senior credit facilities . . . . ... ... .. e 1,6086.3 833.2 —
Repayments under senior credit facilities . . . ... ... .. e (1,560.6) (15.0 —
BOrmowings UNCer SENIOF NOES . . . . o o v v e et i e e 500.0 — r—
Repayments of debl borrowings . . . .. .. ... ... e — — (1,073.4)
Repurchase of senior notes (2005 includes premiums paid of $72.9) .. . ....... ... v — (744.5)
Repurchase of LYONS principal . . . ... ... ... i e —_ (576.0) (16.0)
Borrowing under trade receivables agreement. . . ... .. ...l n e 586.0 199.0 —
Repayments under trade receivables agreement . .. .............. e e {(517.0) (189.0) —
Net repayments under other financing armangements . .. . .. ... ... Lo e (21.9) (4.4) {1.8)
Purchases of COMMON StOCK . . . . . . o ittt et ettt e e e e e e et (715.9) {436.3) {624.7)
Proceeds from the exercise of employee Stock OptioNs . . . . . . .. .. oo ) 153.7 196.8 38.3
DIVIBBNOS PAIG . . o o v v v ottt e e e e e e (96.5) {59.9) (73.3)
Financing fees paitl . . . . . . o e (15.1) (0.4) (5.1}
Net cash used in continuing OPerations . . . . .. . .ottt o e {41.0) (62.0) (2,500.5)
Net cash used in discontinued operalions . . . . . ... ot e e . (5.8} (1.5) {(17.1)
Net cash used infinancing activities . . . . . . . o oo oo e (46.8) (63.5) (2,517.6)
Increase {decreass) in cash and equivalents due to changes in foreign exchangerates . .. ........... 12.8 4.8 {23.9)
Net change incashand @qUIVAIBNTS . . . . . . . . oot et it e (123.1)  (103.0) 6.2
Consolidated cash and equivalents, beginningof period . . . . ... .. .. 477.2 580.2 586.4
Consclidated cash and equivalents, end ofperiod . . . . .. .. .o i $ 3541 $477.2 $ 5802
Cash and equivalents of continuing operations . . ... . . .. .. . $ 3541 $4769 § 576.2
Cash and equivalents of discontinted Operations. . . . . ... ... i $ — % 03 § 4.0
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow Informatlon:
IMterest PAid . . . . o o e e e e e $ 771 % 488 $ 647
Income taxes paid, net of refunds of $59.1, $26.3 and $24.4 in 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectivaly . . ... ... $ 805 $241.3 § 4335
Non-cash Investing and financing activity: .
DEDE ASSUMBO . . o v v v o o e e e e e e e e e e e $ 47 §$ 232 § 9.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements
: December 31, 2007
{(All dollar and share amounts in millions, except per share data)

{1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Our significant accounting policies -are described below as well as in other Notes that follow.

Basis of Presentation — The consolidated financial statements include SPX Corporation’s (“our” or “we") accounts after
the elimination of intercompany transactions. Investmenis in unconsolidated companies where we exercise significant
influence, but do not have contral, are acceunted for using the equity method. Prior year amounts have been reclassified to
conform to current-year presentation for our results of discontinued operations. In addition, we reclassified, within the investing
section of our accompanying 2006 and 2005 consolidated statements of cash flows, proceeds from the sale of discontinued
aperations from net cash used in continuing operations to net cash from discontinued operations as we believe such
presentation is more reflective of the concepts contained in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. Unless otherwise indicated, amounts provided in these
Notes pertain to continuing operations only (see Note 4 for mare information on discontinued operations).

During 2007, we recognized an income tax benefit of $13.5 to "Gain (loss) on disposition of discontinued operations, net of
tax” relating to the reversal of certain deferred tax liabilities associated with businesses previously disposed of and reported as
discontinued operations, primarily during 2005. These additional gains should have been recorded in the period in which such
businesses were disposed. In addition, an internal audit of a Japanese operation within cur Test and Measurement segment
uncovered empioyee misconduct and inappropriate accounting entries. Correction of this matter, substantially all of which
relate to periods prior to 2007, resulted in a reduction of “Income from continuing operations before taxes™ and “Net income”’ of
$7.4 during 2007. These entries included $2.4 of inventory write-downs, $2.0 of accounts receivable write-offs and $3.0 in other
adjustments. We have evaluated the effects of these corrections on prior periods’ consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the guidance provided by SEC Staff Accounting Bufletin No. 108, codified as SAB Topic 1.N, “Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements,” and concluded that no prior period is materially
misstated. In addition, we have considered the effects of these corrections on our interim and annual results of operations for
the pericds ended December 31, 2007 and concluded that the impact on these periods is not material.

Foreign Currency Translation — The financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in
accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation.” Balance sheet accounts are translated at the current rate at the
end of each period and income statement accounts are translated at the average rate. Gains and losses on foreign currency
transiations are reflected as a separate component of shareholders’ equity and other comprehensive income. Foreign currency
transaction gains and losses are inciuded in other expense, net, with the related net losses totaling $3.0, $7.1 and $15.6 in 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively.

Cash and Equivalents — We consider highly liquid money market investments with original maturities of three months or
less at the date of purchase to be cash and equivalents,

Revenue Recognition — We recognize revenues from product sales upon shipment to the customer (f.0.b. shipping point)
or upon receipt by the custormer (f.0.b. destination), in accordance with the agreed upon customer terms. Revenues from
service contracts and long-term maintenance arrangements are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the
agreement period. Revenues from certain  constructionfinstallation contracts are recognized wusing the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Sales with f.0.b. destination terms are primarily to automotive industry
customers. Sales to distributors with return rights are recognized upon shipment to the customer. Expected returns under these
arrangements are estimated and accrued for at the time of sale. The accrual considers restocking charges for returns and in
some cases the customer must issue a replacement order before the return is authorized. Actual return experience may vary
from our estimates. Amounts billed for shipping and handling are included in revenue, Costs incurred for shipping and handling
are recorded in cost of products sold.

Sales incentive programs offered to our customers relate primarily to volume rebates and promotional and advertising
allowances and are only significant to two of our business units. The liability for these programs, and the resulting reduction to
reported revenues, is determined primarily through trend analysis, historical experience and expectations regarding customer
participation.

Certain of our businesses, primarily within the Test and Measurement and Thermal Equipment and Services segments,
recognize revenues from long-term contracts under the percentage-of-completion method of accounting. The
percentage-of-completion is measured principally by the percentage of costs incurred to date for each contract to the
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(All doliar and share amounts in millions, except per share data)

estimated total costs for such contract at completion, in accordance with Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for the
Performance of Construction — Type and Certain Production — Type Contracts.”

Provisions for estimated losses, if any, on uncompleted long-term contracts, are made in the period in which such losses
are determined. In the case of customer change orders for uncompleted long-term contracts, estimated recoveries are
included for work performed in forecasting ultimate profitability on certain contracts. Due to uncertainties inherent in the
estimation process, it is possible that completion costs, including those arising from contract penalty provisions and final
contract settiements, may be revised in the near-term. Such revisions to costs and income are recognized in the period in which
the revisions are determined.

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings arise when revenues have been recorded but the amounts have not
been billed under the terms of the contracts. These amounts are recoverable from customers upon various measures of
performance, including achievement of certain milestones, completion of specified units or completion of the contract. Claims
related to long-term contracts are recognized as revenue only after management has determined that collection is probable
and the amount can be reliably estimated. Claims made by us involve negotiation and, in certain cases, litigation. In the event
we incur fitigation costs in connection with claims, such litigation costs are expensed as incurred although we may seek to
recover these costs. Claims against us are recognized when a loss is considered probable and amounts are reasonably
determinable.

We recognized $1,071.5, $848.5 and $714.5 in revenues under the percentage-of-completion method for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts, from their
inception, and related amounts billed as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:

2007 2006
Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts . . .. .. ... oo i i o... $1,2993 51,106.8
Estimated earnings to date . ...... SR 3914 296.4
1,690.7 1,403.2
Less: Bilingsto date . . . .. ..o oo e (1,693.8) (1,354.6)
Net unbilled receivables . . . . . o e e e e e % 3.1y & 488

These amounts are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2007 and 2006 as shown
below. Amounts for billed retainages and receivables to be collected in excess of one year are not significant for the periods
presented.

2007 2006
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings® .. ....... e e T... $1956 $199.0
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts® . .. ... .......... (198.7) (150.4)
Net unbilled receivables . .. ..... e e e e e e e $ (3.1) § 486

™  Reported as a component of “Accounts receivable, net” in the consolidated balance sheet.
@ Reported as a component of “Accrued expenses” in the consolidated balance sheet.

Amounts for costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on
uncompleted contracts for APV were $54.6 and $39.4, respectively, at December 31, 2007, which are not included in the table
above.

Research and Development Costs — We expense research and development costs as incurred. We charge costs incurred
in the research and development of new software included in products to expense until technological feasibility is established.
After technological feasibility is established, additional costs are capitalized in accordance with SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for
the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed” until the product is available for general release.
These costs are amortized over the economic iife of the related products and we include the amortization in cost of products
sold. We perform periodic reviews of the recoverability of these capitalized software costs. At the time we determine that
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capitalized amounts are not recoverable based on the estimated cash flows to be generated from the applicable software, we
write off any unrecoverable capitalized amounts. We expensed $70.3 of research activities relating to the development and
improvement of our products in 2007, $61.4 in 2006 and $56.3 in 2005. In addition, we expensed purchased in-process
research and development of $0.9 related to the APV acquisition as technological feasibility had not been established for the
related projects.

Property, Piant and Equipment — Property, plant and equipment {"PP&E") is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation.
We use the straight-line method for computing depreciation expense over the useful lives of PP&E, which do not exceed
40 years for buildings and range from 3 to 15 years for machinery and equipment. Depreciation expense was $58.7, $56.2 and
$51.1 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
iife of the related asset or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter. Interest is capitalized on construction or installation projects
that are greater than $5.0 and one year in duration. There was no interest capitalized during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Income Taxes — We account for aur incame taxes based on the reguirements of SFAS No. 109, “'Accounting for Income
Taxes,” which includes an estimate of the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year and deferred tax liabilities
and assets for the future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. We periadically assess the realizability of
deferred tax assets and the adequacy of deferred tax liabilities, including the results of local, state, federal or foreign statutory
tax audits or estimates and judgments used. As further discussed in Notes 3 and 11, effective January 1, 2007, we began
applying the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48") for measuring and recognizing tax
benefits associated with uncertain tax positions.

Derivative Financial instruments — We use interest rate swaps to manage our exposures to fluctuating interest rate risk on
our variable rate debt, foreign currency forward contracts to manage our exposures to fluctuating currency exchange rates, and
forward commodity contracts to manage our exposures fo fluctuation in certain raw material costs. Derivatives are recorded on
the balance sheet and measured at fair value. For derivatives designated as hedges of the fair value of assets or liabilities, the
changes in fair values of both the derivatives and the hedged items are recorded in current earnings. For derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the changes in fair value of the derivatives is recorded in other comprehensive
income and subsequently recognized in earnings when the hedged items impact eamings. Changes in the fair value of
derivatives not designated as hedges, and the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges, are recorded in current earnings. We do
not enter into financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes.

For those transactions that are designated as cash flow hedges, on the date the derivative contract is entered into, we
document our hedge relationship, including identification of the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as our risk
management objectives and strategies for undertaking the hedge transaction. We atsc assess, both at inception and quarterly
thereafter, whether such derivatives are highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged item.

Fair value estimates are based on relevant market information. Changes in fair value are estimated by management
quarterly based, in part, on quotes provided by third-party financial institutions.

(2) Use Of Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”) requires us to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting petiod. We evaluate these estimates and
judgments on an ongoing basis and base our estimates on experience, current and expected future conditions, third-party
evaluations and various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. The results of these
estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities as well as identifying and
assessing the accounting treatment with respect to commitments and contingencies. Actua! results may differ from the
estimates and assumptions used in the financial statements and related notes.

Listed below are certain significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consclidated financial
statements. Certain other estimates and assumptions are further explained in the related notes.
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Accounts Receivable Alfowances — We provide allowances for estimated losses on uncollectible accounts based on our
historical experience and the evaluation of the likelihood of success in collecting specific customer receivables. In addition, we
maintain allowances for customer returns, discounts and invoice pricing discrepancies, with such allowances primarily based
on historical experience. Summarized below is the activity for these allowance accounts.

2007 2006 2005

Balance at beginning Of YEAr . . . . ... .ot i e e $429 $419 $334
Acquisitions/divestitures, Net . . .. .. ... .. 8.8 0.5 0.9
Allowances Provided . .. ... ... e e e e 226 18.4 25.6
Write-offs, net of recoveries and credits issued . . . ... ... oo i i (17.5) (179 (18.0)
Balance at 8nd Of VAT . .. . . oot e $568 $429 $41.9

Inventory — We estimate losses for excess and/or obsolete inventory and the net realizable value of inventory based on the
aging of the inventory and the evaluation of the likelihood of recovering the inventory costs based on anticipated demand and
selling price.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Intangibles Subject to Amortization — We continually review whether events and
circumstances subsequent to the acquisition of any long-lived assets, or intangible assets subject to amortization, have
occurred that indicate the remaining estimated useful lives of those assets may warrant revision or that the remaining balance of
those assets may not be recoverable. If events and circumstances indicate that the long-lived assets should be reviewed for
possible impairment, we use projections to assess whether future cash flows on an undiscounted basis related to the assets are
likely to exceed the related carrying amount to determine if a write-down is appropriate. We will record an impairment charge to
the extent that the carrying value of the assets exceed their fair values as determined by valuation techniques appropriate in the
circumstances, which could include the use of similar projections on a discounted basis.

In determining the estimated useful lives of definite-lived intangibles, we consider the nature, competitive position, life
cycle position, and historical and expected future operating cash flows of each acquired asset, as well as our commitment to
support these assets through continued investment and legal infringement protection.

Gooadwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets — We test goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment
annually during the fourth quarter and continually review whether a triggering event has occurred to determine whether the
carrying value exceeds the implied value. The fair value of reporting units is based generally on discounted projected cash
flows, but we also consider factors such as comparable industry price multiples. We employ cash flow projections that we
believe to be reasonable under current and forecasted circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of the reported net assets of our reporting units. Many of our businesses closely follow changes in the
industries and end-markets that they serve. Accordingly, we consider estimates and judgments that affect the future cash flow
projections, including principle methods of competition, such as volume, price, service, product performance and technical
innovations. as well as estimates associated with cost improvement initiatives, capacity utitization and assumptions for inflation
and foreign currency changes. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. See
Note 8 for more information, including discussion of an impairment charge recorded in 2007 related to other intangible assets
held by a business within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment.
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Accrued Expenses — We make estimates and judgments in establishing accruals as required under GAAP. Summarized in
the table below are accrued expenses at December 31, 2007 and 2006.

December 31,

2007 2006
Employee Denefits . . . .. ... e e $ 240.4 $208.4
Unearned revenUe!) . .. . e 407.0 265.3
VAT ANty . o e e e e 441 44.4
OtNEr ) | e e 358.7 293.9
Total . .o e e e e e $1,050.2 $812.0

(" Unearned revenue includes billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts accounted for
under the percentage-of-completion method of revenue recognition, customer deposits and unearned amounts on service
contracts.

@  Qther consists of various items, including legal, interest, restructuring and dividends payable, none of which individually
require separate disclosure.

Legal — It is our policy to accrue for estimated losses from legal actions or claims when events exist that make the
realization of the losses, including the associated legal fees, probable and they can be reasonably estimated. We do not
discount legal obligations or reduce them by anticipated insurance recoveries.

Environmental Remediation Costs — We expense costs incurred to investigate and remediate environmental issues unless
they extend the economic useful life of related assets. We record liabilities and report expenses when it is probable that an
obligation has been incurred and the amounts can be reasonably estimated. OQur environmental accruals cover anticipated
costs, including investigation, remediation and operation and maintenance of clean-up sites. Our estimates are based primarily
on investigations and remediation plans established by independent consultants, regulatory agencies and potentially
responsible third parties. We do not discount environmental obligations or reduce them by anticipated insurance recoveries.

Self-insurance — We are self-insured for certain of our workers' compensation, automobile, product, generat liahility
disability and health costs, and we believe that we maintain adequate accruals to cover our retained liabilities. Our accruals for
self-insurance liabilities are determined by management, are based on claims filed and an estimate of claims incurred but not
yet reported, and are generally not discounted. Management considers a number of factors, including third-party actuarial
valuations, when making these determinations. We maintain third-party stop-loss insurance policies to cover certain liability
costs in excess of predetermined retained amounts; however, this insurance may be insufficient or unavaiable 10 protect us
against potential loss exposures. The key assumptions considered in estimating the ultimate cost to settle reported claims and
the estimated costs associated with incurred but not yet reported claims includes among other things, our historical and
industry claims experience, trends in health care and administrative costs, our current and future risk management programs,
and historical lag studies with regard to the timing between when a claim is incurred and reported. We maintain third-party
stop-loss insurance policies to cover certain liability costs in excess of predetermined retained amounts.

Warranty — In the normal course of business, we issue product warranties for specific product lines and provide for the
estimated future warranty cost in the period in which the sale is recorded. We provide for the estimate of warranty cost based on
contract terms and historical warranty loss experience that is periodically adjusted for recent actual experience. Because
warranty estimates are forecasts that are based on the best available information, claims costs may differ from amounts
provided. In addition, due to the seasonal fluctuations at certain of our businesses, the timing of warranty provisions and the
usage of warranty accruals can vary period to period. We make adjustments to initial obligations for warranties as changes in
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the obligations become reasonably estimable. The following is an analysis of our product warranty accrual for the periods
presented: ‘

For the year ended
December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Balance at beginning of year . . . ... ... .. . e $544 $501 $546
Acquisitions/divestitures, net .. ... . .. ... 48 0.1 0.3
PR OVISIONS . . o o o it e e e 271 3941 211
Usage .. ... e e [ (24.9) (34.9) (25.9)
Balance atend ofyear. .. .. .......c...oi..o... [ e 61.4 544  50.1
Less: Current portion of warranty . .. ... .. it 441 44.4 39.2
Non-current portion of warranty . . . . ... ...t $173 $100 $109

Income Taxes — We perform reviews of our income tax positions on a continuous basis and accrue for potential
contingencies in accordance with FIN 48. Accruals for these contingencies are classified as “income taxes payable” and
“Deferred and other income taxes” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets based on an expectation as to the timing
of when the contingency will be resolved. As events change or resolution occurs, these accruals are adjusted, such as in the
case of audit settlements with taxing authorities. These reviews also entail analyzing the realization of deferred tax assets
associated with net operating loss and credit carryforwards. When we befieve that it is more fikely than not that a net operating
ioss or credit carryforward may expire unused, we establish a valuation allowance against them. For tax positions where it is
more-likely-than-not that a tax benefit will be sustained, we have recorded the largest amount of tax benefit of tax benefit with a
greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authority that has full knowledge of all
relevant information. '

Employee Benefit Plans — We have defined benefit plans that cover a significant portion, of our salaried and hourly
employees, including certain employees in foreign countries. We derive pension expense from an actuarial calculation based
on the defined benefit plans' provisions and management's assumptions regarding discount rate, rate of increase in
compensation levels and expected long-term rate of return on plan assets. Management determines the expected long-term
rate of return on plan assets based upon historical actual asset returns and the expectations of asset returns over the expected
period to fund participant benefits based on the current investment mix of our plans. Management determines the discount rate
by matching the expected projected benefit obligation cash flows for gach of the plans to a yield curve that is representative of
long-term, high-quality (rated AA or higher) fixed income debt instruments as of the measurement date. The rate of increase in
compensation levels is established based on management's expectations of current and foreseeable future increases in
compensation. Management also consults with independent actuaries in determining these assumptions. See Note 10 for
more information.

(3) New Accounting Pronouncements
The following is a summary of new accounting pronouncements that apply or may apply to our business.

In February 20086, the FASB issued SFAS No. 155, “Accounting for Certain Hybrid Financial Instruments,’ which amends
SFAS No.’'s 133 and 140, and improves the financial reporting of certain hybrid financial instruments by requiring more
consistent accounting that eliminates exemptions and provides a means to simplify the accounting for these instruments.
Specifically, SFAS No. 155 allows financial instruments that have embedded derivatives to be accounted for as a whole
(eliminating the need to bifurcate the derivative from its host) if the holder elects to account for the whole instrument on a fair
value basis. SFAS No. 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity's first fiscal
year that begins after September 15, 2006. We adopted SFAS No. 155 effective January 1, 2007, and it did not have an impact
on our consoclidated financial statements. '

In June 2006, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF"} reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-03, “How Taxes
Collected from Customers and Remitted to Governmental Authorities Should Be Presented in the Income Statement (That Is,
Gross versus Net Presentation)” (“EITF 06-03"). EITF 06-03. provides that the presentation of taxes assessed by a
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governmental authority that are directly imposed on a revenue-producing transaction between a seller and a customer on either
a gross basis (included in revenues and costs) or on a net basis (excluded from revenues} is an accounting policy decision that
should be disclosed. EITF 06-03 is effective for interim and annual pericds beginning after December 15, 2006. Our policy for all
periods has been to present such taxes net in our consolidated statement of operations.

tn June 2006, the FASB issued FIN 48, which seeks to reduce the diversity in practice associated with accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes by prescribing a recognition threshold and measurement atiribute for the financial statement
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. In addition, FIN 48 requires
expanded disclosure with respect to the uncertainty in income taxes and is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. We adopted FIN 48 effective January 1, 2007, which resulted in an initial reduction of our income tax
liability for unrecognized tax benefits of $50.4, with a corresponding increase to retained earnings. During the third quarter of
2007, we recorded a correcting adjustment of $2.1 to recognize an income tax receivable, with a corresponding increase to
retained earnings. The impact of this correcting adjustment is not considered to be material to our consolidated financial
position. See Note 11 for additional discussion regarding the impact of our adoption of FIN 48.

In September 20086, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurement” which defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 focuses on creating
consistency and comparability in fair value measurements. With the exception of certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities,
SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. In
February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) FAS 157-2 to defer SFAS No. 157's effective date for all
nonfinancial assets and liabilities, except those items recognized or disclosed at fair value on an annual or more frequently
recurring basis, until years beginning after November 15, 2008. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a
material impact on our consolidated financial statements; however, the prospective application of the provisions of SFAS
No. 157 could materially impact our future consolidated financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, "Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans — An Amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)". SFAS No. 158 requires balance sheet
recognition of the funded status of pension and postretirement benefit plans. Under SFAS No. 158, actuarial gains and losses,
prior service costs or credits, and any remaining transition assets or obligations that have not been recognized under previous
accounting standards must be recognized as a component of shareholders’ equity (in accumuiated other comprehensive
income (loss), net of tax effects) until they are amortized as a component of net periodic benefit expense. Additionally, the
measurement date (the date at which plan assets and the benefit obligation are measured) is required to be the company's
tiscal year end; which is consistent with our current practice. SFAS No. 158 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal
years ending after December 15, 2006. Based on the funded status of our plans as of December 31, 2006, the adoption of SFAS
No. 158 decreased total assets by $127.9, increased total liabilities by $81.5 and reduced shareholders’ equity by $209.4. The
adoption of SFAS No. 158 did not affect our results of operations. Refer to Note 10 for additional details pertaining to the
adoption of this standard.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Vaiue Option for Financial Assets and Financia! Liabilities,
Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" which permits an entity to measure certain financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value. The objective of SFAS No. 159 is to improve financial reporting by allowing entities to reduce volatility in
reported earnings, caused by the measurement of related assets and liabilities using different attributes, without having to
apply complex hedge accounting rutes. Under SFAS No. 159, entities that elect the fair value option will report unrealized gains
and losses in earmnings as of each subsequent reporting date. The tair value option may be elected on an
instrument-by-instrument basis with a few exceptions, as long as it is applied to the instrument in its entirety. The fair value
option election is irrevocable, unless a new election date occurs. SFAS No. 159 is effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal
year that begins after November 15, 2007. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 159 to have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.

In March 2007, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-10, "“Accounting for Collateral Assignment Split-Dollar
Life Insurance Arrangements™ (“EITF 06-10"). EITF 06-10 requires an employer to recognize a liability for the postretirement
benefit obligation associated with a collateral assignment split-dollar life insurance arrangement in accordance with SFAS
No. 106 (if deemed part of a postretirement plan) or Opinion 12 (if not part of a plan), if, on the basis of the substantive
agreement with the employee, the employer has agreed to maintain a life insurance policy during the postretirement period or
to provide a death benefit. EITF 06-10 also states that an employer should recognize and measure the associated asset on the
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basis of the terms of the collateral assignment arrangement. EITF No. 06-10 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2007, including interim periods within those fiscal years. We do not expect the adoption of EITF 06-10 to have a
material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

In June 2007, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 06-11, ““Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on
Share-Based Awards” (“EITF 06-11"). EITF 06-11 states that an entity should recognize a realized tax benefit associated with
the dividends on affected securities charged to retained earnings as an increase in additional paid-in-capital (“APIC"), which
should be included in the APIC pool. When an entity's estimate of forfeitures increases or actual forfeitures exceed its estimates,
the amount of tax benefits previously recognized in APIC should be reclassified into the income statement; however, the
amount reclassified is limited to the APIC pool balance on the reclassification date. EITF 06-11 is effective for income tax
benefits declared on affected securities in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007, and interim periods within those
fiscal years. We do not expect the adoption of EITF 06-11 to have a material impact on our financial position or results of
operations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations,” (“SFAS No. 141(R)"} which
replaces SFAS No. 141. SFAS No. 141(R) requires an acquiring entity to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in a transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions. In addition, SFAS No. 141(R) will require
acquisition costs to be expensed as incurred, acquired contingent liabilities will be recorded at fair value at the acquisition date
and subsequently measured at either the higher of such amount or the amount determined under existing guidance for
non-acquired contingencies, in-process research and development will be recorded at fair value as an indefinite-lived
intangible asset at the acquisition date, restructuring costs associated with a business combination will be generally expensed
subsequent to the acquisition date and changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowances and income tax uncertainties after
the acquisition date generally will affect income tax expense. SFAS No. 141(R) also includes a substantial number of new
disclosure requirements. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. We do not expect the
adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) to have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations; however, the
prospective application of the provisions of SFAS No. 141(R} could have a material impact on the fair values assigned to assets
and liabilities of future acquisitions.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — An
Amendment of ARB No. 51", SFAS No. 160 establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the noncontrolling interest
in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. Specifically, SFAS No. 160 requires the recognition of a
noncontrolling interest (minority interest) as equity in the consolidated financial statements and separate from the parent's
equity. The amount of net income attributable to the noncontrolling interest will be included in consolidated net income on the
face of the income statement. In addition, SFAS No. 160 requires that a parent recognize a gain or loss in net income when a
subsidiary is deconsolidated. Such gain or loss will be measured using the fair value of the noncontrolling equity investment on
the deconsolidation date. SFAS No. 160 also includes expanded disclosure requirements regarding the interests of the parent
and its noncontrolling interest. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning -
on or after December 15, 2008. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 160 to have a material impact on our financial
position or results of operations.

In December 2007, the EITF reached a consensus on EITF issue No. 07-01, “Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements”
(“EITF 07-01"). EITF 07-01 defines a collaborative arrangement as a contractual arrangement in which the parties are (1) active
participanis to the arrangements and (2) exposed to significant risks and rewards that depend on the commercial success of
the endeavor. EITF 07-01 requires costs incurred and revenues generated from transactions with third parties should be
reported by the collaborators on the appropriate line item in their respective income statements. EITF 07-01 also states that the
income statement characterization of payments between the participants to a collaborative arrangement should be based on
other authoritative literature if the payments are within the scope of such literature. EITF 07-01 requires collaborators to
disclose, in the footnotes to financial statements in the initial period of adoption and annually thereafter, (1) the income
statement classification and amounts attributable to transactions arising from collaborative arrangements between participants
for each period for which an income statement is presented and (2) information regarding the nature and purpose of the
collaborative arrangement, the collaborators’ rights and obligations under the arrangement, and any accounting policies for the
collaborative arrangement. EITF 07-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. We are currently
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evaluating the impact of adoption that EITF 07-01 may have on our financial position or results of operations, specifically, as it
relates to our consortium arrangements. See Note 14 for additional details of our consortium arrangements.

(4) Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations

We use acquisitions as a part of our strategy to gain access to customer relationships, new technology, expand our
geographical reach, penetrate new markets and leverage our existing product, market, manufacturing and technical expertise.
Acquisitions and divestitures for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are described below.

All business acquisitions have been accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations"” and,
accordingly, the consolidated statements of operations include the results of each acquired business since the date of
acquisition. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at estimates of fair values as determined by management
based on information available. Management considers a number of factors, including third-party valuations or appraisals,
when making these determinations. We finalize the allocation of purchase price to the fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed when we obtain information sufficient to complete the allocation, but in any case, within one year after
acqmsmon Refer to Note 8 for additional disclosure on the purchase price allocation of the following acqulsmons

Acquisitions — 2007

In the Flow Technology segment, we completed the acquisition of APV, a global manufacturer of process equipment and
engineering solutions on December 31, 2007, for a purchase price of $524.2, including cash acquired of $41.7. APV's primary
products include pumps, valves, heat exchangers and homogenizers for the food, dairy, beverage and pharmaceutical
industries. APV had revenues of approximately $876.0 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2007.

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at preliminary estimates of fair values as determined by
management, based on information currently available and on current assumptions as to future operations, and are subject to
change upon the completion of acquisition accountlng, including the finalization of asset valuations and workmg capital
settlernent.

The following is a summary of the recorded preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed of APV as
of December 31, 2007, the date of the acquisition:

Assets acquired:

Current assets, including cash and equivalents of $41.7 . . . . .. .. ... .. ... ... $390.4
Property, plant and equipment . . .. e e e 79.1
Goodwill . .. e e P e 190.4
Intangible assets . ..................... o e e e e e e 2049
Otherassets ......................... e e e e e - 3.2
Total @assets acquired . . . . .. . e e $868.0
Liabilities assumed:
Current liabilities . ..., ................... e e $297.6
Other long-term liabilities . . . . .. ... . 46.2
Total liabilities . . ... e e e e e 343.8
Net assels aCqUIred . . . ... e e e e e s $524.2

The identifiable intangible assets acquired consist of trademarks, customer relationships and technology of $90.0, $68.0
and $45.9, respectively, with such amounts based on a preliminary assessment of the related fair values.

Purchased in-process research and development of $0.9 was expensed upon acquisition because technological feasibility
had not been established for the related projects.

The following unaudited pro forma information presents our results of operations as if the acquisition of APV had taken
place on January 1, 2006. The unaudited pro forma financial information is not intended to represent or be indicative of our
consolidated results of operations that would have been reported had the acquisition been completed as of the dates

58




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(All dollar and share amounts Iin millions, except per share data)

presented, and should not be taken as representative of our future consolidated results of operations. The pro forma results
include estimates and assumptions which management believes are reasonable. However, these results do not include any
anticipated cost savings or expenses of the planned integration of APV. These pro forma results of operations have been
prepared for comparative purposes only and include certain adjustments to actual financial results for the relevant periods,
such as imputed financing costs, and estimated additional amortization and depreciation expense as a result of intangibles and
fixed assets acquired.

Year Ended
December 31,
2007 2006

RV OIS . . . o ot i e e e e e e e e e $5,698.2 $4,920.5
tncome from continuing operations . . . . .. .. . . . e 256.3 198.8
3 =3 T3 o o1 [ 250.2 143.8
Income from continuing operations:

BaSIC . . . st et e e e e e $ 467 $ 3M

1071 = [ $ 455 § 330
Net income:

BaSIC . . . i e e e e e e e e $ 456 $ 247

11 7= [ $ 444 § 239

In the Test and Measurement segment, we completed the acquisition of the European diagnostics division of Johnson
Controls (**JCD") in August 2007, for a purchase price of $40.3. The acquired business had revenues of approximately $93.0 in
the twelve months prior to its acquisition. In addition, we completed the acquisition of Matra-Werke GmbH (“Matra”} in October
2007, within our Test and Measurement segment for a purchase price of $36.6, including cash acquired of $2.9. The acquired
business had revenues of approximately $26.0 in the twelve months prior to acquisition.

The pro forma effects of the acquisitions of JCD and Matra were not material individually or in the aggregate to our results
of operations: or financial position. :
Acquisitions — 2006

In the Flow Technology segment, we completed the acquisition of Aktiebolaget Custos (Custos”) in December 2006, for a
purchase price of $184.0 (related to approximately 97% of the outstanding shares of Custos), which was net of cash acquired of
$4.4 and included debt assumed of $23.2. Gustos had revenues of approximately $107.0 in the twelve months prior to the date
of acquisition. The remaining shares of Custos were acquired in 2007 for $4.4.

The pro forma effects of the acquisition was not material to our results of operations or financial position.

Acquisitions — 2005

In the Test and Measurement segment, we completed the acquisition of CarTool GmbH (“CarToo!™) in November 2005, for
a cash purchase price of $41.4, net of cash acquired of $22.6. CarTool had revenues of approximately $77.0 in the twelve
months prior to the date of acquisition.

The pro forma effects of the acquisition was not material to our results of operations or financial position.

Discontinued Operations

We report discontinued operations in accordance with the guidance of SFAS No. 144, Accordingly, we report businesses
or asset groups as discontinued operations when, among other things, we commit to a plan to divest the business or asset
group, actively begin marketing the business or asset group, and when the sale of the business or asset group is deemed
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probable within the next 12 months. The foilowing businesses, which have been sold, met these requirements and therefore
have been reported as discontinued operations for the periods presented.

Quarter Actual Closing

Business Discontinued Date of Sale
Balcke-Duerr Austria GmbH ("BD Austria™ .. ... . L e Q4 2007 Q4 2007
Nema AirFin GmbH (“Nema™) . . . . . ... e e Q4 2007 Q4 2007
Contech . . .. e e e e Q3 2006 Q2 2007
Dock Products (FDOCK ) . o v e e e e e e e Q2 2006 Q4 2006
Dielectric Tower (TOWEr' ) . . . . oo e e e e e Q4 2005 Q1 2006
Security and protection business (“Vance™) . . ... ... e e Q3 2005 Q1 2006
Mueller Steam, Febco and Polyjet productlines . . .. ... ... .. ... . . Q3 2005 Q4 2005
Aftermarket automotive products business (“Carfel™) . .. .. .. .. ... .. ... . o .. Q1 2005 Q3 2005
Lab and life science business (“"Kendro™) ... .. ... .. .. . . .. Q4 2004 Q2 2005
Brookstone telecommunication services business . . ... ... . ... L o L Q1 2005 Q1 2005
Fire detection and building life-safety systems business ("EST") . .. .. .. .. ... .. ... ...... Q4 2004 Q1 2005
Specialty tool business . . . . .. .. e Q4 2004 Q1 2005
Compaction equipment business (“Bomag™) .. ......... ... ... . . i e Q3 2004 Q1 2005

BD Austria — Sold for cash proceeds of $11.6, exclusive of cash balances assumed by the buyer of $30.0, resulting in a
gain, net of taxes, of $17.2.

Nema — Sold for $6.8 in cash, net of cash balances assumed by the buyer of $0.4, for a loss, net of taxes, of $2.3.

Contech — Sold to Marathon Automotive Group, LLC. for net cash proceeds of $134.3. During 2007, we recorded a net
loss on the sale of $13.6, including $7.0 of expenses that were contingent upon the consummation of the sale, which included
$1.1 due to the modification of the vesting period of restricted stock units that had been issued to Contech employees (see
Note 15 for further information), and a $6.6 charge, recorded during the first quarter of 2007, to reduce the carrying value of the
net assets sold to the net proceeds received from the sale..In addition, in 2007, we settled a capital lease obligation for $5.3
relating to equipment that was transferred to the buyer of Contech. During 2006, we recorded a charge of $102.7 to “Gain (joss)
on disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax” in order to reduce the carrying value of the net assets to be sold to their
estimated net realizable vaiue.

Dock — Sold for $43.5in cash in 2006, resuiting in a net gain on the sale of $29.0. This gain related primarily to a tax benefit
of $33.2, partially offset by expenses that were contingent primarily upon the consummation of the sale, which included $0.3
due to the modification of the vesting period of restricted stock units that had been issued to Dock employees (see Note 15 for
further information).

Tower — Sold for $6.9 in cash, including additional cash proceeds of $4.4 that related to the settlement of the working
capital associated with the transaction. In 2005, we recorded a charge, net of taxes, of $11.3 in order to reduce the carrying
value of the net assets to be sold to their estimated net realized value. During 2008, we reduced the netloss by $0.9 primarily as
a result of the working capital settlement noted above.

Vance — Sold for $70.6 in cash. In 2005, we recorded a net charge of $26.8 in order to reduce the carrying vaiue of the net
assets to be sold to their estimated net realizable value. During 2006, we increased the net loss by $3.1, primarily for expenses
that were contingent upon the consummation of the sale, which included $1.6 due to the modification of the vesting period of
restricted stock units that had been issued to Vance employees {see Note 15 for further information).

Mueller Steam, Febco and Polyjet — Sold for $44.7 in cash. In 2005, we recorded a gain on the sale of $50.7, including a tax
benefit of $71.8.

Carfel — Sold for $12.0 in cash. In 2005, we recorded a loss on the sale, net of taxes and transaction fees, of $21.9.

Kendro — Sold to Thermo Electron Co.rporation for $828.8 in cash. In 2005, we recorded a gain on the sale, net of taxes
and transaction fees, of $326.5.

Brookstone telecommunication services business — Sold for $0.9 in cash. In 2005, we recorded a loss on the sale, net of
taxes and transaction fees, of $12.1.
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EST — Sold to General Electric Company (“GE") for $1,393.2 in cash, net of cash balances assumed by GE of $1.5. In
2005, we recorded a gain on the sale, net of taxes and transaction fees, of $662.5.

Specialty Too! Business — Sold for $24.2 in cash, with $21.8 received at the closing and $2.4 deposited in an escrow
account. In 2005, we recorded a loss on the sale, net of taxes, of $3.7. We received $1.7 of the escrow amount in 2006 and the
remaihing $0.7 in 2007. ‘

Bomag — Sold to Fayat SA {“Fayat”) for $447.3 in cash, net of cash balances assumed by Fayat of $2.7. In 2005, we
recorded a gain on the sale, net of taxes and transaction fees, of $137.4.

During the third quarter of 2007, we committed to a plan to divest our Air Filtration business within our Flow Technology
segment. We are actively pursuing the sale of this business and anticipate that the sale will be completed in the first half of 2008.
Accordingly, we have reported, for all periods presented, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of this
business as a discontinued operation in our consolidated financial statements. As a resuit of this planned divestiture, we
recorded a net charge of $11.0 during 2007 to “Gain (toss) on disposition of discontinued operations, net of tax” in order to
reduce the carrying value of the net assets to be sold to their estimated net realizable value. We believe that the carrying value of
the net assets approximates fair value at December 31, 2007; however, such value is subject to adjustment based upon the
future terms of a definitive agreement.

In addition to the gains/losses recorded in 2007 relating to the BD Austria, Nema, Contech and Air Filtration businesses
discussed above, we recognized a net loss in 2007 of $7.3 resulting from adjustments to gains/losses on sales of businesses
that were previously discontinued. Along with the gains/losses recorded in 2006 relating to the Dock, Tower, Vance and
Contech businesses discussed above, we recognized a net gain in 2006 of $20.1 resulting from adjustments to the gains/losses
on sales of businesses that were previously discontinued, with such adjustments related primarily to a reduction in income tax
liabilities. Lastly, in 2005, we recorded an additional loss of $1.6 associated with the 2004 dispaosition of our Axial fan business,
with the loss relating to the final purchase price settlement. In 2005, we also received $2.5 related to the final payment on the
promissory note associated with the sale of the Axial fan business.

The final purchase price for certain of the divested businesses is subject to adjustment based on working capital existing at
the respective closing dates. The working capital figures are subject to agreement with the buyers or if we cannot come to
agreement with the buyers, an arbitration process. Final agreement of the warking capital figures with the buyers for certain of
these transactions has yet to occur. In addition, changes in estimates associated with liabilities retained in connection with a
business divestiture (e.g., income taxes) may occur. It is possible that the purchase price and resulting gains/(losses) on these
and other previous divestitures may be materially adjusted in subsequent periods. Refer to Note 11 for the tax implications
associated with our dispositions. ) "

During the third quarter of 2007, we recognized an income tax benefit of $13.5 to “Gain {loss) on disposition of
discontinued operations, net of tax” relating to the reversal of certain deferred tax liabilities associated with businesses
previously disposed of and reported as discontinued operations, primarily in 2005. See Note 1 for further details.

For 2007, 2006 and 2005, income (loss} from discontinued operations and the related income taxes are shown below:

Year ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . . .. ... . ... .. .. e e e $(37.5) $(105.0) $1,512.8
Income tax (provision) benefit . . . .. ... . e e e 31.4 50.0 (457.5)
!ncome (loss) from discontinued operations, net . . . ... ... .. ... . . . e $ (68.1) $ (55.0) $1,055.3

For 2007, 2006 and 2005, results of operations from our businesses reported as discontinued operations were as follows:

Year ended December 31,

. 2007 2006 2005
REVEMUBS . . . ottt e e [ $205.8 $555.4 $1,057.0
Pretax income (I0SS) . . . ... ... . i e e e e (0.9) 4.3 (41.7)
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The major classes of assets and liabilities, excluding intercompany balances, of the businesses reported as discontinued
operations included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are shown below:

December 31, December 31,

2007 2006
Assets:
Cash and equivalents . . . .. . ... ... .. e $ — $ 03
Accounts receivable, net . .. . . L e e e e e e e 17.7 63.7
INVEN OIS, ML, . . o .o i i e et e e e e e e e e 12.6 30.7
Other curmrent assets . . . . . oot e e e e e 2.3 10.2
Net property, plant and equipment . . . ... ... .. . . .. .. 14.5 135.7
Gooawill and intangibles, net . . . . ... e e e e 8.8 56.6
Other 8S8Et8 . . . . . . e e 0.2 1.8
Assets of discontinued operations . . . .. . ... L L e $56.1 $299.0
Liabilities:
ACCOUNS PAYADIE . . . L e e e e e e $92 $ 57.7
Accrued expenses and other . .. ... ... oLl 15.6 50.6
ShoM-term et . . . o . e e e e e e 0.4 25
Deferred and other income taxes . . .. ... . ... . .. .. . .. e 59 : 184
Longtermdebtand other . ........ ... . ... . . . .. e — 7.7
Liabilities of discontinued operations. . . . ... ... ... . ... . . e $31.1 $136.9

(5) Business Segment Information

We are a global provider of flow technology, test and measurement products and services, thermal equipment and
services and industrial products and services with operations in over 35 countries. We offer a diverse collection of products,
which include, but are not limited to, valves, fluid handling equipment, metering and mixing solutions, specialty service tools,
diagnostic systems, service equipment and technical information services, cooling, heating and ventilation products, power
transformers, and TV and radio broadcast antennas. Our products are used by a broad array of customers in various industries,
including, power generation, chemical processing, pharmaceuticals, infrastructure, mineral processing, petrochemical,
automotive service, telecommunications and transportation.

We have aggregated our operating segments into four reportable segments in accordance with the criteria defined in SFAS
No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”. The segments are Flow Technology, Test
and Measurement, Thermal Equipment and Services and tndustrial Products and Services. The factors considered in
determining our aggregated segments are the economic similarity of the businesses, the nature of products sold or services
provided, production processes, types of customers and distribution methods. In determining our segments, we apply the
threshold criteria of SFAS No. 131 to operating income or loss of each segment before considering impairment and special
charges, pensions and postretirement expenses, stock-based compensation and other indirect corporate expense. This is
consistent with the way our chief operating decision maker evaluates the results of each segment.

Revenues by business segment represent sales to unaffiliated customers, and no one customer or group of customers
that, to our knowledge are under commaen control accounted for mere than 10% of our consolidated revenues for all periods
presented. Intercompany revenues among segments are not significant. ldentifiable assets by business segment are those
used in our operations in each segment. General corporate assets are principally cash, pension assets, deferred tax assets,
certain prepaid expenses, fixed assets and our 44.5% interest in the EGS Electrical Group, LLC and Subsidiaries (“EGS”) joint
venture. See Note 9 for financia! information relating to EGS.

Flow Technology

Our Flow Technology segment designs, manufactures and markets solutions and products that are used to process or
transport fluids, as well as solutions and products that are used in heat transfer applications. Our Flow Technology businesses

62




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31,2007
{All dollar and share amounts in millions, except per share data)

focus on innovative, highly engineered new product introductions and expansion from products to systems and services in
order to create total customer solutions,

Test and Measurement

Cur Test and Measurement segment engineers and manufactures branded, technologically advanced test and
measurement products used across the transportation, defense, telecommunications and utility Industries. Our technology
supports the introduction of new systems, expanded services, and sophisticated testing and validation. Products for the
segment include specialty autometive diagnostic service tools, fare-collection systems, portable cable and pipe locators, and
vibration testing equipment. The segment continues to focus on initiatives such as lean manufacturing, expanding its
commercialization of the European and Chinese markets and leveraging its outsourcing model.

Thermal Equipment and Services

Our Thermal Equipment and Services segment engineers, manufactures and services cooling, heating and ventilation
products for markets throughout the world. Products for the segment include dry, wet and hybrid cocling systems for the power
generation, refrigeration, HVAC and industrial markets, as well as hydronic and heating and ventilation products for the
commercial and residential markets. This segment also provides thermal components for power and steam generation plants
and engineered services to maintain, refurbish, upgrade and modernize power stations. The segment continues to focus on
expanding its global reach, including expanding its dry cooling, heating and manufacturing capacity in China, as well as
increasing thermal components and service offerings, particularly in China, Europe and South Africa.

Industrial Products and Services

Our Industrial Products and Services segment comprises businesses that design, manufacture and market power
systemns, industrial tools and hydraulic units, filtters primarily for the automatic transmissions, precision machine components
for the aerospace industry and television and radio broadcast antenna systems. This segment continues to focus on lean
initiatives and global expansion opportunities.

Corporate Expense

Corporate expense generally relates to the cost of our Charlotte, NC corporate headquarters, our Horsham, PA informaticn
technology data center and our Asia-Pacific center in Shanghai, China.
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Financial data for our business segments, including the results of acquisitions from the dates of tha respective acquisitions,

are as follows:

2007 2006 2005
Revenues:
Flow ToChnology . . - . o oo e e e e e $1,1213 § 8657 § 7758
Test and Measurement . .. ... ...... e e e e e e e e e e 1,174.1 1,137.5 1,059.6
Therma! Equipment and Services . . . .. .. ... .. .. ... ... ... e 15605 13277 1,1784
Industrial Products and Services . ... ... ... i e e e . 966.4 836.7 716.0
o T $4,8223 $4,1676 $3,729.8
_ Segment income:
Flow TEChNOIOgY . . . .ot e e e e e e e e e e $ 1772 $ 1332 § 1022
Test and Measurement . . . . .. .. . e e e e e 126.4 169.1 129.9
Thermal Equipment and Services . .. .. ... ... .. e 162.7 111.4 117.5
Industrial Products and Servicess . . . ... .. ... e 156.1 99.0 67.5
Total segment INCOME . . . ... o i e €22.4 502.7 4171
COrporate BXpeASE . . ., . . . ottt e e e e e 100.3 96.1 87.6
Pension and postretirement expense . ................... e e 43.5 44.2 28.7
Stock-based compensation expense . . . . . . ... L. e 41.4 376 28.3
Special charges, net . .. .. ... . .. . e e 7.6 3.9 8.6
Impairment of intangible assets . . . . . ... .. 4.0 — —
Consolidated operating income . . . ... ... ... .. ... L $ 4256 $ 3209 § 2639
Capital expenditures:
Flow Technology - . . ... ..o e $ 177 & 97 § 34
Testand Measurement . . . .. .. ... i e e e e e 11.9 97 7.5
Thermal Equipment and Services . . . . ... ... e 233 14.0 16.8
Industrial Products and Services . . . ... ... . i i e e e e 244 211 11.8
GENBral COMPOIAIE . . . . .ttt e e e e 13.6 1.2 1.8
Ot .. e e $ %08 $ 557 $§ 413
Depreciation and amortization:
Flow Technology . . . . . oot e e e e e $ 182 $ t23 $ 135
Test and Measurement . . . . . . L e e 20.2 20.4 17.4
Thermal Equipment and Services . . . . ... ... i it e e 21.7 226 19.4
Industrial Products and Semvices . . . ... .. i e e s 14.2 13.4 11.5
General COMPOraIE . . . . i it e e e e e e e e 4.7 34 a1
o] $ 790 § 721 § 659
Identifiable assets:
Flow TeChnOlOgy . . . oo ot e e e e $2,068.4 §$ 9899 $ 8087
Testand Measurement . . . . . . .. . . e e e e 1,346.5 1,183.8 1,151.8
Thermal Equipment and Services . . . . . . ... .. . 1,761.5 1,728.8 1,578.8
Industrial Products and Services . . ... .. . . e 697.4 703.5 665.7
General COTPOTate . . . . . .. it e 307.5 532.1 536.1
Discontinued Operations . . . . . .. . e 56.1 299.0 565.3
Total . e e e e e e $6,237.4 $54371 $5,306.4
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2007 2006 2005
Revenues by Groups of Products: .
Flow Technology . . . . .o it e i e e e e e e e e $11213 § 8657 % 7758
Tast and Measurement . . . . . . . e e e e 1,174.1 1,137.5 1,059.6
Thermal Equipmentand Services . . .. .. ... ... . ... i, e 1,560.5 1,327.7 1,178.4 .
Industrial Products and Services:
Power transformers and services . .. ... ... .. . .. e e 4211 290.6 2359
Industrial tools and equipment . . . .. .. ... 149.0 142.4 1233
ABIOSPECE COMPONMEMES . L . . . it e e e e 110.2 102.2 82.4
Automatic fransmission . . ... ... .. e 101.7 95.8 925
Broadcast antenna systems . . . . . .. L e e e e 93.3 116.7 1121
Laboratory equipment . . . .. ... L e e e e e 91.1 89.0 69.8
Total Industrial Products and Semvices . . . . . .. . it e e e g66.4 = 836.7 716.0
TOtal . . e e e e $4,8223 34,1676 $3,729.8
Geographic Areas: 2007 2006 2005
Revenues:(" '
United States . . .. . . $2,806.3 §$2,604.3 $2,467.1
Germany . ......... ... e 710.3 580.6 450.6
€ 1 1T 285.8 226.4 134.2.
United Kingdom . . . ... e e 2741 233.1 208.9
L0 (3T 745.8 523.2 469.0

$4,822.3 $4,1676 $3,7298

Tangible Long Lived Assets:

United States . . . .. e e e $ 5892 § 5556 % 469.3
Other . . e e 3123 156.8 212.0
Long lived assets of continuing operations . . . . . .. .. ... .. e 901.5 712.4 681.3
Long lived assets of discontinued operations . . . ... ... . .. o o e 14.7 137.5 149.3
Total tangible long lived assets . . . . ... ... . . e e e $ 9162 § 8499 § 8306

' Revenues are included in the above geographic areas based on the country that recorded the customer revenue.

{6} Special Charges, Net

As part of our business strategy, we right-size and consolidate operations to drive results, Additionally, from time to time,
we alter our business model to better serve customer demand, fix or discontinue lower-margin product lines and rationalize and
consolidate manufacturing capacity. Our restructuring and integration decisions are based, in part, on discounted cash flows to
achieve our goals of increased outsourcing, reduced structural footprint and increased profitability in any economic
environment. As a result of our strategic review process, we recorded net special charges of $7.6in 2007, $3.9 in 2006 and $8.6
in 2005. These net special charges were primarily for restructuring initiatives to consolidate manufacturing and sales facilities,
reduce workforce and rationalize certain product lines. The purpose of our restructuring initiatives is to improve future
profitability, streamline operations, reduce costs and improve efficiency. We estimate that we will achieve operating cost
reductions in 2008 and heyond through reduced employee and manufacturing costs and other facility overhead.
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The components of the charges have been computed based on actual cash payouts, our estimate of the realizable value of
the affected tangible and intangible assets and estimated exit costs, including severance and other employee benefits based
on existing severance policies and local laws.

Impairments of long-lived assets, including amortizable intangibles, which represent non-cash asset write-downs, are
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 144. Typically, these non-cash asset write-downs arise from business restructuring
decisions that lead to the disposition of assets no fonger required in the restructured business. For these situations, we
recognize a loss when the carrying amount of an asset exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from
the use and eventual disposition of the asset. Realization values for assets subject to impairment testing are determined
primarily by management, taking into consideration various factors including third-party appraisals, quoted market prices or
previous experience. If an asset remains in service at the decision date, the asset is written down to its fair value and the
resulting net book value is depreciated over its remaining economic useful life. When we commit to a plan to sell an asset,
including the initiation of-a plan to locate a buyer, and it is probable that the asset will be sold within one year based on its
current condition and sales price, depreciation of the asset is discontinued and the asset is classified as an asset held for sale,
The asset is written down to its fair value less any selling costs.

Exit costs, including, among other things, severance, other employee benefit costs and operating lease obligations cnidle
facilities, are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities.” As such, liabilities for exit costs are measured initially at their fair value and recorded when incurred.

Special charges for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are described in more detail below and in the
applicable sections that follow.

2007 2006 2005

Employee termination COstS . . . . . . . . L $50 813 $59
Facility consolidation COsts . .. ... . e e 0.3 1.1 7.7
Other Cash oSS . . . . . i i e e e e e e e e e e 1.5 0.4 1.4
Non-cash asset WHte-QOWnS . . . . . . . L i e e e e e e e 0.8 1.3 1.5
Gainonsale of assets. . . . . . L e e . — (02 (7.9

11 $76 $39 $86

2007 Charges:

Employee Facility Non-Cash Total

Termination Consolidation Other Cash Asset Special

Costs Costs Costs Write-downs Charges

Flow Technology . ................. ... $— $— ${0.1) $— $(0.1)
Test and Measurement . . .. ... ... ... ... . ... ... 45 0.2 0.3 — 5.0
Thermal Equipment and Services . . . ... ........... — — 1.0 0.2 1.2
Industrial Products and Services. . . ... e . - 03 0.1 — 0.5 09
Corporate . ........ ... it rueennnn e ' 0.2 — 03 0.1 0.6
Total. . .. $5.0 0.3 $15 $0.8 $76

Flow Technology éegment — The credit for 2007 related to a reduction in liabilities that are no longer necessary as the
associated restructuring activities have been completed.

Test and Measurement segment — Charges for 2007 related primarily to workforce reductions associated with various
consclidation and reorganization efforts in Europe and the United States, including the planned closure of a manufacturing
facility in Owatonna, MN. These efforts resulted in the termination of 162 employees.

Thermal Equipment and Services segment — Charges for 2007 related primarily to lease holding costs for an idle facility in
Beigium {$0.8) and an asset impairment charge associated with the planned divestiture of an idle facility in Benton Harbor, MI.
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Industrial Products and Services segment — Charges for 2007 related primarily to an asset impairment charge associated
with the planned divestiture of an idle facility in Watertown, WI. .

Corporate — Charges for 2007 relate primarily to charges for a legal entity reduction initiative.

We do not expect future costs associated with the above initiatives to be significant. At December 31, 2007 and 2006, a total
of $4.5 and $2.6 of restructuring liabilities, respectively, remained on the consolidated balance sheets. With the exception of
certain multi-year operating lease obligations and other contractual obligations, which were not material to our consclidated
financial staterments, we anticipate that the liabilities related to restructuring actions will be paid within one year from the period
in which the action was initiated.

2006 Charges:

Employee Facility Non-Cash Galn on Total

Termination Consolidation Other Cash Asset Sale of Special

Cosis Costs Costs Write-downs  Assets  Charges
Flow Technology . . . .. .................. $1.1 509 $0.2 $— $ — $22
Testand Measurement . . . ................ 05 0.6 — 0.2 1.3
Thermal Eqguipment and Services . .......... (0.3) (0.4} — — (0.2} (0.9
Corporate . . ......... ..., — — 0 1.1 —_ 1.3
Total. . .. e $1 1.1 $0.4 $1.3 $(0.2) $39

Flow Technology segment — Charges for 2006 related primarily to costs associated with exit activities at a facility in
St. Paul, NC ($1.3), employee termination costs relating to a facility in Germany ($0.7), costs relating to a previously announced
reorganization of a Netherlands’ operation and exit activities at two locations in the United Kingdom. The German initiative
resulted in the termination of 4 employees.

Test and Measurement segment — Charges for 2006 related primarily to employee termination and lease holding costs
associated with the closure of manufacturing facilities in Miramar, FL and Novi, MI. These closure activities resulted in the
termination of 25 employees.

Thermal Equipment and Services segment — In 2006 the segment incurred charges of $0.3 relating to a previously
announced facility consolidation effort, These charges were more than offset by credits of $1.2 associated with a reduction of
liabilities that are no longer necessary as the related restructuring activities have been completed.

Corporate — Charges for 2006 relate primarily to an impairment charge for the planned divestiture of an idle facility.

2005 Charges:

Employee °  Facility Non-Cash Galn on Total

Termination Consolidation Other Cash Asset Sale of  Special

Costs Costs Costs Write-downs  Assets Charges
FlowTechnology . . .. ................... $2.5 $1.6 $04 $05 $§ — $5.0
Testand Measurement . . .. ............... 1.1 24 0.1 0.9 — 4.5
Thermal Equipment and Services .. ......... 1.9 24 1.0 (1.0} — 4.3
Industrial Products and Services ... ......... 0.3 0.6 — —_— (7.9) (7.0
Corporate .. ........ ... ... ... ... .... 0.1 0.7 (0.1) 1.1 — 1.8
Total . . . ... 5.9 $7.7 $14 $15 $(7.9) $86

Flow Technofogy segment — Charges for 2005 related primarily to facility closures and manufacturing facility
consolidations within our Dehydration business and, to a lesser extent, facility consolidation costs for restructuring actions
initiated in 2004, We recognized $4.0 of special charges related primarily to employee and lease termination costs associated
with the reorganization of a Netherlands operation and the closure of two facilities in the United Kingdom. The Netherlands and
United Kingdom restructuring actions resulted in the termination of 59 employees.
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Test and Measurement segment — Charges for 2005 related primarily to employee termination and lease holding costs
associated with the closures of a warehouse facility in Miramar, FL and a manufacturing facility in the United Kingdom that
totaled $2.5 within our Service Solutions business and an asset impairment charge of $1.0 relating to the divesture of a facility in
the United Kingdom. The Miramar, FL and United Kingdom facility closures resulted in the termination of 99 employees.

Thermal Equipment and Services segment — Charges for 2005 related primarily to workforce reductions associated with
facility consolidations and closures. Within our boiler products business, we recorded employee benefit costs associated with
our previously announced closure of manufacturing activities at our Benton Harbor, Mi facility and relocation of certain
manufacturing operations from our Michigan City, IN facility to our Eden, NC facility. These restructuring actions resulted in $1.2
of employee termination, facility consolidation and other costs during 2005. Within our cooling businesses, we recognized $2.4
of special charges related primarily to employee termination costs assaciated with business integration efforts in Germany that
were initiated in the fourth quarter of 2004 and employee termination, lease holding and asset impairment charges associated
with the closure of a facility in the United Kingdom. The United Kingdom restructuring action resulted in the termination of 83
employees.

Industrial Products and Services segment — The net credit for 2005 related to a gain of $7.9 on the sale of land in Milpitas,
CA, resulting in the finalization of a previously initiated restructuring action. This was partially offset by employee and lease
termination costs associated with the closure of facilities in Tempe, AZ and Watertown, WI. These restructuring actions resulted
in the termination of 14 employees.

Corporate — Charges for 2005 related primarily to the lease holding costs for two administrative facilities that were closed
during the first quarter of 2005 and an asset impairment charge of $1.1 relating to the planned divestiture of a facility in
Newtown, CT.

(7) Inventories

December 31,

. 2007 2006
FiniShed gOOUS . . . . . . o e e e e $240.0 $200.3
R L L N oo =T 151.2 107.6
Raw materials and purchased pars . . . . .. .. . i e e 3438 2147
Total FIFO GOSt . . . . o o e e e e e e 735.0 522.6
Excess of FIFO cost over LIFQ inventory value .. ... ... ... . . o {31.2) (26.4)
$703.8 $496.2

Inventories include material, labor and factory overhead costs and are reduced, when necessary, to estimated realizable
values. Certain domestic inventories are valued using the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) method. These inventories were
approximately 37% and 47% of total inventory at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2008, respectively. Other inventories
are valued using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO") method. Progress payments, which are netted against work in process at
year-end, were $3.2 in 2007 and $5.4 in 2006,
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{8) Goodwill And Other Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by segment, are as follows:

Flow Technology
Test and Measurement ... ... ..............
Thermal Equipment and Services . ... .........
Industrial Products and Services

Flow Technology
Test and Measurement . .. .................
Thermal Equipment and Services . .. .. ........
Industrial Products and Services

Goodwill Foreign
resulting from Currency
December 31, business Translation  December 31,
2006 combinations  Impairments * and other!" 2007
$ 4447 $190.4 $ — $33.2 $ 6683
384.1 36.6 {10.5) 410.2
595.3 - -_ 17.3 612.6
3028 —_ - (14.9) 288.0
$1,727.0 $227.0 $ — $ 2541 $1,97941
Goodwill Forelgn
resulting from Currency
December 31, business Translation December 31,
2005 combinations Impairments  and other!" 2006
$ 3773 $ 68.7 $ — $ (1.3 $ 4447
391.0 — —_ (6.9) 3841
583.1 9.7 — 25 5985.3
306.5 — —_ (3.6} 302.9
$1,657.9 $ 78.4 $ — $ {9.3) $1,727.0

M Includes adjustments resulting from acquisitions completed not more than one year prior to the date of adjustment and
adjustments related to reductions in income tax liabilities. Changes from foreign currency translation were $35.1 and $39.4 during
the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, respsctively.

Identifiable intangible assets comprise the following:

Intangible assets with determinable lives:
Patents . .. ......... .. ... ... ... .....
Technology
Customer relationships
Other

December 31, 2007 December

31, 2006

Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrylng Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Value Amortization Value Value Amortization Value
.. $ 303 $(20.6) $ 97 $ 359 ${23.6} $ 123
. 75.5 {8.5) 67.0 24.7 (5.9) 8.8
. 219.2 (18.9) 200.3 67.5 (9.6) 57.9
. 31.0 (10.6) 20.4 85.5 (9.8} 75.7
356.0 (58.6) 297.4 213.6 (48.9) 164.7
. 430.0 — 430.000 3154 —_ 315.4
.. $786.0 $(58.6) $727.4 $529.0 $(48.9) $480.1

M Balance reflects an impairment charge of $4.0 recorded during 2007 associated with a business within our Thermal Equipment

and Services segment.

Amortization expense was $18.4, $14.1 and $12.8 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Estimated amortization expeanse related to these intangible assets is $25.1 in 2008, $23.0in 2009, $22.2in 2010, $21.2 in 2011

and $21.0 in 2012.

At December 31, 2007, intangible assets with determinable lives were associated primarily with the Flow Technology
($172.5), Test and Measurement ($87.8) and Thermal Equipment and Services ($31.5) segments. Trademarks with indefinite
lives were associated with the following segments: $221.4 in the Flow Technology segment, $71.1 in the Test and Measurement
segment, $122.5 in the Thermal Equipment and Services segment and $15.0 in the Industrial Products and Services segment.
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Consistent with the requirements of SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, the fair values of our reporting
units generally are based on discounted cash flow projections that we believe to be reasonable under current and forecasted
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about carrying values of the reported net assets of our
reporting units. Other considerations are also incorporated, including comparable industry price multiples. Many of our
reporting units closely follow changes in the industries and end-markets that they serve. Accordingly, we consider estimates
and judgments that affect the future cash flow projections, including principal methods of competition such as volume, price,
service, product performance and technical innovations and estimates associated with cost improvement initiatives, capacity
utilization and assumptions for inflation and foreign currency changes. Any significant change in market conditions and
estimates or judgments used to determine expected future cash flows that indicates a reduction in carrying value may give rise
to impairment in the period that the change becomes known. Our annual goodwill impairment testing during the fourth quarter
of 2007 identified three reporting units (Filtran, our automatic transmission business; LDS, our vibration testing equipment
business; and Weil-McLain, our boiler products business) whose fair value exceeded their carrying value by less than 10%. We
will continue to monitor impairment indicators across our reporting units, including, but not limited to, Filtran, LDS, and
Weil-McLain. The aggregate goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset balance for these three reporting units was $242.1 at
December 31, 2007.

In connection with our annual impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangibles under SFAS 142, we determined that other
intangible assets held by a business within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment were impaired. Accordingly, we
recorded an impairment charge of $4.0 in the fourth quarter of 2007 related to this matter.

(9) Investment In Joint Venture

We have one significant joint venture, EGS, with Emerson Electric Co., in which we hold a 44.5% interest. Emerson
Electric Co. controls and operates the joint venture. EGS operates primarily in the United States, Canada and France and is
engaged in the manufacture of electrical fittings, hazardous location lighting and power conditioning products. We account for
our investment under the equity method of accounting, on a three-month lag basis, and we typically receive our share of the
joint venture’s earnings in cash dividends paid quarterly. EGS’s results of operations and certain other information for its fiscal
years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, were as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Nt SalEE . . .. o i e e e e e e e $532.0 $4835 $4297
Gross profit. . .. ..o e e e . 2254 2146 1853
A= ST oo T 3 - P B4.2 88.6 58.4
Capital expendifures . . . .. . . . .. e 115 7.5 5.0
Depreciation and amortization . .. ... ... . . ... e B.2 8.5 88
SPX's equity earnings in EGS . .. .. .. L e e e 393 40.2 224

Condensed balance sheet information of EGS as of September 30, 2007 and 2006 was as follows:

2007 2006
CUITENE ASSBES v v v ot e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $165.3 $156.9
NON-CUIT BNt BSOS . . . . . o i e e it et et s e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 292.0 286.1
Current abilES . . . . . o e e e e e e e e e 76.5 63.5
Non-current Habiliies . . . . . . o o e e e e e e e e e e e e 14.4 13.3

The carrying vajue of our investment in EGS was $77.6 and $78.3 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and is
recorded in other assets in our consolidated balance sheets. We contributed non-monetary assets to EGS upon its formation.
We recorded these contributed assets at their historical cost in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (*APB”) APB
No. 29, “Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions,” while EGS recorded these assets at their fair value in accordance with
APB No. 16 “Business Combinations.” As a result of this basis difference in the goodwill recorded by EGS upon formation, our
investment in EGS is less than our proportionate share of EGS’ net assets, with such difference totaling $85.4 at December 31,
2007.
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{10) Employee Benefit Plans

Overview — We have defined benefit pension plans that cover a significant portion of our salaried and hourly paid
employees, including certain employees in foreign countries. Beginning in 2001, we discontinued providing these pension
benefits generally to newly hired employees. In addition, we no longer provide service credits to certain active participants. Of
the U.S. employees covered by a defined benefit pension and actively accruing a benefit, most are covered by an account
balance plan or are part of a collectively bargained pian.

We have domestic postretirement plans that provide health and life insurance benefits for certain retirees and their
dependents. Beginning in 2001, we discontinued providing these postretirement benefits generally to newly hired employees.
Some of these plans require retiree contributions at varying rates. Not all retirees are eligible to receive these benefits, with
eligibility governed by the plan(s) in effect at a particular location. '

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

Plan assets — QOur investment strategy is based on the long-term growth of principal while mitigating overall risk to ensure
that funds are available to pay benefit obligations. The domestic plan assets are invested in a broad range of investment
classes, including domestic and international equities, fixed income securities and other investments. We engage various
investment managers who are regularly evaluated on leng-term performance, adherence to investment guidelines and ability to
manage risk commensurate with the investment style and objective for which they were hired. Allowable investments under the
plan agreements include equity securities, fixed income securities, mutual funds, venture capital funds, real estate and cash
and equivalents. In addition, investments in futures and option contracts, commodities and other derivatives are allowed in
commingled fund allocations to professional investment managers. Investments prohibited under the plan agreements include
private placements and stock of direct competitors. No shares of our common stock were held by our defined benefit pension
plans as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Actual asset allocation percentages of each major category of our domestic and foreign pension plan assets as of
December 31, 2007 and 20086, along with the targeted asset investment allocation percentages, each of which is based on the
midpoint of an allocation range, are as follows:

Domestic Pension Plans

Actual Mid-point of
Allocations  Allocation Range
2007 2006 2007
EqQuity SBCUNEIES . . . .. . . e e 54% T70% 60%
Debt secUNties . . . . . . o e e e e 26% 17% 25%
Alternative investments(D . . L e 16% —% 15%
Other® | e e e e e e e 4% 13% —%
Total . . . e e e 100% 100% 100%

M Alternative investments are comprised of commingled global fund allocations, which include long-term equity investments, fixed
income investments, futures and option contracts and commodities.

@  The increased allocation to “Other” in 2006 was driven by an effort to re-allocate our asset mix. This effort was in process at
December 31, 2006 and was largely completed in 2007. Assets included in this category at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were
comprised primarily of cash and equivalents.
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Foreign Pension Plans

Mid-point of
Actual Allocation
Allocations Range
2007 2006 2007
Equity securities ... ............ e e e e 49% 47% 51%
Dbt SBCUNIES . . . . . e e e e e e e e e i 46% 48% 47%
) 1 T _5% 5% 2%

TOtAl . . e 100% 100%  100%

Employer Contributions — We currently fund U.S. pension plans in amounts equal to the minimum funding requirements of
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, plus additional amounts that may be approved from time to time. During
2007, we made contributions of approximately $0.6 to our qualified domestic pension plans and direct benefit payments of $4.7
to our non-qualified domestic pension plans. In 2008, we expect to make contributions of $0.6 to our qualified domestic
pension plans and direct benefit payments of $36.1 to our non-qualified domestic pension plans. Included in the 2008 direct
benefit payments to our non-qualified domestic pension plans is a required pension contribution on behaif of our former
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of approximately $31.0.

Many of our foreign plan obligations are unfunded in accordance with local Yaws. These plans have no assets and instead
are funded by us on a pay as you go basis in the form of direct benefit payments. in our foreign plans that are funded, we made
contributions of $16.8 in 2007 in our foreign plans that are unfunded, we made direct benefit payments of $1.4 in 2007. We
expect to make $14.8 of contributions and $1.6 of direct benefit payments in 2008 to our foreign pension plans.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments — Following is a summary, as of December 31, 2007, of the estimated future benefit
payments for our pension plans in each of the next five fiscal years and in the aggregate for five fiscal years thereafter. Benefit
payments are paid from plan assets or directly by us for our non-funded plans. The expected benefit payments are estimated
based on the same assumptions used at December 31, 2007 to measure our obligations and include benefits attributable to
estimated future employee service.

Estimated benefit payments:

{Domestic and foreign pension plans)
Domestic  Forelgn

Pension Pension
Benelits Benefits

2008 . .. e e e $107.9 $11.7
2 76.8 126
2 77.0 13.0
2012 e e e e e 79.2 13.4
Subsequent five years . . . .. ... 419.9 749

Obligations and Funded Status — The funded status of our pension plans is dependent upon many factors, including
returns on invested assets and the level of market interest rates. The combined funded status of our pension plans as of
December 31, 2007 has improved since December 31, 20086, primarily as a result of an increase in the discount rate applied to
the projected benefit obligation of our plans. Qur non-funded pension plans account for $122.0 of the current underfunded
status, as these plans are not required to be funded. The underfunded status of our primary domestic pension plans did not
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require us to make cash contributions in 2007. The following tables show the domestic and foreign pension plans’ funded
status and amounts recognized in our consolidated balance sheets:

Domestic Pension Forelgn Pension
Plans lans
2007 2006 2007 2006
Change in projected benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation — beginning ofyear . ... ................. $1,1229 $1,158.,5 $272.2 $248.6
SeIVICE COSE . . . . . e e e 8.3 9.3 29 22
Interest cost . . . ... ... .. e 64.0 646 13.7 12.5
Employee contributions . . . . ... ... L — — 0.2 0.2
Actuarial gains . . ... .. e e {54.3) {25.8) (13.4) {(9.9)
Curtailment/ settflement gain . . . .. ... ... ... . .. .. .. . — (1.7) — {2.8)
Benefits paid . ... ... . . .. .. (84.2) (79.9) (10.0) {(8.6)
Divestiture . . .. . e e (17.0) — —_ -
Foreign exchange andother. . . . ... ... ... ... ... . . — 2.1) 12.5 30.0
Projected benefit obligation —end ofyear. . . .. ........ ... .. .. ... ... $1,039.7 $1,1229 $278.1 $272.2
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets — beginningofyear ............. e $ 9880 $ 940.8 $206.0 $169.0
Returnon plan assets . . .. ... .. ... . i e 52.7 122.6 10.1 12.0
Benefitls paid .......... ... . .. e (84.2) (75.4) (8.6) (7.6)
Contributions (employer and employee) . ............. .. .. ... ... .... 53 — 17.1 13.9
Settlement gain. . . ... ... e e — — — (2.7)
DIVESHUrES . . . . o e e e e e (14.5) — — —-—
Foreign exchange and other. . . . ... ... .. ... .. ... ... . i — —_ 83 21.4
Fair value of plan assets —endofyear. . .. .............. .. ........ $ 9473 § 988.0 $2329 $206.0
Funded status at year-end. . . . .. .. ... . . .. . . . . e $ (92.4) $ (1349) $(45.2) $(66.2)
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:
OHNEr BSSBES . . . . . v e e e e $ 88 % — %5 — 3 —
ACCruUEd BXPEMSES . . . . i it ittt e e e e {35.0) (4.6) {1.5) (1.3)
Other long-term liabilities . . .. .. ... .. ... .. . ... .. . L PR (66.2) (130.3) (43.7) (64.9)
Net amount recognized . . . . . . ... ... .. % (924) 35 (134.9) $(45.2) $(66.2)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
(pre-tax) consist of:
Net actuarial 108S . . .. ... ... ... .. e $ 3209 $ 3874 $ 402 & 469
Net prior service credits .. ......... .. . . i (4.3} (5.1) (1.0) (1.1)
Total accumulated comprehensive loss (pre-tax) . ........ ... ... ... ... $ 3166 § 3823 $ 392 §$ 458

The following is information about our pension plans that have accumulated benefit obligations in excess of the fair value of
their plan assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

Domestic Penslon Foreign Penslon

Plans lans
2007 2008 2007 2006
Projected benefit obligation .. ......... .. ... . . .. . . $288.2 $321.0 $276.2 $271.4
Accumulated benefit obligation . . ......... ... .. . i 2871 3188 2719 266.8
Fairvalueof plan assets . ... ..... ... . . i 186.9 206.4 2315 2052

The accumulated benefit obligation for all domestic and foreign plans was $1,021.8 and $273.2, respectively, at
December 31, 2007 and $1,098.0 and $267.6, respectively, at December 31, 2006. ‘

The amounts above do not include accrued pension liabilities of $8.0 that we assurmed as a result of the acquisition of APV
on December 31, 2007,
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Components of Net Periodic Pension Benefit Expense — Net periodic pension benefit expense for our domestic and
foreign pension plans included the following components:

Domestic Pension Plans
Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

BEIVICE COSt . . . . L e e e e e $ 83 $ 93 § 98
Interest CoSt. . . . .. e e 64.0 64.6 65.4
Expected return on plan assets . .. ... ... . L (77.4) (80.2) (86.0)
Amortization of unrecognized 10S8eS . . . . . . .. .. L e e 33.1 36.1 255
Amortization of unrecagnized prior service cost . . . ... . L e {0.7) (0.4) (0.3)
Curtailment/ Seftlement {gainj loss . . ... ... .. . . . . . e 3.2 0.2 (1.7)
Total net periodic pension benefit expense . ... .. ... .. . . . e 30.8 29.6 12.7
Less: Net periodic pension benefit (expense) income of discontinued operations . . . . ....... (3.5) {(0.8) 0.4
Net periodic pension benefit expense of continuing operations . .. .................... $273 $288 §131

Foreign Pension Plans

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
BBIVICE COSt . . . . . e e e e $ 29 § 22 %23
IntErest COSt. . . .. e e e e 13.7 12.5 12.4
Expectedreturn on plan assets . ... ... ... L e e {(16.1) (14.6) (11.5)
Amortization of unrecognized 0SSES . . . . . .. ... L e 1.8 25 2.0
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost . . . . .. ... L L e 0.1) (0.1}  (0.1)
Curtailment/Settlement l0SS . . . ... .ot it e e e — 1.0 34
Total net periodic pension benefitexpense . ... .. .. ... . . 2.2 3.5 8.5
Less: Net periodic pension benefit expense of discontinued operations ... .............. — (1.7) {5.3)
Net periodic pension benefit expense of continuing operations . . . .. ........ ... ....... $ 22 %18 §$32

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) in 2007 were as
follows:

Domestic plans Foreign plans

Current year actuarial Gain . . ... ... . ... .. e e $ (33.4) $ (7.5
Amortization of actuarial 1085 . . . . . . .. ... (33.1) (1.8)
Current year PrOr SeIVICE COSL. . . . o v it e 05 —
Amortization of prior service cost . . . .. ... L L L e 0.7 0.1
Other . . e e e e (0.6) —
$ (65.9) $ (9.2)

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income {logs) into net periodic
benefit expense in 2008 are as follows:

Domestic plans Foreign plans

Net actuanial 1SS . . . . . i e e e e e $23.2 $1.3
Net prior service credit . . .. .. . e e e e e e {0.7) {0.1)
$22.5 $1.2

74




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Alt dollar and share amounts in millions, except per share data)

Assumptions — Actuarial assumptions used in accounting for our domestic and foreign pension plans are as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006 2008

Domestic Pension Plans
Weighted average actuarial assumptions used in determining net periodic pension expense:

DISCOUNt FAIE . . . . . o e e e 6.00% 5.75% 6.00%

Rate of increase in compensation levels . . . . . .. ... .. e e e 4.25% 4.25% 4.25%

Expected longtermrate of returnon assets ... .. .. ... ... L 8.50% 8.50% B8.50%
Weighted average actuarial assumptions used in determining year-end benefit obligations:

Discount rate. . . .. .. . e e e 6.59% 6.00% 5.75%

Rate of increase in compensation levels . . .. ... .. .. .. .. .. e 4.25% 4.25% 4.25%

Foreign Pension Plans
Weighted average actuarial assumptions used in determining net periodic pension expense:

DS COUNE FALE . . . . . . i e e 4.94% 4.74% 5.56%

Rate of increase in compensation levels . . . . .. . ... .. . e e 3.86% 3.69% 3.77%

Expected longtermrate of returnon assets . . ... ... .. .. . L o o oo 7.26% 6.84% 8.00%
Weighted average actuarial assumptions used in determining year-end benefit obligations:

DiSCOUNt FatE . . . . . . e e e 5.72% 4.94% 4.74%

Rate of increase in compensationlevels . . . . ... ... ... 4.24% 3.86% 3.77%

It is our policy to review the pension assumptions annually, Pension income or expense is determined using assumptions
as of the beginning of the year, while the funded status is determined using assumptions as of the end of the year, The
assumptions are determined by management and established at the respective balance sheet date using the following
principles: (i) The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is established based upon historical actual asset returns and
the expectations of asset returns over the expected period to fund participant benefits based on the current investment mix of
our plans; (ii} The discount rate is determined by matching the expected projected benefit obligation cash flows for each of the
plans to a yield curve that is representative of long-term, high-quality (rated AA or higher) fixed income debt instruments as of
the measurement date; and (i) The rate of increase in compensation levels is established based on management's
expectations of current and foreseeable future increases in compensation. In addition, management also considers advice
from independent actuaries.

Postretirement Benefit Plans

Employer Contributions And Future Benefit Payments — Qur postretirement medical plans are non-funded and have no
plan assets, but are instead funded by us on a pay as you Qo basis in the form of direct benefit payments, In 2007, we made
benefit payments of $19.6 (net of federal subsidies of $1.9) to our postretirement benefit plans. Following is a summary, as of
December 31, 2007, of the estimated future benefit payments and expected federal subsidies for our postretirement plans in
each of the next five fiscal years and in the aggregate for five fiscal years thereafter. The expected benefit payments and federal
subsidies are estimated based on the same assumptions used at December 31, 2007 to measure our obligations and include
benefits attributable to estimated future employee service.

Postretirement  Postretirement

Payments Subsidies
2008 . . .. e e $20.3 $ 22
2000 . . e e e e e 201 22
5 T 0 19.8 23
0 T 19.4 23
0 18.8 23
Subsequent five Years . . .. ... .. e e 80.9 10.5

75




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
{(All dollar and share amounts in millions, except per share data)

Obligations and Funded Status — The following tables show the postretirement plans’ funded status and amounts
recognized in our consolidated balance sheets:

Postretirement
Benefits
2007 2006
Change in projected benefit abligation:
. Projected benefit obligation — beginningofyear . . ... ... .. ... .. ... . o $179.8 $184.8
BBIVICE COSY . . . . i e e e e e g2 0.2
1 1= = o ) 10.3 10.2
Actuarial (Qain) 10SS . . . . .. .. e L {(7.5) 51
Benefits paid . .. ... . e e e e (19.6) . (205)
Projected benefit obligation —end ofyear . ... .. ... . .. .. . ... . $183.2 $179.8
Funded status at year-end . .. ... .. . e e e ${(163.2) $(179.8)
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist of:
ACCIUBO BXPBNSES . . . . . ittt e e e e e $ (18.1) $ (18.9)
Other long-term liabilities . . . . .. . . . e e e (145.1) (160.9)
Net amount recognized . . ... ... .t e e $(163.2) $(179.8)
Amounts recognized in accumutated other comprehensive income (loss) (pre-tax) consist of: '
Net actuanial loss .. .. .. .. i i i e e e $ 517 $ 639
Net prior service credit . . ... ... .. . e e (7.6) {8.9)
Total accumutated comprehensive loss (pre-tax) . . . ... ... .. .. .. ... $ 441 $ 55.0
The net periodic postretirement benefit expense included the following components:
. Year Em-jed

December 31,
2007 2006 2005

SEIVICE COBE . . ..t e e e e $02 $02 $ 01

INterest GOt . . . . e e e e e e e 103 102 104
Amortization of unrecognized 168S . . . . . . .. L 4.8 4.5 3.2
Amortization of unrecognized prior service cost. . . ... .. .. L L i (1.3) (1.3) (1.3)
Net periodic postretirement expense .. .............. . .. i $140 $136 $124

Other changes in benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) in 2007 were as fo!lomfs:

Current year actuanial Qain . . . .. ... i e e e e e $ (7.9
Amortization of actuarnial l08s . . . . . ..o i e e e e 4.7
Amaortization of prior service cost . . .. ... .. .. ... P 1.3

$(10.8)

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) into net periodic
benefit expense in 2008 include net actuarial losses of $3.6 and prior service credits of $1.3.
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Actuarial assumptions used in accounting for our domestic postretirement plans are as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Assumed health care cost trend rates:

Heath care costtrend rate fornext year. . . ... .. .. .. . i e 9.3% 10.0% 10.0%

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) .. .......... 50% 50% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trendrate ... ........ ... ... .. ... .. . .0 2014 2014 2013
Discount rate used in determining net periodic postretirament benefit expense . . .. .. ...... ... 6.00% 5.75% 6.00%
Discount rate used in determining net year-end postretirement benefit obligation. . ... ... ... ... 6.32% 6.00% 5.75%

The accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was determined using the terms and conditions of our various plans,
together with relevant actuarial assumptions and health care cost trend rates. It is our policy to review the postretirement
assumptions annually. The assumptions are determined by management and are established based on our prior experience
and management’s expectation that future rates will decline. In addition, management also considers advice from independent
actuaries.

Assumed health care cost trend rates can have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the postretirement benefit
plans. A percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1% increase 1% Decrease

Effect on totat of service and interest costs .. ... ... ... .. i e $ 06 $(0.6)
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation . .. ........... .. .. . . . $10.1 $(9.2)

Defined Contribution Retirement Plans

We maintain a defined contribution retirement ptan (the “Plan”} pursuant to Section 401 (k) of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code. Under the Plan, eligible U.S. employees may voluntarily contribute up to 50% of their compensation into the Plan and we
match a portion of participating employees' contributicns. Our matching contributions are made in newly issued shares of
company common stock and are issued at the prevailing market price. The matching contributions vest with the employee
immediately upon the date of the match and there are no restrictions on the resale of common stock held by employees.

Under the Plan, we contributed 0.216, 0.326 and 0.410 shares of our common stock to employee accounts in 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. Compensation expense is recorded based upon the market value of shares as the shares are
contributed to employee accounts. We recorded $17.7 in 2007, $17.5 in 2006 and $17.9 in 2005 as compensation expense
related to the matching contribution.

Certain hourly and collectively bargained employees participate in other defined contribution retirernent plans maintained
pursuant to Section 401 (k) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. These plans do not match employees' contributions in shares of
company common stock, although company common stock is offered as an investment option under these plans.
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(11) Income Taxes

Income before income taxes and the provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Income before income taxes:
income from continuing operations:
United States . . . ... .. e e e e $253.6 %1779 $ 60.0
FOrBIgN . . o e 136.2 105.6 46.1

$389.8 $2835 $106.1

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes:

Current:
United SlateS . . . . e e e e e e $ 468 $ 544 $ 89.1
FOrBION . . o e e e e 52.2 (2.0) 18.9
Total CUITENE . . . . e e e e e e e e 99.0 524 1090
Deferred and other:
UnitedStates . . . ................... e e {10.7) (316} (36.5)
=T | o 1.2 37.0 (1.1
Total deferred and Other . ... . .. .. .. e e (9.5) 5.4 {37.6)
Total provision . . . .. .. e $895 $578 % 714

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to our effective income tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2007 2006 2005

Tax at U.S. federal statutory rate . . ... .. .. e 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State and local taxes, net of US. federal benefit . . ... . ... .. . L o 06 (1.4 (8.9
US. credits and exemplions . . . .. .. L e e e 1.7y {23y (4.3
Taxes on foreign SOUrCE INCOME . . . . v ittt e e e e e e e e e e e s (96) (43) 54
Repatrialion . . ... .. e e — (0.7y 437
Audit settlements with taxing authorities . . .. .. ... .. . . e (4.5) (12.5) (14.1)
Adjustments to tax contingencies, net . . ... .. L e e e 2.5 7.2 29
Non-deductible compensation . . . ... ... . . . e e e 0.6 0.6 53
O her . . e e 0.1 {(1.2y 03

23.0% 20.4% 67.3%
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Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as foliows:

As of
December 31,
2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:

Working capital acCrUals . . . . ... o e e e e e e e e e $ 462 $ 404
Legal, environmental and self-insurance accruals . . . ... ... ... .. i i e 56.9 65.7
Restructuring . . . . .. e e e e e e e 3.3 4.5
Pension, other postretirement and postemployment benefits . .. ... .. ... ... ... oo 102.3 127.0
NOL and credit carmyfomwards. . .. ... .o i i e e e e e 196.6 154.6
Payroll and compensation . . .. .. . . .. e e e 299 30.6
ONEr . 47.4 10.6

Total deferred 1ax asSeS . . . . . .. . e e e 482.6 433.4
Valuation allowance . . . . . .. e e e e (182.4) (129.5)

Net deferred tax assets . ... .. .. .. . .. e e e 300.2 303.9

Deferred tax liabilities:

Accelerated depreciation . . . . . . . .. L e 259 26.1
Basis difference in affiliates . . . .. .. .. . 18.2 13.8
Intangibles recorded in acquUISItioONS . . . . . ... ... e e 284.9 156.2
O R . e e e e 38.5 67.3

Total deferred tax liabilities . . .. .. .. . . e 347.5 263.4

$ (47.3) $ 405

General Matters

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. We periodically assess the
reafizability of deferred tax assets and the adequacy of deferred tax liabilities, incorporating the results of local, state, federal
and foreign tax audits in our estimates and judgments.

We had available net operating loss deductions and tax credit carryforwards totaling approximately $1,004.9 at
December 31, 2007. Approximately $376.8 of these carryforwards were for numerous state jurisdictions and approximately
$466.5 were for varipus foreign jurisdictions, while the remainder represent Federal tax credits. Of these amounts,
approximately $12.7 expire in 2008 and $564.5 expire at various times between 2009 and 2027. The remaining carryforwards
have no expiration date.

Realization of deferred tax assets associated with the net operating loss and credit carryforwards is dependent upon
generating sufficient taxable income prior to their expiration in the appropriate tax jurisdiction. We believe that it is more likely
than not that certain of these net operating loss and credit carryforwards will expire unused and, accordingly, have established
a valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets associated with these carryforwards. Although realization is not assured
tor the remaining deferred tax assets, we believe it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized through
future taxable earnings or tax planning strategies. However, deferred tax assets could be reduced in the near term if our
estimates of taxable income during the carryforward period are significantly reduced or tax planning strategies are no longer
viable. The valuation allowance increased by $52.9 in 2007 and $59.8 in 2006.

The amount of income tax that we pay annually is dependent on various factors, including the timing of certain deductions.
These deductions can vary from year to year, and, conseguently, the amount of income taxes paid in future years may be
greater than amounts paid in past years.
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Undistributed International Earnings

During 2008, we completed our plan to repatriate earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries and recognized an income tax
benefit of $2.0.

During 2005, we repatriated foreign earnings and capital of $65.0. In addition, we concluded, during the fourth quarter of
2005, that we would repatriate approximately $154.0 of foreign earnings and capital in 2006. For the year ended December 31,
2005, we provided $44.5 of income taxes relating to foreign earnings we repatriated or planned to repatriate.

Remaining foreign earnings are considered indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly, we have made no provision for U.S,
federal and state income taxes or foreign withholding taxes for these remaining foreign earnings. if these eamings were
distributed, we would be subject to U.S. income taxes (subject to a reduction for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes
payable to the varicus foreign countries.

Tax Contingencies

We perform reviews of our income tax positions on a continuous basis and accrue for potential contingencies when we
believe a liability is probable and can be reasonably estimated. Accruals for these contingencies are recorded in “Income taxes
payable” and “Deferred and other income taxes” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets based on the expectation
as to the timing of when the contingency will be resolved. As events change and resolution occurs, these accruals are adjusted,
such as in the case of audit settlements with taxing authorities. Management believes any potential liabilities in excess of
amounts not recorded are not material.

In 1997, we, as part of a risk management initiative to effectively manage and reduce costs associated with certain
liabilities, contributed assets and self-insurance liabilities associated with existing retiree medical, workers compensation, and
key manager life insurance programs to a fully consolidated risk management company (“RMC™} in exchange for stock
representing a minority interest in the RMC. Subsequently, we sold the minority interest in the RMC to a third-party investor at
fair market value, which resulted in a capital loss of $73.7 for tax purposes, calculated as the excess of the tax basis of the stock
over the cash proceeds received on the sale of the stock. In 2004, the Internal Revenue Service {“IRS”) issued an examination
report disallowing the capital loss. We protested the disallowance to the Appeals Office of the IRS in June 2004.

In 1998 and 1999, we entered into similar transactions designed to manage and reduce costs associated with certain
healthcare and environmental liabilities. Those transactions resulted in tax losses of $84.8 and $40.9, respectively. In July 2006,
the IRS issued an examination report covering our 1998 to 2002 income tax returns. As expected, the IRS disallowed the tax
iosses associated with the 1998 and 1999 transactions noted above. We protested the disallowance to the Appeals Office of the
IRS in August 2006. '

Also in 2004, the IRS issued an examination report with respect to the sale of Sealed Power Europe in 1997. Specifically,
the IRS sought to require recapture of certain foreign losses claimed as deductions on tax returns prior to 1997. We also
protested this proposed adjustment to the Appeals Office of the IRS in June 2004.

In December 2006 and January 2007, we made advance payments of $66.6 and $37.5, respectively, which represented the
amount being assessed by the IRS for the matters noted above.

On September 4, 2007, we reached an agreement with the IRS regarding the matters noted above for the years 1995
through 2002 after the agreement was approved by the Joint Committee on Taxation of the U.S. Congress. In connection with
the resolution of these examinations, we reduced our liability for uncertain tax positions {including interest} by $124.4. Of the
$124 4 reduction in our liability for uncertain tax positions, $35.5 represents an amaount accrued in excess of our final settlement
(including tax, interest and penalties). The $35.6 favorable adjustment is comprised of a continuing operations tax benefit of
$16.8 and a decrease in goodwill of $18.8. The advanced payments made in December 2006 and January 2007 resuited in an
overpayment of federal income taxes, which has been applied against current year's Federal income tax liability.

The IRS currently is performing an audit of our 2003 through 2005 Federal income tax returns. At this stage, the outcome of
the audit is uncertain; however, we believe that any contingencies are adequately provided for.
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State income tax returns generally are subject to examination for a period of three to five years after filing of the respective
tax return. The impact on such tax returns of any Federal changes remains subject to examination by various states for a period
of up to one year after format notification to the states. We have various state income tax returns in the process of examination,
administrative appeals or litigation.

We have various foreign income tax returns in the process of examination. Currently, there are audits underway by
Canadian tax authorities related to our 2001 to 20086 tax returns. The German tax authorities have commenced audits of certain
income tax returns related to the 2000 to 2005 tax years.

An unfavorable resolution could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or cash flows in the quanter and
year in which an adjustment is recorded or the tax is due or paid. As audits and examinations are still in process or we have not
reached the final stages of the appeals process for any of the above matters, the timing of the ultimate resolution and any
payments that may be required for the above matters cannot be determined at this time.

Upon the conclusion of our disposition activities discussed in Note 4 to these consolidated financial statements, we may
recognize an additional income tax provision or benefit.

During 2007, we recorded an income tax benefit of $11.5 associated with a reduction in the statutory tax rates in Germany
and the United Kingdom. In addition, we recorded an aggregate income tax benefit of $15.9 in 2007 associated with the
settlement of various state matters and certain matters in the United Kingdom, an expected refund in China related to an
earnings reinvestment plan, and the reversal of income taxes that were provided prior to 2007.

As a result of the IRS examination report covering our 1998 to 2002 income tax returns, we considered the uncertainties
resolved and reduced our income tax liabilities during 2006 by $42.3. Our effective tax rate for 2006 of 20.4% includes an
income tax benefit of $34.7 associated with these matters. The remainder of the $42.3 was recognized as an income tax benefit
within discontinued operations ($2.9) and as a reduction of goodwill ($4.7). In addition, during 2006, we reduced our income
tax provision by $8.3 as a result of the settlement of certain matters relating to various state income tax returns.

During 2005, we reduced our income tax provision by $15.1 and goodwill by $41.0 relating to the closure of certain matters
with both domestic and international taxing authorities. In addition, taxes associated with discontinued operations were
reduced by $1.6 in 2005.

FIN 48

As disclosed in Note 3, effective January 1, 2007 we adopted the provisions of FIN 48. As a result of such adoption, we
recognized a decrease of $52.5 to our liability for unrecognized tax benefits, with a corresponding increase to retained
earnings. As of December 31, 2007, we had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $120.1 {net unrecognized tax benefits of $98.1},
of which $64.2, if recognized, would impact our effective tax rate from continuing operations. '

We classify interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of our income tax provision. As of
January 1, 2007, gross accrued interest, excluded from the amounts above, totaled $78.0 (net accrued interest of $48.2), while
the related amount as of December 31, 2007 was $23.0 (net accrued interest of $14.9). There were no penalties recorded as of
January 1, 2007 or during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Based on the outcome of certain examinations or as a result of the expiration of statute of limitations for certain
jurisdictions, we believe that within the next 12 months it is reasonably possible that our previously unrecognized tax benefits
could decrease by approximately $12.0.

The following is a reconciliation of the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the year:

Unrecognized tax benefit—opening balance. . .. .. ... . L o $204.3
Gross increases — tax positions in prior period . . . ... L e 41

Gross decreases — tax positions in priorperiod . . . . .. .. ... e e e —_—
Gross increases — tax positions incurrent period . . ... ... L . o e 15.0
Seftlements . .. .. ... e e e e e e e (101.1)
Lapse of statute of limitations . . . . . ... . e (2.2)
Unrecognized tax benefit — ending balance . ... ...... ... ... .. .. i $ 12041
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{12) Indebtedness
The following summarizes our debt activity (both current and non-current) for the year ended December 31, 2007.

December 31, December 31,
2006 Borrowings Repayments  Other® 2007
Termloan®™ . . ... . e $735.0 $ 7500 $ (735.0)0 $ — $ 7500
Domestic revolving loan facility™ . . ... ........... — 757.0 (642.0) — 115.0
Global revolving loan facility™ . ... .............. 828 99.3 (183.6) 1.5 —
76825% seniornotes . . .. ... ... L. L., — 500.0 — — 500.0
750% seniornotes ... ... o 28.2 — — — 28.2
6.25% seniornotes . ..... ... ..., 21.3 — — — 213
Trade receivables financing arrangement® . , . ., .. .. 1.0 586.0 (517.0) — 70.0
Other indebtedness® , .. .. ................... 95.5 — (21.9) 17.0 90.6
Totatdebt .. ...... ... .. .. . ... . . 963.8 $2,692.3 ${2,099.5) $185 1,575.1
Less: shorttermdebt . . . .. .. ... .. ..., ... ..., 168.0 255.4
Less: current maturities of long-term debt . . . . ... ... 423 ' 79.0
Total long-termdebt . . ....................... $753.5 ' $1,240.7

' The borrowings and repayments that occurred on September 21, 2007 as a result of our entering into new senior credit
facilities and simultaneously terminating our then-existing senior credit facilities were as follows:
* Term loan (borrowings — $750.0 and repayments — $716.2)
« Domestic revalving loan facility (borrowings — $180.0 and repayments — $210.0)
* Global revolving loan facility (borrowings — $99.3 and repayments — $49.0)

@ Under this arrangement, we can borrow, on a continuous basis, up to $130.0.

® Includes aggregate balances under extended accounts payable programs and a purchase card program of $58.2 and
$60.0 at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively.

)  “Other” includes debt assumed and foreign currency translation on any debt instruments denominated in currencies other
than the U.S. dollar. -

Credit Facilities

On September 21, 2007, we entered into new senior credit facilities with a syndicate of lenders that replaced our
then-existing senior credit facilities, which were simultanecusly terminated. The new senior credit facilities provide for
committed senior secured financing of $2,300.0, consisting of the following:

* A term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $750.0 with a final maturity of September 2012;

* A domaestic revolving credit facility, available for loans and letters of credit, in an aggregate principal amount of up to
$400.0 with a final maturity of September 2012;

* A global revolving credit facility, available for loans in Euros, British Pounds and other currencies in an aggregate
principal amount up to the equivalent of $200.0 with a final maturity of September 2012; and

+ A foreign credit instrument facility, available for performance letters of credit and guarantees, in an aggregate principal
amount in various currencies up to the equivalent of $950.0 with a final maturity of September 2012,

In connection with the termination of our then-existing senior credit facilities, we incurred $3.3 of costs, including $2.3 for
the write-off of deferred financing costs, $0.2 for an early termination fee and $0.8 for costs associated with the early termination
of our then-existing interest rate protection agreements (see Note 13).

The weighted average interest rate of our outstanding borrowings under the new senior credit facilittes was 6.3% at
December 31, 2007.
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We also may seek additional commitments for incremental term loan facilities or increases in commitments in respect of.
the domestic revolving credit facility, the global revolving credit facility and/or the foreign credit instrument facility by up to an
aggregate principal amount of $400.0 without the need for consent from the existing lenders.

We are the borrower under the term and revolving loan facilities, and certain of our foreign subsidiaries are (and others may
in the future become) borrowers under the global revolving credit facility and the foreign credit instrument facility.

All borrowings and other extensions of credit under our new senior credit facilities are subject to the satisfaction of
customary conditions, including absence of defaults and accuracy in material respects of representations and warranties.

The letters of credit under the domestic revolving credit facility are stand-by letters of credit requested by any borrower on
behalf of itself or any of its subsidiaries. The foreign credit instrument facility is used to issue foreign credit instruments,
including bank undertakings to support our foreign operations. :

The interest rates applicable to loans under our new senior credit facilities are, at our option, equal to either an alternate
base rate (the higher of (a) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.5% and (b) the prime rate of Bank of America) or a reserve
adjusted LIBOR rate for dollars (Eurodollar) plus, in each case, an applicable margin percentage, which varies based on our
Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the credit agreement generally as the ratio of consolidated total debt {net of cash
equivalents in excess of $50.0) at the date of determination to consolidated adjusted EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters ended
on such date). We may elect interest periods of one, two, three or six months for Eurodollar borrowings. The fees charged and
the interest rate margins applicable to Eurodollar and base rate loans are (all on a per annum basis) as follows:

Domestic Global Foreign Forelgn
Revolving Revolving  Letter of Credit Credit
Commitment Commitment Credit Commitment Instrument LIBOR Rate

Consolidated Leverage Ratio Fee Fee Fee Fee Fee Loans ABR Loans
Greater than or equal to 3.00to 1.0 . . .. 0.35% 0.35% 1.75% 0.35% 1.3125% 1.75% 0.75%
Between 2.00to 1.0 and 3.00t0 1.0. . .. 0.30% 0.30% 1.50% 0.30% 1.125% 1.50% 0.50%
Between 15010 1.0 and 200to 1.0 . . .. 0.25% 0.25% 1.25% 0.25% 0.9375% 1.25% 0.25%
Between 1.00t0 1.0 and 1.50t0c 1.0 . . .. 0.20% 0.20% 1.00% 0.20% 0.75% 1.00% 0.00%
Less than 1.00to 1.0 ...... ... ... .. 0.175% 0.175% 0.875% 0.175% 0.65625% 0.875% 0.00%

The term loan is repayable in quarterly installments of $18.75 for each quarter ending March 31, 2008 through
September 30, 2011, and $112.5 for the quarters ending December 31, 2011 through June 30, 2012, with the balance due in
September 2012.

Our new senior credit facilities require mandatory prepayments in amounts equal to the net proceeds from the sale or other
disposition of, including from any casualty to, or governmental taking of property in excess of specified values {other than in the
ordinary course of business and subject to other exceptions) by us or our subsidiaries. Mandatory prepayments will be applied
first to prepay the term loan and then to repay amounts (or cash collateralize letters of credit) outstanding under the global
revolving credit facility or the domestic revolving credit facility (without reducing the commitments thereu nder). No prepayment
is required to the extent the net proceeds are reinvested in permitted acquisitions, permitted investments or assets to be usedin
our business within 360 days of the receipt of such proceeds.

We may voluntarily prepay loans under our new senior credit facilities, in whole or in part, without premium or penaity. Any
voluntary prepayment of loans will be subject to reimbursement of the lenders’ breakage costs in the case of a prepayment of
Eurodollar rate borrowings other than on the last day of the relevant interest period.

Indebtedness under our new senior credit facilities is guaranteed by:
« Each existing and subsequently acquired or organized domestic material subsidiary with specified exceptions; and

« Us with respect to the obligations of our foreign borrower subsidiaries under the global revalving credit facility and the
foreign credit instrument facility.

Indebtedness under our new senior credit facilities is secured by a first priority pledge and security interest in 100% of the
capital stock of our domestic subsidiaries {with certain exceptions) and 65% of the capital stock of our material first tier foreign
subsidiaries. If our corporate credit rating is “Ba2” or less by Moody’s and “BB" or less by S&P. then we and our domestic
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subsidiary guarantors are required to grant security interests, morntgages and other lens on substantially all our and their
assets.

Our new senior credit facilities require that we maintain:

* A Consalidated Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined in the credit agreement generally as the ratio of consolidated
adjusted EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters ended on such date to consolidated interest expense for such period) as of
the last day of any fiscal quarter of at least 3.50 to 1.00, and

» A Consolidated Leverage Ratio as of the last day of any fiscal quarter of not more than 3.25 to 1.00.

Our new senior credit facilities also contain covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability to incur additional
indebtedness, grant liens, make investments, loans, guarantees or advances, make restricted junior payments, including
dividends, redemptions of capital stock and voluntary prepayments or repurchase of certain other indebtedness, engage in
mergers, acquisitions or sales of assets, enter into sale and leaseback transactions or engage in certain transactions with
affiliates and otherwise restrict certain corporate activities. We do not expect these covenants to restrict our liquidity, financial
condition or access to capital resources in the foreseeable future. Lastly, our senior credit facilities contain customary
representations, warranties, affirmative covenants, and events of default.

We are permitted under our senior credit facilities to repurchase our capital stock and pay cash dividends in an unfimited
amount if our gross Consolidated Leverage Ratio is less than 2.50 to 1.00. If our gross Consolidated Leverage Ratio is greater
than or equai to 2.50 to 1.00, the aggregate amount of such repurchases and dividend declarations cannot exceed (A) $100.0in
any fiscal year plus {(B) an additional amount for ali such repurchases and dividend declarations made after September 21,
2007 equal to the sum of {i} $300.0 and (ii) a positive amount equal to 50% of cumulative consolidated net income during the
period from July 1, 2007 to the end of the most recent fiscal quarter for which financial information is available preceding the
date of such repurchase or dividend declaration (or, in case such consolidated net income is a deficit, minus 100% of such
deficit). ‘

During 2005, in connection with the repayment of $1,073.4 on the term loans of our then-existing senior credit facilities, we
recorded charges of $29.6 associated with the write-off of deferred financing costs and the termination of the remaining interest
rate protection agreements related to the term loans, with $28.2 recorded to “Loss on eary extinguishment of debt” and the
remainder to “Income (loss) from discontinued operations.”

At December 31, 2007, we were in compliance with all covenant provisions of our senior credit facilities, and the senior
credit facilities did not impose any restrictions on cur ability to repurchase shares or pay dividends, other than those inherent in
the credit agreement.

Senior Notes

In December 2007, we issued in a private placement $500.0 aggregate principal amount of 7.625% senior unsecured notes
that mature in 2014. We used the net proceeds from the offering for general corporate purposes, including the financing of our
acquisition of APV (see Note 4). The interest payment dates for these notes are June 15 and December 15 of each year,
commencing on June 15, 2008. The notes are redeemable, in whole, or in part, at any time prior to maturity at a price equal to
100% of the principal amount thereof plus a premium, plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, at any time prior to
December 15, 2010 we may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes with the net cash proceeds of
certain equity offerings at a redemption price of 107.625%, plus accrued and unpaid interest. If we experience certain types of
change of control transactions, we must offer to repurchase the notes at 101% of the aggregate principat amount of the notes
repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest. These notes are unsecured and rank equally with all our existing and future
unsecured senior indebtedness, The indenture governing these notes contains covenants that, among other things, limit our
ability to incur liens, enter into sale and leaseback transactions and consummale some mergers. Al December 31, 2007, we
were in compliance with all covenant provisions of these senior notes, We have agreed to conduct a registered exchange offer
for the notes and will use commercially reasonable efforts to exchange the notes for a new issue of identical debt securities and
file under certain circumstances a shelf registration statement to cover resales of the notes and to cause the registration
statement to be declared effective by the SEC. If we fail to satisty these obligations, within 150 days from February 28, 2003, we
have agreed to pay additional interest to holders of the notes under certain circumstances.
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In June 2003, we issued $300.0 of non-callable 6.25% senior notes that mature on June 15, 2011. The interest payment
dates for these notes are June 15 and December 15 of each year. In December 2002, we issued $500.0 of callable 7.50% senior
notes that mature on January 1, 2013. The interest payment dates for these notes are January 1 and July 1 of each year. Both of
these note issuances are unsecured and rank equally with all of our existing and future unsecured senior indebtedness, but are
effectively junior to our new senior credit facilities.

During the first quarter of 2005, we completed cash tender offers for $668.2, or 93%, of the then outstanding principal
amount of our 7.50% and 6.25% senior notes. The amount of the notes tendered exceeded the requisite consent thresholds for
removing substantially all of the restrictive covenants and certain of the default provisions contained in the indenture governing
the senior notes. Additionally, during the second and third quarter of 2005, we redeemed $3.4 of the senior notes. In connection
with these redemptions, we recorded charges of $85.4 to “Loss on early extinguishment of debt” associated with premiums
and fees paid to redeem the notes and the write-off of deferred financing costs refated to the notes.

Other Borrowings

In February 2006, all but $0.2 of the then remaining Liquid Yield Option Notes (“LYONs”) were put to us and settled in cash
for $660.2, their accreted value on such date. We financed this redemption and the related tax recapture with amounts
borrowed against our $750.0 delayed draw term loan under our then-existing senior credit facilities. In June 2006, we
repurchased the remaining LYONSs.

Some of our businesses participate in extended accounts payable programs through agreements with lending institutions.
Under the arrangements, the businesses are provided extended payment terms. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the
participating businesses had $12.8 and $14.2, respectively, outstanding under these arrangements. Additionally, certain of our
businesses purchase goods and services under a purchasing card program allowing payment beyond their normal payment
terms. As of December 31, 2007 and 20086, the participating businesses had $45.4 and $45.8, respectively, outstanding under
this arrangement. As these arrangements extend the payment of our businesses’ payables beyond their normal payment terms
through third-party lending institutions, we have classified these amounts as short-term debt.

Other Financing Activities

We are party to a trade receivables financing agreement, whersby we can borrow, on a continuous basis, up to $130.0.
Availabifity of funds may fluctuate over time given changes in eligible receivable balances, but will not exceed the $130.0
program limit. The facility contains representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities customary for facilities of this type.
The facility does not contain any covenants that we view as materially constraining to the activities of our business. We had
$70.0 and $1.0 outstanding under this financing agreement at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

{13) Financial Instruments
Interest Rate Swaps

We maintain interest rate protection agreements (“'swaps”) to hedge the potential impact of increases in interest rates on
our variable rate term loan. We designate and account for these swaps as cash flow hedges. In connection with the
September 21, 2007 refinancing of our senior credit facilities (see Note 12), we terminated all our existing swaps and entered
into new swaps with a notional amount of $600.0. These new swaps have maturities through September 2012 and effectively
convert $600.0 of our borrowings under our variable rate term loan to a fixed rate of 4.795% pius the applicable margin. These
are amortizing swaps; therefore, the outstanding notional value is scheduled to decline commensurate with the scheduled
maturities of the new term loan. As of December 31, 2007, the aggregate notional amount of the swaps was $600.0.

In connection with the termination of our previously held swaps on September 21, 2007, we made a net cash payment of
$0.4. In addition, we reclassified $0.8 from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to”Loss on early extinguishment of
debt”.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we recorded an unrealized 0ss, net of tax, of $9.1 and an unrealized gain, net of tax, of
$2.6, respectively to accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). In addition, as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we
recorded a long-term liability of $14.8 and a long-term asset of $4.2, respectively, to recognize the fair value of our swaps.
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During the first quarter of 2005, we terminated all of our then-existing swaps for an aggregate cash payment of $13.3. In
addition, we reclassified $15.8 from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to “Loss on early extinguishment of
debt.” -

Currency Forward Contracts

We manufacture and sell our products in a number of countries and, as a result, are exposed to movements in foreign
currency exchange rates. Our objective is to preserve the economic value of non-functional currency denominated cash flows.
Qur principal currency exposures relate to the Euro, British Pound and Chinese Yuan.

We have entered into foreign currency protection agreements (“'FX forward contracts™) to manage the exposure on
forecasted transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Some of the underlying transactions contain embedded
derivatives, as the currency of exchange is not “clearly and closely” related to the functional currency of either party to the
transaction. The changes in the fair value of these FX forward contracts and embedded derivatives are recorded in “Other
income (expense)” in the period of change. The net impact of the changes in fair values of these derivatives was not material to
our consolidated financial statements during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

We had foreign currency forward contracts with an aggregate notional amount of $81.3 outstanding as of December 31,
2007, with scheduled maturities of $73.2, $7.5 and $0.6 in 2008, 2009 and 2010, respectively. The net fair values of our open
contracts were $0.1 (recorded as a current liability) and $1.4 {recorded as a current asset) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The fair values of the associated embedded derivatives were $0.8 and $2.8 recorded as a current liability as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

QOther Derivative Instruments

From time to time we enter into forward contracts to manage the exposure on forecasted purchases of commodity raw
materials. We designate and account for such transactions as cash flow hedges. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the
unrealized loss, net of tax, recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) was $0.6 and $0.4, respectively. We
expect to reclassify the 2007 unrealized loss to cost of products sold over the next 12 months as the hedged transactions
impact earnings. The fair values of these contracts were $0.7 and $1.1 {recorded as a current liability) as of December 31, 2007
and 20086, respectively. The amount of gain {loss) recognized during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2008 and 2005
related to the ineffectiveness of the hedges was not material.

Other Fair Value Financial Assets and Liabilities

The carrying amount of cash and equivalents and receivables reported in the consolidated balance sheets approximates
fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments.

The fair value of our debt instruments, based on borrowing rates available to us at each year-end for similar debt, is not
materially different than their carrying values.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to significant concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and temporary
investments, trade accounts receivable, and interest rate, foreign currency, and commodity protection agreements.

Cash and temporary investments and our interest rate, foreign currency and commodity protection agreements are placed
with high-quality financial institutions throughout the world. We periodically evaluate the credit standing of these financial
institutions.

Concentrations of credit risk arising from trade accounts receivable are due to selling to a large number of customers in a
particular industry. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial conditions and obtain collateral or other
security when appropriate. No one customer or group of customers that to our knowledge, are under common control
accounted for more than 10% of our revenues for all periods presented.

We are exposed to credit losses in the event of nonperformance by counter parties to our interest rate, foreign currency
protection agreements and foreign commaodity contracts, but have no other off-balance-sheet credit risk of accounting loss. We
anticipate, however, that counter parties will be able to fully satisfy their obligations under the contracts. We do not obtain
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collateral or other security to support financia! instruments subject to credit risk, but we do monitor the credit standing of
counter parties.

(14) Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and Other Matters

Leases

We lease certain manufacturing facilities, offices, sales and service locations, machinery and equipment, vehicles and
office equipment under various leasing programs accounted for as operating leases. The future minimum rental payments
under operating leases with remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year are:

Year Ending December 31,

201 - T $ 412
20 = 30.7
b2 o o 18.7
o s 1 18.0
7219 2 - 20.4
B 12T £=.7= 1] R 36.7
Total MINIMUM PAYIMBNTS . . . .o o oottt ettt ittt e e et et e $163.7

Total operating lease expense was $46.7 in 2007, $40.1 in 2006 and $33.1 in 2005. Capital leases were not material to any
of the periods presented. )

General

Numerous claims, complaints and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, including but not limited to
those relating to litigation matters (e.g., class actions, derivative lawsuits, and contract, intellectual property, competitive claims,
etc.), environmental matters, and risk management matters {(e.g., product and general liability, automobile, workers'
compensation, etc.), have been filed or are pending against us and certain of our subsidiaries. Additionally, we may become
subject to significant claims of which we are currently unaware or the claims of which we are aware may result in our incurring a
significantly greater liability than we anticipate. This may also be true in connection with past or future acquisitions. While we
maintain property, cargo, auto, product, general fiability, and directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and have acquired rights
under similar policies in connection with these acquisitions that we believe cover a portion of these claims, this insurance may
be insufficient or unavailable to protect us against potential loss exposures. In addition, we have increased our self-insurance
limits over the past several years. While we believe we are entitled to indemnification from third parties for some of these claims,
these rights may be insufficient or unavailable to protect us against potential loss exposures. However, we believe that our
accruals related o these items are sufficient and that these items and our rights to available insurance and indemnity will be
resolved without material adverse effect, individuatly or in the aggregate, on our financial position, results of operations and
cash flows. These accruals totaled $359.1 (including $268.8 for risk management matters) and $367.8 (including $260.3 for risk
management matters) at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Of these amounts, $270.5 and $262.8 are included in
“Other long-term liabilities” within our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, with the
remainder included in “Accrued expenses.”

Litigation Matters

On June 8, 2006, we reached a settlement with VSI Holdings, Inc. (“VSI”) resolving litigation relating to a merger
agreement with VSI that we terminated. Under the terms of the settlement, the lawsuit was dismissed with prejudice, neither
party admitted any liability or wrongdoing, and we made a payment in the amount of $20.0 to VSI. The charge associated with
this payment was recorded in 2006 and has been included in “'Other expense, net” within our 2006 conselidated statement of
operations.

On April 13, 2007, we reached a settlement, with court approval, of a class action lawsuit by purchasers of our common
stock alleging violations of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and a related ERISA class action lawsuit filed on behalf of
participants in our employee benefit plans alleging breaches of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. Under
the terms of the settlement, both class action lawsuits were dismissed with prejudice and our aggregate net settiement
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payment, after reimbursement by our insurer, was $5.1, which we paid into the settlement fund in May 2007. During 2006, we
recorded a charge to selling, general and administrative expense of $4.1 associated with the settlement,

In October of 2004, one of our ltalian subsidiaries, SPX Cooling Technologies Italia, S.p.A., formerly Balcke Marley
Italia, S.p.A., was notified that it was the subject of an investigation by the Milan Public Prosecutor’s Office. The investigation
related 1o the business practices of several individuals and different companies in securing contracts from an ltalian power
generation company. On August 24, 2006, the Public Prosecutor served on SPX Cooling Technologies Italia, S.p.A., a Notice of
End of the Preliminary Investigations. This Notice, which also identified numerous other individual and corporate defendants,
sets forth an allegation that SPX Cooling Technologies ltalia, S.p.A. is responsible under Itafian Legislative Decree No. 231 for
failing to adopt and effectively implement a proper organization and management mode! suitable for the prevention of alleged
acts of bribery by the former general manager of Hamon-Research Cottrell Italia, S.p.A. and the former director of Marley
Cooling Tower Europe, S.p.A. Our subsidiary has previously taken actions to address ltalian Legislative Decree No. 231,
including the appointment of a compliance program supervisor at the cooling equipment business, and is evaluating these
charges and potential defenses in advance of a preliminary hearing. Following the assertion of preliminary defenses by SPX
Cooling Technologies Italia S.p.A., the Public Prosecutor discharged our subsidiary from any responsibilities under such Italian
Legislative Decree for several alleged acts of bribery. Such discharge by the Public Prosecutor is subject to chalienge by third
parties having a lawful interest therein within six months after the filing of the discharge. In addition, following discussions
between our subsidiary and the Public Prosecutor regarding a potential plea-agreement with respect to the remaining alleged
acts of bribery, our subsidiary submitted a request for a plea-agreement to which the Public Prosecutor consented. The Judge
responsible for this matter conducted a hearing to consider the proposed plea-agreement on February 26, 2008 and has
scheduled a further hearing to issue a decision on March 28, 2008. We do not believe that the outcome of these proceedings
will have a material adverse effact on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

We are subject to other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the normal course of business. In our opinion, these
matters are either without merit or of a kind that should not have a material adverse effect individuatly or in the aggregate on our
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. However, we cannot assure you that these proceedings or claims will not
have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows,

Environmental Matters

Our operations and properties are subject to federal, state, local and foreign regulatory requirements relating to
environmental protection. Itis our policy to comply fully with all applicable requirements. As part of our effort to comply, we have
a comprehensive environmental compliance program that includes environmental audits conducted by internal and external
independent professionals, as well as regular communications with our operating units regarding environmental compliance
requirements and anticipated regulations. Based on current information, we believe that our operations are in substantial
compliance with applicable environmental laws and regulations, and we are not aware of any violation that could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. We have liabilities for site
investigation and/or remediation at 62 sites that we own or control. In addition, while we believe that we maintain adequate
accruals to cover the costs of site investigation and/or remediation, there can be no assurance that currently unknown matters,
new laws and regulations, or stricter interpretations of existing laws and regulations will not materially affect our business or
operations in the future.

Our environmental accruals cover anticipated costs, including investigation, remediation, and operation and maintenance
of clean-up sites. Our estimates are based primarily on investigations and remediation plans established by independent
consultants, regulatory agencies and potentially responsible third parties. Accordingly, our estimates may change based on
future developments, including new or changes in existing environmental laws or policies, differences in costs required to
complete anticipated actions from estimates provided, future findings of investigation or remediation actions, or alteration to the
expected remediation plans. it is our policy to realize a change in estimate once it becomes probable and can be reasonably
estimated. We do not discount our environmental accruals and do not reduce them by anticipated insurance recoveries. We do
take into account third-party indemnification from financially viable parties in determining our accruals where there is no dispute
regarding the right to indemnification.

In the case of contamination at offsite, third party disposal sites, we have been notified that we are potentially responsible
and have received other notices of potential liability pursuant to various environmental laws at 30 sitas at which the liability has
not been settled, and only 12 of which have been active in the past few years. These laws may impose liability on certain
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persons that are considered jointly and severally liable for the costs of investigation and remediation of hazardous substances
present at these sites, regardless of fault or legality of the original disposal. These persons include the present or former owners
or operators of the site and companies that generated, disposed of or arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances at the
site. We are considered a “de minimis’ potentially responsible party at most of the sites, and we estimate the aggregate
probable remaining liability at these sites is immaterial.

We conduct extensive environmental due diligence with respect to potential acquisitions, including environmental site
assessments and such further testing as we may deem warranted. If an environmental problem is identified we estimate the
cost and either establish a reserve, purchase insurance or obtain an indemnity from a financially sound seller. However, in
connection with our acquisitions or dispositions, we may assume or retain significant environmental liabilities, some of which
we may be unaware. The potential costs related to these environmental matters and the possible impact on future operations
are uncertain due in part to the complexity of government laws and regulations and their interpretations, the varying costs and
effectiveness of various clean-up technologies, the uncertain level of insurance or other types of recovery, and the questionable
level of our responsibility. We account for these assumed liabilities in accordance with SFAS No. 5 “Accounting for
Contingencies” and Statement of Position 96-1, “Environmental Remediation Liabilities” and, therefore, record the liability
when it is both probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. Due to the uncertainties previousty described, we are
unable to reasonably estimate the amount of possible additional losses associated with the resolution of these matters beyond
what has been previously recorded.

In our opinion, after considering accruals established for such purposes, remedial actions for compliance with the present
laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment are not expected to have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Risk Manégement Matters

We are self-insured for certain of our workers’ compensation, product and general liability, automobile costs, disability and
health costs, and we believe that we maintain adequate accruals to cover our retained liability. Our accruals for risk
management matters are determined by management, are based on claims filed and estimates of claims incurred but not yet
reported, and are not discounted. Management considers a number of factors, inctuding third-party actuarial valuations, when
making these determinations. We maintain third party stop-loss insurance policies to cover certain liability costs in excess of
predetermined retained amounts.

Consortium Arrangements

We enter into consortium arrangements for certain projects within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment. Under
such arrangements, each consortium member is responsible for performing certain discrete items of work within the total
scope of the contracted work and the consortium expires when all contractual obligations are completed. The revenue for these
discrete iterns of work is defined in the contract with the project owner and each consortium member bears the profitability risk
associated with its own work. The use of a consortium arrangement typically results in joint and several liability to the customer
for the consortium members, however, our consortium arrangements typically provide that each consortium member assumes
its responsible share of any damages or losses associated with the project. If responsibility cannot be determined or a
consortium member defaults, then the remaining consortium members are responsible according to their share of the contract
value. Within our consolidated financial statements, we account for our share of the revenues and profits under the consortium
arrangements. As of December 31, 2007, our share of the aggregate contract value on open consortium arrangements was
$192.6 (of which approximately 69% has been recognized thus far as revenue), whereas the aggregate contract value on open
consortium arrangements was $529.0.

Executive Agreements

Our Board of Directors has adopted severance agreements for nine of our executives, which create certain liabilities in the
event of the termination of these executives following a change of control. In addition, our Board of Directors also approved
employment agreements for eight of these executives. These agreements have rolling terms of gither one year or two years and
specify the executive's current compensation, benefits and perquisites, the executive’s entittements upon termination of
employment, and other employment rights and responsibilities. Lastly, three executive officers have outstanding non-interest
bearing 20-year relocation home loans totaling $4.5 granted in connection with the 2001 move of our corporate headquarters.
In the event of the death or permanent disability of the employee or a change in control of SPX, we will forgive the note and pay
the employee or his estate an amount equal to the employee’s tax liability as a result of the loan forgiveness.
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As of December 31, 2007, we had amounts due to our former Chairrhan, Chief Executive Officer and President under a
separation agreement associated with his retirement and resignation in December 2004, of approximately $8.0. Such amount is
payable in 2008.

(15) Shareholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation
Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computations of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Numerator:
Income from continuing cperations for calculating basic earnings pershare. .. ... ... $ 3003 $ 2257 § 347
interest on convertible LYONs, netoftax .. ... ... ... .. . i i — 1.1 —
Income from continuing operations for calculating d||uted earnings per share. . . ... .. $ 3003 %2268 $ 347
Net income for calculating basic earnings pershare .. ......... ... ... ....... $ 2042 $ 1707 $1,090.0
Interest on convertible LYONs, netoftax ................... ... ... ... e — 1.1 —
Net income for calculating diluted earnings pershare .. ... ... .. ... ... .. ..., $ 2042 $ 1718 $1,0900
Denominator; A
Weighted average number of comman shares used in basic earnings per share ... .. 54842  58.254 71.084
Dilutive Securities — Employee stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock
IS . L e e e 1.465 1.499 1.108
Conversion of convertible LYONS . . . . ... ... ... . . — 0.971 —
Weighted average number of common shares and dilutive securities used in diluted
earnings per share . . .. ... ... . e 56.307 60.724 72,192

The total number of stock options that were not included in the computation of dilutive earnings per share because their
exercise price was greater than the average market price of common shares was 0.7, 2.5 and 9.5 at December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

The impact of the inclusion of the convertible LYONs was a reduction in both income from continuing operations per share
and net income per share of $0.04 and $0.03, respectwely, for 2006. For the year ended December 31, 2005 the impact of the
inclusion of the LYONs was anti-dilutive.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The components of the balance sheet caption accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

December 31, December 31,

_ 2007 2006
Foreign currency translation adiustment . .. ... .. ... . L L e $208.4 $ 2079
Net unrealized gains (losses) on qualifying cash flow hedges, net of tax expense (benefit)

of $(6.0} and $1.4, respectively . . . . .. ... . e 9.7) 22
Pension liability adjustment, net of tax benefit of $150.9 and $186.4, respectively .. ... ... (250.8) (298.7)
Accumulated other comprehensive income {(loss) ............. i $ 381 $ (86.6)
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Common Stock and Treasury Stock

At December 31, 2007, we had 200.0 authorized shares of common stock {par value $10.00). Common shares issued,
treasury shares and shares outstanding are summarized in the table below.

Common Stock  Treasury Shares
Issued Stock Outstanding

Balance at December 31, 2004 . .. .. .. ... e e 88.879 (14.637) 74.242
Stock options exercised . . ... .. .. ... ... e 0.858 0.205 1.063
Share rEPUIChASES . . . . v vttt ittt e e e — (13.657) (13.657)
Restricted stock and restricted stock units .. .. ... ... ... . 0 00 0.613 {0.109) 0.504
(T 0.411 -— 0.411
Balance at December 31, 2005 . . . . .. ... e e e 90.761 (28.198) 62.563
Stock OptioNs EXercised . . . .. .. .. e e 2.335 1.678 4.013
Share repPUrChaSES . . . . .o ot e e e — (8.692) (8.692)
Restricted stock and restricted stock units . . . .......... .. ... ... 0.636 {0.069) 0.567
O el . . o e e e e e e e 0.315 — 0.315
Balance at December 31, 2006 . . . . .. ... L e 94,047 (35.281) 58.766
Stock options exercised . .. ... ... .. . 1.899 0.388 2.287
Share repPUICHASES . .« . o v v et e et e et e e e — (9.004) {(9.004)
Restricted stock and restricted stock units . . ........... .. .. ... ... . .. 0.627 {0.105) 0.522
{3 = 0.221 — 0.221
Batance at December 31, 2007 ... . ... . it e s 96.794 (44.002) 52.792

Stock-Based Compensation

Under the 2002 Stock Compensation Plan, as amended in 2008, the successor ptan to the 1992 Stock Compensation Plan,
up to 20.0 shares of our common stock may be granted to key employees and 6.2 of these shares were available for grant at
December 31, 2007. The 2002 Stock Compensation Plan permits the issuance of new shares or shares from treasury upon the
exercise of options, vesting of restricted stock units or restricted stock.

Restricted stock or restricted stock units may be granted to certain eligible employees or non-employee directors in
accordance with applicable equity compensation pian documents and agreements. Subject to participants’ continued
employment and other plan terms and conditions, the restrictions lapse and awards vest over three years. In addition, the
restrictions lapse and the awards vest in the event of retirement, death or disability. The 2004 grants vest ratably. In December
2004, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors announced changes to our stock based employee compensation
program. Under the announced changes, company performance thresholds have been instituted for vesting of substantially all
restricted stock and restricted stock units awarded in 2005 and future years. This vesting is based on SPX shareholder return
versus the S&P 500 composite index. On each vesting date, we compare SPX sharehalder return to the performance of the
S&P 500 composite index for the prior year and for the cumulative period since the date of the grant. If SPX outperforms the
S&P 500 composite index for the prior year, the one-third portion of the grant associated with that year will vest. If SPX
outperforms the S&P 500 composite index for the cumulative period, any unvested porticn of the grant that was subject to
vesting on or prior to the vesting date will vest.

Beginning in 2007, we granted restricted stock to non-employee directars under the 2006 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock
Incentive Plan (the “Directors’ Plan”) in lieu of granting them phantom stock shares. Under the Directors’ Plan, up to 0.1 shares
of our common stock may be granted to non-employee directors and 0.1 of these shares were available for grant at
December 31, 2007. Restricted stock have a three-year vesting period based on SPX shareholder return versus the S&P 500
composite index, which are subject to the same company performance thresholds for employee awards described in the
preceding paragraph. Restricted stock that does not vest within the three-year vesting pericd in accordance with these
performance requirements is forfeited.
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Stock options may be granted to key employees in the form of incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options, vest
ratably over three years, which vesting may be subject to performance criteria, and expire no later than 10 years from the date of
grant. The option price per share may be no less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. Upon
exercise, the employee has the option to surrender previously owned shares at current value in payment of the exercise price
and/or for withholding tax obligations and, subject to certain restrictions, may receive a reload option having an exercise price
equal to the current market value for the number of shares so surrendered. The reload option expires at the same time that the
exercised option would have expired. Any future issuances of options under the plan will not have a reload feature, pursuant to
the terms of the plan.

On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R), which requires the recognition of compensation expense for share-
based awards, including stock options, based on their grant date fair values. In addition, SFAS No. 123(R) specifies that an
award is vested when the employee’s retention of the award is no longer contingent on providing subseguent service (the
“non-substantive vesting period approach”). We adopted SFAS No. 123(R), using the modified-prospective method. Under
that method, compensation cost recognized for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 includes: (a) compensation
expense for all share-based awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant date fair value
estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No. 123, (b) compensation cost for all share-based awards
granted subsequent to January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 123(R), and (c) compensation cost related to the non-substantive vesting period approach for all applicable share-based
awards granted subsequent to January 1, 2006. Results for the year ended December 31, 2005 have not been restated. In
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), total stock option expense was $0.2 and $0.9 for the years ended December 31, 2007 and
20086, respectively. We also recorded compensation expense related o restricted stock and restricted stock units of $41.2,
$36.7 and $28.3 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
Historically, our option grants were generally made during the first week of the year. There were no option grants in 2007, 2006
and 2005.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we applied the intrinsic value based method of accounting prescribed by APB No. 25 and related
interpretations in accounting for stock-based compensation ptans. Accordingly, no compensation cost was reflected in net
income (loss) for stock option awards as all options granted had an exercise price equal to or in excess of the market value of
the underlying common stock on the date of grant. We recorded share-based expense for the restricted stock and restricted
stock units using variable accounting based on the most current market price of our stock applied to the shares contingentty
issuable and amortized over a three-year period. We historically accounted for the retirement, death or disability vesting
provision by recognizing compensation cost over the nominal vesting period and, if the employee retired, died or was disabled
prior to the end of the vesting period, recognizing any remaining unrecognized compensation cost at the date of retirement,
death or disability. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R}, we changed our valuation technique to the Monte Carlo simulation
model due to the fact that our restricted stock and restricted stock units contain a market condition. The Monte Carlo simulation
model utilizes multiple input variables that determines the probability of satisfying the market condition stipulated in the award
and calculates the fair value of each restricted stock and restricted stock unit award. We used the following assumptions in
determining the fair value of the awards granted on January 3, 2007 and 2006:

Correlation
between total
shareholder
Annual expected return for SPX
stock rrlce Annual expected and S&P 500
volatllity dividend yield Risk free interest rate Composite Index
January 3, 2007:
SPX Corporation . .................... 29.00% 1.63% 4.63% 0.4225
S&P 500 Composite Index. . . ............ 10.50% nfa 4.63%
January 3, 2006:
SPX Corporation . .................... 36.33% 2.18% 4.37% 0.4000

S&P 500 Composite Index . . . ............ 17.70% n/a 4.37%
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Annual expected stock price volatility is based on the three-year historical volatility. The annual expected dividend yield is
based on annual expected dividend payments and the stock price on the date of grant. The risk-free interest rate reflects the
3-year daily treasury yield curve rate as of the grant date. The fair value of the restricted stock and restricted stock units is
amortized over the derived service period of each award, which is up to three years.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we presented all tax benefits of deductions resulting from the exercise of stock
options and the vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units as operating cash flows in our consolidated statements of
cash flows. In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP™) No. FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to
Accounting for the Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards” (“FSP No. 123(R)"). We elected to adopt the altematlve
transition method provided in FSP 123(R)-3 for calculating the tax effects of stock-based compensation pursuant to SFAS
No. 123(R). The alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the additional
paid-in capital pool (“APIC pool”) related to the tax effect of employee stock-based compensation, and to determine the
subsequent impact of the APIC pool on the statement of cash flows for the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation
grants that are outstanding upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). During the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, we
classified excess tax benefits of $29.0 and $12.7, respectively, as financing cash flows included in “Proceeds from the exercise
of employee stock opticns and other” within our consolidated statements of cash flows.

The foliowing table illustrates the pro forma effect on net income from continuing operations and net income, in total and on
a per share basis, for the year ended December 31, 2005, had the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 been
applied to stock based employee compensation:

Net income — as tePOMEA . . . . . ..ottt it i e e e e e $1,090.0
Add: Stock based employee compensation expense included in reported net income, net of related tax effect . 20.3
Deduct: Total stock based employee compensation expense determined under fair value based method, net of ’
related tax effect
Awards granted at marketvalue . ........... ... .. ... 0., e (27.4)
Awards granted above market value . . ... ... L L e e e T

Netincome —proforma.................. e e e e e e e e e $1,082.9
Basic earnings per share of common stock: :
Income per share —asreported. . ............... ... .. D e $ 15.33
Income per share — Proforma . . . . . . o e e e e $ 15.23
Diluted earnings per share of common stock:
Income per share — as reported . . . . .. . . . e e $ 1510
Income per share — pro fOrma . . . . . ... . e e e e $ 15.00
Basic earnings per share of common stock from continuing operations:
Income per share — as rePOMEd . . . . .. ... 0ttt e $ 049
Income pershare —proforma . .. .......... .. . . . .. i e $ 039
Diluted earnings per share of common stock from continuing operations:
INCOME PEr SAre — @S FEPOMEA . . « .+ o o o e oottt e ettt et iee el § 048
Income per share — ProfOMMa . . . .. .. ... e $ 038
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Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Unit Awards

The following table summarizes the restricted stock and restricted stock unit activity from December 31, 2005 through
December 31, 2007:

Weighted Average
Unvested Restricted Stock Grant-Date Fair
and Restricted Stock Unlits Value per share

Outstanding at'December 31,2005 ............................. 1.576 $40.30
Granted ... ... .. e 0.755 33.97
Vested ... e e e e (0.672) - 43.64
Forfeited . .. ........... e e e e (0.134) 39.71
Outstanding at Decernber 31,2006 ............................. 1.525 36.95
Granted . ... ... .. e 0.815 46.24
VeSted . .. e e e (0.835) 41.83
Forfeited . . .. .. ..o (0.127) - 36.93
Outstanding at December 31,2007 ....... ...................... 1.378 40.49

Prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we reported unearned compensation associated with restricted stock and
restricted stock units as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Under SFAS No. 123(R), the related amount is no longer
presented as a separate component of stockholders’ equity and, therefore, has been reclassified to “Paid-in-Capital” as of
January 1, 2006. As of December 31, 2007, there was $16.8 of unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock and
restricted stock unit compensation arrangements. We expect this cost to be recognized over a weighted average period of
1.4 years.

In conjunction with the safe of Contech in April 2007 (see Note 4), we modified the existing outstanding awards issued to
certain Contech employees by removing all restrictions associated with 0.046 restricted stock units and accelerating the
vesting period to the effective date of the modification. This maodification resulted in 0.031 shares issued, 0.015 shares withheld
related to the SPX minimum required tax withholdings and expense recorded of $1.1, net of tax, as part of the loss on
disposition of discontinued operations.

In conjunction with the sale of Dock in October 2008 (see Note 4), we modified the existing outstanding awards issued to
29 Dock employees by removing all restrictions associated with these 0.014 restricted stock units and accelerating the vesting
period to the effective date of the modification. This modification resulted in 0.010 shares issued, 0.004 shares withheld related
to the SPX minimum required tax withholdings and expense recorded of $0.3, net of tax, as part of the loss on disposition of
discontinued operations.

In canjunction with the sale of Vance in January 2006 (see Note 4), we modified the existing outstanding awards issued to
30 Vance employees by removing all restrictions associated with these 0.075 restricted stock units and accelerating the vesting
petiod to the effective date of the modification. This modification resulted in 0.048 shares issued, 0.027 shares withheld related
to the SPX minimum required tax withholdings and expense recorded of $1.6, net of tax, as part of the loss on disposition of
discontinued operations.
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Stock Options
The following table shows stock option activity from December 31, 2004 through December 31, 2007:

Weighted

Average Exerclse
Shares rice

Options outstanding at December 31,2004 . . ... ... ... . . . . i 14.541 $ 66.42
L€ - o1 (o 1 — —
=11 L« {1.063) 36.01
Terminated . ................... e e e e e e e e e e e (0.513) 62.29
Options outstanding at December 31,2005 .. . .. ... ... . e 12.965 $ 69.07
Granted . . .. e e e e e e e e — —
8T (o1 o {(4.013) 43.89
=0 7 = 1= [ (4.116} 103.12
Options outstanding at December 31,2008 . . . .. . ... ... . . . i e 4.836 $ 60.97
Granted

(= (o] 17 S {(2.287) 54.41
=4 T 1T {0.175) 67.65
Options outstanding at Decembler 31, 2007 .. ... ... . . . ..t e 2.374 $ 66.80
Exercisable at December 31, 2007 . . . ottt e e e e e e 2.374 $ 66.80
Exercisable at December 31, 2008 . . ... ... .ttt e e 4,836 $ 60.97
Exercisable at December 31, 2005 . . . . . ... e e e e 12.506 $ 70.19

The weighted average remaining term, in years, of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2007 was 2.6.
Aggregate intrinsic value {(market value of stock less option exercise price) represents the total pretax intrinsic value, based on
our closing stock price on December 31, 2007, which would have been received by the option holders had all in-the-money
option holders exercised their options as of that date. The aggregate intrinsic value of the options outstanding and the options
exercisable at December 31, 2007 was $85.6. The total number of in-the-maney options exercisable on December 31, 2007 was
approximately 2,366. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005 was $65.4, $43.1 and $10.8, respectively.

Treasury Stock

tn 2007, we repurchased 9.0 shares (of which 7.3 were associated with written trading plans under Rule 10b5-1 of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of our common stock on the open market, for a total cash consideration of
$715.9. The covenants under our senior credit facilities contain certain restrictions on the payment of dividends and the
repurchase of our common stock. See Note 12 for discussion of our ability to repurchase shares under our current senior credit
facilities.

Preferred Stock

None of our 3.0 shares of authorized and no par value preferred stock was outstanding at December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005. '
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(16) Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

FlrgtS)1e Saecondi® Third&® Fourth®
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Operating revenuest $1,033.2 $922.3 $1.226.6 $1,009.0 $1,207.9 $1,016.7 $1,354.6 $1,219.6
Gross profith@ 2856 243.7 335.3 284.2 357.3 296.8 414.9 344.7
Income from continuing operations@® 329 239 71.9 64.1 96.6 50.8 98.9 86.9
Income (loss) from discontinued operations,

net of tax® @7 (22 (8.0) 462 (3.7) (98.9) 9.3 (0.1)

Net income (loss) $§ 29286217 % 639 3% 1103 $ 929 % (481)% 1082 $ 86.8

Basic earnings {loss) per share of common
stock:
Continuing operations $ 056 $040% 128 % 109 % 182 % 089 %
Discontinued operations, net of tax {0.06) {0.04) {0.14) 0.79 (0.07) (1.74)

Net income (loss) $ 050$036$ 114% 18 $ 175§ (0.85%

Diluted earnings (loss) per share of common
stock:
Continuing operations $ 055%038% 126 % 106§ 177 % 087 %
Discontinued operations, net of tax {0.06) (0.03) {0.14) 0.77 (0.06) {1.69)

Net income (loss) $ 049 3035% 1128% 183 8% 1718 (082 %

Note: The sum of the quarters’ earnings per share may nét equal the full year per share amounts.

M An’internal audit of an operation in Japan uncovered employee misconduct and improper accounting entries, Correction of
these matters resulted in a charge of $7.4 during third quarter of 2007, with a reduction of $2.3 of revenues, $4.5 recorded
to cost of products sold and $0.6 to selling, general and administrative expense. See Note 1 for further information.

@ During the first, second and fourth quarters of 2007 we recorded charges (credits) related to the settlement of a legacy
product liability matter within our Industrial Products and Services segment of $3.6, $6.0 and ($1.1}, respectively.

®  The first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2007 include charges of $0.4, $1.2, $2.5 and $3.5, respectively, associated
with restructuring initiatives. The first, second, third and fourth quarters of 2006 include charges (credits) of $0.4, $1.3, $2.9
and $(0.7), respectively, associated with restructuring initiatives. See Note 6 for additional information.

We recorded charges related to legacy legal matters of $0.1, $0.1 and $4. 8 during the second, third and fourth quarters of
2007, respectively. .

The second quarter of 2007 includes a benefit of $5.0 within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment as a result of
cost improvements associated with a state-approved environmental remediation plan at a site in California.

In the fourth quarter of 2007, we recorded an impairment charge of $4.0 associated with intangible assets held by a
business within our Thermal Equipment and Services segment. See Note 8 for further discussion.

During the third and fourth quarters of 2007, in connection with the resolution of certain matters related to our Federal
income tax returns for the years 1995 through 2002, we recorded income tax benefits of $11.0 and $5.8, respectively. In
addition, during the third and fourth quarters of 2007, we recorded income tax benefits of $8.1 and $3.4, respectively,
associated with a reduction in the statutory tax rates in Germany and the United Kingdom. Lastly, during the fourth quarter
of 2007, we recorded an aggregate income tax benefit of $12.4 associated with the settlement of various state matters
($3.8), an expected refund in China related to an earnings reinvestment plan ($3.7), and the reversal of income taxes that
were provided prior to 2007 ($4.9).
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(All dollar and share amounts in millions, except per share data)

The second quarter of 2006 includes an income tax benefit of $34.7 associated principally with the settlement of certain
matters relating to our 1998 to 2002 Federal income tax returns. See Note 11 for additional information on income tax
matters.

During the first quarter of 2007, we recorded a charge of $6.6 in connection with the planned disposition of Contech. In
addition, we recorded charges of $4.3, $0.1 and $2.6 during the second, third and fourth quarters of 2007 related to
expenses contingent upon the consummation of the sale. The third quarter of 2006 includes a charge of $102.7 that was
recorded in connection with the planned disposition of Contech.

We recognized an income tax benefit of $13.5 during the third quarter of 2007 relating to the reversal of certain deferred tax
liabilities associated with businesses previously disposed of and reported as discontinued operations, primarily during
2005 (see Note 1 for further discussion of this matter).

During the third quarter of 2007, we committed to a plan to divest our Air Filtration business within our Flow Technology
segment. As a result of this planned divestiture, we recorded a net charge of $11.0 during the third quarter, to reduce the
net assets to be sold to thelr estimated net realizable value.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, we sold the BD Austria and Nema business units within our Thermal Equipment and
Services segment resulting in a net gain (loss) of $17.2 and ($2.3), respectively.

During the second and fourth quarters of 2006, we recorded a gain (10ss) associated with the disposition of Dock of $39.0
and ($10.0), respectively, with $33.2 of the net gain relating to an income tax benefit,

The fourth quarter of 2006 includes an income tax benefit of $10.9 related primarily to a reduction in income tax liabilities
associated with a disposition in 2003.

Amounts presented differ from amounts previously reported in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q due to the classification
of certain of our businesses as discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS No. 144.

it is our practice to establish actual interim closing dates using a “fiscal” calendar, which requires our businesses to close
their books on the Saturday closest to the end of the calendar quarter for efficiency purposes. The effects of this practice
only impact the quarterly reporting periods and not the annual reporting period. We had one fewer day in the first quarter of
2007 and one additional day in the fourth quarter of 2007 when compared to the respective 2006 periods.
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ITEM 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A, Controls And Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

SPX management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b), as of December 31, 2007.
Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective and no changes are required at this time.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In connection with the evaluation by SPX management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of
our internal control over financial reporting, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(d), no changes during the quarter ended
December 31, 2007 were identified that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.

Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal
control framework and processes were designed to provide reasonable assurance to management and the Board of Directors
regarding the reliability of financial reperting and the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

= Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets;

*» Provide reascnable assurance that transactions are recorded properly to allow for the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and Directors; and

* Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable
assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of changing conditions, effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting may vary over time.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and concluded that, as of
December 31, 2007, such internal control is effective. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COS0Q”) in Internal Control — Integrated Framework,

On December 31, 2007, we completed the acquisition of APV. As permitted by. the Securities and Exchange Commission,
management excluded the APV business from its annual assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007. Total assets of APV constituted approximately 14% of our total consolidated assets as of December 31,
2007,

The effectiveness of our internal control gver financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited by Deloitte &
Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report included in this Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FiRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of SPX Corporation:

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of SPX CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES (the “Company”)
as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. As described in Management's Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting, management excluded from its assessment the internal control over financial reporiing at the APV
operation (‘“APV"), which was acquired on December 31, 2007 and whaose financial statements constitute 14% of consaolidated
total assets and no portion of consolidated revenues as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007. Accordingly, our audit
did not include the internal control over financial reporting at APV. The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal contro! over financial
reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s
board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the asssts of
the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the pessibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future
periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compiiance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007 of the Company and our report
dated March 3, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements, and included an explanatory paragraph
relating to the adoption of new accounting standards.

/sf Deloitte & Touche LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 3, 2008

99




ITEM 9B. Other Information

Not appficable.
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(a)

PART 111

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

birectors of the company.
This information is included in our definitive proxy statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the

heading “Election of Directors” and is incorporated herein by reference.

(b)

{c)

(d)

()

Executive Officers of the company.

Christopher J. Kearney, 52, was named Chairman of the Board in May 2007, and President, Chief Executive Officerand a
director in December 2004. He joined SPX in February 1997 as Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel and an
officer of the company. He had previously served as Senior Vice President and General Counse! of Grimes Aerospace
Company.

Patrick J. O’Leary, 50, was named Executive Vice President, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer in December 2004. He
joined SPX in October 1996 as Vice President, Finance, Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer and an officer of the
company. He had previously served as Chief Financial Officer and a director of Carlisle Plastics, Inc. Mr. O’Leary is a
director of Puite Homes, Inc.

Robert B. Foreman, 50, was named Executive Vice President, Human Resources and Asia Pacific in December 2005, and
President, Asia Pacific in December 2007. He joined SPX Corporation in April 1999 as Vice President, Human Resources
and an officer of the company. Previously he spent 14 years with PepsiCo, most recently serving as Vice President Human
Resources for Frito-Lay international.

Don L. Canterna, 57, was named Segment President, Flow Technology and an officer in August 2005. Me joined SPX in
2001 when SPX acquired United Dominion Industries, where he had been General Manager of Waukesha Cherry-Burrell
since 1997. He was promoted to President of Waukesha Cherry-Burrell in 2001 and was named President of SPX Process
Equipment in 2003 when Waukesha Cherry-Burrell, Lightnin and Bran+Luebbe were consolidated.

David A. Kowalski, 49, was named Segment President, Test and Measurement and an officer in August 2005. He joined
SPX in 1959 as the Vice President and General Manager of Tools and Equipment at Service Solutions and was named
President of Service Solutions in 2004. Before joining SPX he held positions with American National Can Company, J.I.
Case, Picker International and Warner Swasey.

Kevin L. Lilly, 55, was named Vice President, Secretary and General Counse! in December 2005 and Senior Vice President
in December 2006. Mr. Lilly joined SPX in 2003 as General Counsel for the company’s publicly traded subsidiary, Inrange
Technotogies Corporation. After the sale of Inrange, he was Group General Counsel for the technical and industrial
systems businesses and Associate General Counsel for SPX business operations. Previousiy, Mr. Lilly served as partner at
Archer & Greiner, partner at Jamieson, Moore, Peskin & Spicer, and Staff Attorney for the United States Court of Appeals for
the Seventh Circuit in Chicago.

Jim Peters, 52, was named Vice President, Operations in November 2006 and an officer of the company in December
2006. He is responsible for driving the company's operational excellence initiatives, including lean manufacturing and
supply chain management. He joined SPX Contech in 1983 and prior to becoming president held a variety of positions in
operations, sales and business development,

Lee Powell, 49, was named an officer in February 2008. He joined SPX in August 2005 as Segment President, industrial
Products and Services. Prior to joining SPX, he spent nine years with the Invensys PLC appliance controls group.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.

This information is included in our definitive proxy statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
heading “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and is incorporated herein by reference.

Code of Ethics.

This information is included in our definitive proxy statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
heading “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated herein by reference,

Information regarding our Audit Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee is set forth in our definitive proxy
statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the headings “‘Corporate Governance” and “Board
Committees” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

This information is included in our definitive proxy statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
headings “Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation” and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership Of Certain Beneficial Owners And Management And Related Stockholder
Matters

This information is included in our definitive proxy statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
headings “Ownership of Common Stock” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” and is incorporated herein by
reference.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships And Related Transactions, and Director Independence

This information is included in our definitive proxy statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the

heading “Corporate Governance” and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees And Services

This information is included in our definitive proxy statement for the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
heading “Ratification of the Appointment of Independent Public Accountants” and is incorporated herein by reference.

102




PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits And Financial Statement Schedules
The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K:

1. All financial statements. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page 43 of this Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement Schedules. None required. See page 43 of this Form 10-K.
3. Exhibits. See Index to Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on this 4th day of March, 2008.

SPX CORPORATION
{Registrant)
By /s/ PaTRICK J. O’LEARY

Patrick J. O'Leary
Executive Vice President,
Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned officers and directors of SPX Corporation hereby severally constitute Christopher J. Kearney and Patrick
J. O’'Leary and each of them singly our true and lawful attorneys, with full power to them and each of them singly, to sign forusin
our names in the capacities indicated below the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed herewith and any and all amendments
thereto, and generally do all such things in our name and on our behalf in our capacities as officers and directors to enable SPX
Corporation to comply with the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming our
signatures as they may be signed by our said attorneys, or any one of them on the Annual Report on Form 10-K and any and all
amendments thereto.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed betow by the foltowing
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on this 4th day of March, 2008.

/s CHRISTOPHER J. KEARNEY fs/ PatRick J. O'LEARY
Christopher J. Kearney Patrick J. O'Leary
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Executive Vice President, Treasurer and
Officer Chief Financial Officer
/s{ ALBERT A. KOCH fs/ Kermit CAMPBELL
Albert A, Koch Kermit Campbell
Director Director
/s/ SaraH R. COFFIN /sf J. MICHAEL FITZPATRICK
Sarah R. Coffin J. Michael Fitzpatrick
Director Director
/s/ EMERSON U. FULLWOOD /s/ MICHAEL J. MANCUSO
Emerson U, Fullwood Michael J. Mancuso
Director Director

{s/ MICHAEL A. REILLY

Michael A. Reilly
Vice President, Corporate Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer
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24
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4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

46

4.7

48
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4.10

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

International Share Sale Agreement dated October 28, 2004, between Bomag Holding GmbH, Bomag
U.L.M. GmbH, Radiodetection Limited, SPX Corporation and Fayat SA., incorporated herein by reference
from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004 (file no. 1-6948).

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated November 15, 2004 by and among the Company, Edwards Systems
Technology, Inc., GSBS Development Corporation, Ziton (Pty) Limited, SPX Canada Partner |l Co., SPX
Canada (GP), Maxivox, Inc., SPX Australia Pty. Ltd., GE and General Electric Canada, incorporated herein
by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 18, 2004 (file no. 1-6948).

Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2005, by and among the Company, Kendro GP I, LLC, SPX
Europe GmbH, General Signal Ireland B.V., and GSLE Development Corporation and Thermo and Thermo
Electron (Oberhausen) GmbH, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on January 21, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment to Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2005, by and among SPX Corporation,

Kendro GP Il, LLC, SPX Europe GmbH, General Signal Ireland B.V., and GSLE Development Corporation
and Thermo, Thermo Electron {Oberhausen) GmbH, Thermo Electron SA, and Thermo Electron
Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbHM, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K/A
filed on May 16, 2005 {file no. 1-6948).

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, incorporated herein by reference from our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 (file no. 1-6948).

Certificate of Ownership and Merger dated April 25, 1988, incorporated herein by reference from our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1988 (file no. 1-6948).

By-Laws as amended and restated effective October 24, 2007, incorporated herein by reference from our
Current Report on Form 8-K fited on October 30, 2007 (file no. 1-6948).

Form of Senior Indenture, incorporated herein by reference from our Form S-3 Registration Statement
(No. 333-68652) filed on August 29, 2001.

Form of Subordinated Indenture, incorporated herein by reference from our Form 5-3 Registration
Statement (No. 333-68652) filed on August 29, 2001.

Form of Debt Security, incorporated herein by reference from our Form $-3 Registration Statement
{No. 333-68652) filed on August 29, 2001.

Indenture between SPX Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Trustee, dated as of December 27,
2002, incorperated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 3, 2003 (file
no. 1-6948).

First Supplemental Indenture between SPX Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Trustee, dated as
of December 27, 2002, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
January 3, 2003 (file no. 1-6948).

Second Supplemental Indenture between SPX Corporation and JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Trustee, dated
as of June 16, 2003, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K fited on
June 18, 2003 (file no. 1-6948).

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 24, 2005, between SPX Corporation and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. (i/k/a JPMorgan Chase Bank), as trustee, incorporated herein by reference from our
Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on November 7, 2005 {file no. 1-6948).

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 24, 2005, between SPX Corporation and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. {f/k/a JPMorgan Chase Bank), as trustee, incorporated herein by reference from our
Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on November 7, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Indenture, dated as of December 13, 2007 between SPX Corporation, the Initial Subsidiary Guarantors,
and U.S. Bank National Association, a national banking association, as trustee, incorporated herein by
reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2007 (file no. 1-6948).

Copies of the instruments with respect to our other long-term debt are available to the Securities and
Exchange Commission upon request.
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Description

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 13, 2007, among SPX Corporation, the Guarantors,
and Banc of America Securities LLC and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., as representatives of the initial
purchasers, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19,
2007 (file no. 1-6948).

SPX Corporation Retirement Plan for Directors, as amended and restated, incorporated herein by
reference from our Amendment No. 1 on Form 8 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1988 (file no. 1-6948).

SPX Corporation Supplemental Individual Account Retirement Plan, incorporated herein by reference from
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (file no. 1-6948).

SPX Corporation Supplemental Retirement Savings Plan, incorporated herein by reference from our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (file no. 1-6948).

SPX Corporation 1997 Non-Employee Director's Compensation Plan, incorporated herein by reference
from Exhibit A to the Proxy Staterment contained in our Schedule 14A filed on March 25, 1997 (file
no. 1-6948).

Stock Option Award dated as of August 26, 1998 between SPX Corporation and Christopher J. Kearney,
incorporated herein by reference from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2000 (file no. 1-6948}).

Stock Option Award dated as of June 23, 1999 between SPX Corporation and Patrick J. O’Leary,
incorporated herein by reference from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2000 (file no. 1-6948).

Form of Loan Note (Primary Residence} for certain executive officers, incorporated herein by reference
from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 (file no. 1-6948).

Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan of United Dominion Industries, inc., effective as of

. May 24, 2001, incorporated herein by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2001 {file no. 1-6948).

SPX Corporation 2002 Stock Compensation Plan, as amended and restated, incorporated herein by
reference from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 (file no. 1-6948).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the SPX Corporation 2002 Stock Compensation Plan,
incorporated herein by reference from our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2004 (file no. 1-6948).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the SPX Corporation 2002 Stock Compensation Plan,
incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 6, 2005 (file
no. 1-6948).

Amendment to the SPX Corporation 1997 Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan, incorporated
herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

SPX Corporation 2005 Non-Employee Directors' Compensation Plan, incorporated herein by reference
from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Employment Agreement between SPX Corporation and Christopher J. Kearney executed on February 23,
2005, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2005 (file
no. 1-6948).

Employment Agreement between SPX Corporation and Patrick J. O'Leary executed on February 23, 2005,
incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2005 (file '
no. 1-6948).

Employment Agreement between SPX Corporation and Robert B. Foreman executed on February 23,
2005, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2005 (file
no. 1-6948).

SPX Corporation Retirement Health Plan for Top Management, incorporated herein by reference from our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (file no. 1-6948).
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Executive Change of Control Agreement between SPX Corporation and Christopher J. Kearney dated
February 15, 1999, incorporated herein by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004 (file no. 1-6948).

Executive Change of Control Agreement between SPX Corporation and Patrick J. O'Leary dated
February 15, 1999, incorporated herein by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2004 (file no. 1-6948).

Executive Change of Control Agreement between SPX Corporation and Robert B. Foreman dated May 10,
1999, incorporated herein by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004 {file no. 1-6248).

Supplemental Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the SPX Corporation 2002 Stock Compensation
Plan, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2005 (file
no. 1-6948). .

SPX Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan for Top Management, as amended, incorporated herein by
reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 11, 2005 (file no. 6948).

SPX Corporation 2005 Executive Bonus Plan, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on June 28, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment to the SPX Corporation 1997 Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan, incorporated
herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 28, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment to the SPX Corporation 2005 Non-Empioyee Directors’ Compensation Plan, incorporated
herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8K filed on June 28, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment ta the SPX Corporation 2005 Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan, incorporated
herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 28, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment to the SPX Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan for Top Management, incorporated
herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2005 {file no. 1-6948).

SPX Corporation Executive Long-Term Disability Plan, incorporated herein by reference from our Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Credit Agreement among SPX Corporation, The Bank of Nova Scotia, Bank of America, N.A., Wachovia
Bank, National Association, The Bank of Nova Scotia, Deutsche Bank AG, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
and the lenders party thereto, dated as of November 18, 2005, incorporated herein by reference from our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 1, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Employment Agreement between SPX Corporation and Don L. Canterna dated as of December 21, 2005,
incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 28, 2005 {file
no. 1-6948).

Employment Agreement between SPX Corporation and David A. Kowalski dated as of December 21, 2005,
incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 28, 2005 (file
no. 1-6948).

Change-of-Control Severance Agreement between SPX Corporation and Don L. Canterna dated as of
December 21, 2005, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 28, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Change-of-Control Severance Agreement between SPX Corporation and David A. Kowalski dated as of
December 21, 2005, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 28, 2005 (file no. 1-6948). ’

Amendments to Employment Agreements Regarding Vacation Accrual Between SPX Corporation and each
of Christopher Kearney, Patrick O’Leary, Robert Foreman and Thomas Riordan dated as of December 21,
2005, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on. December 28, 2005
(file no. 1-6948),

Amendments to Change-of-Control Severance Agreements to Conform Bonus Plan References between
SPX Corporation and each of Christopher Kearney, Patrick Q'Leary, Robert Foreman and Thomas Riordan
dated as of December 21, 2005, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on December 28, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).
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Employment Agreement between SPX Corporation and Kevin Lilly, executed on January 8, 2006,
incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 6, 2006 (fite
no. 1-6948).

Relocation Agreement between SPX Corporation and Kevin Lilly, executed on January 6, 2006,
incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 6, 2006 (file
no. 1-6948).

Change-of-Control Severance Agreement between SPX Corporation and Kevin Lilly, executed on
January 6, 2008, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
January 6, 2006 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendments to Employment Agreements regarding Retiree Medical Benefits between SPX Corporation
and each of Christopher Kearney, Patrick O'Leary, Robert Foreman and Thomas Riordan, dated as of
February 2, 2006, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
February 6, 2006 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendments to Employment Agreements regarding Retiree Medical Benefits between SPX Corporation
and each of Don Canterna and David Kowalski, dated as of February 2, 2006, incorporated herein by
reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 6, 2006 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment to SPX Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan for Top Management, incorporated herein
by reference from our Current Report on Form 8K filed on February 24, 2006 (file no. 1-6948).

SPX 2006 Executive Bonus Plan, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on February 24, 2006 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment to Restricted Stock Agreement Regarding Performance Measurement Periods, dated as of
February 24, 2006, between the Company and each of Christopher Kearney, Patrick O’Leary, Robert
Foreman, Thomas Riordan, Kevin Lilly, Don Canterna and David Kowalski, incorporated herein by
reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 24, 2006 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment to SPX Corporation 2005 Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan, incorporated herein
by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 24, 2006 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment to SPX Corporation 2002 Stock Option Plan, incorporated herein by reference from our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (file no. 1-6948).

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreements Under the 2002 Stock Compensation Pian, incorporated herein
by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005 (file
no. 1-6948).

Employment Agreement between SPX Corporation and Sharon Jenkins, executed on October 3, 2006,
incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2006 (file
no. 1-6948).

Relocation Agreement between SPX Corporation and Sharon Jenkins, executed on October 3, 20086,
incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2006 {file
no. 1-6948}.

Change-of-Control Severance Agreement between SPX Corporation and Sharon Jenkins, executed on
October 3, 2006, incorporated herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 6, 2006 (file no. 1-6948).

Employment Agreement between SPX Corporation and James Peters, executed on February 22, 2007,
incorporated herein by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2006 (file no. 1-6948).

Change-of-Control Severance Agreement between SPX Corporation and James Peters, executed on
January 22, 2007, incorporated herein by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2006 (file no. 1-6948).

Amendment to SPX Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan for Top Management, incorporated herein
by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 (file
no. 1-6948).

Form SPX Corporation Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement for Executive Officers, incorporated
herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2006 {file no. 1-6948).
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Description

2002 Stock Compensation Plan (As Amended and Restated), incorporated herein by reference to
Appendix C of our definitive proxy statement for our 2006 Annua! Meeting of Stockholders, filed April 3,
2006 {file no. 1-6948).

Executive Annual Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Appendix C of our definitive proxy
statement for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed April 3, 2006 (file no. 1-6948}.

2006 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference to Appendix C of
our definitive proxy statement for our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed April 13, 2006 (file
na. 1-6948).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the SPX Corporation 2006 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock
Incentive Plan, incorporated herein by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006 {file no. 1-6948).

Amandment to the SPX Corporation 2006 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated
herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-G for the quarter ended September 30, 2006 (file
no. 1-6948).

Amendment to the SPX Corporation 1897 Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan, incorporated
herein by reference from our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 1, 2007 (file no. 1-6948).

Credit Agreement, dated as of September 21, 2007, among SPX Corporation, the Foreign Subsidiary
Borrowers party thereto, The Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Deutsche Bank AG
Deutschlandgeschéft Branch, as Foreign Trade Facility Agent, and the lenders party thereto, incorporated
herein by reference from our Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 27, 2007 (file no. 1-6948).

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2002 Stock Compensation Plan.
Separation Agreement with Sharon Jenkins, dated November 30, 2007.

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the SPX Corporation 2006 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock
Incentive Plan.

Statement regarding computation of earnings pér share. See Consolidated Statements of Operations on
page 45 of this Form 10-K.

Subsidiaries.

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — Deloitte & Touche LLP
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — KPMG LLP

Power of Attorney (included on signature page).

Rule 13a-14(a) Certifications.

Section 1350 Certifications.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm — KPMG LLP

*  Denotes management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.




|, Patrick J. O'Leary, certify that:
1.
2.

5.
financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions): 7
~a al significant deficiencies and material weaknefsséé_ih the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting, which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the{
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: March 4, 2008 - ' fs/ PaTRICK J. O'LEARY

'Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information inctuded in this report, fairly presentin al

Certification

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of SPX Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fac
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, no
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report,

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the period
presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifyin'g officer and’l are responsible, for establishing and maintéining disclosure controls an
procedures {as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (a
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and have:

a., designed such’disclosure controls and procedureé’, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to b
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including it
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in whic
this report is being prepared; ’ ’ ’ o

b. designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to b
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting an
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with génerally accepted accountin
principles; Y -

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and preseﬁted in this report ou
conclusion about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered b
this report based on such evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial Fepdrting that occurred during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that ha
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

and
The registrant"s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control ove

Executive Vice President,
Treasurer, and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

The following statement is being made to the Securities and Exchange Commission solely for purposes of
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350}, which carries with it certain criminal penalties in the
event of a knowing or willful misrepresentation.

Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F. Street N.E.
Washington, DC 20549

Re: SPX Corporation
Ladies and Gentlemen:

In accordance with the requirements of Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350), each of the
undersigned hereby certifies that:

(i) this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 2007, fully complies with the requirements of
section 13(a) or 15(d)} of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(i) the information contained in this report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of SPX Corporation.

Dated as of this 4th day of March, 2008.

- {8/ CHRISTOPHER J. KEARNEY fs/ PATRICK J. O'LEARY
Christopher J. Kearney Patrick J. O’Leary
President and Chief Executive Officer Executive Vice President,

Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer
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SPX

13515 Ballantyne Corporate Place
Charlotte, North Carolina 28277
Telephone; (704) 752-4400
Facsimile: (704) 752-4405

March 26, 2008

Fellow Stockholders:

You are cordially invited to attend the SPX Corporation 2008 Annual Mesting of Stockholders
on May 1, 2008 at 8:00 a.m. (Eastern Time), at our corporate headquarters, 13515 Ballantyne
Corporate Place, Charlotte, North Carolina 28277.

All stockholders of record at the close of business on March 14, 2008, are welcome to attend
the Annual Meeting, but it is important that your shares are represented at the Annual Meeting
whether or not you plan to attend. To ensure that you will be represented, we ask you to sign, date
and return the enclosed proxy card or proxy voting instruction form as soon as possible. You also
may vote by telephone or over the Internet, and, if you choose to use one of those forms of voting,
it is not necessary for you to return your proxy card. In any event, please vote as soon as possible.

Along with the other members of your Board of Directors, | look forward to personally greeting
those stockholders who attend this year's meeting. On behalf of the Board of Directors and our
leadership team, | would like to express our appreciation for your continued interest in the business
of SPX.

Sincerely,

Christopher J. Kearney
Chairman, President and
Chief Exacutive Officer .

SPX Corporation

13515 Ballantyne Corporate Place
Charlotte, North Carolina 28277




SPX Corporation

13515 Ballantyne Corporate Place
‘Charlotte, North Carolina 28277

Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Thursday, May 1, 2008
8:00 a.m.
SPX Corporate Headquarters
13515 Ballantyne Corporate Place
Charlotte, NC 28277

The principal business of the Annual Meeting will be to:
1. Elect three directors for a three-year term;

2. Ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent public
accountants for 2008; and

3. Transact any other business as may properly come before the meeting or any
adjournment thereof. :

You can vote at the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy if you were a stockholder of record
on March 14, 2008. You may revoke your proxy at any time prior to its exercise at the Annual
Meeting.

We have enclosed with this notice and proxy statement a copy of our Annual Report to the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

- Kevin L. Lilly
Senior Vice President,
Secretary and General Counsel

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 26, 2008




SPX Corporation

Proxy Statement
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Why am | receiving these materials?

We are providing these materials to you in connection with SPX’s Annual Meeting, which will
take place on May 1, 2008. As a stockholder, you are invited to attend the Annual Meeting and are
entitled and requested to vote on the items of business described in this proxy statement. We are
first mailing this proxy statement and the enclosed proxy card to stockholders on or about
March 26, 2008.

How can | attend the Annual Meeting?

You may attend the Annual Meeting if you were an SPX stockholder as of the close of business
on March 14, 2008 or you hold a valid proxy for the Annual Meeting. You should be prepared to
present photo identification for admittance. If you are a stockholder of record or hold your shares
through the SPX 401(k) Plan, your name will be verified against the list of stockholders of record or
plan participants on the record date prior to your being admitted to the Annual Meeting. If you are
not a stockholder of record but hold shares through a broker, trustee or nomineé (i.e., in street
name), you should provide proof of beneficial ownership on the record date, such as a recent
account statement sfiowing your ownership, a copy of the voting instruction card provided by your
broker, trustee or nominee, or other similar evidence of ownership.

What am | voting on?
'We are soliciting your vote on the:
« Election of three directors for a three-year term;.and

~ « Ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent public
accountants for 2008.

oA

Who Is entitled to vote? . : "

Stackholders at the close of business on March 14, 2008 (the record date) are entitted to vote.
On that date, there were 53,425,524 shares of SPX common stock outstanding.

How many votes do | have?

Each share of SPX common stock that you own entitles you to one vote.

How do | vote?

All stockholders may vote by telephone or over the Internet as described on the enclosed.
proxy card. You also may vote by, mail. To vote by mail, please sign, date and mail your proxy card
in the postage paid envelope provided. If you attend the Annual Meeting in person and would like
to vote then, we will give you a ballot. If your shares are held in the name of your broker, bank or
other, nominee, you need to bring an account statement or letter from the nominee indicating that
you were the beneficial owner of the shares on March 14, 2008, the record date for voting.

How does discretionary voting authority apply?

If you sign, date and return your proxy card, your vote will be cast as you direct. If your proxy
card does not indicate how you want to vote, you give authority to Christopher J. Kearney and
Patrick J. O'Leary to vote on the items discussed in these proxy materials and any other matter that
is properly brought at the Annual Meetlng In such a case, your vote will be cast FOR the elect|on
of the director nominees, FOR the ratification of the appointmént of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our
independent public accountants and FOR or AGAINST any other properly raised matters at the
discretion of Messrs. Kearney and O'Leary.




May | revoke my proxy?
You may revoke your proxy in one of four ways at any time before it is exercised:

1. Notify our Corporate Secretary in writing before the Annual Meetrng that you are
revoking your proxy. ~ .

Submlt another proxy wnh a later date.
3. -.Vote by telephone or Internet after you have glven your proxy
Vota in person at the Annual Meeting.

What does It mean if | recelve more than one proxy card from SPX?

Your shares are Ilkely regrstered dlfferently or are ‘in more than one account. You should S|gn '
and return all proxy cards from SPX to guarantee that all your shares are voted.

.

What constitutes a quorum?

The presence in person or by proxy. of the holders of one-thrrd of the total number of shares
of SPX stock issued,and outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Meetlng constitutes a -
quorum. You will be,considered part of the quorum if you return a signed and dated proxy card, if
you vote by telephone or Internet or if you attend the Annual Meetlng ' <.

Abstentions are counted as “shares present” at the Annual Meeting for purposes of
determining whether a quorum exists. Proxies submitted by banks, brokers or other holders of
record holding shares for you as a bensficial owner that do not indicate a vote for some of or all
the proposals because that holder does not have voting authority and has not received voting
instructions from you (so-called “broker non-votes”) are also considered “'shares present” for
purposes of determining whether a quorum exists. If you are a beneficial owner, these holders are
permitted to voté your shares on the election of directors and the ratification of the appomtment of
our independent public accountants, even if they do not receive voting instructions from you.
Therefore, no broker non-votes will occur as to these proposals. :

‘What vote is required to approve each proposal?

Election of Directors: A majority of votes cast at the Annual Meetlng must approve the
election of each director. A majority of votes cast means that the number of shares voted “for” a
director must exceed the number of shares voted “against” that director. f you do not want to vote
your shares for one or more of the nominees, you may .indicate that in the space marked "abstain"
on the proxy card or as prompted during telephone or Internet voting, and your vote will not count
either “for” or "“against” the nominese.

Ratification of the Appointment of independent Public Accountants: Although we are not
required to submit the appointment of our independent public accountants to a vote of
stockholders, we believe that it is appropriate to ask that you ratify the appointment. Ratification of
the appointment of Deloitte & Touche'LLP as our independent public accountants requires the
affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present or represented by proxy at the Annual Meéting.
An abstention will have the effect of a vote against the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte &
Touche LLP as our independent public accountants since it is one fewer vote for approval.

Approval of Other Proposals The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present or
represented by proxy at the Annual Meetlng is required to approve any other action that may,
properly come bhefore the meetmg An abstention will have the effect of a vote against the ,
applicable proposal since it is one less vote ‘for approval. A broker noh-vote is not considered as a
share voted or havmg the power to vote and will not affect the outcome of the vote




How do | submit a stockholder proposal? - .. i .

You must submit a proposal to be included in our proxy statement for the 2009 Annual Meeting
no later than November 26, 2008. Your proposal must be In writing and comply with the proxy rules
of the Securities and-Exchange Commission (SEC). You should send-your proposal to our~
Corporate Secretary at our address on the cover of this proxy statement. :

You aiso may submit'a proposal that you do not want included in the proxy statemient but that
you want to raise at the 2009 Annual Méeting. We must receive your proposal in writihg on or after
December 2, 2008, but no later than January 1, 2008.

To be properly brought before an Annual Meeting, our by-laws require that your proposal give:
(1) a brief description of the business you want to bring before the meeting; (2) your name and
address as they appear on our stock records; (3) the class and number of shares of SPX stock that

. you beneficially own; and (4) any material interest you may have in the business you want to bring

before the mesting. You should send your proposal to our Corporate Secretary at our address on
the cover of this proxy statement, -

How do | recommend a director nominee?

If you wish to recommend a nominee for director for the 2009 Annual Meeting, our Corporate
Secretary must receive your written nomination on or before January 1, 2009, You should submit
your proposal to our Corporate Secretary at our address on the cover of this proxy statement. Our
by-laws require that you provide: (1) your name and address and the name and address of the
nomines; (2) a statement that you are a record holder of SPX shares entitled to vote at the meeting
and that you plan to appear in person or by proxy at the mesting to make the nomination; (3) a
description of all arrangements or understandings under which you are making the nomination;

(4) any other information that the rules of the SEC require to be included in a proxy statement,

(5) the nominee’s agreement to serve as a director If elected; and (6) a statement as to whether
each nomines, if elected, intends to tender, promptly following his or her election or re-election, an
irrevocable resignation effective upon his or her failure to receive the required vote for re-election at
the next meeting at which he or she would face re-election and the acceptance of such resignation
by the Board of Directors, in accordance with our Corporate Governance Guidelines.

Who pays to prepare, mall and sollclt the proxies?

We will pay all the costs of preparing, mailing and soliciting the proxies. We will ask brokers,
banks, voting trustees and other nominees and fiduciaries to forward the proxy materials to the -
bensficial owners of SPX commeon stock and to obtain the authority to execute proxies. We will
reimburse them for their reasonable expenses upon request. In addition to mailing proxy materials,
our directors, officers and employees may solicit proxies in person, by telephone or otherwise.
These individuals will not be specially compensated. We have retained Georgeson Stockholder
Communications Inc. to assist us in soliciting your proxy and will pay them an estimated fee of
$7,000 plus reasonable out-of-pocket expenses. Georgeson Stockholder will ask brokerage houses
and other custodians and nominees whether other persons are beneficial owners of SPX common
stock. If so, we will supply them with additional copies of the proxy materials for distribution to the
beneficial owners. We will also reimburse banks, nominees, fiduciaries, brokers and other
custodians for their costs of sending the proxy materials to the beneficial owners of SPX common
stock.




How do | access the proxy materials electronically?

We have elected to provide access to our proxy materials both by sending you this full set.of
proxy materials, including a proxy card, and by notifying. you of the availability of our proxy materials
on the Internet. Pursuant to new rules promulgated by the SEC, this proxy statement and our fiscal
2007 Annual Report to Stockholders are also available at our web site at hitp://www.spx.com.
Additionally, and in accordance with the new SEC rules, you may access our proxy statement at
http://investors.spx.com/annual.cfm, which does not have “cookies” that identify visitors to the site.




ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Seven directors currently serve on our Board of Directors. The directors are divided into three
classes. There are two directors in the first class, three directors in the second class-and two
directors in the third class. At this Annual Meeting, you will be asked to elect three directors. Four
directors will continue to serve on the Board of Directors as described below.

Each nominee is currently an SPX director and, if elected, each will serve for a term of three
years, until a qualified successor director has been elected, or until he resigns, retires or is
removed by the stockholders for cause,

Your shares will be voted as you specify on the enclosed proxy card. If you do not specify how
you want your shares voted, we will vote them FOR the election of Mr. Campbell, Mr. Fuliwocd and
Mr. Mancuso. If unforeseen circumstances (such as death or disability) make it necessary for the
Board of Directors to substitute another person for any of the nominees, your shares will be voted
FOR that other person. The Board of Directors does not anticipate that any of the nominees will be
unable to serve. The nominees and continuing directors have provided the following information
about themselves.

Nominees to Serve Until 2011 Annual Meeting

J. Kermit Campbell, 69, is the former Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Herman Miller, Inc., a designer and manufacturer of office
furniture. Since leaving Herman Miller, inc. in 1995, Mr. Campbell has
invested in a number of ventures, including Bering Truck Corporation, Black
Star Farms, United Power Line Contractors, United Shield International,
PassAlGng Networks and CORE Energy Co. He'is a director of Irwin Union
Bank Pacific and'PassAlong Networks. Mr. Campbell is an honorary Trustee
and past Chairman of the Board of Hope College, a Trustee of Eagle Village,
a Trustee of Traverse Symphony Orchestra and a trustee of NorthWest
Michigan College Foundatlon Mr Campbell has been a director of SPX since
1993. :

Emerson U. Fullwood, 60, was named Corporate Vice President of Xerox
Corporation in 1996. In 2004 he assumed the role and responsibilities of
Executive Chief of Staff and Marketing Officer for Xerox North America. He is
planning on retiring from Xerox in July, 2008. Prior to his current role he was
President of the Xerox Worldwide Channels Group, President of Latin
America, Executive Chief Staff Officer of Developing Markets and President of

- ‘Worldwide Customer. Services. Previously, Mr.Fullwood held several
executive and general management’ Ieadershlp positions with Xerox.
Mr. Fullwood serves as a director of the Vanguard Group and the Vanguard
Funds, the United Way of Rochester, the Rochester Boy Scouts of America,
the Xerox Foundation, Monroe Community College Foundation, the Urban

- League and Colgate Rochester Crozier Divinity School. He was formerly a

" director of General Signal Corporation. Mr. Fullwood has been a director of
SPX since 1998,




Michael J. Mancuso, 65, is the retired Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of General Dynamics Corporation, a market leader in
mission-critical information systems and technologies; land and expeditionary
combat systems; armaments and munitions; shipbuilding and marine -
systems; and business aviation. He joined General Dynamics in 1993 as Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer for General Dynamics Land

Systems, Inc., and was promoted to-Vice' President and Chief Financial
Officer in 1994. Before joining General Dynamics, Mr. Mancuso spent seven
years with United Technologies. His background also includes 21 years with
General Electric. Mr. Mancuso is a director of CACI International Inc., LS!
Logic Corporation and the Shaw Group Inc. Mr. Mancuso has been a director
of SPX since 2005.

Directors Continuing Until 2010 Annual Meeting

J. Michael Fitzpatrick, 61, has been an Executive Advisory Partner of Wind
Point Partners, a middle market private equity firm since 2005, and has been
Chairman and CEOQ of Citadel Plastics Holdings, Inc., a portfolio company of
Wind Point Partners, since March 2007. Citade! Plastics acquires and
manages companies in the plastics compounding industry. Dr. Fitzpatrick
was Vice-Chairman, an executive position, of Carpenter Technology from
February 2006 to October 2006. He was President & Chief Operating Officer
of Rohm and Haas Company, an industry-leading specialty materials
company, which invents, develops, and manufactures products for the
personal care, grocery, autqmotlve building and censtruction and electronics
industries, from 1998 until his retirement in 2005. He joined Rohm and Haas
Company in 1975, and served in various research and development and

. management positions until his appointment as President and Chief
Operating Officer. Dr. Fitzpatrick is a director of McCormick and

Company, Inc. and was formerly ‘a director of Rohm and Haas Company and
Carpenter Technology Corporation. Dr. Fntzpatrlck has been a director of SPX
since 2007.

A.'bert A. Koch 65, is President and CEQ of Handleman Company. He is
also a.Vice Chairman and Managing Director with AlixPartners, LLP an,
international corporate turnaround and financial advisory firm. Mr. Koch joined
AlixPartners in. 1995 as Managing Principal. Mr. Koch has been Chairman of
Polar Corporation, a privately owned company, since 2004, and was its CEO
from 2004 untii 2007. In 2004 and 2005, Mr. Koch was the Chairman, interim
President and CEOQ.at Champion Enterprises, Inc. In 2002 and 2003,

Mr.. Koch served as interim CFO of the Kmart Corporatlon Mr. Koch also was
a partner with Emst & Young for 14 years, including 7 years as Managing
Partner of the firm’s Detroit office. Mr. Koch has been a director of SPX since
2007.




Directors Continuing Until 2009 Annual Meeting

Sarah R. Coffin, 55, is President, Performance Products Division, Hexion
Specialty Chemicals, Inc., a supplier of thermoset and other high
performance resins. Ms. Coffin worked from 2004 to 2005 as Vice President
Sales and Marketing for Seaman Corporation, a private firm serving the
industrial coated fabric market. She served as Senior Vice President Global
Sourcing, Human Resources and Information Technology of Noveon,-Inc., a
global producer of performance polymer systems and adhesives from 2002
to 2003. From 1998 to 2002, she was Group President. Specialty Plastics and
Polymer Additives, Senior Vice President and General Manager Performance
Coatings with BF Goodrich Performance Materials Company/Noveon, Inc., a
manufacturer of performance polymer systems and additives. She has been
a director of SPX since 1995.

Christopher J. Kearney, 52, is Chairman, President and Chief Executive -
Officer of SPX. He was named President and Chief Executive Officer in
December 2004, and added the title of Chairman in May 2007. He joined the
company in.February 1997 as Vice President, Secretary and General Counsel
and an officer of the company. Prior to joining SPX he was Senior Vice
President and General Counsel of Grimes Aerospace Company, a leading
manufacturer of aircraft fighting equipment, engine system components.and
electronic systems.:His business experience also includes positions. at
Borg-Warner- Chemicals as Senior Attorney and Senior Counsel at General
Electric’s global materials business. Mr. Kearney holds an undergraduate
degree from the University of Notre Dame and a law degree from DePaul
University Law School. Mr. Kearney is a Member of the Advisory Council for .
University Libraries, University of Notre Dame. Mr. Kearney has been a
director of SPX since 2004.




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Corporate Govemance Gurdelmes

As part of its ongoing commitment to good corporate governance, the Board of Dlrectors has |
codified its corporate governance practices into a set of Corporate Governance Guidelines. These
guidelines assist the Board of Directors in the exercise of its responsibilities and may be amended
by the Board of ‘Directors from time to time. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines comply with the
applicable reguirements of the listing standards of the. New York Stock Exchange, and are available
on our website:(www.spx.com) under the heading Investor Relations—Corporate Governance. In
addition; stockholders may request a written copy-of the guidelines by writing to our Corporate
Secretary at our address shown on the cover of this proxy statement

Code of Busmess Conduct L

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct that applies to all our directors, officers and
employees, including our CEO and senior financial and accounting officers. Qur Code of Business
Conduct requires that afl our directors, officers and employees avoid conflicts of interest, comply
with all laws and other legal requirements, conduct business in an honest and ethical manner and
otherwise act with integrity and in our, and our stockholders’, best interest. In addition, our Code of
Business Conduct acknowledges special ethical obligations for financial reporting. The Code ot
Business Conduct meets the requirements of-a code of business conduct and ethics under the
listing standards of the New- York Stock Exchange and the requirement of a “Code of Ethrcs ds
defined in the rules of the SEC. We maintain a current copy. of our Code of Business Conduct, and
will promptly post anly amendments to or waivers of our Code of Business Conduct that apply to
our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or contraller, or
persons performing similar functions, on-our website {www.spx.com)} under the heading Investor
Relations—Corporate Governance—Commitment to Compliance. Stockholders may request a
written copy of the Code of Business Conduct by writing to our Corporate Secretary at our address
shown on the cover.of this proxy statement.

Director Independence

Our Corporate Governance Guidelines state that a substantial majonty of the Board of Directors
will cansist of directors who meet the independence requirements of the listing standards of the
New York Stock Exchange. Accordingly, on an annual basis, our Board of Directors reviews whether
each of our directors is independent. The Board of Directors has adopted categorical independence
Standards to help guide it in this process. Qur Independence Standards are available on our
website {www.spx.com), under the heading Investor Relations—Corporate Governance. Members of
the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governance-Committee must
meet all applicable independence tests of the New York Stock Exchange and SEC. Based onits
most recent annyal review, the Board of Directors has concluded that each of our non-employee
directors and director nominees, Messrs.” Campbell, Fullwood, Mancuso, Fitzpatrick and Koch, and
Ms. Coffin, are independent as defined in our Independence Standards and the listing standards of
the New York Stock Exchange.

Mr. Mancuso serves on the audit committees of three public companies, in addition to his
service on our Audit Committee. Pursuant to the requirements of the New York Stock Exchange and
our Audit Committee charter, our Board has determined that Mr. Mancuso’s service on the audit
committees of three other companies has not impaired and is not expected to impair the ability of
Mr. Mancuso to effectively serve on our Audit Committee.

The non-empioyee members of the Board of Directors meet in executive session without
management at least six times per year. In addition, the non-employee members of the Board of




Directors meet in executive session with the CEO on a regular basis. Meetings of non-employee
directors are chaired by the Lead Director. Mr. Campbell is our current Lead Director.

Charitable Contributions '

It is the policy of the Board of Directors that no officer or director shall solicit contributions for
charities from other officers or directors or directly from SPX if the director or officer soliciting the
contributions personally controls the charity. In addition, no officer or director shall solicit
contributions from other officers or directors for charities controlled by SPX.

From time to time, SPX may make contributions to charitable organizations for which a member
of our Board of Directors serves as a director or officer. In the past three fiscal years, however, the
amount of any of these contributions in any single fiscal year has not exceeded the greater of
{a) $1 million or (b). 2% of the charitable organization's consolidated gross revenues.

Communications with Directors '

Interested parties may communicate concerns to any of our non-employee directors by writing.
to the director in care of our Corporate Secretary at our address shown on the cover of this proxy
statement. In accordance with the. policy adopted by our non-employee directors, our-Corporate
Secretary will promptly relay to the addressee all communications that he determines require
prompt attention by-a non-employee director and will regularly provide the non-employee directors
with a summary of all substantive communications addressed to non-employee directors.

Nominatlons for Directors

The Nominating and Governance Committes is responsible for the proposal of director ‘
nominees and will consider director nominee recommendations offered by stockholders in
accordance with our by-laws. The Nominating and Governance Committee selects individuals- as
director nominees based on their business and professional accomplishments, integrity,
demonstrated ability to make independent analytical inquiries, ability to understand our business,
absence of conflicts of interest, and willingness to devote the necessary time to Board duties. The
Nominating and Governance Committee has not set minimum requirements with respect to age,
education or years of business experience or set specific required skill sets for directors, but
requires that each director has a proven record of success and leadership. The Nominating and-
Governance Committee expects that the Board of Directors as a whole will consist of individuals
with knowledge of our industry and strategic perspective, as well as accounting expertise and
experience on other Boards. Additionally, the Nominating and Governance Committee considers
effective interaction among Board members and between the Board of Directors and management
to be crucial factors in considering lndlwduals for nomination.

In considering individuals for nomination, the Nominating and Governance Commlttee consults
with our CEQ. A director's qualifications in meeting the above-referenced criteria are considered at
least each time the director is re-nominated for Board membership. The Committee applies the
same process and standards to the evaluation of each potential director nominee, regardiess of
whether he or she is recommended by one or more stockholders or is identified by some ather
method.

At such times as the Board of Directors and the Nominating and Governance Commiittee
determine there is a need to add or replace a director, the Nominating and Governance Committee
identifies director candidates through references by its members, other directors, management or
by an outside search firm.




Once the Nominating and.Governance Committee Identifies a director candidate, the candidate
Is asked to conduct interviews with directors and members of. management. Following that process,
the Nominating and Governance Committee and the Board of Directors determine whether to
nominate the candidate for election at an annual meeting of stockholders o, if applicable, to
appoint the candidate as a director, Any such nomination or appointment is subject to acceptance
by the candrdate Our by-laws require that any director appointed to the Board of Directors other
than at an annual meeting of stockholders is submitted for approval at the next annuel meetlng

If you wish to recommend a nominee for director for the 2009 Annual Meeting, our Corporate -
Secretary must receive your written nomination on or before January 1, 2009. You should submit
your proposal to our Corporate Secretary at our'address on the cover of this proxy statement Our
by-laws require that you provide: (1) your name and address and the nhame and address of the .
nominee; (2) a staternent that yoU'are a record holder of SPX shares entitled to- vote at the meeting
and that you pian to appear in person or by proxy ‘at'the meetlng 1o make the nom\netion &
description of all arrangements or understandings under which you are making the nomination,

(4) any other information that the rules of the SEC require to be included in a proxy statement; "

{5) the nominee's agreement to serve as a director if elected; and (6) a statement as to whether the
nominee, if elected, intends to tender, promptly following such nominee’s election or re-alsction, an
irrevocabie resignation effective upon such nominse's failure to receive the required vote for
re-election at the-next meeting at which such nominee would face re-election and the acceptance of
such resignation by our-Board of Directors. Pursuant to its charter, our Nominating-and Governance
Committee will not nominate a director candidate unless the individual agrees to submit a
resignation as described above following his or her election.

Director Electlon

The Board of Directors has- amended our by-laws to clanfy our director election process..In
uncontested elections, we will continue to elect. directors by majority vote. Under this majority. vote
standard, each. director must be elected by a majority. of the votes cast with respect to that director,
meaning that the number of shares voted "“for” a director exceeds the number of shares voted
“against” that director. In a contested. election, directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes
repressented in person or by proxy. at the meeting. An alection is contestad if the number of
nominees exceeds the number of directors to be elected. Whether an election is contested: or not is
determined ten-days in advance of when we file our definitive proxy statement with the SEC. This <
year's election is uncontested, and the majority vote standard will apply. - o

i & nomines already servmg as a drrector were not e!ected at the Annual Meettng, Delawdre
law provides that the director would continue to serve on the Board as a “holdover director” until |
his or her successor is elected. Our Nominating and Governance Commlttee however, has
established procedures requiring directors to tender to the Board advance resignations to address
this issue. These procedures are set farth in our Corporate Governance Guidelines and provide that
the-Board will nominate for election or re-election .as a director only candidates who agree to
tender, promptly following each annual meeting of stockholders -at which they are elected or
re-glected as a director, irrevocable resignations that will be effective only if (1) the director fails to
raceive a sufficient number of votes for re-election at the next annual meeting of stockholders at
which he or ehe faces re-election and (2) the Board accepts the resignation. In addition, the Board -
will fill director vacancies and new directorships only with candidates who .agree to tender, promptly
following their appoiritment to the Board the same form of reS|gnation tendered by other directors
in accordance with this provision. ' ' '

In the event a resignation (s triggered as a resutt ot a dtrectcr not recewlng a majority vote, the
Nominating and Governance Committee will consider the resignation and make a recommendation
to the Board on whethar to accept or reject it, or whether other action should be taken. The Boartd
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will consider the Committee’s recommendation and publicly disclose its decision and the rationale
behind it in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC within 90 days from the date of the
certification of the election results. At the 2007 Annual Meetlng, each director received a majority of
the votes cast for hlS or her election. )

Attendance at Annual Meettng

- It is our policy torinvite all the members of our Board of Dlrectors to attend our Annual Meeting.
While their attendance is not required, each of our directors attended our last Annual Meeting.
Currently, we expect all the members of our Board: of Directors to attend the 2008 Annual Meeting.

Related-Party Transactions

Pursuant to its charter and a written related-party policy, the Audit Committee is charged with
reviewing and approving any related-party transactions. A related-party transaction is a transaction
involving SPX and any of the following persons: a director, director nominee or executive officer of
SPX; a holder of more than 5% of SPX common stock; 6r an immediate family member or person
sharing the household of any of these persons. When considering a transaction, the Audit
Committee is required to review all relevant factors, including whether the transaction is in the best
interest of our company, our company's rationale for entering into the transaction, alternatives to the
transaction, whether the transaction is on terms at least as fair to our company as would be the
case were the transaction entered into with a third party, potential for an actual or apparent conflict
of interest, and the ‘extent of the related party's interest in the transaction. Our legal staff is primarily
responsible for the development and implementation of procedures and controls to obtain '
information from our directors and officers relating to related-party transactions and then
determining, based on the facts and circumstances, whether we or a related party has a direct or
indirect material interest in the transaction. Currently, the only related-party transactions requiring
disclosure are the interest-free loans made in 2001 to Messrs. Kearney, O'Leary and Foreman, as '
described in "Compensat:on Discussion and AnaIyS|s—Other Benefits and Perquisites,” beginning
onp. 27.. DU . . ' -

In the course of the Board of Directors’ determination regarding the independence of each of
the non-employee directors, the Audit Committee considered the following transactions,
relationships or arrangements. Each of Ms. Coffin, Mr. Fullwood, Mr. Koch and Mr. Mancuso is a
director or officer at a-company that conducts business with SPX. In each case, the Audit
Committee determined that the amount of sales to or purchases from the respective company was
below the greater of $1 million or two. percent-of the annual revenue of each of the other
companies and SPX, and that the transactions otherwise were not directly influenced by and did
not redound to the benefit of the relevant SPX director. In addition, the Audit Committee datermined
that none of these transactions presented an actual or apparent conflict of interest or adversely
affected the director’s independence. No member of our Board or management was aware of any
relevant transactions other than those descrlbed in thls section.
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Audit Committee
Meetings in 2007:
Members:;

Function:

Board Committees

required by the listing standards of the New York Stock

The Board of Directors met six times during 2007 The Board of Directors currently has a
standing Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Governarice Committee.
Each director attended at least 75% of the meetings of the Board of Directors and of the
committees on which he or she served during the period for which he or she served in 2007. Each
committee has adopted a charter that specifies the composition and responsibilities of the
committee. Each committee charter is posted on our website (www.spx.com) under the heading
Investor Relations—Corporate Governance and is available to stockholders upon written request
made to our Corporate Secretary at the address shown on the cover of this proxy statement.

.. Seven
J. Kermit Campbell, Chairman

Emerson U, Fullwood
Michael J. Mancuso
Charles E. Johnson Il (Retired May 4, 2007)

' ‘ Albert A. Koch (Appomted effective May 4, 2007)

The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the
Audit Committee is mdependent in accordance with our Audlt
Committee charter and our Corporate Governance Guidelines
and Independence Standards, as well as the rules of the SEC
and the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange. In
addition, the Board of Directors has determined that each
member of the Committee has a working familiarity with basic

“finance and accounting practices, including the ability to read

and understand financial statements. Finally, the Board of

“Directors has determined that Mr. Campbell is an “audit

committee financiat expert” under the rules of the SEC and has
accounting and/or related financial management expertise, as
Exchange. . _ o
The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring the integrity of
the financial information reported by our. company. The

. Committee -appdints the independent auditors, approves the

scope of annual audits performed by them.and by the internal -
audit staff, and reviews the results of those audits. The
Committee also meets with. management, the independent L
auditors and the internal audit staff to review audit and non-audit
results and opinions, as well as financial, accounting and internal
control matters. Additional information on the Committee and its
activities is set farth in the Audit Committee Report on p. 55.

12




Compensation Committee
Meetings in 2007:
Members:

Function:

Five

David P Williams, Chairman (Retired May 4, 2007)

Sarah R. Coffin, Chairperson (Appointed Chairperson effective
May 4, 2007)

J. Kermit Campbell

Emerson U. Fullwood

Albert A. Koch (Appeinted effective February 20, 2008)

Charles E. Johnson il, Ex-Officio, Non-Voting Member (Retired
May 4, 2007) _ : )

The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the
Compensation Committee is independent in accordance with our
Compensation Committee charter, Corporate Governance
Guidelines and Independence Standards, as well as the rules of
the SEC and the listing standards of the New York Stock
Exchange.. In addition, the Board of Directors has determined that
each member of the Committee is an “outside director” as
described by Section 162(m) and a “non-employee director” as
defined under Section 16 under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended.

The Committee sets the compensation program for our executive
officers, including executive employment agreements, restricted
stock and restricted stock unit grants and other awards. The
Committee receives input regarding compensation for all officers
including. proposed compensation, from its outside compensation
advisor, as well as from our CEO for his direct reports. The
Committee has delegated to our CEQ the authority to issue up to
an aggregate of 75,000 restricted shares or restricted stock units
annually to persons other than Section 16 officers.

The Committee has the authority under its charter to retain,
terminate and set fees and retention terms for such
compensation advisors or other outside advisors as it deems
necessary or appropriate in its sole discretion. The Committee
reviews outside advisors and consultants on at least an annual
basis to determine objectivity and review performance, including
a review of the total fees paid to such advisors or consultants.
The Committee has retained an individual, who is employed by
Watson Wyatt Worldwide (Watson Wyatt), as its outside
compensation advisor.

The Committee, together with the management-led Retirement
and Welfare Plan Administrative Committee, reviews the
investment performance and allocation, actuarial assumptions
and funding practices of our pension, healthcare and defined
contribution plans.

Additional information on the Committee, its activities, its
relationship with its outside compensation advisor and
management'’s role in setting compensation is set forth in
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” beginning on p. 20.
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Nominating and Governance
Committee

Meetings in. 2007;
Members:

Function:

Three

. Emerson U, Fullwood, Chairman

J. Kermit Campbelt .

David P. Williams (Retired May 4, 2007)

Charles E. Johnson Il, Ex-Officio, Non-Voting Member (Retired
May 4, 2007) :

J. Michael Fitzpatrick (Appointed effective May 4, 2007)

The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the
Nominating and Governance Committee is independent in
accordance with our Nominating and Governance Committee
charter, Corporate Governance Guidelines and Independence

. Standards, as well as the rules of the SEC and the listing
. standards of the New York Stock Exchange.

~ The Committee assists the Board of Directors in identifying

qualified individuals to become Board members and
recommending to the Board of Directors the director nominees;
develops and recommends to the Board of Directors our
Corporate Governance Guidelines; leads the Board of Directors in
its annual review of the Board of Director's performance; makes

. recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the

compensation of non-employee directors; and makes
recommendations to the Board of Directors with respect to the
assignment of individual directors to various committees. The
Committee also approves awards under the 2006 Non-Employee
Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan, subject to approval by the Board
of Directors. -.. _
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Directors who are SPX employees receive no compensation for their services as directors. We
currently compensate non-employee directors under the SPX Corporation 1997 Non-Employee
Directors’ Compensation Plan (the 1997 Directors' Plan"), the SPX Corporation 2005
Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan (the “2005 Directors’ Plan”), and the SPX Corporation
2006 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan (the 2006 Directors’ Plan™).

Cash and Equity Compensation

We compensate our non-employee directors using a combination of cash and equity. The
Nominating-and Governance Committee reviews non-emp!oyee dlrector compensanon from time to
time. . X .

The annual retainer for non-employee directors for 2007 was increased to $75,000, from

$60,000 in 2006. No additiona! compensation was awarded for service as a member of any
- committee, service as chair of any committee or attendance at meetings. Effective May 4, 2007, the
Board of Directors appointed a new Lead Director, and set additional annual compensation for that
role of $25,000, which amount was pro-rated in 2007 for the period of service. Also effective May 4,
2007, the Board of Directors appointed Mr. Kearney Chairman. Mr. Kearney receives no additional
compensation for his service as Chairman. Mr. Johnson, a non- employee director, served as
Chairman until his retirement from the Board on May 4, 2007, and received additional .
compensation for his service as-Chairman as discussed in the Director Compensation Table and o
accompanying footnotes, beginning on p. 16. S

in addition to a cash retainer, each non-employee director receives equity awards. Each of the
Nominating and Governance Commitiee and the Board of Directors believes that awarding equity
grants subject to performance vesting helps ensure that our directors will continue to focus on
improving both short-term and long-term stockholder value. In 2005 and 2006, under the 2005
Directors’ Plan, each non-employee director received 2,500 phantom stock shares annually.

Beginning in 2007, we replaced the annual phantom stock grants to non-employee directors
with annuai grants of 2,500 shares of restricted stock under the 2006 Directors’ Plan. Both the
phantom stock shares and restricted stock have a three—year vesting perlod based on SPX
stockholder return versus the S&P 500. On each vesting date, we compare SPX stockholder return
to the performance of the S&P 500 for the prior year and for the cumulative period since the date of
the grant. If SPX outperforms the S&P 500 for the prior year, the one-third portion of the grant
associated with that year will vest. If SPX outperforms the S&P 500 for the cumulative period, any
unvested portion of the grant that was subject to vesting on or prior to the vesting date will vest.
We settle the vested portion of any phantom stock shares grant in cash. Phantom stock shares or
shares of restricted stock that do not vest within the three-year vesting period in accordance with
these performance requirements are forfeited. Directors receive dividends on the unvested portion
of their restricted stock, but do not receive dlwdend equivalent payments on unvested phantom
stock shares. .o e :

Deferred Compensation Program for Non-Employee Directore

The 1997 Directors’ Plan provides that each non-employee director may defer up to 100% of
his or her annual retainer of $75,000. Each non-employee director who defers his or her annual
retainer through this program has the option of investing any deferred amounts through a grantor
trust either in the form of share units or money credits.deposited in one-or more funds offered by
the plan’s trustee. The interest rate earned on the money credits is not above-market or preferential.
We distribute amounts deferred pursuant to this program to each non-employee director in a lump
sum payment at the earlier of age 70 or termination of his or her service as a director of SPX.
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Stock Ownership Guidelines

Stock ownership guidelines for non-employee directors are set at three times their annual
retainer. The Nominating and Governance Commitiee requested that each director attain the
desired level of ownership within five years of-the later of appointment as a director-or the date the
stock ownership guidelines were last increased in December 2006 Each director meets the - .. -
minimum stock ownership guidelines. . : v

Director Compensation Table . -

The following table summarizes the compensation of our directors who served during 2007.
Mr. Kearney, ‘our Chairman, President and CEQ, receives no compensation in connection with his
service as a director and, accordingly, is omitted from this table.

‘Change'in - [
Penslion - .
Value and
Nonqualified
|- ) . Deferred - .
L Fees Earned or C Compensation All Other
Paid in Cash Stock Awards Earnings’ Compensation Total
Name - : @M 4 ® (@) $) (3 $ (%)

1 J. Kermit Campbell ' $91,645 $ 76,687 $2,720° N/A | $171,052
Sarah R. Coffin $75,000 | $ 70,999 | $4,270 . N/A $150,269
J. Michael Fitzpatrick : $64,315 $ 81,829 N/A - N/A $146,144
Emerson U. Fullwood . $75,000 . % 70,999 - .- N/A - | - NA $145,999
Charles E. Johnson 1l (4) $93,425 $116,750- | - NJA  N/A - | $210,175

| Albert A. Koch o $64315 | % 81,829 N/A N/A = | $146,144
Michael J. Mancuso $75,000 . | $ 70,999 , N/A NfA ‘| $145,999
David P Williams {4) . $25,479 $116,750 . NA N/A- $142 229

(1) Represents annual retalner of $75,000, the receipt of whrch the non employee drrector may
defer at his or her option. No drrector elected to defer any income in 2007. Mr. Campbell also
_received $16,645, representing the anhual retainer for serving as Lead Director, pro-rated from
May 4, 2007, the date he assumed that position, Mr. Johnson s annual retainer of $75,000 and
$200,000 for service as Chairman of the Board were each pro-rated through May 4, 2007.
Messrs. Fitzpatrick and Koch joined the Board of Dlrectors on February 22, 2007, and received
a pro—rated retainer.

(2) Represents the FAS 123R cost of stock awards as recorded in our financial statements in 2007,
See note 15 to the financial statements contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the .
period ended December 31, 2007 for additional information regarding the calculation of these
numbers. We recorded a greater expense for Messrs. Fitzpatrick and Koch because they
received their 2007 grants at a later date than the other directors, when they joined the Board
of Directors. We recorded a greater expense for Méssrs, Johnson and Wllllams due to the
acceleration of vesting that occurred upon their retrrement :

The FAS 123R grant date farr value of the 2,500 shares of restricted stock awarded to each of.
Messrs. Campbell, Fullwoad, Johnson, Mancuso and Williams, and Ms. Coffin in 2007 was -
$46.70 per share. The FAS 123R-grant date fair value of the 2,500 shares of restricted stock:
awarded to each of Messrs. Fitzpatrick and Koch*May 4, 2007, was $59.88.per share.
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(3) Under the Directors’ Retirement Plan {the “Retirement Plan”), which the Board of Directors

terminated at the end of 1996, a director with ten or more years of service receives an annual :
pension, payable for life, equal to the annual retainer in effect at the date of the Retirement
Plan's termination. A director with more than five but less than ten years of service receives a
proration of the ten-year amount. Covered directors also will receive certain lump-sum
payments in the event of a change in control. We have established a trust to ensure payment
of benefits accrued under this Retirement Plan. Each current director. covered by the
Retirement Plan will receive benefits at the earlier of age 70 or termination of his or her service
as a director of SPX in a lump sum payment based on the present value of his or her vested _
benefits at the Retirement Plan’s termination. Numbers reported in this column reflect the
change between December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007 in the current present value of
the vested benefits of the current directors who were covered by the Retirement Plan. The
present values as of December 31, 2007 of the vested benefits of the current directors who
remain covered by the Hetlrement Plan were as follows: Mr. Campbell $75,287; and Ms. Coffi n,
$34,848.

Messrs. Johnson and Williams retired from our Board of Directors effective May 4, 2007, in
accordance with our policy that a nonemployee director retire from the Board of Directors’ at
the conclusion of his or her term following his or her 70" birthday.

The total number of unvested phantom stock shares held by each of the directors at
December 31, 2007, was: Mr. Campbell, 2,567; Ms. Coffin, 2,567; Mr. Fullwood, 2,561; and
Mr. Mancuso, 2,501. Phantom stock shares are settled in cash. Accordingly, no director held .
any vested phantom stock shares at December 31, 2007. )

All stock options held by directors have vested. The total number of options held by each of
the directors serving as at December 31, 2007, was: Mr. Campbell, 19,800; Ms. Coffin, 23,800,
Mr. Fullwood, 23,800; and Messrs. Mancuso, Fitzpatrick and Kech, 0. -
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Directors and Officers __

- OWNERSHIP OF COMMON STOCK

The following table-shows how much of our common stock the directors, named executive
officers, and all officers-and directors as a.group beneficially.owned as of March 14, 2008. The
"named executive officers” are the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, and the other

three most highly compensated officers who were serving at the end' of the last fiscal year.
Benefuc:al ownership is a techmcal term broadly defined by the SEC to mean more thian

ownersh:p in the usual sense. In general, beneficial ownership includes any shares a dlrector or
officer can vote or transfer and stock options that are exercisable currently or become exermsable
within 60 days. The number of our shares beneficially owned by each of the named executive
officers and by all directors and officers as a group includes shares held in the’ SPX Corporauon
Retirement Savings and Stock Ownership Plan. Except as otherwise ‘noted, the stockholders named
in this table have sole voting and investment power for all shares shown as beneficially owned by

them.

The percent of SPX common stock owned is based on 53 425, 524 shares outstandmg as of '

IVIarch 14, 2008.

Shares of

R Common Stock ) Optiéns
‘ : Beneficially - Exercisable +{ Percent
Directors and Named Executlve Officers Owned Within 60 Days Total :| of Class
J. Kermit Campbeil 18,210 19,800 38,010 *
Don L. Canterna 52,345 24,000 76345 | . *
Sarah R. Coffin 10,780 23,800 34,580 *
J. Michael Fitzpatrick 7,000 0 - 7,000 *
Robert B. Foreman 126,170 54,628 180,798 *
Emerson U. Fuliwood 6,467 23,800 30,267 *
Christopher J. Kearney (1) 341,844 200,000 541,944 | 1.0%
Albert A, Koch 5,000 0 5,000 *
Kevin L. Lilly 48,163 0 48,163 *
Michael J. Mancuso 5,000 0 5,000 *
Patrick J. O'Leary 205,228 1,308,546 | 1,513,774 | 2.8%
All directors and officers as a group '
971,510 1,664,574 | 2,626,084 | 4.9%

(14 persons)

* Less than 1.0.

(1) Does not include 455 shares owned by Mr. Kearney's son as to which Mr. Kearney disclaims

beneficial ownership.
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Other Principal SPX Stockholders ' .o

Set forth in the table below is information about persons whom we know to be the beneficial

" owners of more than five percent of the issued and outstanding shares of our common stock. The
percent of class held is based on. 53,425,524 shares of our common stock outstanding on
March 14, 2008. . :

Shares of

: . , ] ~+ Common Stock Percent
Name and Address ' ) . " Beneficially Owned | of Class
FMR LLC (1)
82 Devonshire Street
Boston, MA 02109 L. 8022802 - | 15.0%
AXA Financial, Inc. (2) , g e .
1290 Avenue of the Americas . T . ' -
New York, NY 10104’ S "7, 885, 614 14.8%

M

2

Based on information ‘provided in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2008,
FMR LLC has sole voting power with respect to 2,101 of the shares, shared voting power with
respect to none of the shares, and sole dispositive power with respect to all the shares.

Based on information provided in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2008
by AXA Financial, Inc. and certain of its affiliated entities (collectively, the “AXA Entities”).*The
AXA Entities have sole voting power with respect to 4,725,383 of the shares, shared voting
power with respect to 283,429 of the shares, sole dispositive power with respect to 7,885,601
of the shares, and shared dlsposmve power with respect to 13 of the shares. Most shares are
held by AXA Financial, Inc.'s subsndlary, AllianceBernstein, which has sole voting power with
respect to 3,626, 587 of the shares, shared voting power with respect to 283,429 of the shares
sole dispositive power with respect to 5,487,605 of the shares and shared drsposmve power
with respect to 13 of the shares.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP
REPORTING COMPLIANCE

" Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requr‘res that SPX's officers, directors and

10% stockholders file reports of ownership and changes of ownership of SPX common stock with
the SEC and the New York Stock Exchange. 'Based on a review of copies of these reports provided
to us and written representatlons from officers and directors, we believe that all filing requirements
were met, except that James A. Peters, Vice President, Operations, was inadvertently late rn .
repomng the exercrse of 30,000 options and the sale of the underlylng shares.

19




EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

- Y ' Compensatlon Discusslon and Analysls

The Compensatton Committee of the Board of Dtrectors {the “Committee”) sets compensation-
. for our executive officers and oversees our executive compensation programs. The Committee is
composed entirely of independent directors.

'-"This discussion includes references to performance targets. We use these targets exclusively in
‘the context of executive compensation, and they should not be used for any other purpose, or
regarded as an indication of management’s expectations of future results.

Executive Compensation Philasophy

The Committee considers many facts and circumstances when designing and setting
compensatmn for our named executive officers, but follows these guudlng principles:

* Compensation Should Reward Performance

» Compensation Should Allgn the Interests of Named Executive, Offlcers with Those of our
Long-Term Stockholders

.+ Compensation Should Support our Busmess and Human Capltal Strategies
. Compensatlon Should Attract, Motlvate and Retaln Ouallty Named Executtve Offlcers

Executlve Compensation Prachces

The Committee believes that compensatlon should ‘be tailored to the prevailing business and
competltlve environment. Accordingly, it does not rely primarity on formula-driven compensation, but
rather exercises judgment in awardlng compensation. Qur success depends on our ability to attract
and retain experienced and proven leaders and to motivate them to consistently deliver superior
results.

The Committee also believes that the percentage of incentive-based pay should increase along
with responsibility and authority. For our senior-level'management, and in particular for our named
executive officers, a significant majority of current compensation (which we define as salary, target
.bonus and equity awards) is incentive-based. Cash incentive payments are offered in the form of
bonuses (we refer to “bonuses” and “non-equity incentive plan compensation” interchangeably in
this document) and are based on operating performance. Equity incentive awards to named
executive officers are granted in the form of restricted stock, and are designed to reward increased
stock price and to aid in retention. We believe that the combination of these two incentives works to
most effectively achieve our compensation philosophy. We also offer our named executive officers
perquisites, retirement and termination benefits designed to be competitive with those offered at our
peer companies. .

The Committee has retained an individual, employed by Watson Wyatt, as its outside
compensation advisor. The outside compensation advisor provides no services to our company
other than advice to and services for the Committee relating to compensation of our executive
officers, and the Nominating and Governance Committee relating to director compensation. Watson
Wyatt, the employer of the outside compensation advisor, provides services to our company
including advice relating to non-executive officer compensation, retirement and pension plan
administration and actuariat work, healthcare strategy and pricing, due diligence and integration in
connection with mergers and acquisitions, technology solutions and survey data services. The
Committee has determined that its outside compensation advisor provides objective and competent
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advice,;and has adopted protocols to help ensure that the outside compensation advisor continues
to offer abjective advice. : " -

The Committee reviews named executive officer compensation at least annually, with a
thorough review typically conducted at its December meeting. Targets for the bonus.plans are
usually set at the Committee's February meeting. :

Management serves an important role in the compensatidn-setting process. The most '
significant aspects of management's role are as follows:

« Our human resources department-prepares materials for the Committee, as does the .
Committee's outside compensation advisor. . :

+ Qur CEO provides his evaluation of the perforiance of each of the other named executive
officers.

« Management prepares and recommends business performance targets and objectives.

* Qur CEO offers recommendations regarding salary levels, bonus targets and equity awards
.for each named executive officer other than himself. .- .

Our named executive officers are judged primarily on the performance of the company.
Additional, subjective assessments take various forms, but include direct assessments of
performance, formal Talent Assessment Process reviews, and compliance with leadership
standards. Our CEQ and our human resources department use these assessments to. develop pay
recofnmendations for our named executive officers other than the CEO. These recommendations
are reviewed with the Committee’s outside compensation advisor and then shared with the
Committee. The Committee establishes and approves all elements of compensation for our
Chairman. President and CEO based on input from and conversations with the Committee's outside
compensation advisor. The Committee’s outside compensation advisor reviews compensation
recommendations for the other executive officers, based primarily on market considerations, and
offers his input. Management and the Committee’s outside compensation advisor discuss their
recommendations prior to presenting them to the Committee. The Committee then considers the
recommendations in setting compensation for each named executive officer. ' ‘

The companies against which the Committee benchmarks compensation- for each named

executive officer are: | .o : r
« Ameri¢an Standard Cos. Inc. '+ Dover Corp. + Parker-Hannifin Corp.
» Carlisle Cos, Inc. + Flowserve Corp. = Pentair, inc._ Ny
“= Crane Co. ' = Goodrich Corp. + Rockwell Automation
+ Cooper Industries, Ltd. * » Harsco Corp. * = Textron, Inc. '
* Cummins Inc. + Ingersoll-Rand Co. Ltd..  * Timken Co.
« Danaher Corp. « ITT Corp.

The Committee’s outside compensation advisor is primarily responsible for selecting the peer
companies and providing the benchmark analysis. The list of peer companies is reviewed by
management and approved by the Committee. The companies selected are industrial

mariufacturing companies from the Capital Goods sector, as classified by Standard and Poors. The
companies are similar in size and have characteristics similar to SPX, and are companies against
which we compete for talent. Factors considered.in determining the peer group include revenues,
employee count, equity market capitalization, total assets, operating income, net income, return-on.
equity, return on assets, and total stockholder return over one, three and five years. A varisty of
compensation surveys that provide market data for comparably sized companies across a large

number of general industrial and manufacturing companies were used to supplement the peer

21




group data, including the Watson Wyatt Data Services'2006/07 Top Management ‘Report, and the
William M. Mercer 2006 Executive Compensation Survey. The outside compensation advisor used
regression analysis to adjust for size. .

We do not directly tie the compensatlon of our named executive officers to levels offered at
other companies. As a general matter, the Committee seeks to award current compensation (salary,
target bonus, and equity grants) for named executive officers between the 50 and the
75" percentile of the market among comparable peer companies. The peer company compensation
analysis, however, is just one of several tools the Committee uses in setting compensation.
Compensation outside the target levels is awarded for reasons that may include market forces,
company or individual performance, length of service, existing contractual obligations, and differing
levels of responsibility, and value created by officers with the same or similar title.

2007 Compensation

The Committee places oarticular emphasis on com'pany pertormance when sétting
compensation for our named executive officers, due to the impact these officers have.on our
performance. Some key items noted by the Committee in setting compensation for 2007 included:

* We made progress in each-of our key operating initiatives—Ilean enterprise, supply chain

. management, new product development, organizational devetopment, emerging markets and
information technologyw-whlch led to |mprovements in our operatlons productivity and?
margins. : . . .

* We used our flnan0|al strength and flexibility, achleved in recent years under this
management team, strategically and in a manner consistent with our public
communlcations—repurchasmg a srgmﬂcant number of shares and selectively acquiring
businesses. .

-+ We achieved. strong organic revenue growth mcreased operating margms and mcreased
free cash flow. .. ‘

« We focused-on our strategrc platforms leveraging gIobaI presence leading market share
positions, innovation, and the divestiture of non-core businesses. This allowed us to deploy
additional-capital towards our strategic platforms, led to expansion in emerging markets and
product devetopment, and resulted in significant expansion in key markets and product lines.

* We created stockholder value, resuiting in total stockholder returns of 36.1% versus 15.8%
for the S&P 500 for the period from January 1, 2006 through December 31, 2006.
Improvement. continued in 2007, with returns of 70.15% versus 5.49% for the S&P 500 for the

period from January 1, 2007 through December 31, 2007. ,

The following sections describe each element of our &xecutive compensation program.

. Base Salary

Base salary is desrgned to offer guaranteed competltlve income. In setting base salary, the
Committee considers the salary and total compensation market data in the context of the named .
executive officer's role and responsrbllltles experience and tenure, internal equrty consrderatrons
individual performance and, contribution to our results. '

Following its review of peer companles the Comm:ttee determined that Mr Canterna 5 2006
salary fell below, and that Mr.. Lilly’s salary fell at the low erid of, the target 50" to 75" percentile
range for equivalent named executive officers at peer companies. Mr. Lilly received an increase of
$50,000, or 14%, to $400,000, in recognition of his promotion to Senior Vice President and as-a
result of the peer group analysis. Mr. Canterna received an increase of $39,500, or 11%, to
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$400,000, as a result of the peer group analysis. The 2007 salary increases for the other named
executive officers averaged 4%, in line with the market and our-overall budget for salary increases -
for all employees. ' oo ' _—

Annual Bonuses : o - ' .

Bqnu’ses are designed to reward our named executive officers for the operational performance
of the company. We believe that operational excellence translates to stockholder value and that, by
rewarding operational performance, bonuses serve to align the interests of our senior-level
management with those of our long-term stockholders. Because our bonuses are tied to operating
and cash flow performance, they-support our business and human capital strategies. - - '

Wga pay our executive officers bonuses pursuant to our Executive Annual Incentive Plan (the
“162(m) Plan”), which was approved by our stockholders in 2006 and is designed to meet the
requirements of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code for performance-based
compensation. Our other senior-level management receive bonuses pursuant to our Executive
Annual Incentive Plan (the “Executive Bonus Plan”)., ' ' '

Under the 162(m) Plan, early in each year the Committee specifies one or more company
performance goals and the maximum bonus payable to each executive officer if we achieve the
performance goal or goals. In 2007, the maximum bonus payable under the 162(m) Plan was 200%
of target bonus. Following the end of the year, if we achieve the performance goals, the amount .
actually payable to each named executive officer is determined by the Committee in its sole
discretion, but may not exceed the maximum bonus specified in the award for that year. The
162(m) Plan performance goal was met for 2007. ' '

In each year since the inception of the 162(m) Plan, the Committee has based its determination
of the actual bonuses payable under the 162(m) Plan by reference to the bonus matrix used to
determine bonus payments under the Executive Bonus Plan (discussed below under “Company .
and Segment Performance”), as modified by the personal performance evaluation discussed below.

V o A

Bonus Targets ' .

We set target bonuses at a percentage of salary. As a general matter, the percentage increases
as the responsibility and authority of the employee increases, thereby both acknowledging the
greater influence on company performance exercised by seniof-level management and ensuring
that those most able to impact our company performance have.a greater percentage of their total
compensation tied to our company’s performance. - ' : .

.-
. -

. The Committee increased Mr. Kearney's target bonus.from 100% to 125% of his salary for'~
2007, based on its determination that his bonus and total compensation each fell below the peer- -
group median for his role as Chairman, President and CEQ. of our company, and its desire to
maximize the portion of his compensation based on company performance. The Committee did not
increase target bonuses for any other named executive officer for 2007, maintaining targets of 100%
of salary for our Executive Vice Presidents and 80% of salary for the, other named executive officers,
because it determined that the pre-existing bonus levels were competitive and appropriate to both
motivate and reward each named executive officer for our company’s recent performance. o

v

Compaqy and Segment Performance

In 2007, as has been the case in recent years, the Executive Bonus Plan:matrix for corporate
employees had Bonus Profit Margin on one.axis and Bonus Cash Flow on the other. Bonuses equal
to 0% to 200% of target bonus could have been paid, with increasing awards received as
performance increased in one or both of these metrics. Bonus Profit Margin, as described below; -
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was selected as a metric because we believe operating results are critical to the success of the - .
company. Bonus Cash Flow, as described below, was selected as a metric because we believe
cash flow is a key measure of the performance and health of our company. Combined, these
metrics were designed to reward improving corporate performance by managing corporate
overhead expenses, improving the quality and volume of earnings, and efficient use of capital.
Further, these metrics align with our public communications and internal business goals and we
believe they are transparent understandabte and consistent with compensation plans at other
industrial companles

No corporate bonus would have been awarded under the Executive Bonus Plan for 2007 if we
had not achieved at least a Bonus Profit Margin of 8.9% and $287 million in Bonus Cash Flow;
100% of target bonus would have been awarded with Bonus Profit Margin ot 9.4% and $327 miliion
in Bonus Cash Flow; and 200% of target bonus would have been awarded with a Bonus Profit,
Margin of at least 9.9% and at least $367 million in Bonus Cash Flow. Improvement over our Bonus
Profit Margin 2006 results was required for any bonus payment in 2007. The plan wa$ designed so
that target bonus would be paid it we achieved a 50 basis point improvement. BonUs Cash Flow
targeted achieving an operating cash flow performance equal to targeted net income plus
depreciation.

The baonus targets far four of our, named executwe officers were based on the corporate
metrics. Mr. Canterna’s bonus was based in equal parts on corporate and Flow Technology metncs
in recognition of his role as leader of that segment The Flow Technology segment bonus metrics
were similar to the corporate metrlcs ‘but substituted operaling income for Bonus Profit Margm ‘
because our senior-level management and Board of Directors, including the Committee, believe that
improvement of Flow Technology operating income is a key way for that segment to drive
stockholder value. . . ‘ .

No Flow Technology bonus would have been awarded if the segment had not achieved at least
$147.5 million in operating income and $137.9 million in Bonus'Cash Flow; 100% of target bonus
would have been awarded with $169.9 million in operating income and $183.8 mitlion of Bonus :
Cash Fiow; and 200% of target bonus would have been awarded with $221.7 million in operating
income and $229.7 million of Bonus Cash Flow.

Our corporate results in 2007 were Bonus Profit Margin of 10 42% and Bonus Cash Flow of
$423 million. Accordingly, the Committee decided that each of our named executive officers whose
bonus was determined exclusively by the corporate metrics was eligible to receive a bonus
payment at the 200% level in 2007, The Flow Technology segment delivered $193.1 million in
operating income and $185.2 million in Bonus Cash Flow performance, leading to a bonus level of
128.10%. As stated above, because Mr. Canterna is the head of the Flow Technology segment; half
of the bonus payment for which he was eligible was based on the corporate metrics with the other
half based on the metrics for the Flow Technology segment. Accordingly, the Committee decided
that Mr. Canterna was eligible to receive a total bonus payment equal to 164.05% of his target
bonus.

Bonus PrOfit Margin is adjusted operating income divided by net revenues. Adjusted operating
income is operating income excluding stock- based compensation expense, pension expense or
income, goodwnll and other non-cash asset impairments, material profits or losses on acquisitions
or dispositions, and other similar items, subject to Committee approval. Bonus Cash Flow is
operating cash flow from continuing operations, excluding non-operating gains or losses, material
pensicn funding requirements, material operating cash performance from acquisitions or
dispositions, tax recapture payments, and other similar items, subject to Committee approval. The
excluded items are designed-to eliminate factors beyond the control of company employees in the
measurement year, focusing employees, including named executive officers, on real operating
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performance, or to eliminate possible disincentives to acting in the best interest of our stockholders.
For example, the disposition of a non-core business may be expected to have long-term benefits,
but the loss of profits and cash flow from the business may have the impact of reducing bonuses in
the year in which the business was sold. Conversely, a proposed acquisition, whnle boostmg bonus
in the short term, may have doubtful long-term benefits. :

1

Individual Pen‘ormance

The Committee determined in 2007 that payment of 20% of the bonus for which each named
executive officer was otherwise eligible based on company performance as described above should
also be contingent on individual performance. For example, if a named executive officer was eligible
for a bonus payment of $100 based on company performance, he would receive $80 of the $100
without further condition. Payment of the remaining $20 would be contingent on his individual
performance. After reviewing the performance of our company under the leadership of each officer,
together with the additional subjective assessments described above, the Committee determined
that the individual performance of each named executive oﬁlcer entitled him to payment of the full
personal performance component of his bonus. : !

In connection with its 2007 review of our compensation plan design, the Committee determined
that the Executive Bonus Plan should in the future focus exclusively on company or segment
performance, Factors considered by the Committee in making this decision included similar plans
in place at peer companies, as well as the importance of operational performance improvements. In
addition, the Committee determined that individual performance was adequately reflected in other
compensation decisions, as well as decisions relating to promotion and retention. Accordingly,
beginning in 2008, we intend bonus awards under the Executive Bonus Plan to be determined
entirely by the company and/or segment performance metrics. i ‘

Equity-Based Awards

We award annual grants of restricted stock pursuant to our 2002 Stock Compensation Plan
with performance vesting thresholds to eligible SPX employees, including named executive officers. -
We design restricted stock grants to promote long-term stock ownership and expose senior-level
management, including named executive officers, to the risks and rewards faced by our long-term
stockholders. Because restricted stock vests over three years, and only vests if our stock
outperforms the S&P 500, it also has significant employee retention value and continues to tie the
interests of our named executive officers to those of our stockholders even after it is awarded. We
believe that these principles are so important, and so well-served by equity awards, that stock
grants are the most significant component of current compensation of our named executive officers.

Each annual grant of restricted stock is made in three tranches. The three tranches vest in
equal amounts over-three years, but only if SPX total stockholder return exceeds the S&P 500 for
the prior year or for the cumulative period since the grant date. If SPX's total stockholder return
exceeds the S&P 500 for the cumulative period, any unvested portion of the grant that was subject
to vesting on or prior to the vesting date will vest. All the 2005 restricted stock grants have vested,
two-thirds of the 2006 restricted stock grants have vested, and one-third of the 2007 restricted stock
grants have vested, as a result of SPX’s total 'stockholder return exceedmg that of the S&P 500
index for each of 2005, 2006 and 2007.

Our practice has been to grant equity awards based on the number of shares awarded, rather
than share value, because we believe this practice rewards excellent performance as reflected in
increasing stock price by increasing the value of shares awarded, and reduces compensation in
times of declining stock price by reducing the value of shares awarded. The Committee awarded
Messrs. Kearney, O’Leary and Foreman 100,000, 35,000 and 35,000 shares, respectively at the
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beginning of 2007, the same amounts awarded in 2006. The significant appreciation in our stock
price increased the initial value of the awards, thereby rewarding our senior-level management,
including our named executive officers, for our performance, without an increase in the total:
number of shares awarded. Mr. Canterna received 17,500 shares in 2007, an increase of 2,500
shares from 2006, due to the Committee’s determination that his total compensation fell below the
median for equivalent named executive officers at our peer companies. Mr. Lilly received 17,500
shares in 2007, an increase of 5,500 shares from 2006, due to the Committee’s determination that
his total compensation fell below the median for equivalent named executive officers at our peer
companhies and in recognition of his promotion to Senior Vice President.

.+ Given the magnitude of the increase in the price-of our stock during 2007, and the resuitmg
prOJected cost of stock awards to our company, we decided to generally reduce the number. of -
shares awarded to our employees in 2008. In the interest of being consistent with our decision to
generally reduce the number of shares awarded to our employses, the Committee also decided to .
reduce the number of shares awarded to our named executive officers. Accordingly, the 2008 equity
awards to‘Messrs. Kearnsy, O’Leary and Foreman were reduced to 90,000, 31,500 and 31,500
shares, respectively. Mr. Lilly received 17,500 shares, the same number as in 2007, due to the
Committee’s determination that his total compensation fell at the low end of the 50" to
75" percentile range for equivalent named executive officers at our peer oompanles Mr. Canterna _
received 17,500 shares, the same number as in 2007, due to the Committee’s determination that
his total compensation_fell at the low end of the 50" to 75" percentile range for equivalent named
executive officers at our peer companiés and in recognltlon of his increased responsibilities, as the
Flow Technology segment increased sngmflcantly in size due to the acquisition of APV, a global
manufacturer of process equment and engineering solutions.

The Committee also may make, and in the past has made, special grants to named executwe
officers, which grants may be subject to performance or time vesting as described more fully under
“Equity Grants Practices” below.

We pay dividends on all unvested restricted stock to the extent dividends. are paid on SPX
common stock, and these dividends are considered part of the overall officer’ compensatlon
package and are not subject to risk of forfelture .

+

Equity Grants Practices : . o

The Committee approves annual restricted stock grants at its December’ meetmg precedlng the
grant year, and determines the efféctive date of these awards without regard to ‘current or '
anticipated stock price levels or the release of material non- publlc information. Rather, consistent
with the calendar year performance measurement perlods applicable to the awards, the Committee
sets the first trading. day of the grant year as the effective date. The Committee also may make, and
in the past has made, special grants during the course of the year, primarily for new hires, for
promotions, to retain valued employees or to reward exceptional performance. These special grants
may be subject to performance or time vesting, and are issued on the date of grant or.upon a date
certain following the grant.date, such as the daté’on which'a new hire commences employment.

Thé Committee has delegated authority to our Chairman, President and CEOto grant a limited
number of equity awards to persons other than Section 16 officers of SPX. These awards may be
subject to performance or time vesting, and may not exceed 15,000 shares to any person at one
time or more than 75,000 shares in the aggregate per fiscal year. The Commlttee reviews grants
made pursuant to this authority at least annually. .

We have not granted Ist_ock optlons to any employee since 2003.

.8
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Other )

Total current compensation for each of Messrs. Kearney, Canterna and Lilly fell between the
50" and 75™ percentile of comparable officers at peer companies in 2007. Each of Mr. Foreman
and Mr. O'Leary received total current compensation above the 75" percentile of comparable
officers at peer companies for that period. The increase in.value of our stock over the past few
years is a key reason that Messrs. Foreman and O’Leary’s compensation was above the -
75" percentile in 2007. As explained under “Equity-Based Awards”: above, the Committee’s practice ‘
is to award shares based on the number of shares awarded rather than value, and the significant
increase in the value of our stock in the last few years has caused their compensation to increase.
The Commiittee does not consider it appropriate to reduce other compensation to our named
executive officers to offset any increase they may receive based on increased value of our stock.
Additionally, the Committee has determined that Mr. O’Leary’s compensation is appropriate due to
his long service with the company, excellent results achieved under his leadership, his personal .
performance, and a desire to ensure his retention. The Committee has determined that
Mr. Foreman’'s compensation is appropriate due to the above-mentioned considerations, in addition
to the fact that Mr. Foreman's responsibilities, which include heading both the Human Resources .
and Asia Pacific operations, may be more extensive than those of ofﬂcers in the peer company data
against which his compensatlon was benchmarked '

Other Beneﬁts and Perquisites

We believe the perquisites and benefits we offer are cost effective, in that they command a
higher perceived value to the named executive officer-than our actual costs."We provide these
benefits to attract and retain executives in a competitive marketplace, and believe these benefits are
generally consistent with market practices of our peer group and other comparable public industrial
manufacturing companies. . .

In connection with the relocation of our headquarters to Charlotte, North Carolinain 2002, all
our then-employees who relocated, including Messrs. Kearney, O’Leary and Foreman, were eligible
to receive interest-free, 20-year relocation loans to finance the purchase of a principat residence.
We offered this benefit to induce employees.to relocate, and in consideration of the prevalence of
such arrangements at the time. Each of Messrs. Kearney, O’Leary and Foreman received loans in
the amount of $1.5 million {which in each case remains the outstanding balance}, secured by a
mortgage on the related residence. Employees who availed themselves of this loan, including the
named executive officers, are required to repay the loan if they cease to be employed by us, sell
the residence, change their principal residence, or are transferred from the corporate headquarters.
The loan will be forgiven in the event of death, disability or a change in control. '

In accordance with a five-year arrangement beginning in 2003; we’ granted shares of restricted
stock annually to Messrs. Kearney, O’Leary and Foreman to provide them a “true-up™ for their .
respective state tax increases incurred as a.result of the relocation of SPX’s corporate headguarters
from Muskegon, Michigan to Charlotte, North Carolina. These restricted shares vested on - o
June 30" of the year granted. In 2007, “true-up” grants were awarded as follows: Mr. Kearney, -
3,295 restricted shares; Mr. O'Leary, 4,940 restricted shares; and Mr. Foreman, 6,497 restricted
shares. These awards increased over the prior year in respanse to increased compensation of
these named executive officers. . These were the final grants to be made under this arrangement.

In addition, our CEQ may utilize our aircraft for personal travel for himself and his spouse. Our
other named executive officers may be permitted personal use of our aircraft for themselves and
their spouses if approved by our CEO. This benefit enhances security for our offlcers and allows .
them to devote more time to SPX busmess . } . .

+
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See the Summary Compensation Table and accompanying footnotes for a full listing of named
executive officer perquisites.

Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plans

The named executive officers participate in the SPX Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan .
for Top Management (the.“TMP”). Some of the named executive officers are also participants in the
SPX Corporation Individual Account Retirement Plan (the “IARP") and the SPX Carporation-
Supplemental Individual Account Retirement Plan (the “SIARP").

We believe the executive retirement program plays a key role in attracting and retaining
executive talent. The TMP is the most significant element of this program, and has been in place for
over 20 years (since October 22, 1985). Messrs. Kearney, O'Leary and Foreman, our longer-serving
named executive offlcers have credited service in the TMP since 1997, 1996 and 1999, respectwely
In 2005, in response to changing practices in connection with retirement agreements, the
Committee reduced benefits provided by the TMP for officers hired or elevated on or after
August 24, 2005, These changes include a reduced benefit, longer accrual périod, higher early
retirement age and reduction factor, and a 50% survivorship benefit. The Committee’s practice is
not to attempt to retroactively reduce benefits we have agreed to provide to our officers. For this
reason, and in recognition of the significant efforts made and results achieved by our then-existing
officers, the Committee did not request that officers hired or elevated prior to August 24, 2005
agree to a reduction in their TMP benefits. The Summary Compensation Table, on p. 31 and the
Pension Benefits Table, on p. 40, and their accompanying footnotes, provide further information
concerning the annual increase in benefit value, accrued benefits and other terms of the TMF, IARP
and SIARP Retirement benefits payable upon a named executive officer’s termination of
employment are quantified and described in “Potential Payments Upon Termlnatlon or
Change-in-Control,” beginning on p. 44.

Named executive officers and. other senior-level management are eligible to participate in the
SPX, Corporation Retirement Savings and Stock Ownership Plan {the “401(k) Plan"} and the SPX
Corparation Supplemental Retirement.Savings Plan (the “SRSP"}, a non-qualified deferred
compensation plan that permits voluntary deferrals of base salary and annual bonuses. See the
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Table for 2007 and accompanying narrative and footnotes,
beginning on p. 42, for more information on these plans. '

Termination and Change-in-Control Provisions

The Committee designs termination and change-in-contro! provisions to be competitive with
those offered at our peer companies. Qur severance arrangements are also designed to protect
stockholder interests by. stabilizing management during periods of uncertainty. Severance '
arrangements have unique characteristics and value. For example, it may be necessary to offer -
severance agreements to prospective executives who forego significant bonuses and equity awards
at the companies they are leaving or who face relocation expenses and family disruption in order to
accept empioyment with us. Generally, executives are more willing to accept these risks and costs
if they are protected.in the event their employment is terminated due to unanticipated changes,
including a change in control. Additionally, executives often assign significant value to severance
agreements because they provide compensation for lost professional opportunities in the event of a
change in control

Severance agreements also can be a powerful tool to dlscourage entrenchment of
management, in that severance agreements can offset the risk of financial and professional loss
that management may face when recommending a sale to or merger with another company.
Because our severance arrangements are structured to serve the above functions, which differ, and
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are perceived by recrprents to differ, from pay for performance, and because-severance agreements
represent a contractual oblrgatlcn of our company, decisions relating to other elements of
compensatlon have minimal effact on decrsrons relatlng to exrstlng severance agreements o
Decisions relating to other elements of compensatron have however, reduced potential oblrgatlons
upon certam termination events, particularly termmatron upon change in control

In some termrnatron scenarios and in the case of a change in control descrlbed more tully
under “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-m -Control,” beginning on p. 44, the named
executive officers become |mmed|ately vested in aII SPX equity awards, including shares subject to
performance vesting. This feature is desrgned to' be equitable in the event of dismissal without
cause or resrgnatlon for good reason, and we belteve it is appropnate in the event of terrnination
following a change® in control. We also belleve that vestrng upon a change in COntrol W|thcut
termlnatlon (“srngle trrgger” treatment) benetlts our stockholders because it:

. is the prevalent approach among our peer companies and’ therefcre supports the
competitiveness -of our equity awards and totai compensation; . . oo

" » provides greatet certamty as’ to how outstandlng awards would be treated after- a change in
~ control; and

* helps to ensure that aII employees are treated equitably W|th respect to outstandmg equity
grants regardless of what happens to their employment status as a result of the change in
control ) i . . - o -

Termrnatron and Change-in-Control Agreements are further drscussed and quantmed in
"Potentlal Payments Upon Termination or Change in- Control,’_' beglnnlng on p 44,

-

N

Stock Ownersmp Gurdehnes .

. We set stock ownership guidelines to, emphasize. the importance.of substantive, long-term
share ownership by.senior executrves to allgn their financial interests with those of stockholders.
The guidelines are: - , . - .

Chief Executive OGO « o v v e e e e e e e e . 500%. of salarv .

Chief Operating Officer . . . ... .. i e 400% of salary
Other Executive Officers . ... .. it i 300% of salary
Other executives desrgnated by the Commlttee .................... 100% - 200% of salary

Shares held in family trusts, shares held in retirement plan accounts, unvested restricted shares
and share units subject only to time vesting restrictions, and 70% of unvested restricted shares and
share units subject to performance vesting conditions are deemed to be owned shares for
purposes of these guidelines. Unexercised stock options are excluded. Officers are asked to attain
the desired level of stock ownership within five years of becoming an officer. Each named executive
officer currently meets the minimum stock ownership requirements.

Tax Matters

The Committee seeks to structure executive compensation in a tax efficient manner. It reviews
compensation plans in light of applicable tax provisions, including Section 162(m) of the Internal
Revenue Code. For example, in 2006 we received stockholder approval of a new executive bonus
plan and an amended and restated stock compensation plan, both of which were designed to
maximize tax deductibility of those elements of compensation under Section 162(m). To maintain
flexibility in structuring executive compensation to achieve its goals and compensation philosophy,
the Committee has not adopted a policy requiring all compensation to be tax deductible.
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Impact on Compensation from Misconduct v Y e s

If the Board of Directors were to determlne that a named executlve oﬁlcer had engaged in
fraudulent or intentional mlsconduct it would take action to remedy the mlsconduct and impose the
appropriate discipline on the wrongdoer. Discipline would vary based on the tacts and
circumstances, but may include termination of emp!oyment or other approprlate actions.

~ The Committee has no formal pollcy beyond the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, other than as set forth below, to retroactively adjust compensatlon in the event of a
restatement of financial or other performance results. The Executive Annual Incentlve Plan
applicable to executive officers beginning in 2006 provides for repayment or forfeiture of Incentive
Bonuses under specified circumstances i the company, as a resulf of misconduct, is required to .
prepare an accounting restatement due to material noncompllance with any financial reportmg
requirement under the securities laws. Any Incentive Bonus payment eamed or accrued during the
twelve-month period following the first public issuance orfiling with the SEC {(whichever first -
occurred) of the financial document embodying such financial reporting requirement must-be paid
back to the company. To the extent that such Incentive Bonus was deferred under a nonqualified
deferred compensation plan maintained by the company rather than paid to the executive officer,
the amount of bonus deferred (and any earnmgs from rt) must be torferted

COMPENSATION COMMITI'EE REPORT -

The Compensation Committee of the SPX Board of Directors includes three directors, each of
whom is independent, as defined under SEC rules-and the listing standards .of the:New York Stock
Exchange. Additionally, each member of the- Compensation Committee is an “outside dirsctor” .7
within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Compensation Committee
reviews SPX’'s Compensation Discussion and Analysis on behaif of the Bodrd of Directors. -~ * = 2

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and.discussed the Compensation Discussion and
Analysis with. management, and based on the review and discussions, the- Compensation .
Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the'Compensation Discussion and Analysis
be included in this Proxy Statement and SPX's annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007.

Compensation Committee
Sarah R. Coffin, Chairperson
J. Kermit Campbell

. Emerson U. Fullwood
Albert A. Koch
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' . © Summary Compensatlon Table for 2007

ThIS tabie summanzes the compensation for the named executive officers. The “named .
executive offlcers" are our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financiat Officer, and our three most
highly compensated officers who were serving as officers as of December 31, 2007.

. Change In ! :
(. Pension . -
Value and
Nongualified
: : . Non-Equity Deferred
. . , Stock Incentive Plan | Compensation All Other.
- t ‘| “ Sala Awards | Compensation’ Eernings Compensation
Name and Principal Position Year (S) (r¥ %) (2} © (3 $) (4 f Total ($)
Christopher J. Kearmney 2007 | $1,000,000 | $4,976,843 | $2,500,000 $2,119,080 | $570,894(5) | $11,166,817
Chairman, President, and 2006 ($ 950,000 $3,531,471 | $1,829,985 $1,446,538 | $407,658 $ 8,165,652
CEO .
Patrick J. O'Leary 2007 |$ 805,000 |$2,609,929| $1,610,000 $ 600972 | $591,373(6) | $ 6.217.274
Executive Vice President, 2006 |$ 777,000 |$2,336,067 | $1,496,735 | $ 765702 | $301,732 $ 5,677,236

Treasurer and CFO . ,

Robert B. Foreman 2007 {$ 595,000 ($2,395,974( $1,190,000 $ 649,376 | $691,148(7) | $ 5,521,498
Executive Vice President, 2006 $ 575,000)|%1,813,0835 $1,107,623 $ 501,346 | $275,662 $ 4,272,714
Human Resources, .
President, Asia Pacific

DonL.Cantema * ' |2007|$ 399,241[$1,071,047| $ 524960 | $ 215206 | $ 88,998(8) | $ 2,290,452’

Segmant President, Flow 2006|$ 360,298 |% 989,185| § 515558 | § - 98,070 | $122,686 . $ 2,085,797
Technology : : ) . ) . . . .
Kevin L. Lilly 2007 [$ 400,000|% 947,868| $ 640,000 | $§ 142,348 | $ 98,683(9) | § 2,228,899

Senior Vice President,
Secretary and General
Counsel .

W 1

(1) Named executive officers are eligible to defer up to 50% of their salaries into the SPX
Corporation Retirement Savings & Stock Ownership Plan, a tax-qualified retirement savings
plan (the “401(k) Plan”) (up to applicable IRS limits), and up to 50% of their salaries into the
SPX Corporation Supplemental Retirement Savings Plan, a nonqualified deferred compensation
plan {the “SRSP"). In 2007, the named executive officers deferred the following portlons of their
salaries into the 401(k) Plan and the SRSP ‘

r

‘ Name o T Deferred Into 401 (l;) Plvan Deferred Into SRSP

| Mr. Kearney ' i $15;500 $171,641

' Mr. O'Leary ~ $15,500° $106,817
Mr..Foreman A _ o $11,444 $ .81,691
Mr. Canterna- 1~ . . . $ 3,808 . $ .0
Mr. Lilly ' $ 8,502 $ 19,385

{2) Represents the FAS 123R cost of eqmty awards as recorded in our fi nancial statements in 2007

and 2006, respectively. See note 15 to the consolidated financial statements contained in our
Annual Fleports ori Form 10-K for the penod ended December 31, 2007 and December 31,
2008, respectively, for additionat information regarding the calculation 'of these numbers. The
amounts shown exclude the effects of estlmated forfeitures related to service-based vesting

. conditions. The reported cost consists of the following grants made under our 2002 Stock

| Compensation Plan: (i) annual grants made on, in the case of Messrs. Kearney, O’Leary and
Foreman, February 18, 2004, in the case of Messrs. Canterna and Lilly, January 30, 2004
{iiy annual grants made on, in the case of Messts. Kearney, O'Leary and Foreman,
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(4)

(5)

" +"$130,249 in miatching contributions to thé SRSP;

(6)

~ « $79,650 that he was deemed to receive in 2007 representing the market interest rate on the

January 3, 2005, in the case of Messrs. Canterna and Lilly, March- 7, 2005; (iii) grants made upon
conversion of EVA bank balances (described below) on, in the case of Messrs. Kearney, O'Leary
and Foreman, May 6, 2005, in the case of Mr. Canterna, July 15, 2004; (iv) annual grants made
on January 3, 2006; (v) grants made on February 20, 2007 to “true-up” certain named executive
officers for state tax increases incurred as a result of the relocation of SPX's corporate
headquarters to Charlotte, North Carolina; and (vi) annual grants made on January 3, 2007. See
the Grants of Plan-Based Awards table, on p. 35, for more information on these grants.

In 2008, the year in which they received the 2007 non-equity incentive compensation award,
the following named executive officers deferred the following portions of their non-equity
incentive compensation awards into the 401 (k) Plan and the SRSP:

Name : K Deferred into 401(k) Plan | Deferred into SRSP

Mr. Kearney . $ 0 $ 500,000
Mr. O’Leary . ‘ 8 0 $ 402,500
Mr. Foreman _ $ 1,635 © $ 119,000.
Mr. Canterna ™ $ 7,019 $ 0-
Mr. Lilly ' ' $ 12,984 $ 196,654

The change in pension value is based on assumed discount rates of 6.00% at December 31,.
2006 and a weighted average discount rate of 6.68% at December 31, 2007. There were no
above-market earnings on non-qualified deferred compensation to report-for any of the named
executive officers in 2007.

Mr. Kearney received $570,894 in All Other Compensation, including:
* $25,856, representing the cost to us for personal use of our aircraft;

+ $215,612 for the tax gross-up on the restncted share ‘true-up” described-in footnote (2)
above; 4 ' o -

+ 311,250 in matching. contributions to the 401(k) plan;

$1.5 million interest-free loan that he received in November, 2001, in connection with his
relocation to Charlotte, North Carolina;

* $30,000 in charitable matching contributions; and

+ $24,061 representing'the change in value between December 31, 2006 and December 31,
-2007 of the key manager life insurance benefit, based on assumed discount rates of 6.00%
and 6.32% on those dates, respectively.

The remaining $54,217 consisted of a car allowance; country club dues and applicable tax
gross-up; financial’ plannlng and applicable tax gross up; applicable tax gross-up on the
personal use of the company' aircraft; executive physical; use of our sports/entertainment
boxes; the change in the value of the executive retiree medical benefit between December 31,
2006 and December 31, 2007, based on assumed discount rates of 6.00% and 6.32% on those
dates, respectively; and coverage under the long term executive disability plan.

Mr. O'Leary received $591,373 in All Other Compensation, including'

« $323,254 for the tax gross- up on the restricted share “true-up” descrrbed in footnote (2)
above;
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(8)

. $73,881 in matching contributions to the SRSP;

« $11,250 in matching contributions to the 401(k) plan;
* $103,837 in matchlng contributions to the SRSP;

+ $79,650 that he was deemed to receive in 2007 representing the market mterest rate on the
$1.5 million interest-free loan that he received in November, 2001, in connection with his -
relocation to Charlotte, North Carolina;

* $30,000 in charitable matching contributions; and

* $12,660 representing the change in value between December 31, 2006 and December 21,
2007 of the key manager life insurance benefit, based on assumed dlscount rates of 6.00%
and 6.32% on those dates, respectlvely

The remammg $30,722 consisted of a car allowance; country club dues and applicable tax
gross-up; executive physical; use of our sports/entertainment boxes; the change in the value of
the executive retiree medical benefit between December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007,
based on assumed discount rates of 6.00% and 6.32% on those dates, respectlvely, and
coverage under the long-term executive disability plan. Co

Mr. Foreman received $691, 148 in All Other Compensatiori, including:

* $425,138 for the tax gross-up on the restricted share “true-up” descrlbed in footnote (2)
above;

[}

* $11,250 in matching contnbutlons to the 401 (k) plan

+ $84,000 that he was deemed to receive in 2007 representing the market interest rate on the
- $1.5 million interest-free loan that he received in February, 2002, in connection with his
relocation to Charlotte, North Carolina;

* $30,000 in charitable matching contributions; and

* $10,310 representing the change in value between December 31, 2006 and December 31,
2007 of the key manager life insurance benefit, based on assumed discount rates of 6. 00%
and 6.32% on those dates, respectively.

The remaining $56,569 consisted of a car allowance; country ciub dues and applicable tax
gross-up; financial planning and applicable tax gross-up; executive physical; use of our sports/
entertainment boxes; the incremental cost for the personal use of the company aircraft;
applicable tax gross-up on the personal use of the company aircraft; the change in the value of

- the executive retiree medical benefit hetween December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007,

based on assumed discount rates of 6.00%.and 6.32% on those dates, respectively; and
coverage under the long-term executive disability plan.

Mr. Canterna received $88,998 in All Other Compensation, incluoing:'
« $10,125 in matching contributions to the 401(k) plan;

* $25,351 in country club dues;

+ $12,178 for the tax gross-up on the country club dues; and '
« $22,030 representing the change in value between December 31, 2006 and December 31,

2007 of the key manager life insurance benefit, based on assumed discount rates of 6.00%
and 6.32% on those dates, respectively.
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The remaining $19,314 consisted of a car allowance; financial planning and applicable tax
gross-up; executive physical;, the change in the value of the executive retiree medical benefit
between December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007, based on assumed discount rates of
6.00% and 6.32%'on those' dates, -respectively; coverage under the long-term executlve
disability plan; and use of our sports/entertainment boxes. -

(9) Mr. Lilly received $98,683 in All Other Compensatlon, mcludmg:
« $11,250 in matching contributions to the 40_1'(k)'plan;
. $35 718 in match:ng contributions’ to the SRSP;

» $16,490 representing the change in value between December 31 2006-and December 31,
2007 of the key manager life insurance benefit, based on assumed discount rates of 6.00%
‘and 6. 32% on those dates respectlvely '

The remaining $35,224 con3|sted of a car allowance country club dues and applicable tax
gross-up; executive' physical; use of our sports/entertainment boxes; the incremental cost for
the personal use of the company aircraft; applicable tax gross-up.on the personal use of the
company aircraft; the change in the value of the executive retiree medical benefit between
December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2007, based on assumed discount rates of 6.00% and
6.32% on those dates, respectively; and coverage under the long-term executive disability plan.

(10) The SPX Foundation (the "Foundation™} will make matching donations for charitable
contributions for any employee or non-employee director up to a total of $20,000 per annum.
The Foundation will make matching contributions for each named executive officer up to a total
of $50,000 per annum. Amounts reported are rnatchlng amounts in excess of the $20,000

- match available to all employees. :

The cost to us for the personal use of our aircraft includes the variable costs of usmg the
aircraft, including fuel, travel expenses for the crew, airport fees and food and beverages.

The above benefits are provided pursuant to the terms of employment agreements with each
named executive officer: The agreements are the same with the exception of differing titles {and
associated reporting.responsibilities), annual base salary levels, retiree medical terms, allowance
amounts for annual income tax return preparation and financial planning, and with respect to
Messrs. Canterna and Lilly, a different employment term duration. The agreements have a rolling
two-year term with the exceptron of the agreements of Messrs. Canterna and Liily, which have a
rolling one-year term. The explratlon date is automatlcally extended by one day for each day of the
term that elapses.

Under the agreements we are not permltted to reduce the. annual base salary rate without'the
named executive officer’'s consent. The agreements provide for participation in any annual
performance bonus plans, long-term incentive plans, and equity-based compensation plans that we
establish or maintain for our oﬁlcers The agreements further provide for continuation of all other |
senior executive benefit plans offered by us, subject ‘to our right to modlfy suspend or discontinue’
the plans. Business expense reimbursement, perquisites and vacation entittements also are
continued pursuant to the agreements.

See “Compensation Discussion and Analysis™ beglnmng on p. 20, for further dlscussmn and
explanatlon of each element of compensatlon

L
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards for 2007

The following table provides information regarding equity and non-equity awards granted to the

named executive officers for 2007.

Secratary and General
Counsel

]

12/12/2006

All Other
| Stock
Estimated Future | Estimated Future | Awards:
Payouts Under Payouts Under | Number of | Grant Date
Non-Equity Ec‘ulty Shares of | Falr Value of
Grant | Award Incentive Plan Incentive Plan Stock or ' Stock
Date (1) | Date {1) Awards Awards Units Awards
. Target Target
.{ Name (%) (@) {#) (3) - {#) ) {3) (5

Christopher J. Kearney . 2/21/2007 $2,500,000 e
Chairman, President, and 1/3/2007 |- 12/12/2006 : 100,000 ; $4,670,000
CEO 2/21/2007 3,295 $ 236,515

Patrick J. O'Leary _ 2/21/2007 | $1,610,000 . o
Executive Vice President, 1/3/2007 | 12/12/2006 35,000 $1,634,500
Treasurer & CFO 2/21/2007 ' 4,940 $ 354,593

Robert B. Foreman 2/21/2007 $1,190,000 , )
Executive Vice President, 1/3/2007 | 12/12/2006 ' 35,000 - ‘ $1,634,500

. Human Resources, 2{21/2007 1 N 6,497 .$ 466,355

" President, Asia Pacific ’ i ) .

Don L. Canterna . 2/21/2007 | $ 640,000 - 0 _
Segment President, Flow 1/3/2007 | 12/12/2006 17,500 $ 817,250
Tachnology ‘ g

Kevin L. Lilly 2/21/2007 $ 640,000 o o |
Senior Vice President, 1/3/2007 17,500 ' "$ 817,250

(2

(1} The Compensation Committee approves annual restricted stock grants and participation in the

162(m) Plan bonuses at the December Compensation Committee meeting preceding the grant
year. The Compensation Committee determines the effective date of stock awards without
regard to current or anticipated stock price levels or the release of material non-public
information. Rather, consistent with the calendar year performance measurement periods
applicable to such awards, the Committee sets the first trading day of the grant year as the
sffective date for stock awards. Bonus targets for 2007 were set at the February 21, 2007
meeting. True-up awards are granted at and awarded as of the Compensation Committees’
February meeting. See Footnote 4 for more information.

Represents the maximum amount payable under the 162(m) Plan if the performance target is

reached, subject to the Committee’s ability, in its sole discretion, to reduce the amount actually
paid. In 2007, the Committee determined the amount payable under the 162(m) Plan by
reference to the Executive Bonus Plan performance matrix, as discussed above under
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis—2007 Compensation—Annual Bonuses". The
following table shows the minimum, target and maximum payouts in the Executive Bonus Plan
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(3)

{4)

(5)

matrix, upon which the Committee based the 2007 bonus payments of our named executive

officers.
Estimated Future Payouts Under’
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards
Threshold Target Maximum
Name ($) % {3
| Christopher J. Kearney ' $312,500 | $1,250,000 | $2,500,000
Patrick J. O'Leary $201,250 | $ 805,000 | $1,610,000
"| Robert B. Foreman | $148,750 | $ 595,000 | $1,190,000
Don L. Canterna $120,000 | $ 320,000 | $ 640,000
Kevin L. Lilty $. 80,000 | $ 320,000 | $ 640,000 |

Assumes all stock will vest. See “Compensation Discussion and 'Analysis——2007

 Compensation—Equity-Based Awards,” beginning on p. 25, for a description of the

performance vesting reguirements.

In accordance with a five-year arrangement adopted by the Compensation Committee on

- December 20, 2002, effective as of January 2003, we granted restricted shares annually to

Messrs. Kearney, O'Leary and Foreman to “true-up” these individuals for their respective state

-tax increases incurred as a result of the relocation of SPX’s corporate headquarters from

Muskegon, Michigan to Charlotte, North Carolina. These awards vest on June 30 of the year
granted. See note 15 1o the consolidated financial statements contained in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 for the assumptions made in the
valuation of these awards.

Represents the FAS 123R grant date fair market value, based on the closing price of our stock
on the day pricr to the grant. See note 15 to the consolidated financial statements contained in

our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 for the assumptions
made in the valuation of these awards.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2007

The following table sets forth information detailing the outstanding equity awards held by each
of our named executive officers at December 31, 2007.

»

Option Awards

Stock Awards

Equity
Equity Incentive
\ Incentive | Plan Awards:
Plan Awards: | Market or
: Number of | Payout Value
Number of Number of | Market Value [ Unearned | of Unearned
Securities Shares or | of Shares or | Shares, Units | Shares, Units
Underlying Units of Units of or Other or Other
Unexercised | - Stock That | Stock That | Rights That { ‘Rights That
Options ‘| Option | Optlon | Have Not | Have Not Have Not Have Not
Exercisable’ | Exercise |Expiration| Vested Vested Vested Vested
Name (#) Price ($) Date (#) 1% {#} (1)($)
Christopher J. Kearney " 6,473(2)| $ 665,748 .
100,000(3) | $10,285,000
oo . 66,667{4) | $ 6,856,701
\ , 50,000 |$38.90625; 1/3/2010 23,334(5) | $ 2,399,902
~ 50,000 |$ 48.4400; 1/2/2011 ) ‘
50,000 % 69.4300| 1/2/2012
50,000 |$ 38.5700 | 1/2/2013 .
Patrick J. O'Leary 12,872(2)| $1,323,885 ]
' 35,000(3) | $ 3,599,750
23.334(4) | $ 2,399,902
11,667(5) | $ 1,199,951
250,000 |$§ 60.0000 | 6/23/2009
250,000 |$ 72.5000| 6/23/2009
250,000 |$ B85.0000 | 6/23/2009
250,000 |$ 97.5000 | 6/23/2009
70,000 1$38.90625| 1/3/2010
70,000 -[$ 48.4400| 1/2/2011
10,034 $ 46.4750| 1/4/2009
18,512 | $ 50.3900( 1/4/2009
70,000 $ 69.4300| 1/2/2012
70,000 $ 38.5700| 1/2/2013
Robert B. Foreman 5746(2)( $ 590,976
‘ 35,000(3) | $ 3,599,750
23,334{4) | & 2,398,902
11,667(5) | $ 1,189,951
1,172 |$ 58.3400 | 5/10/2009
1,468 |$§ 53.2150 | 5/10/2009
50,000 $ 69.4300| 1/2/2012
1,988 | $ 67.6950 | 5/10/2009
Don L. Canterna 1,316(6)| $ 135,351
5000(7) | $ 514,250
' ] 1,000(8}] § 102,850
24000 |$ 69.4300| 1/2/2012 17,500(3) | $ 1,799,875
. 10,000(4} | $ 1,028,500
Kevin L. Lilly 1,334(9)| $ 137,202
17,500(3) | $ 1,799,875
8,000{4) | § 822,800

Mm Based on the closing price of our common stock on December 31, 2007, $102.85.

(2) Restricted Shares awarded on May 6, 2005 vest at the rate of 33% percent per year, with
vesting dates of May 6, 2006, May 6, 2007, and May 6, 2008.
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(3)

(4)

(6)

7
8)

©)

Restricted Shares awarded on January 3, 2007 vest at the rate of 33% percent per year, subject
to satisfaction of performance criteria for the appllcable year, w1th vesting dates of January 3,
2008, January 3, 2009, and January 3, 2010.

Restricted Shares awarded on January 3, 2006 vest at the rate of 334 bercent per year, subject
to satisfaction of performance criteria for the applicable year, with vesting dates of January 3,

2007, January 3, 2008 and January 3, 2009.

Restricted Sharés awarded on January 3, 2005 vest at the rate of 33'% percent per year, subject
to satistaction.of performance criteria for the applicable year, with vesting dates of January 3,
2006, January. 3, 2007 and January 3, 2008.

Restricted Stock Units awarded July 15, 2005 vest at the rate of 3314 percent per year, with
vesting dates of duly 15, 2006, July 15, 2007, and July 15, 2008."

Restricted Shares awarded on March 7, 2005 vest at the rate of 33% percent per year, subject :
to satisfaction of performance criteria for the applicable year, with vesting dates of-January 3,
2006, January 3, 2007 and March 7, 2008.

Restricted Shares awarded on July 30, 2004 vest at the rate of 20 percent per year, with
vesting dates of July 30, 2005, July 30, 20086, July 30, 2007, July 30, 2008, and July 30, 2009.

Restricted Shares Units awarded on March 7, 2005 vest at the rate of 33' percent per year,
subject to satisfaction of performance criteria for the applicable year, with vesting dates of
March 7, 2006, March 7, 2007 and March 7, 2008.
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Option Exercises and Stock Vested in 2007

The following table sets forth options exercises by and stock vested for each of our named

executive officers in 2007.

-

Option Awards Stock Awards
Number of Number of
., " Shares Value Shares Value
A Acquired on | Realized on | Acquired on | Reallzed on
Exercise Exercise (1) esting Vesting {2)
Name #) ® #) )
Christopher J. Kearmey 16500 | $ 412500 | 8334 |$ 582,380
n 34,000 $1,105,000 23,333 $1,427,046
16,500 $ 412,500 6,472 $ 505,398
9,674 $ 48,028 33,333 $2,038,646
33,000 $ 907,500 3,295 $ 289,334
33,000 § 660,000
‘ ) 3,888 $ 7,772
186,500 $ 371,250
16,500 $ 371,250
' 18,000 - | $ 316,394
1,220 $ 4459
20,890 $1,302,389
Patrick J. O'Leary 11,964 $ 149,430
, , 15,000 $ 261,525 11,667 $ 815,290
14,422 $ 287,503 11,667 $ 713,554
12,872 $1,005,174
11,666 $ 713,493
4,940 $ 433,781
Robert B. Foreman '
: 8,334 $ 582,380
11,667 $ 713,554
5,746 $ 448,705
11,666 $ 713,493
6,497 [ $ 570,502
Don L. Canterna 14,000 $ 439,824 |
T ' 2,667 $ 186,370
! rt - 500 | § 44,335
5,000 -$ 305,800
1,315 $ 120,862
.. 5,000 $ 305,800
Kevin L. Lilly 6,000 $ 171,056 _ :
N . . 834 $ 58,280
' _ 71,333 | $ 91,417
v o 4,000 $ 244640

{1) Based on the market price at the time of exercise, less the exercise price.

(2) Based on the market value at time of vesting.

.
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" Pension Benefits -

The table below shows the net present value of accumulated benefits payable to each of the
named executive officers, including the number of years credited service. No pension benefits
payments to named executive officers were made during the 2007 fiscal year.

| N rediea -~ | Aooumueted

Name - . ‘ Ptan Name (1) Se(r;;ce Ben(e;;t {2)
* | Christopher J. Kearney ' T™P 10.88 $6,734,985 .
- - cr IARP 10.88 $ 290,190
. SIARP 10.88 $ 673,735

Patrick J. O'Leary ‘ T™P 11.21 $7,322,288
' IARP 11.21 $ 257,917

| N SIARP 11.21 $1,009,271

Robert B. Foreman . S TMP 8.65 $3,073,574
C ' IARP 8.65 $ 208,210

) b SIARP | 865 $ 427,003

Kevin'L Lily ' - : TMP 20 $ 203,385
' " ' IARP 0 $ 0
. SIARP 0 $ 0

Don L. Canterna  ° ’ ' ' TMP 2.36 $ 309,562
‘ IARP 5.00 ' $ 84,843

SIARP 0 $ 0

(1). The names of the pension plans are the SPX Corporation Supplemental Retirement Plan for
"Top Management (the “TMP’), the SPX Corporation individual Account Retirement Plan (the:
- “IARP") and the SPX Corporation Supplemental Individual Account Retirement Plan (“SIARP"}.

“Upon designation by the Compensation Committee, named executive officers participate in the
TMP For those named executive officers who became participants in the TMP prior to
August 24, 2005 (Messrs. Kearney, O’'Leary and Foreman}, the benefit formula is 60% of final

-average pensionable earnings (highest three of last ten calendar years of employment). This
target benefit accrues ratably over a 15-year period with the officer receiving the maximum
benefit after 15 years. The normal form of payment is a joint and 100% survivor annuity. A
participant may retire as early as age 55, but benefits payable at early retirement are reduced
3% per year from age 60. -

For those named executive officers who became participants in the TMP on or after August 24,
2005 (Messrs. Canterna and Lilly), the benefit formula is 50% of final average pensionabie
earnings (highest 3 of last 10 calendar years of employment). This target benefit accrues
ratably over a 20-year period with the officer receiving the maximum benefit after 20 years. The
normal form of payment is a joint and 50% survivor annuity. A participant may retire as early as
age 55, but benefits payable at early retirement are reduced 4% per year from age 62.

For all participants in the TMP, the benefit vests after 5 years of service. Any payments made
from the IARP and SIARP reduce amounts payable under the TMP
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The IARP is a tax-qualified cash-balance defined benefit pension plan covering certain salaried
and hourly employees. Employees hired after December 31, 2000 are not eligible to participate
in the IARP. The IARP provides participants an account balance credited with principat credits
equal to 4% of pensionable earnings up to the Social Security Wage Base and 8% of
pensionable earnings over the Social Security Wage Base. The IARP benefit vests after 5 years
of service.

The SIARP is a nonqualified defined benefit plan that provides benefits in excess of the
limitation on benefits imposed by the Internal Revenue Code for certain IARP participants. The
SIARP provides a benefit equal to the difference between (i) the amount of IARP benefit to
which the participant would have been entitled if such benefit were computed without giving
effect to the limitations under the Internal Revenue Code léss (ii) the amount of the IARP
benefit actually payable to the participant. '

In general, “pensionable earnings” for purposes of the TMP and SIARP is the amount reported
as wages on a participant's Form W-2 and paid prior to termination of employment,

{A) increased by (i) amounts contributed by the participant to the 401(k) Plan, SRASP and the
SPX Corporatlon Flexible Spending Account Plans, and (i) vacation and holiday pay (but not
severance pay) paid after termination of employment; and (B) decreased by (i) reimbursements
or other expense aIIowances (i) fringe benefits (cash and non-cash), (iii) moving expenses

(iv) welfare benefits, (v) deferred compensation, (vi) the value of restricted shares and other
equity grants, (vii) severance pay paid after termination of employment, and (viii} employer- |
provided automobiles, mileage reimbursements and car allowances for which no
documentation is required, hiring bonuses or other special payments, taxable and non-taxable
tuition relmbursements the taxable value of physical examinations and group term life
insurance coverage in excess of $50,000, and other similar amounts not paid in cash which are
required to be included in taxable income under the Internal Revenue Code

The Present Value of Accumulated Benefit assumes a weighted average discount rate of 6.68%
at December 31, 2007 and that payments commence at an unreduced retirement age of

60 years old (62 years old for Messrs. Canterna and Lilly). All other assumptiofs and methods
are consistent with those used for financial reporting (e.g., mortality table and form of
payments), except that there has been no consideration of future pay.
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' o Nonqualified Deferred Compensation in 2007

This table sets forth information refating to the SRSP. Named executive officers and other
senior-level management are eligible to participate in the SRSP, a nonqualified" deferred
compensation plan that allows them to make pre-tax deferrals in excess of those permitted by the
401(k) Plan. Named ‘executive officers imay defer up to 50% of their base compensation {(excluding
bonuses) and up to 100% of their annual bonuses into the SRSP. Both base compensation and
bonus deferral elections are made at least six months prior to the beginning of the year to which
they relate. In-service distributions are not allowed under the SRSP. SRSP participants elect the form
and timing of payment of their SRSP deferral account prior to the year in which it is deferred.

A company match is made to the' SRSP after the maximum company match has been made
under the 401(k) Plan and is allocated to the fund(s) as selected by the participant. The maximum
match available between both the SRSP and 401(k) Plan is 5% of eligible compensation, provided
that total contributions in both plans combined are equal to, or greater than, 6% of ehglble
compensation. - oo

In general, "ellglble compensation” for purposes of the SRSP is the amount reported as wages
on a participant’s Form W-2, (A) increased by (i) amounts contributed by the participant to the 401 (k)
Pian and the SPX Corporation Flexible Spending Account Plans, and (i) vacation and holiday’ pay
paid after termination of employment; and (B) decreased by (i) reimbursements or other expense
allowances, (i) fringe benefits (cash and non-cash}, (iii) moving expenses, (iv) welfare benefits _
(provided that short-term disability payments are included and long-term disability payments are
excluded), {v) employer-provided automobiles, mileage reimbursements and car allowances for which
no documentation is required, taxable and non-taxable tuition reimbursements and the taxable value
of physical examinations and group term life insurance coverage in excess of $50,000, {vi) pay in lieu
of notice, (vii) deferred compensation, (viii} the value of restricted shares. and other equity grants and
(ix) severance pay paid after termination of employment.

All matching contributions intd the 401 (k) Plan are invested initially in the SPX Common Stock
Fund and are allocated in the form of units. The units consist primarily of SPX common stock, with
a portion of the fund in cash, for purposes of administrative convenience. All matching contributions
into the SRSP are made in cash and invested according to the participant’s elections. All participant
and matching contributions vest immediately. There is no minimum hoiding period. The SRSP is
unfunded and earnings are credited on account balances based on participant direction within the
same investment choices available in the 401(k) Plan, except that the SPX Company Stock Fund
and a stable value fund are not available under the SRSP. All returns in the SRSP and the 401(k)
Plan are at market rates. In-service distributions are not allowed under the SRSP. SRSP participants
elect the form and timing of payment of their SRSP deferral account prior to the year in which it is
deferred. Participants may elect to receive their accounts in a iump sum, annual installments (two to
ten years) or monthly installments (up to 120 months) upon separation from service, on a date that
is a specified number of months after retirement or separation from service, or on a specified date
following separation from service (no later than attainment of age 70'%).
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There were no withdrawals or distributions from nonqualified plans in 2007.

Name : : '

- Executive
Contrlbutions

“Iin Last FY (1)
($)

' Reglstrant -
Contributions

In Last FY {2).
s -

Aggregate
Earnings,

In Last FY (3)
(%)

- Aggre'gate
alance. -
at Last FYE (3)
) (4) !

Chrisfopher J. Kearney '$545,330 | $130,249 | $108,795 | $3,373,713
Patrick J. O'Leary | 855,185 | .$103,837 | $304,916 | $5822,6867
Robert B. Foréman ' $295,100 | § 73,881 | $ 88,609 : | $1,504,752
Don L. Canterna $ . 0] s o | ¢ o988 |8 21020
Kevin L. Lilly $152 566 | $ 35, 71e 1sq 330) $ 196,955

(1) Contrlbutions to the SF!SP conelstmg of the followlng amounts reported in the Summary .

Compensation Table:

2006 Nen-EquIty Ince;\tlve

Name 2007 Satary Plan Compensation
Mr. Kearney $171,641 " $373,689
Mr. O'Leary .$106,817 $753,012
.| Mr. Foreman - $ 81,601 $213,402
[ Mr. Canterna,_ $ 0 $ 0
" M. Lilly $ 19,385 . $ 0

(2) Represents matching amouints contributed by us to the SRSP. This amount has been :ncluded
_in the All Other Compensation column of the Summary Compensatlon Table.

(3) Aggregate earnings under the SRSP are not above—market and, accordlngly, are not included in

the Summary Compensanon TabIe

(4) In addition to the amounts in footnote (1), Includes the followmg amounts of contributions to
the SRSP in the year ended December 31, 2006 reported as compensation in the Summary
Compensation Table for that year: Mr. Kearney, $247,317; Mr ‘O'Leary, $98,835; Mr. Foreman,
$102,173; Mr. Canterna $0; and Mr. Lllly. $0. o
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Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change-in-Control : -

We have entered into agreements, including an employment agreement, a change-in-control”
agreement and stock plan award agreements, with each of our named executive officers that will
require us to provide compensation to our officers in the event of a termination of employment or a
change in control of our company. The following tables set forth the expected benefit to be received
by each named executive officer in the event of his termination resulting from various scenarios,
assuming a termination date of December 31, 2007 and a stock price of $102.85, our closing stock
price on December 31, 2007. The following tables should be read in connection with the Pension
Benefits table, on p. 40. Assumptions and explanations of the numbers set forth in the tables below
are set forth in the footnotes to, and in additional text following, the tables.

The column setting forth payments upon a change in control assumes that the named
executive officer’'s employment-was terminated following the change in control. Equity of all
employees, including named exscutive officers, will fully vest following a change in control,

regardless of subsequent termination of employment.

Christopher J. Kearney -

Voluntary Involuntary
Reslgnation or - Without Termination
Involuntary Cause /Voluntary Following
Termlination Death Resignation Change
. For Cause Disability Pre-retirement for Good Reason In Control
Salary $ o $ 0% 0 $ 2,000,000(1) . | $ 3,000,000(2)
Bonus . $ 0 $ Q0|8 0 $ 3,659,970(3) $ 5,489,955(4)
Value of Accelerated
Equity (5) 3 0 $20,207,454 | $20,207,454 $20,207,454 $20,207,454
Retirement Plans (6) $2,014,809(6.2) | $ , - 0 : % 4997879(6.b) | $ 3,739,342(6.c) | $16,103,380(6.d)
All Other Compensation 7y | $§ 96,154 $ 9,458,890 | $ 6,299,655 $ 294,404 $ 3,753,179
280G Tax Gross-Up N/A . NA |- N/A N/A '$14,618,831(8)
TOTAL $2,111,053 $29,666,344 | $31,504,988 $20,901,170 $63,172,809
Patrick J. P'Leary
Voluntary Involuntary
Reslgnation or Without Termination
Involuntary Cause /Noluntary Following
Termination Death Resignation Change
For Cause Disability Pre-retirement for Good Reason In Control
Salary $ 0 $ 0]$ 0 $ 1,610,000(1) $ 2.415,000(2)
Bonus $ 0 3 0% 0 $ 2,993,470(3) $ 4,490,205(4}
Value of Accelerated
Equity (5) $ 0 $ 8,523,488 | $ 8,523,488 $ 8,523,488 $ 8,523,488
Retirement Plans (6) $2,463,478(6.a) | § 0 | $ 6,283,599(6.b) | $ 4,355,284(6.c) | $12,968,609(6.d)
All Other Compensation (7} | $§ 77.404 $ 6,703,508 | $ 5,578,835 $ 219,436 $ 3,158,814
280G Tax Gross-Up N/A N/A N/A N/A $ 9,304,581(8)
TOTAL $2,540,882 $15,226,996 | $20,385,922 $17,701,678 $40,860,697




Robert B. Foreman

Voluntary Involuntary
Resignation or Without Termination
Involuntary Cause /Voluntary Following
Termination Death Resignation Change
! For Cause Disability . Pre-retirement for Good Reason In Control
Salary $ 0 1% 0% 0 $ 1,190,000(1) $ 1,785,000(2)
Bonus $ 0 5 0% 0 $ 2,215,248(3) % 3,322,869(4)
Value of Accelerated : ) .

Equity (5) $ 0 $ 7,790,579 | $§ 7,790,579 $ 7,790,579 $ 7,790,579
Retirement Plans (6) $1,059,787(6.a) | $ 0| $ 2,654113(6.b)| $ 2,101,955(6.c) | $ 7,403,623(6.d)
Ali Other Compensation {7} | $ 57,212 $ 5,874,667 | $ 4,802,567 $ 205,320 $ 3,092,864
280G Tax Gross-Up N/A NIA N/A N/A $ 6,449,745(8)
TOTAL $1,116,999 | $13,665,246 | $15,247,259 $13,503,100 $29,844,680

(2

(1)

termination.
(3)
(4)

Two times annual salary at time of termination.

target or earned bonus for the termination year.

Table, on p. 40, resulting from:

6.a—the benefit becoming payable at age 55, rather than age 60.

-Greater of three times'annual salary immediately prior to change in control or time of

Greater of two times target bonus for termination year or earned bonus for last year.

Greater of three times highest earned bonus amount for three years prior to termination year or

Value of immediate vesting in all unvested restricted stock and performance shares.

Estimated increase in pension value from the total amount set forth in the Pension Benefits

6.b—the benefit being paid in a Iump sum at age 55, rather than being paid as an annuity at

age 60.

6.c—credit for two additional years of age and service, and the benefit becoming payable at
age 55, rather than age 60. '

6.d—credit for three additional years of age and service, and the benefit being |mmed|ately
payable as a lump sum, rather than being paid as an annuity at age 60, and the application of
an alternative definition of final average pay.

7

Does not include 280G tax.gross-up. Includes:

« Relocation loan forgiveness: In the event of permanent disability, death or termination
following a change in control, a $1,500,000 loan made by us to the named executive officer
in connection with his relocation to Charlotte would be forgiven and he would receive
gross-ups for federal and tax liabilities in the amount of $1,143,150. The terms and
circumstances of this loan are described more fully under “Compensation Discussion and

Analysis—Other Benefits and Perquisites,” beginning on p. 27.

» Accrued vacation time: Salary for five weeks of accrued vacation time, for each termlnat|0n
scenario, for each of Messrs. Kearney, O’'Leary, and Foreman, in the amount of $96,154,
. $77,404, and $57,212, respectively. :

« Life insurance: Values for life insurance in an amount equal to, in the case of

» Termination foliowing a change in control, two times annual salary at the time of
termination for three years, and an amount equal to the annual salary for the remainder of
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his life, with a present value estimated at, for each of Messrs. Kearney, O'Leary, and
Foreman, in the amount of $372,439, $267,806, and $196,032, respectively.

* In the case of disability, two times annual salary at the time of termination to age 65, with a
present value estimated at, for-each of Messrs. Kearney, O’Leary, and Foreman, in the
.amount of $157,806, $123,957, and $91,167, respectively.

* Involuntary termination without cause or voluntary-termination for good reason, two times
annual salary for two years, with a present value estimated at, for each of Messrs. Kearney,
O'Leary, and Foreman, in the amount of $19,067, $12,416, and $9,132, respectively.

* In the case of involuntary termination without cause, voluntary tefmination for good reason,
or termination following a change in control, outplacement assistance of $50,000.

* Disability payments: In the case of termination due to disability, for:

» Mr. Kearney: $8,909,806, in disability payments, representing the present value of an
annual payment of $1,110,000 from the Executive Long Term Disability Plan until age 65.
This value does not reflect estimated annual payments of $120,000 from our Group LTD
Plan or exclude other income offsets. The value of the retirement plan benefit is
correspondingly reduced by $2, 348 026 due to the benefit being payable at age 65 rather
than age 60.

Mr. O'Leary: $6,481,803, in disability payments, representing the present value of an
annual payment of $726,000 from the Executive Long Term Disability Plan until age 65.
This value does not reflect -estimated annual payments of $120,000 from our Group LTD
Plan or execute other income offsets. The value of the retirement plan benefit is
correspondingly reduced by $2,622,805 due to the benefit being payable at age 65 rather
than age 60, and

Mr. Foreman: $4,198,810,in disability payments, representing the present value of an
annual payment-of $474,000 from the Executive Long.Term Disability Plan until age 65.
This value does not reflect estimated annual payments of $120,000 from our Group LTD
Plan or exclude other income offsets. The value of the retirement plan benefit is
correspondingly reduced by $1,115,673 due to the benefit being payable at age 65 rather
than age 60.

« Death benefit: In the case of death, the named executive officer's estate would receive

proceeds from the Key Manager Life Insurance program of, for:

* Mr. Kearney: $3,560,351, an amount equal to the sum of two times his annual salary (less
$50,000 in insurance from the company’s group life insurance plan maintained for other
SPX employees), in the amount.of $1,950,000 and gross-ups for federal and other tax
liabilities in the amount of $1,610,351;

» Mr. O’Leary: $2,858,281, an amount equal to the sum of two times his annual salary (less
$50,000 in insurance from the company’s group life insurance plan maintained for other
SPX employees), in thé amount of $1,560,000, and gross-ups for federal and other tax
liabilities in the amount of $1,298,281; and

+ Mr. Foreman: $2 102,205, an amount equal to the sum of two times his annual salary (less
$50,000 in insurance from the company’s group life insurance plan maintained for other
SPX employees), in the amount of $1,140,000, and gross- ups for federal and other tax
liabilities in the amount of $962,205.

* Post-Retirement Health: In the event of termination following a change in control, Mr. Kearney
would be entitled to $387,313 in post-retirement health benefits.

46




+ Additional benefits.

» Car Allowance, in the case of termination following a change in control, in the amount of
$36,688, and in the case of involuntary termination without cause or voluntary termination
for good reason in the amount of $25,587,

* Financial planning services

- = in the case of involuntary termination without cause or voluntary termination for good

reason in the amount of $58,484 for Mr. Kearney, and $29,242 for each of

Messrs. O'Leary and Foreman, and

* in the case of termination following a change in control, $83,859 for Mr. Kearney, and
$41,930 for each of Messrs. O'Leary and Foreman,

« Country club dues in the case of termination following a change in control or involuntary
termination without cause or voluntary termination for good reason,

termination without cause or voluntary termination for good reason, and

Annual physicals in the case of termination following a change in control or involuntary

Heaith and welfare insurance premiums, in the case of termination following a change in

control or involuntary termination without cause or voluntary termination for good reason,

Provision of these benefits will cease upon receipt of equivalent benefits from another

employer.

(8) Estimated value of tax gross-up protection against potential excise tax liability associated with
benefits determined to be excess parachute payments as defined by Sections 280G and 4999
of the Internal Revenue Code.

Don L. Canterna

Voluntary Inveluntary
Resignation or Without Terminatlon
Involuntary Cause /Voluntary . Following -
Termination Death Resignation Change
For Cause Disability Pre-retirement for Goed Reason In Control
Salary $ v} $ 0% 0 $ 400,000(1} $, 800,000(2)
Bonus ) $ 0 1% 0% 0 $ 515558(3) $1,110,704(4)
Value of Accelerated $ 0{5.a) )
Equity {5) $3,580,826(5.b) | $3,580,826 | $3,580,826 $3,580,826 $3,580,826
Retirement Plans (6) $ 6490564 $ 0| $ 1286586.b)| $ 246,251(6.c) | $1,018,258(6.d)
$ 38462
All Other Compensation (7) $ 212,162(7.a) | $1.047,871 | $1,408,882 $ 471,384 $ 530,153
280G Tax Gross-Up N/A N/A | - N/A N/A $1,820,072(8)
$ 103,367(5.a) , '
TOTAL $3,857,893(5.b) | $4,628,697 | $5,118,366 $5,214,019 $8.860,013
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Kevin L. Lilty

Voluntary ) Involuntary :
Resignation or ) Without *  Termination
Involuntary . Cause /Voluntary | - Following
Termination Death " Resignation Change
For Cause Disability .Pre-retirement | for Good Reason in Control
Salary $ 0 3 0 $ 0 $ 400,000(1) $ 800,000(2)
Bonus ’ $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 539,364(3) $1,078,728(4)
Value of Accelerated Equity (5) | '$ 0 | $2,759,877 " $2,759,877 | $2,759.877 | $2,759.877
Retirement Plans (6) $ 0 $ o % 0 |.$ 169,374(6.c) | $ 997,763(6.d.
All Other Compensation (7) $38,462 $1,155,049 | $1,438,597 $ 124,431 $ 332,793
280G Tax Gross-Up '$ 0 [% 01§ 0'| $ 0 $1,918,458
TOTAL $38,462 '$3,914,926 $4,198,474 $3,993,046 ' '$7,887,619

(1)
)
3)
(4)

(5)

One times annual salary at time of termination. )
Greater of two times annual salary just prior to change in control or time of termination.
One times target bonus for termination year or earned bonus for last year. '

Greater of two times highest earned bonus amount for three years prior to termination year. or
target or earned bonus for the termination year.’

Value of immediate vesting in all unvested restricted stock -and performance shares.
Mr. Canterna would have met the age and service requirements (at least 55 years old at
termination with five years of credited service, including at least three years with SPX) to

. receive retirement treatment upon termination in the case of a voluntary termination.

(6)

(7}

Accordingly, for Mr. Canterna, the below benefits would apply.

.5.a—for involuntary for cause termination.

5.b—for voluntary resrgnatlon

Estimated increase in pension value from the total amount set forth in the Pension Benefits
Table, on p. 40 resulting from -

6.a—the benefit becoming payable at age 55, rather than age 60.

6.b—the benefit being paid in a lump sum at age 55, rather than being paid as an annuny at
age 60. .

6.c—credit for one additional year of age and service, and the beneﬂt becoming payable at.
age 55, rather than age 60.

6.d—credit for two additional years of age and service, and the benefit being immediately
payable as a lump sum, rather than being paid as an annuity at age 60, and thé application of
an alternative definition of final average pay.

Does not include 280G tax gross-up. Includes:

* Accrued vacation time: Salary for five weeks of accrued. vacation time, for each termination
scenario, for each of Messrs. Cantena and Lilly, in the amount of $38,462,

« Life insurance: Values for life insurance in an amount equal to, in the case of

* Involuntary termination without cause or voluntary termination for good reason,




* For Mr. Canterna, an amount equal to two times annual salary for one year and one
times annual salary for the remainder of his life with an estimated present value of
$177, 167, and

» For Mr. Lilly, an amount equal to two times annual salary for one year of $4,610.

» Termination following a change in control, two times annual salary at the tlme of
termination for two years, and an amount equal to the annual salary for the remainder of
his life, with an estimated present value of, for each of Messrs. Canterna and Lilly, in the
amount of $180,816, and $157,852, respectively.

+ 7.a—Voluntary resignation (retirement) an amount equal to annual salary for the remainder
of his life with an estimated present value of, for Mr. Canterna: $173,700. As of '
December 31, 2007, Mr. Canterna qualifies for this benefit because he would have met the

" age and service requirements. (see footnote 5) to receive retirement treatment upon.
termination, provided the Board of Directors grants continuation.

* Disability, an amount equal to $56,248 for Mr. Canterna. ‘
in the case of involuntary termination without cause, voluntary termination for good reasan,
or. termination following a change in control, outplacement assistance of $35,000.

Disabliity payments: In the case of termination due to- disability, for:

« Mr. Canterna: $1,038,322, in disability payments representing the present value of an
annual payment of $192, 000 from the Executive’ ‘Long Term Disability Plan until age 65.
This value does not reflect estimated annual payments of $120,000 from the company’s
Group LTD Plan or exclude other income offsets. The value of the retirement plan benefits
is correspondingly reduced by $85,160. due to the benefit being payable at age 65 rather
than age 60. '

* Mr. Lilly: $1,319,972, in dlsabillty payments, representing the present value of an annual

" payment of $192,000 from the Exécutive Long Term Disability Plan until age 65. This value .
does not reflect estimated annua! payments of $120,000 from the company’s Group LTD
Plan or exclude other mcome offsets. .

Death benefit: In the case of death, the named executive officer’s estate would receive life
insurance proceeds of for:

* Mr. Canterna: $1,370,420, an amount equal to the.sum of two times his annual salary (iess
$50,000 in insurance from the company’s group life insurance plan maintained for other
SPX employees), in the amount of $750,000, and gross-ups for federal and other tax
liabilities in the amount of $620,420, and

* Mr. Lilly: $1,400,135, an amount equal to the sum of two times his annual salary (less
$50,000in insurance from the company’s group life insurance plan maintained for other
SPX employees), in the amount of $750,000, and gross-ups for federal and other tax
liabilities in the amount of $650,135.

Post-Retirement Health: in the event of termination following a change in control or
involuntary termination without cause or. voluntary termlnatlon for good reason, $174 396 for
Mr Canterna in post-rehrement health benefits. , .

Addrt.'onal Benesfits: In addltlon to the above, in the case of involuntary termination without

" cause or voluntary termination for good reason, or termination following a change in control,

each of Messrs. Canterna and Lilly would receive: health and dental insurance premiums; car
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Allowance;: annual physicals; country club dues; and financial planning services. Provision of
these benefits will cease upon receipt of equivalent benefits from another employer.

(8) Estimated value of tax gross-up protection against potential excise tax liability associated with
benefits determined to be excess parachute payments as defined by Sections 280G and 4999
of the Internal Ftevenue Code.

o

Assumptlons and Explanatlons of Numbers in Tables

The Compensation Committes retains discretion to provide, and in the past has provided,
additional benefits to executive officers upon termlnatlon or reS|gnat|on if |t determines the
circumstances so warrant. .

L4

Ali.values. above are present values For all values other than 280G tax gross-ups we
calculated net present value using the FAS discount rate at valuation for each plan. We calculated
280G tax gross-ups with discount rates equal to 120% of the Applicable Federal Rate as of
December 31, 2007. '

Confidentiality, Non-Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreements . S

As a condition to each executive officer's entitlement to receive the'base salary amounts and
equity award acceleration referenced in the applicable tables; the executive is required to execute a
waiver of claims against us and shall be bound by the terms of a non-competition and
non-solicitation agreement which prohibits the executive from soliciting or diverting any customer,
potential customer, employee or potential employee or competing with any of our businesses in
which he has been employed for a perlod of two years from the date of termlnatlon
Increméntal Pension Amounts L ' RS '

We report the liabilities and associated expense for the pension plans under FASB Nos 87/158.
Generally, the assumptions and ‘methods Lised for tlnanmal reporting were also used |n determlnlng
the values in thls dlsclosure (mortality, forms of payment etc)

Post-Retirement Health Care and Key Manager Life Insurance Benefits

Because the benefits under these programs are self—insured, we calculate and maintain
liabilities for these programs under appropriate accounting standards. We report the liabilities and
~ associated expense for the pension plans under FASB Nos. 106/158. Generally, the assumptions
and methods used for financial reporting were also used in determining the values in this disclosure
(mortality, healthcare inflation, etc.). L e T i, o, .
. g
Termmatron Prowsrons—Defrmtlons of Ceuse and Good Fleason . L
The employment agreements for all named executlve officers contaln the: followmg definitions of
cause and good reason. L. . ' Lo

“Good Reason” is defined as any of the following, if done without the hamed executlve officer's
consent: (i) assignment of duties.that are inconsistent with the.executive’s position (except to the
extent the.company promotes the.executive to.-a higher executive position); (ii) changing the named
executive officer's reporting relationship; {iii} failing to pay any portion of the named executive
officer's compensation within 10 days of the date such compensation is due;.(iv) requiring the
executive to reldcate more than 50 miles from our principal business office; or (v) failing to continue
in effect any ‘cash or, stock—based incentive or bonus plan,’ pension plan, welfare benefit plan or
other bensefit plan, program or arrangement, unless the aggregate value of all such arrangements
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provided to the named executive officer after such discontinuance is not materially less than the
aggregate value as of the effective date of the employment contract.

“Cause" is defined as: (i) willful and continued failure to substantially perform duties as named
executive officer (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental
illness) after written notice and at least 30 days to cure such alleged deficiencies, (i) willful
misconduct, which-is demonstrably and materially injurious to our company, monetarily or
otherwise, or (iii} egregious misconduct involving serious moral turpitude-to the extent that the
named executive officer's credibility and reputation no Ionger conform to the standard of senior
executive officers of the company

Paymants upon a Termination in Connaction with a Change in Control

Named executive officers will be entitied to certain benefits as described in the applicable
tables if they are terminated within 36 months following a change in control for a reason other than
death, disability, retirement or termination for cause or if employment is terminated by the named
executive officer other than for good reason. During the one-year period beginning 30 days after a
change in control, any termination by the named executlve oﬁlcer erI be deemed to be for good
reason.

For purposes of the change-in-control severance agreements, a change in control includes the
acquisition by any person (or group of related persons) of 20% or more of the voting power of our
securities- (including in an exchange or tender offer); approval by our stockholders of (1) liquidation
of SPX, (2) the sale of all or substantially all of our assets, (3) a merger or consolidation (except
where our stockholders prior to the time of merger or consolidation continue to hold at least 80% of
the voting power of the new or surviving entity); or {4) a change in the majority of our Board of
Directors wrthrn a two-year petiod wrthout the approval of the mcurnbent hoard.

For purposes of the change-in- control severance agreements, ‘cause’’ is defined as {1) willful
and continued failure to substantially perform-duties;. (2) willfully engaging in conduct that is
demonstrably and materially injurious to us, monetarily or otherwise, or {3) conviction of a felony
that impairs the ability of the affected named executive officer to substantially perform his duties.

For purposes of the change-in-control severance agreements, “good reason” is defined as
(1) assignment by us of duties inconsistent with the named executive officer's duties,
responsibilities and status as of the day prior to the change in controt or a reduction or alteration in
the nature or status of such responsibilities, (2) reduction in base salary or in the named executive
officer's most recent annual target bonus opportunity, (3) a transfer to a location more than 250
miles from current location, {4) failure to continue applicable employee benefit plans, (5) failure to
reinstate employment following a suspension of employment for disability, (6) termination,
replacement or reassignment of 25% or more of our elected officers (other than because of death,
disability, retirament, cause or voluntary resignation}, (7) failure to obtain the agreement of a
successor company to assume all obligations under the change-in-control severance agresments,
or (8) a purported termination that is not in compliance with the terms of the agreement. In
addition, during the one-year period beginning 30 days after a change in control, any termination
by the named executive officer will be deemed to be for good reason.

Tax Gross-up on Benefits and Perquisites

The calculation of the tax gross-up on benefits and perquisites in the applicable tables is based
upon the maximum federal tax rate of 35%, the maximum marginal federal and state tax rate and a
Medicare tax rate of 1.45%.

51




280G Tax Gross-up

We have agreed to reimburse executive officers for all excise taxes imposed under
Section 280G and any income and excise taxes that are payable as a result of any reimbursements
for Section 280G excise taxes. The total 280G tax gross-up amount in the applicable tables
assumes that the executive officer is entitled to a full reimbursement by us of (1) any excise taxes
imposed as a result of the change in control, (2) any income and excise taxes imposed as a result
of our reimbursement of the excise tax amount and (3)-any additional income and excise taxes -
imposed as a result of our reimbursement for any excise or income taxes. The calculation of the
280G gross-up amount in the above tables is based upon a 280G excise tax rate of 20%, a 35%
federal income tax rate, a 1.45% Medicare tax rate and the maximum applicable state income tax
rate. For purposes of the 2B0G calculation it is assumed that no amounts will'be discounted as
attributable to reasonable compensation and no value will be attributed to the executive executing a
noncompetition agreement. The calculation of the 280G tax gross-up assumes that amounts will be
payable to the executive officer for any excise tax incurred regardless of whether the executive
officer's employment is terminated. However, the amount of the 280G tax gross-up will change
based upon whether the executive officer's employment with us is terminated because the amount
of compensation subject to Section 280G will change.

Vesting of Restricted Stock

If a named executive officer resigns voluntarily, accelerated vesting of equity is contingent upo'h
the named executive officer having reached the age of 55 at the time of termination and having five
years of credited service, including at.least three years with SPX. Only Mr. Canterna would have
met these requirements as of the assumed termination date of December 31, 2007 and,
accordingly, the applicable tables include the value of accelerated vesting of equity only for
Mr. Canterna. Assuming that the other executive officers had all met the age and service
requirements, they would be entitled, in the event of a voluntary resignation, to receive the following
amounts from accelerated vesting of equity, in addition to the benefits described in the Voluntary +
Resignation or Involuntary Termination for Cause column in the tables above; -

Mr Kearney . . ... $20,207,454

MOleary .. ... e $ 8,523,488
M Foreman . ... . . e XEE $ 7,790,579
ME LY e $ 2,759,877
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2007 about SPX common stock
that may be issued upon the exercise of options and rights under all our existing equity
compensation plans. Stockholder approved plans include the 2002 Stock Compensation Plan (and
its predecessor plan, the 1992 Stock Compensation Plan), the 1997 Non-Employee Directors’
Compensation Plan and the 2006 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan. Plans and
arrangements not approved by stockholders include stock option awards made to certain current
and former members of SPX senior-level management and consultants. These individual option

arrangements are described below.

Number of
securities to be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding options,

Weighted-average
exercise :
price of outstanding

Number of
securities
remaining available
for future issuance
under equity
compensation plans

.(excluding securities

warrants and options, warrants reflected in
Plan Category rights (a) (1) and rights (b} (2) column (&)} (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by 2,063,318 $54.56 6,274,313(3)
stockholders
Equity compensation plans not 1,130,000 $80.29 —
approved by stockholders .
Total (4) 3,193,318 $66.82 6,274,313

(1) Includes 822,603 shares issuable pursuant to restricted stock units.

(2) Excludes restricted stock units.

(3) Alt these shares were available for issuance under the 2002 Stock Compensation Plan and
2006 Non-Employee Directors’ Stock Incentive Plan and no shares were available for issuance
under the 1997 Non-Employee Directors’ Compensation Plan. Excludes 554,603 shares of
unvested restricted stock granted under the 2002 Stock Compensation Plan. If these shares do
not vest, they will no longer constitute shares outstanding and will be available for future

issuance under the terms of the plan.

- (4) Excludes 3,522 shares of our stock subject to options outstanding pursuant to option plans of

United Dominion Industries Limited, or UDI, which we assumed in connection with our 2001
acquisition of UDI. These options have a weighted-average exercise price of $47.94 per share.

Individual Option Arrangements

From time to time we have entered into agreements with certain of our senior-level
management for the grant of stock options outside of our 2002 Stock Compensation Plan (or its
predecessor plan, the 1992 Stock Compensation Plan). The shares represented by these
agreements are included in the table above under the caption “Equity compensation plans not
approved by stockholders.” The following material terms apply to each of the agreements with SPX

employees listed below:

« The options may be exercised by any combination of payment in cash and/or by delivery of

previously owned SPX shares.

« The options are restricted as to transferability and have accelerated vesting upon a change in

control, death or disability.
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- = The options provide for the grant upon exercise of replacement options (which replace
shares surrendered in payment of the exercise price and withholding tax obligations).

* The expiration of these options is accelerated upon death, disability or termination of
employment. .

On June 23, 1999, we granted Mr. O'Leary ai‘i'option to purchase 250,000 shares at $60.00 per
share, 250,000 shares at $72.50 per share, 250,000 shares at $85:00 per share and 250,000 shares
at $97.50 per share. The option vested on June 23, 2004 and expires on June 22, 2009.

On August 4, 1998, we granted Stern Stewart & Co., a consultant to SPX; an option to
purchase 56,000 shares at $34.06 per share; the option is fully vested and expires on August 3,
2008. This option has been exercised as to 33,740 shares. On May 4, 2001, we granted Stern
Stewart an option to purchase 130,000 shares at $92.10; the option vested on May 4, 2003 and

- expires on May 3, 2011. Each of the option agreements provides that the exercise price may be
paid in cash or, alternatively, Stern Stewart may effect a cashless exercise. The options are
réstricted as to transferability. In 2005, Stern Stewart & Co. reallocated 22,260 August 4, 1998
options and 45,500 May 4, 2001 options to G. Bennett Stewant, 73,300 of the May 4, 2001 options -
to Joel M. Stern, and 5,200 May 4, 2001 options to David M. Glassman, each an employee of Stern
Stewart. The 22,260 August 4, 1998 options have been exercised. Upon a change in contro! {(as
defined in the option agreements), Stern Stewart may, in lieu of exercising the options; elect to
receive cash consideration of $400,000 for the 1998 option and $800,000 for the 2001 option (or
such pro rata portion if this election is made with respect to fewer than all the shares underlying the
option). -
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee of the SPX Board of Directors is composed of four directors who are
independent, as defined under SEC rules and the listing standards of the New York Stock
Exchange. The Audit Committee reviews SPX’s financial reporting process on behalf of the Board of
Directors and is responsible for ensuring the integrity of the financial information reported by SPX..

Management is responsible for SPX's financial reporting process, including its systems of
internal and disclosure controls, and for the preparation of consolidated financia! statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. SPX’s independent
accountants, who are appointed by the Committee, are responsible for auditing those financial
statements. Our responsibility is to monitor and review these processes. We have relied, without
independent verification, on management’s representation that the financial statements have been
prepared with integrity and objectivity and in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States and on the representations of the independent accountants included
in their report on SPX's financial staternents.

In this context, we have met and held discussions with management and Deloitte & Touche LLP,
SPX’s independent accountants. Management represented to us that SPX’s consolidated financial
statements were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States, and we have reviewed and discussed the financial statements with management and the
independent accountants. We discussed with the independent accountants matters required to be
discussed by the Standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board for communication
with audit committees, under which Deloitte & Touche LLP must provide us with additional information
regarding the scope and results’of its audit of SPX’s financial statements.

In addition, we have discussed with DeI0|tte & Touche LLP its mdependence from SPX and
SPX management, including matters in the written disclosures required by the Independence
Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Discussions With Audit Committees).

We discussed with SPX's internal auditors and independent accountants the overall scope and
plans for their respective audits. We met with the independent accountants, with and without
management present, {0 discuss the results .of their examinations, the evaluations of SPX’s internal
controls, and the overall quality of SPX's financial reparting.

In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, we recommended to the Board of
Directors, and the Board of Directors has approved, that the audited financial statements be
included in SPX’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 filed with the
SEC. o

We have reviewed and discussed with management their assertion and opinion regarding
internal controls included in the 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K to stockholders as required by
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Management has confirmed to us that internal
controls over financial reporting have been appropriately designed and are operatlng effectively to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
SPX’s consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance _with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. We have also reviewed and discussed with
Deloitte & Touche LLP their audit and opinion regarding SPX’s internal controls as required by
Section 404, which opinion is included in the 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Audit Committee:

J. Kermit Campbell, Chairman
Emerson U. Fullwood
Michael J. Mancuso

Albert A. Koch
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RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Deloitte & Touche LLP has been our:independent accountants since 2002. The Audit
Committee has engaged Deloitte & Touche to perform reviews, in accordance with the Standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board of our financial statements to be filed on

"Form 10-Q in 2008. Consistent with past practice, on February 19, 2008, the Audit Committee
approved the engagement of Deloitte & Touche to perform the audit of the financial statements and
internal control over financial reporting included in SPX's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2008. Representatives of Deloitte & Touche will be present at the Annual
Meeting and will have the opportunity to make a statement if they so desire and to respond tq'
appropriate questions.

During fiscal years 2006 and 2007, we retained our principal auditor, Deloitte & Touche to
perform services in the followmg categories and amounts: : :

2006 ' 2007

AuditFees (1) ......... ... .. . ... $11,179,137 .$14,908,518
Audit-Related Fees (2) . ..................... $ 258,492 $ 1,198,413
Tax Fees (3) . .. oo oo e e $ 4,256,366 $ 3,494,667
AlOtherFees ............. ... ... N/A N/A

{1) Fees for audit services billed or expected to be billed relate to (i) audit of the Company’s -
annual financial statements and.effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
(i) reviews of the Company's quarterly financial statements (jiij statutory and regulatory audits
and (iv) comfort letters, consents and other ser\nces related to Securities and Exchange
Commission matters.

{2) Fees for audit-related services include due diligence services in connection with acquisitions,
other technical accounting assistance and attest or audit services that are not required.

{3) Fees for tax services include $1,825,287 and $1,588,074 in 2006 and 2007, respectively, for tax
compliance and preparation, including the preparation of original and amended tax returns,
claims for refunds, and tax payment planning. We also incurred fees for tax consulting and
advisory services and services related to acqwsmons and divestitures of $2,431,079 in 2006
and $1 906,593 in 2007.

Our Audit Committee has adopted a pollcy reqmres that all audit and non-audit services
performed by Deloitte & Touche be pre-approved. The Audit Committee annually approves the fees
and expenses for audit services performed by Deloitte & Touche, as well as for any regularly
recurring non-audit services of the type covered by our annual engagement of Deloitte & Touche. In”
addition, our pre-approval policy authorizes the chairman of the Audit Committee to pre-approve the
fees and expenses for other non-audit services that may arise during the year. The policy requires
the chairman to report any non-audit services that he has pre-approved to the Audit Committee at
each reqularly scheduled meeting of the Committee. In no event may Deloitte & Touche perform
any of the following services for us: (1} bookkeeping or other services related to our .accounting
records or financial statements; (2) financial information systems design and |mplementat|on
(3) appraisal or valuation services, fairness opinions or contribution-in-kind reports; (4) actuarlal
services, (5) internal audit outsourcing services; (6) management functions or human resources
services, (7) broker-dealer, investrnent advisor or investment banking services; (8} legal services; or
(9) expert services. The Audit Committee regularly considers whether specific projects or
expenditures could potentially affect Deloitte & Touche's independence.
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Although we are not required to do so, we believe that it is appropriate for us to request
stockholder ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent
accountants. If stockholders do not ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee will investigate the
reasons for the stockholders’ rejection and reconsider the appointment.

YOUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS A VOTE
i FOR RATIFICATION OF
THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

A copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007, without
exhibits, is enclosed with this proxy statement. You may obtain a copy of the exhibits
described in the Form 10-K for.a fee upon request. Please contact Jennifer Epstein, Director,
Corporate Communications and Public Relations, SPX Corporation, 13515 Ballantyne
Corporate Place, Charlotte, North Carolina 28277.
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